
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 27th August 2019

Place
Committee Room 3 - Council House

Public business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 10)

(a) To agree the minutes from the meeting of Cabinet on 9th July 2019

(b) Matters arising

4. Exclusion of Press and Public  

To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the item(s) of private 
business for the reasons shown in the report.

5. 2019/2020 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2019)  
(Pages 11 - 34)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

6. UK City of Culture 2021 Capital Programme - Approval to receive and be 
accountable body for additional capital funding for the Cultural Capital 
Investment Fund  (Pages 35 - 48)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

7. One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-2019  
           (Pages 49 - 108)

Report of the Chief Executive

8. Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban 
Extension (SUE) Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs)  (Pages 109 - 288)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Public Document Pack



Page 2

9. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Emissions  (Pages 289 - 298)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

10. Coventry Street Lighting PFI Debt Re-Financing  (Pages 299 - 306)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

11. Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with 
Partnering Authorities  (Pages 307 - 330)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

12. Grant of Lease on Land in Friargate Business District  (Pages 331 - 346)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

13. Outstanding Issues  

There are no outstanding issues

14. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Private business

15. Coventry Street Lighting PFI Debt Re-Financing  (Pages 347 - 356)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

(Listing Officer: M. Rennie, Tel: 024 7683 3276)

16. Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with 
Partnering Authorities  (Pages 357 - 476)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

(Listing Officer: L Shannon, Tel: 024 7697 2007)

17. Grant of Lease on Land in Friargate Business District  (Pages 477 - 498)

Report of Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

(Listing Officer: A Hunt, Tel: 024 7683 1812)

18. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Martin Yardley, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Council House Coventry

Friday, 16 August 2019



Page 3

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7697 2642 / 2643, Email: 
lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk

Membership: Councillors P Akhtar (Deputy Cabinet Member), R Ali (Deputy Cabinet 
Member), K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), AS Khan (Deputy Chair), K Maton, J Mutton, 
J O'Boyle, D Welsh (Deputy Cabinet Member), P Seaman, P Hetherton, B Gittins 
(Deputy Cabinet Member), G Lloyd (Deputy Cabinet Member), T  Khan and M Mutton

By invitation Councillors A Andrews and G Ridley (non-voting Opposition 
representatives)

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Lara Knight / Michelle Salmon
Governance Services 
Tel: 024 7697 2642 / 2643
Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk/michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 9 July 2019

Present:
Members: Councillor G Duggins (Chair)

Councillor A Khan (Deputy Chair)
Councillor K Caan
Councillor P Hetherton
Councillor T Khan
Councillor K Maton
Councillor J O’Boyle

Deputy Cabinet Members Councillor R Ali
Councillor B Gittins
Councillor G Lloyd
Councillor D Welsh

Non-Voting Opposition 
Members:

Councillor P Male (Substitute for Councillor A Andrews)
Councillor G Ridley

Other Members: Councillor J Blundell
Councillor R Brown
Councillor R Lakha
Councillor C Thomas

Employees (by Directorate):
People G Quinton (Deputy Chief Executive (People)), 

D Ashmore, J Crawshaw, P Fahy, S Hall, N Hart
Place B Hastie, P Jennings, L Knight, J Newman
Apologies: Councillor A Andrews, J McNicholas, J Mutton, M Mutton, 

P Seaman

Public Business

7. Declarations of Interest 

There were no disclosable percuniary interests. 

8. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11th June 2019 were agreed and signed as a 
true record.  There were no matters arising.

9. Re-commissioning of Homelessness Services 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People), which set 
out proposals for the recommissioning of housing related support services.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

Following extensive engagement with key stakeholders, the report made 
recommendations as to the requirements for the commissioned housing related 
support services, which would be effective from April 2020 to March 2025.

The Council’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy (2019-24) set out Coventry’s 
ambitious agenda and how through the four pillars of prevention, support for 
people, improved accommodation and greater housing supply, the council aims to 
tackle homelessness and continue to create a city fit for today and future 
generations.

In relation to prevention and support for homeless households, adopting the 
positive pathways approach to the delivery of services for people in housing need 
in Coventry was recommended.  The key aim would be to ensure that the newly 
commissioned services were not only focussed on the delivery of services to 
households in crisis, but that prevention work would be fundamental in the delivery 
of these services.

The report indicated that the existing service arrangements were managed across 
several separate contracts with St Basils and Midland Heart currently providing 
services for 18-24 year old single people (excluding rough sleepers and ex-
offenders) and all other homeless related services (including ex-offenders and 
rough sleepers) delivered by the Salvation Army.  The current contract 
arrangements with the Salvation Army were due to end on 31st March 2019.  A 
contract extension was negotiated with the Salvation Army until 31st March 2020.  
Talks were currently taking place with St Basils to look at extending their current 
arrangements until the new provision is in place.  In total the current annual value 
of the contracts is £2.3m.

It was recommended that, to deliver housing centred support, there be four 
separate contracts commissioned in relation to complex needs including ex-
offender provision; family floating support, young people’s provision; and housing 
related floating support.  Within these, there would be some specific elements that 
address the different stages within the positive pathway model.  These contracts 
had been identified to meet the needs of adults with complex needs, older single 
people (25 years +), young people (18-24 years), and families.

Although the report also recommended that the contract be awarded for a period 
of up to 5 years with the option to extend for a further 2 years, the Deputy Chief 
Executive (People) indicated that it was now proposed that this be amended to 
award a contract for 3 years to the preferred suppliers together with the option to 
extend for a further 2 years + 2 years, subject to satisfactory performance and 
budget availability.

RESOLVED that, the Cabinet:

1. Approve to commission Housing Related Support Services as set out in 
Option 4 in Section 2.4 of the report submitted.

2. Approve the proposed contract make-up for the housing related 
support services as set out in paragraphs 2.4.2 to 2.4.5 of the report 
submitted.

Page 6



– 3 –

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Housing and Transformation to 
commence the Housing Related Support Services tender process with 
the new contracts being put in place by 1st April 2020.

4. Following the completion of the procurement process, delegated 
authority be given to the Director of Housing and Transformation and 
the Director of Finance and Corporate Services, following consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities, to undertake 
the necessary due diligence, finalise the terms and conditions and 
award a contract for a period of up to 3 years to the preferred suppliers 
together with the option to extend for a further 2 years plus 2 years, 
subject to the satisfactory performance and budget availability.

5. Delegate authority to the Director of Housing and Transformation, 
following consultation with the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services and the Cabinet Member for Housing and Transformation, to 
make variations to the terms of the contracts over the life of the 
contract term.

10. Maymorn Day Centre - Ceasing Weekend Services 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People), which set 
out proposals to cease weekend services at the Maymorn Day Centre.

One of the core requirements of the Care Act 2014 is the provision of care and 
support that meets eligible social care needs.  There are approximately 3,687 
people living with dementia in Coventry and number are projected to increase by 
an estimated 35% by 2025 and 146% by 2050.

Maymorn Day Centre, situation in Everdon Road, Holbrooks is a City Council 
operated centre which provides day support to older people with dementia.  The 
service operates 25 places Monday to Friday and 10 places available on Saturday 
and Sunday.  Aside from the Christmas and New Year period, the service only 
closes on bank holidays.

Although operating at a high level of occupancy from Monday to Friday, the 
demand or weekend support had been low for a period of time.  On Saturday there 
was on average 3 places occupied, whereas on a Sunday the service as not 
opened for approximately 3 years due to now attendees.  Consultation with service 
users / families and staff had taken place regarding the proposal to cease 
providing a weekend service.  The rationale for no longer providing a weekend 
service was generally accepted, with one family currently expressing opposition to 
the proposal.

Coventry Alzheimer’s Society were also consulted as a leading local charity that 
supports people with dementia, their families and carers.  Their response 
confirmed that there was very little demand for weekend provision, indicating that 
the proposed weekend closure would have minimal impact on service users.

RESOLVED that, the Cabinet approve the ceasing of weekend provision at 
Maymorn Centre, Everdon Road, Holbrooks.

Page 7



– 4 –

11. Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) which 
outlined the final revenue and capital outturn position for 2018/19 and which 
reviewed treasury management activity and 2018/19 Prudential Indicators reported 
under the Prudential Code for Capital Finance.

The Cabinet noted that the Audit and Procurement Committee would also be 
considering the report at their meeting on 15 July, 2019.

The report indicated that the overall financial position included a revenue 
underspend of £1.0m, which was required to be contributed to the Council’s 
General Fund reserve.  At quarter 3, there had been a projected underspend of 
£1.8m and the report identified the underlying movements between quarter 3 and 
outturn, which had resulted in an overall underspend of £1.0m. 

Headline overspends of £2.7m within Waste and Fleet Services and £3.0m 
relating to Housing and Homelessness, in large part from the cost of Housing 
Benefit payments for people and families in emergency accommodation were 
detailed in the report.  There were offsetting underspends across a range of other 
services and in particular a £4.0m favourable position within central budgets 
including the Asset Management Revenue Account. 

There had been a Capital Programme expenditure of £147m, which was £115m 
less than envisaged at the start of the year.  The quarter 3 monitoring report to 
Cabinet approved a revised capital budget of £173.8m for 2018/19.  Since then 
there had been a net programme increase of c£2m, giving a final budget for the 
year of £175.9m.  Since February, a total of £26.5m net rescheduled spending had 
arisen on directorate capital programmes. The report provided a scheme by 
scheme analysis of rescheduling and accelerated spend. 

The Council’s revenue reserve balance at the end of 2018/19 was £81.8m, 
compared with £67.1m at the end of 2017/18.  Balances generated from capital 
receipts and capital grants to fund future capital projects had reduced from £31.2m 
to £23.4m and reserve balances belonging to or earmarked to support schools had 
increased from £24.3m to £26.4m.  The total reserve movement in 2018/19 was 
summarised within the report.  The reserve balances included £10.2m set aside as 
part of the Council’s three long-term Private Finance Initiative models.  £10.1m set 
aside to fund costs arising from early retirement and voluntary redundancy 
decisions.  £7.7m was set aside to provide protection against the potential future 
loss of Business Rates income.  £4.75m was also set aside for the Council’s 
contribution to the UK City of Culture and £3.5m to support the Adult Social Care 
Better Care Fund Model.  In addition, the £5.4m Management of Capital reserve 
included revenue reserves to fund future capital projects.

In relation to Treasury Management Activity, the report indicated that, August 2018 
saw only the second interest rate rise in over a decade as the interest rate was 
increased from 0.5% to 0.75%.  This was against an economic backdrop where 
wage growth exceeded inflation resulting in real wage growth of 1.4% and the 
economy also grew by 1.4%.  However, uncertainty surrounding the EU exit 
means that this growth was below trend.  Interest rate forecasts were dominated 
by the uncertainty surrounding EU exit but current forecasts indicated that there 

Page 8



– 5 –

would be a very sow increase, with the next increase of 0.25% not being seen until 
March 2020.

Given the interest rates provided by the Public Works Loans Board, it continued to 
be cheaper for local authorities to use short rather than long term funds for 
financing.  At outturn, the Capital Financing Requirement, which indicated the 
authority’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes, had increased to 
£39.8m.  No new long term borrowing was actually taken out during 2018/19, 
however, some borrowing would be required in the future to support current capital 
expenditure plans and the need for any such borrowing would be kept under 
review in 2019/20. 

Appendix 3 to the report detailed the capital and treasury management related 
prudential indicators.

RESOLVED that, the Cabinet:

1. Approve the final revenue outturn underspend of £1.0m (section 2.1 and 
Appedix 1) which will be added to the Council’s General Fund reserve.

2. Approve the final capital expenditure and resourcing position (section 
2.3 and Appendix 2), incorporating expenditure of £146.7m against a 
final budget of £175.9m; £26.5m expenditure rescheduled into 2018/19 
and a net underspend of £2.7m.

3. Approve the outturn Prudential Indicators position in section 2.4.4 and 
Appendix 3.

4. Recommend that Council approve reserve contributions of £4.6m to the 
Council’s General Fund reserve to strengthen the Council’s financial 
resilience, 4.0m to fund the costs of potential future commercial 
developments and £1.8m to strengthen the Council’s reserve for early 
retirement and redundancy.

12. Outstanding Issues 

There were no outstanding issues.

13. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of public business.

(Meeting closed at 2.20 pm)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet

Cabinet 27th August 2019 
Audit and Procurement Committee 2nd September 2019

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources - Councillor J Mutton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
City wide

Title:
2019/2020 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2019)

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

The purpose of this report is to advise Cabinet of the forecast outturn position for revenue and 
capital expenditure and the Council’s treasury management activity as at the end of June 2019. 
The headline revenue forecast for 2019/20 is for net expenditure to be £0.6m below budget. At the 
same point in 2018/19 there was a projected overspend of £2.0m. The headline capital position 
reports £6.9m of expenditure rescheduled into 2020/21.

The revenue position reflects overspends in services relate to Looked After Children Placements 
and Special Education Needs (SEN) Transport with compensating below budgeted expenditure 
within in corporate areas.

The Council’s capital spending is projected to be £218.9m and includes major scheme expenditure 
which ranges from investment in to the A46 Link Road, Coventry Station Masterplan, Whitley South 
infrastructure and the National Battery Plant.

Recommendations:

The Audit and Procurement Committee is requested to:

1) Consider the proposals in the report and forward any recommendations to the Cabinet 

The Cabinet is requested to:

1) Consider the recommendations from Audit and Procurement Committee.

2) Approve the Council’s revenue monitoring position.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



3) Approve the revised capital estimated outturn position for the year of £218.9m 
incorporating: £3.9m net increase in spending relating to approved/technical changes, 
£6.9m net rescheduling of expenditure into 2020/21 and a £0.1m net scheme overspend. 

4) Approve £0.1m overspend on Salt Lane Car park to be funded from Prudential Borrowing.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 Revenue Position: Detailed Directorate breakdown of forecast outturn position
Appendix 2  Capital Programme: Analysis of Budget/Technical Changes
Appendix 3 Capital Programme: Estimated Outturn 2019/20
Appendix 4 Capital Programme: Analysis of Rescheduling 
Appendix 5 Prudential Indicators

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

Audit and Procurement Committee 2nd September 2019

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 12



Report title:
2019/20 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2019)

1. Context (or background)

1.1 Cabinet approved the City Council's revenue budget of £231.5m on the 19th February 2019 
and a Directorate Capital Programme of £195.4m.  This is the first quarterly monitoring report 
for 2019/20 to the end of June 2019. The purpose is to advise Cabinet of the forecast outturn 
position for revenue and capital expenditure and to report on the Council’s treasury 
management activity.

1.2 The current 2019/20 revenue forecast is for expenditure to be £0.6m below budget. The 
reported forecast at the same point in 2018/19 was an overspend of £2.0m. Capital spend is 
projected to be £218.9m, an increase of £23.5m on the approved Capital Programme for the 
year.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 This is a budget monitoring report and as such there are no options. 

2.2 Revenue Position - The revenue forecast position is analysed by service area below.

Table 1 - Forecast Variations

2.3 An explanation of the major forecast variances is provided below. Further details are provided 
in Appendix 1. 

Service Area

Revised 
Net 

Budget
Forecast 

Spend 
Forecast 
Variation 

 £m £m £m
Public Health 1.3 0.9 (0.4)

People Directorate Management 1.4 1.5 0.1

Education & Inclusion 12.3 14.0 1.7

Children & Young People 73.9 74.9 1.0

Adult Social Care 77.8 77.8 0.0
Customer Services & 
Transformation 14.5 15.8 1.3

Place Directorate Management 2.9 3.0 0.1
Business Investment & Culture 7.1 7.3 0.2
Transportation & Highways 4.6 4.9 0.3
Streetscene and Regulatory 28.1 28.4 0.3
Project Management & Property (7.9) (8.0) (0.1)
Finance & Corporate Services 7.2 7.2 0.0

Contingency & Central Budgets 8.4 3.3 (5.1)

Total Spend 231.5 230.9 (0.6)

Page 13



People Directorate
The largest forecast People Directorate pressure is due to high cost LAC Placements. This 
is due to the increasingly complex of needs of some young people. A further significant 
pressure is in SEN transport (increasing demand and changes in provision). Children's 
Transformation Board continues to monitor the LAC placement transformation and 
associated budget efficiencies, and the Strategic Transport group are reviewing cost and 
considering any steps that can be taken to reduce cost.  

Housing & Homelessness is forecasting a £0.6m overspend due largely to the costs of 
temporary accommodation despite additional budgetary resource of £3.4m in 2019/20. Work 
is underway, overseen by Strategic Housing Board, to reduce the cost of supporting families 
and individuals in temporary accommodation. 

Place Directorate
The majority of adverse variations relate to income shortfalls including within Commercial 
Waste whilst it continues to further grow its business to achieve the aspirational commercial 
income targets (£0.4m); bus gate and parking enforcement as a result of both temporary bus 
gate closures and a lower activity trend generally (£0.5m), St Marys Guildhall trading income 
(£0.14m) and the Parks Service related mostly to parking income (£0.15m).

These deficits are however offset by a £0.4m over recovery of fees by highways due to a 
one-off increase in their capital programme, one off recovery of planning costs of £0.12m, a 
forecast £0.3m below budget expenditure on waste disposal due to lower disposal tonnages 
and lower recycling gate fees than budgeted, and a one off saving of £0.3m in fleet from 
extending the life of some vehicles beyond the normal financing period.

Contingency and Central Budgets
Net expenditure is anticipated to be £2m below budget within the Asset Management 
Revenue Account because of lower costs of capital financing, higher investment income and 
higher loan income. Other corporate budgets reflect lower than budgeted pension costs 
linked to an early payment arrangement with the West Midlands Pension Fund (£1m), 
resources related to one-off funding for adults and children’s social care (£1.15m) and 
projected additional savings from the Friargate Project (£0.75m) which will be built into 
2020/21 Budget Setting.

2.4 Capital Position - The 2019/20 capital outturn position for quarter one reported a revised 
outturn position of £218.9m compared with the original programme reported to Cabinet in 
February 2019 of £195.4m.   Table 2 below updates the budget at quarter 1 to take account 
of a £3.9m increase in the programme from approved/technical changes, £26.5m of 
expenditure has been brought forward from 2018/19 and £6.9m now planned to be carried 
forward into future years. This rescheduling and the £0.1 overspend is discussed further in 
section 5.1. This will not result in the Council losing any funding. In total, the revised projected 
level of expenditure for 2019/20 is £218.9m.  Appendix 3 provides an analysis by directorate 
of the movement since budget setting.

The Resources Available section of Table 2 explains how the Capital Programme will be 
funded in 2019/20. It shows 73% of the programme is funded by external grant monies, whilst 
23% is funded from borrowing. The programme also includes funding from capital receipts 
of £3.25m. 

Page 14



Table 2 – Movement in the Capital Budget

2.5 Treasury Management 

Interest Rates
The current Bank of England Base Rate has been at 0.75% since August 2018. There is a 
great deal of uncertainty in both the global economy, as a result of US trade policy and the UK 
economy as there is even greater uncertainty surrounding EU exit.

All of this makes it very difficult to predict what will happen to interest rates, however, it is 
believed that it is unlikely that interest rates will rise unless there is some certainty with regards 
to the EU withdrawal agreement. Therefore, forecasts believe that interest rates will remain at 
0.75% for the medium term, with risk to both the upside & downside of this forecast.

Long Term (Capital) Borrowing
The net long term borrowing requirement for the 2019/20 Capital Programme is £40.8m, taking 
into account borrowing set out in Section 2.4 above (total £49.7m), less amounts to be set 
aside to repay debt, including non PFI related Minimum Revenue Provision (£8.9m). Although 
the Council’s recent Capital Programmes have incorporated prudential borrowing as part of 
the overall resourcing package, no long-term borrowing has been undertaken for several 
years, due in part to the level of investment balances available to the authority.  However, the 
anticipated future high level of capital spend combined with the new lower level of investment 
balances available mean that the Council will need to keep this under review over the next few 
years. The actual pattern of these factors and the level and expected movement in interest 
rates will dictate when the Council next seeks to borrow.

During 2019/20 interest rates for local authority borrowing from the Public Works Loans 
Board (PWLB) have varied within the following ranges:

CAPITAL BUDGET 2019-20 MOVEMENT Qtr 1 Reporting
£m

February 2018 Approved Directorate Programme 195.4
Net rescheduling of expenditure from 2018/19 to 2019/20 26.5
Revised Quarter One Base 221.8
Approved / Technical Changes (see Appendix 2) 3.9
"Net" Overspend (see Appendix 5) 0.1
"Net" Rescheduling into future years (see Appendix 4) (6.9)
Revised Estimated Outturn 2019-20 218.9

RESOURCES AVAILABLE: Qtr 1 Reporting
£m

Prudential Borrowing (Specific & Gap Funding) 49.7
Grants and Contributions 160.5
Capital Receipts 3.2
Revenue Contributions 5.6
Total Resources Available 218.9

Page 15



PWLB Loan 
Duration 
(maturity loan)

Minimum 
2019/20 to 

P3

Maximum 
2019/20 to 

P3

As at the 
End of P3

5 year 1.58% 1.93% 1.72%

50 year 2.31% 2.61% 2.44%

The PWLB now allows qualifying authorities, including the City Council, to borrow at 0.2% 
below the standard rates set out above. This “certainty rate” initiative provides a small 
reduction in the cost of future borrowing.

Regular monitoring continues to ensure identification of any opportunities to reschedule debt 
by early repayment of more expensive existing loans replaced with less expensive new loans. 
The premiums payable on early redemption usually outweigh any potential savings. 

Short Term (Temporary) Borrowing and Investments
In managing the day to day cash-flow of the authority, short-term borrowing or investments 
are undertaken with financial institutions and other public bodies. The City Council does not 
currently hold any short-term borrowing.

Returns provided by the Council’s short-term investments yield an average interest rate of 
1.23%. This rate of return reflects low risk investments for short to medium durations with UK 
banks, Money Market Funds, Certificates of Deposits, other Local Authorities, Registered 
Providers and companies in the form of corporate bonds.

Although the level of investments varies from day to day with movements in the Council’s 
cash-flow, investments held by the City Council identified as a snap-shot at each of the 
reporting stages were: -

As at 30th 
June 2018

As at 31st 
March 
2019

As at 30th 
June 2019

£m £m £m
Banks and Building Societies 22.3 0.0 6.0

Money Market Funds 8.0 0.4 4.2

Local Authorities 21.5 0.0 0.0

Corporate Bonds 4.0 6.9 9.0

Registered Providers 5.0 0.0 10.0

Total 60.8 7.3 29.2
 
External Investments
In addition to the above investments, a mix of Collective Investment Schemes or “pooled 
funds” is used, where investment is in the form of sterling fund units and non-specific 
individual investments with financial institutions or organisations. These funds are generally 
AAA rated, are highly liquid as cash, can be withdrawn within two to four days, and short 
average duration. The Sterling investments include Certificates of Deposits, Commercial 
Paper, Corporate Bonds, Floating Rate Notes, Call Account Deposits and Equities. These 
pooled funds are designed to be held for longer durations, allowing any short-term 
fluctuations in return to be smoothed out. In order to manage risk these investments are 
spread across a number of funds.

Page 16



As at 30th June 2019 the pooled funds were valued at £30m, spread across the following 
funds: CCLA, Schroders, Investec, Columbia Threadneedle and M&G Investments. 

Prudential Indicators and the Prudential Code
Under the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance authorities are free to borrow, subject 
to them being able to afford the revenue costs. The framework requires that authorities set 
and monitor against a number of Prudential Indicators relating to capital, treasury 
management and revenue issues. These indicators are designed to ensure that borrowing 
entered into for capital purposes was affordable, sustainable and prudent. The purpose of 
the indicators is to support decision making and financial management, rather than illustrate 
comparative performance.

The indicators, together with the relevant figures as at 30th June 2019 are included in 
Appendix 5. This highlights that the City Council's activities are within the amounts set as 
Performance Indicators for 2019/20. Specific points to note on the ratios are:

 The Upper Limit on Variable Interest Rate Exposures (indicator 9) sets a maximum 
amount of net borrowing (borrowing less investments) that can be at variable interest 
rates. At 30th June the value is -£28.1m (minus) compared to +£84.5m within the 
Treasury Management Strategy, reflecting the fact that the Council has more variable 
rate investments than variable rate borrowings at the current time.

 The Upper Limit on Fixed Interest Rate Exposures (indicator 9) sets a maximum 
amount of net borrowing (borrowing less investments) that can be at fixed interest 
rates. At 30th June the value is £221.7m compared to £422.4m within the Treasury 
Management Strategy, reflecting that a significant proportion of the Council’s 
investment balance is at a fixed interest rate.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

None

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

There is no implementation timetable as this is a financial monitoring report.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications

Revenue
In overall terms, this report indicates that the Council’s overall financial position for the current 
year is sound. The projected position for net expenditure to be £0.6m less than budget is an 
improvement on the £2m overspend position at the same period in 2018/19 and there is a 
strong expectation of achieving a better than balanced position at year-end. However, this 
picture incorporates corporate below budget positions that cannot be relied upon beyond 
2019/20. There are a range of services that are reporting overspends, mostly within demand 
led budget areas where it is more difficult for the Council to exercise control and these are 
adding pressure to what the Council expects to be a challenging 2020/21 budget process.

Given the uncertainty facing local government finances beyond 2019/20, the Director of 
Finance and Corporate Services is clear that the Council needs to take measures to protect 
its financial position in the short-term to provide some protection against any financial shocks 
over the next few years. The Council is facing significant financial budget shortfalls over the 
medium term and an unpredictable picture in relation to how the Government will implement 

Page 17



the Spending Review, a new local government finance formula and a revised Business Rates 
retention scheme. Therefore, the Council will review any flexibility available in the current 
year ahead to prepare for the possibility of any potential future shocks. If the future financial 
position turns out to be better than anticipated any setting aside of one-off resources will 
remain available to invest in future projects and capital plans. 

Ahead of this the Council needs to ensure that it continues to hold a strong focus on 
managing services within existing budgetary limits. This includes continuing to implement 
transformational change to deliver existing savings plans, ensuring that demand for services 
is managed within existing policy parameters and identifying new ways of responding to 
service pressures to control costs. 

In summary, the relatively positive position reported at quarter 1 should not deflect from the 
expectation of a very challenging outlook for the Council’s revenue position and officer 
attention both at a corporate level and in several service areas is focussed strongly on 
responding to these challenges. 

Capital
The largest areas of rescheduling in the first quarter involve some of the strategic projects 
which will help to change the face of the city including the Coventry Station Masterplan, 
Whitley Depot and Friargate regeneration (building 2). The Whitley South projected is 
anticipating accelerated spend as works progress on the highways’ agreement putting the 
contractor in place to undertake significant works. None of the rescheduled programme will 
result in any funding being lost to the Council.

A small overspend of £0.1m is being predicted against the Salt Lane Car Park construction 
nearing completion, this represents <1% of the overall budget approved in January 2017 and 
is the outcome of addional costs for power and water supply requested by the Contractor.  
These costs are currently under review by the Project Team and will endeavour to reduce 
the financial risk.  

The success of the City of Culture Bid from WMCA £31.6m and Arts Council funding £1.8m 
bring positive progress for the remainder of 2019/20 and the delivery of the City of Culture 
aspirations.  Wider changes to the programme will be developed as projects are formalised.

5.2 Legal implications

None

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

The Council monitors the quality and level of service provided to the citizens of Coventry and 
the key objectives of the Council Plan. As far as possible it will try to deliver better value for 
money and maintain services in line with its corporate priorities balanced against the need 
to manage with fewer resources.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

The need to deliver a stable and balanced financial position in the short and medium term is 
a key corporate risk for the local authority and is reflected in the corporate risk register. 
budgetary control and monitoring processes are paramount in managing this risk and this 
report is a key part of the process.

Page 18

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

It remains important for the Council to ensure that strict budget management continues to 
the year-end. Any resources available at year-end will be managed to ensure the Council’s 
financial resilience or used to fund future spending priorities.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

No impact.
 

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) Climate Change and the environment

No impact at this stage although climate change and the environmental impact of the 
Council’s decisions are likely to feature more strongly in the future.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

No impact.
 

Page 19



Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Paul Jennings
Finance Manager, Corporate Finance

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 977228 
Email: paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services Officer
Place 31/7/19 31/7/19

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers 
and members)

Barry Hastie Director of Finance 
and Corporate 
Services

Place 2/8/19 2/8/19

Carol Bradford Corporate 
Governance Lawyer

Place 31/7/19 31/7/19

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief 
Executive Place

Place 2/8/19 2/8/19

Councillor J Mutton Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Finance 
and Resources

- 12/8/19 13/8/19

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 20

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Appendix 1 

Revenue Position: Detailed Directorate Breakdown of Forecasted Outturn Position
Appendix 1 details directorates forecasted variances.

Budget variations have been analysed between those that are subject to a centralised forecast and 
those that are managed at service level (termed “Budget Holder Forecasts” for the purposes of this 
report). The Centralised budget areas relate to salary costs – the Council applies strict control over 
recruitment such that managers are not able to recruit to vacant posts without first going through 
rigorous processes. In this sense managers have to work within the existing establishment 
structure and salary budgets are not controlled at this local level. The Centralised salaries and 
Overheads under-spend shown below is principally the effect of unfilled vacancies.

Directorate Revised 
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 
After 
Action/ 
Use of 
Reserves

Centralised 
Forecast 
Variance

Budget 
Holder 
Forecast 
Variance

Net 
Forecast 
Variation

 £m £m £m £m £m

      
Public Health 1.3 0.9 0.0 (0.4) (0.4)
People Directorate Management 1.4 1.5 0.1 0.0 0.1
Education and Skills 12.3 14.0 0.1 1.6 1.7
Children and Young People's Services 73.9 74.9 (1.7) 2.7 1.0

Adult Social Care 77.8 77.8 (0.7) 0.7 0.0

Customer Services & Transformation 14.5 15.8 (0.3) 1.6 1.3
Total People Directorate 181.2 184.9 (2.5) 6.2 3.7

      
Place Directorate Management 2.9 3.0 0.1 0.0 0.1

City Centre & Major Projects 
Development

7.1 7.3 0.1 0.1 0.2

Transportation & Highways 4.6 4.9 0.0 0.3 0.3
Streetscene & Regulatory Services 28.1 28.4 (0.4) 0.7 0.3
Project Management and Property 
Services

(7.9) (8.0) 0.1 (0.2) (0.1)

Finance & Corporate Services 7.2 7.2 (0.1) 0.1 0.0

Total Place Directorate 42.0 42.8 (0.2) 1.0 0.8

Total Contingency & Central 
Budgets

8.2 3.1 0.0 (5.1) (5.1)

Total Spend 231.4 230.8 (2.7) 2.1 (0.6)
Resourcing (231.4) (231.4) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Page 21



Reporting Area Explanation £m
People Directorate The Directorate underspend against its 

salary budgets and turnover target is mainly 
due to continuing vacancies in Adult and 
Children’s Social Care which accounts for 
the majority of the £2.5m underspend. This 
is partially offset by a non-salary overspend 
in Adult and Children’s Social Care (e.g. 
agency, overtime). This position is reduced 
from 18/19 outturn (£5.5M) as a number of 
vacancies have been filled.  It is expected 
that vacancy levels and agency costs will 
continue to reduce, which will continue to 
reduce the centralised salary underspend 
and the budget holder overspend through 
the year.

(2.5)

Place Directorate The Directorate as a whole has a 
'centralised' surplus of £180k net. In 
reality at Q1 however, the underlying 
position is a deficit of £440k, as the 
Streetpride service is holding a number 
of vacancies valued at £0.6m following a 
review, which are now being recruited 
to.  There is an equal variation above 
which represents the temporary and 
agency staff being used to fill the vacant 
posts.  The underlying projected salary 
deficit assumes all currently filled posts 
remain so which is unlikely, so this 
deficit is likely to reduce during the 
course of the year.

(0.2)

Total Non-Controllable Variances
 

(2.7)

People 
Directorate

   

Service Area Reporting Area Explanation £M
Public Health Public Health - 

Migration
This underspend relates to the holding of 
migration grant income centrally which is funding 
costs of other services across the Council.

(0.5)

Public Health Other 
Variances Less 
than 100K

 0.1

Public Health   (0.4)
Education and 
Skills

SEND & 
Specialist 
Services

The overspend relates to SEN Transport as a 
result of an increase in demand for SEN 
Transport, proportional to the increase in EHC 
Plans and special school placements. The overall 
number of pupils being transported has increased 
by 20% since 2017, and there has been a more 

1.3

Page 22



than 50% increase in the use of external taxis 
linked to demand, provision changes, and the 
needs of pupils. Strategic Transport Group is in 
the process of reviewing this and considering 
ways in which costs can be reduced. 

Education and 
Skills

Employment & 
Adult Education

To date it has not been possible to deliver a 
£200k financial savings target set as part of 
previous budget setting processes to ensure we 
maximise ESFA grant funding against internal 
training programmes.

0.2

Education and 
Skills

Education 
Improvement & 
Standards

Schools trade union support is funded from 
maintained schools pooled resource, and 
individual buyback from non-maintained schools. 
There is a funding pressure as a result of 
maintained schools reducing the pooled budget 
from last September, and not all non-maintained 
schools buying into the service. The LA have 
been unable to reduce the expenditure level to 
match the income reduction. In addition, the 
governor supports traded service's buyback 
income is not covering expenditure levels. The 
service is exploring a number of options to 
reduce expenditure. This is offset by a small 
projected underspend in relation to the historic 
pension liabilities budget. 

0.1

Education and 
Skills

Other 
Variances Less 
than 100K

  

Education and 
Skills

  1.6

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

LAC & Care 
Leavers

The variance is as a result of the placement 
pressures (£1.2m overspend). Children in 
external children's homes are above projected 
numbers and there have been some high cost 
placements. In addition, the numbers of looked 
after children continue to be over those originally 
projected.  The supported accommodation 
continues to show an overspend as a result of 
high cost placements due to the needs of some 
young people (£0.5m). Finally, there is additional 
use of agency workers due to social work need 
within the permanence service. Care leaver 
allowances is forecasting a £0.2m overspend due 
to an increase in activity levels and equally, the 
Through Care budget is also forecasting an 
overspend (£0.3m) as a result of increase in 
activity. 

2.7

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Help & 
Protection

The budget holder variance largely relates to the 
costs of agency staff covering vacancies across 
the service. This is more than offset by 
underspends across centralised salary budgets. 
We continue to recruit permanent social workers 
and reduce agency staff levels.

0.9

Page 23



Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Commissioning
, QA and 
Performance

The budget holder forecast is an overspend of 
£109k. It is offset by a £152k underspend on the 
centralised side, making a net underspend of 
£42k. The reason for the projected overspend of 
£109K is agency spend on staff and this is 
reflected in the £152K underspend on the 
centralised side which covers permanent 
salaries. The staff posts being covered by agency 
spend are Independent Reviewing Officers which 
perform a statutory function on behalf of the LA, 
these posts are currently being recruited to 
permanently.   

0.1

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Children's 
Services 
Management 
Team

The service has delivered savings as a result of 
service changes and review. These support the 
delivery of the Children's Services 
Transformation programme in the current and 
future years.

(1.0)

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Other 
Variances Less 
than 100K

  

Children and 
Young 
People's 
Services

  2.7

Adult Social 
Care

All Age 
Disability and 
Mental Health 
Community 
Purchasing

Costs of placements continue to be high with 
residential numbers higher than this time last 
year. Work is continuing to control spend and 
seek more cost-effective placement options.

0.8

Adult Social 
Care

All Age 
Disability and 
Mental Health 
Operational

There remain significant pressures in Deprivation 
of Liberty Assessment demand leading to 
additional assessment costs. With DOLs being 
replaced by Liberty Protection Safeguards next 
year this remains an area of uncertainty. The All 
Age Disability Team has also seen increasing 
demand and a high turnover of staff leading to 
increased Agency costs which is expected to 
reduce as substantive posts are appointed to.

0.4

Adult Social 
Care

Internally 
Provided 
Services

Budget holder overspends on other pay, overtime 
and variable allowances due to the need to 
maintain staffing cover. This is partly offset by 
underspends on centralised salary costs due to a 
number of vacancies. Also overspends on 
Housing with Care client fee income of £100k.                                                                      

0.3

Adult Social 
Care

Enablement & 
Therapy 
Services

Equipment service overspend of £68k results 
from increased demand for community equipment 
to help people live independently. Spending in 
this area reduces the overall spend in community 
purchasing as without equipment it is likely that a 
care service would be required.

0.1

Adult Social 
Care

Adult Social 
Care Director

Use of Improved Better Care Fund Protecting 
Social Care resources to manage Adult Social 
Care pressures.

(0.4)

Page 24



Adult Social 
Care

Older People 
Community 
Purchasing

Whilst Placement costs for Older People remain 
challenging they are being managed within 
identified resource levels.

(0.5)

Adult Social 
Care

  0.7

Customer 
Services & 
Transformation

Customer and 
Business 
Services

Housing and Homelessness is forecasting an 
overspend of £600K, which is in addition to the 
extra £3.4M allocated to the service in 2019/20. 
Significant work is underway focusing on 
reducing the gap between what we pay out for 
temporary accommodation compared with what 
we can reclaim through the Housing Benefit 
Subsidy grant. Business Services is in the 
process of being devolved and the savings target 
pressure of £172K will be delivered in full as part 
of these structural changes.  

1.2

Customer 
Services & 
Transformation

HR and 
Workforce 
Development 
Management

The HR Service continues to face challenges 
linked to reducing trading income particularly 
from schools. In addition, there is a £33K 
pressure due to the number of DBS requests.

0.2

Customer 
Services & 
Transformation

ICT & Digital The majority of the overspend relates to the need 
to accelerate the refresh of part of the PC estate 
to avoid potential significant ICT service problems 
within the service and possibly across the wider 
organisation. Action being taken to reduce the 
overspend includes reviewing sources of funding 
and reducing spend temporarily in other ICT 
areas e.g. mobile phones. There is also a net 
£40K under-recovery of traded income.

0.2

Customer 
Services & 
Transformatio
n

  1.6

Total Non-
Controllable 
Variances - 
People

  6.2

Place 
Directorate

Place   

Service Area Reporting Area Explanation £M
Place 
Directorate 
Management

  0.0

Business 
Investment and 
Culture

Sports, Culture, 
Destination & 
Bus 
Relationships

St. Mary's trading deficit. 0.1

City Centre & 
Major Projects 
Development

  0.1

Transportation 
& Highways

Traffic Bus gate and parking enforcement are projected 
to be c£0.5m lower than both budget and 
previous years as a result of both temporary bus 
gate closures and a lower activity trend generally.

0.6

Page 25



 Highways A predicted over recovery of fees by highways 
due to one off increase in their capital 
programme.

(0.3)

Transportation 
& Highways

  0.3

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

Streetpride & 
Parks

This is mainly related to issues with Car Parking 
at Coombe. New pay machines and barriers are 
currently being installed.

0.8

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

Planning & 
Regulatory 
Services

This relates primarily to the one-off recovery of 
legal fees, together with vacancies in building 
control 

(0.2)

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

Other 
Variances Less 
than 100K

 0.1

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

  0.7

Project 
Management 
and Property 
Services

Other 
Variances Less 
than 100K

 (0.2)

Project 
Management 
and Property 
Services

  (0.2)

Finance & 
Corporate 
Services

Other 
Variances Less 
than 100K

 0.1

Finance & 
Corporate 
Services

  0.1

Total Non-
Controllable 
Variances - 
Place 

  1.0

Contingency & 
Central Budgets

Corporate 
Finance

Net Asset Management Revenue Account 
expenditure is anticipated to be £2m within 
budget because of lower costs of capital 
financing, higher investment income and higher 
loan income. Other corporate budgets reflect 
lower than budgeted pension costs linked to an 
early payment arrangement with the West 
Midlands Pension Fund (£1m), resources related 
to one-off funding for adults and children’s social 
care (£1.15m) and projected additional savings 
from the Friargate Project (£0.75m) which will be 
built into 2020/21 Budget Setting.

(5.1)

Total Non-
Controllable 
Variances -
Contingency & 
Central 
Budgets

  (5.1)

Page 26



Appendix 2

SCHEME EXPLANATION £m
PEOPLE 
DIRECTORATE

  

Woodlands Feasibility This is due to a Feasibility Study to be undertaken in 19/20 
before works commence in 2020/21

0.3

Disabled Facilities 
Grant

Additional Grant received from DFG 0.3

SUB TOTAL - 
People Directorate

 0.6

PLACE 
DIRECTORATE

  

Highways Investment The West Midlands Combined Authority communicated on the 
25th April 2019, that formal notification from the Department for 
Transport has been received resulting in a further £0.2m 
funding for Pot Hole Action Fund.  In addition, £0.6m has been 
reduced from the programme to meet revenue patching works 
and a further £0.2m contribution received from Keepmoat 
Homes.

(0.2)

Ultra Low Emissions 
Bus Scheme (ULEB)

The City Council has been successful in obtaining the following 
funding to deliver the Ultra-Low Emission Bus Schemes, 
£2.255m from DfT and £0.237m from WMCA (Transforming 
Cities Fund). It is anticipated that £0.5m will be spent this 
financial year. Cabinet on the 12th February as part of the 
Coventry Local Air Quality Action Plan report noted the 
submission of these bids.

0.5

The Arches Spon End 
Pinchpoint - 
Transforming Cities 
Fund

West Midlands Combined Authority Board on the 9th November 
2018 approved the allocation of £5.8m of Transforming Cities 
Fund for the delivery of the Spon End Pinch Point Scheme. It is 
anticipated that £2.3m will be spent this financial year.

2.3

Indoor Pitch Facility 
at Alan Higgs Centre 
(Loan)

Loan facility approval for £1.5m is not fully required, only £1.2m 
of the loan facility required therefore £0.3m removed from 
programme

(0.3)

Coombe Loan Technical adjustment - to correct the draw-down of loan in 
2018/19

(0.7)

Culture Capital 
Investment Fund

This is addional funding awarded from Arts Council as their 
contribution to the wider Programme

1.8

SUB TOTAL - Place 
Directorate

 3.3

Approved / Technical Changes 

Page 27



TOTAL APPROVED / 
TECHNICAL 
CHANGES

 3.9

Page 28



Appendix 3

DIRECTORATE ESTIMATED 
OUTTURN 
QTR 1
£m

APPROVED 
/ 
TECHNICAL 
CHANGES
£m

OVER / 
UNDER 
SPEND 
NOW 
REPORTED
£m

RESCHEDULED 
EXPENDITURE 
NOW 
REPORTED
£m

REVISED 
ESTIMATED 
OUTTURN 
19-20
£m

PEOPLE 17.3 0.6 0.0 (3.5) 14.3

PLACE 204.5 3.3 0.1 (3.4) 204.6

TOTAL 221.8 3.9 0.1 (6.9) 219.0

Page 29



Appendix 4
Rescheduling and Accelerated Spend

SCHEME EXPLANATION £m

PEOPLE 
DIRECTORATE

  

Basic Need £2.6m works underway to expand secondary schools – 
planning applications due in September which means much of 
the expenditure will be seen in 20/21. 

-2.7

Condition When budgets were set in 18/19 for the 19/20 works, the 
programme was based on 18/19 forecasts Since then Schools 
have submitted their requirement for works to be undertaken 
in 19/20 and they have been estimated less than anticipated.

-0.6

SEND Grant was received in 18/19 but due to procurement issues 
the work is not due to start until 19/20

-0.3

SUB TOTAL - 
People 
Directorate

 -3.5

PLACE 
DIRECTORATE

  

City Centre 
Regeneration

It has been assumed that the only market-based acquisitions 
will be those incurred to date. Previously, we assumed there 
would be further opportunities to acquire properties on the 
market in the current financial year. When opportunities arise 
to acquire land in the market (rather than by CPO), forecasts 
will be revised to reflect.

-0.6

Friargate Revised assumption, slipping the start date of Two Friargate 
from January 2020 to April 2020 having the impact of moving 
forecast spend into the next financial year.

-1.3

Coventry Station 
Masterplan

Since budget setting in February 2019, the programme has 
slipped as the preferred contractor for NUCKLE 1.2 turned 
down the contract offer and we are now out to tender again, 
along with design delays for phase 2 which has also delayed 
the formal contract award

-5.9

Housing Venture Whitefriars Housing are claiming an alternative external grant 
towards the Garage/infill project, and as they can't drawdown 
2 Grants at the same time, they are using the external grant 
first  before using the S106 and receipts money that the 
Council is holding.

-0.8

Whitley Depot 
Redevelopment 

The reason for the change in the cashflow prediction is that 
the project is running 9 months behind the original forecasts 
given in the Cabinet Report. Construction works are not now 
forecast to commence until Q4.

-2.1

Page 30



Culture Capital 
Investment Fund

Increase from the estimated programme set in February 2019, 
in addional to the £1.8m Arts Council funding added to the 
programme in this Quarter, the accelerated spend is the 
additional match funding previous earmarked in 20/21 from 
the LEP Growth and CCC funding required to lever in funds 
and deliver the projects to the Estimated £5m this year.   The 
five projects currently secured through CWLEP include the 
Cathedral, The Box at Fargo, Belgrade Theatre, Daimler 
Powerhouse and Drapers Hall.   

0.4

Whitley South 
Infrastructure

Progress has been made with the technical and legal highway 
agreements meaning that the main contractor should be able 
to undertake significant works from August resulting in an 
acceleration of spend versus previous forecast.

5.1

Growing Places Growing Places forecast increase due to potential accelerated 
spend on Commonwealth Games.

0.2

Duplex Fund This scheme is the first of its kind in the UK and as such, a 
significant level of process has been necessary to ensure all 
required principles are in place and agreed by all parties.  This 
has taken longer than anticipated.  Consequently, the forecast 
has been amended to reflect the revised scheme timings and 
subsequent draw down of expenditure.

-0.2

Battery Plant Given the complexity of the technology and the international 
nature of suppliers, there have been delays in procurement 
and placing orders. However, with such long lead times on 
delivery there is now an urgency to the orders. In addition, the 
project is now in the process of being awarded additional 
external funding which has led to changes in machinery 
specifications and changes in expenditure.  Extensive 
forecasting and analysis have been undertaken for the new 
budget and the finances are being robustly monitored by 
Coventry City Council.

2.7

Vehicle & Plant 
Replacement

After having reviewed all the plant replacement, it was agreed 
that a lot of these are still in good condition and will not need 
to be replaced this year.  

-1.1

Domestic 
Recycling with 
Nuneaton and 
Bedworth

The Nuneaton and Bedworth vehicles were more expensive 
when the tender submissions were received back. Typically, a 
refuse vehicle is about £165k each currently but these 
vehicles have a split body and collect different waste in 2 
separate compartments, so that’s why they are that much 
more expensive. As this is our first purchase of this vehicle 
type, having an accurate figure on the actual costs was 
difficult until we had been out to tender and received the 
submissions back.

0.2

SUB TOTAL - 
Place Directorate

 -3.4

TOTAL 
RESCHEDULING

 -6.9

Page 31



Page 32



Appendix 5
Prudential Indicators

Indicator
per Treasury 
Management 

Strategy

As at 30th 
June 2019

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream (Indicator 1), illustrating the 
affordability of costs such as interest charges to the overall City Council bottom 
line resource (the amount to be met from government grant and local 
taxpayers).

13.40% 13.44%

Gross Borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the estimated 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) at the end of 3 years (Indicator 2), 
illustrating that, over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowing less 
investments) will only be for capital purposes. The CFR is defined as the 
Council's underlying need to borrow, after taking account of other resources 
available to fund the capital programme.

Year 3 
estimate / 

limit of 
£472.7m

£327.4m
Gross 

borrowing 
within the 

limit.

Authorised Limit for External Debt (Indicator 5), representing the "outer" 
boundary of the local authority's borrowing. Borrowing at the level of the 
authorised limit might be affordable in the short term, but would not be in the 
longer term. It is the forecast maximum borrowing need with some headroom 
for unexpected movements. This is a statutory limit.

£487.6m

£327.4m
is less than 

the 
authorised 

limit.

Operational Boundary for External Debt (Indicator 6), representing an "early" 
warning system that the Authorised Limit is being approached. It is not in itself 
a limit, and actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times 
during the year. It should act as an indicator to ensure the authorised limit is 
not breached.

£467.6m

£327.4m
is less than 

the 
operational 
boundary.

Upper Limit on Fixed Rate Interest Rate Exposures (Indicator 9), highlighting 
interest rate exposure risk. The purpose of this indicator is to contain the 
activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby reducing the risk 
or likelihood of an adverse movement in interest rates or borrowing decisions 
impacting negatively on the Council’s overall financial position.

£422.4m £221.7m

Upper Limit on Variable Rate Interest Rate Exposures (Indicator 9), as above 
highlighting interest rate exposure risk. £84.5m -£28.1m

Maturity Structure Limits (Indicator 10), highlighting the risk arising from the 
requirement to refinance debt as loans mature:
< 12 months 0% to 40% 18%
12 months – 24 months 0% to 20% 1%
24 months – 5 years 0% to 30% 6%
5 years – 10 years 0% to 30% 6%
10 years + 40% to 100% 70%

Investments Longer than 364 Days (Indicator 11), highlighting the risk that the 
authority faces from having investments tied up for this duration. £30m £0.0m

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet 

Cabinet 27th August 2019
Council   3rd September 2019

Name of Cabinet Member: 

Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins

Director Approving Submission of the report:

Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
UK City of Culture 2021 Capital Programme – Approval to receive and be accountable body for 
additional capital funding for the Cultural Capital Investment Fund

Is this a key decision?

Yes - The proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum and are likely to 
have a significant impact on residents or businesses in two or more electoral wards in the 
City.

Executive Summary:

On 7th December 2017, Coventry was awarded the title of UK City of Culture 2021.

The City Readiness programme was formed to maximise the benefits of being awarded the title, 
addressing the benefits of aligned investment in areas such as city infrastructure; destination 
promotion and marketing; cultural capital; skills and sector development.  

On the 4th September 2018, Council approved the City Readiness Programme and approved 
delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services to identify and bid for grant assistance, where available, that supports the 
aims of the City of Culture, and included the power to accept the terms and conditions of grant 
funding and the entering into all necessary legal agreements to secure the grant funding where 
the level is below the existing Council threshold of £2.5m.  

To facilitate the funding received the Cultural Capital Investment Fund has been created to 
combine all capital funding both internal and external to support and improve the cultural 
infrastructure. Investment in the city’s infrastructure creates a legacy and ensures the benefits of 
UK City of Culture 2021 are felt by future generations.

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



As a result of actions undertaken an allocation of £8.51m was announced in the UK 
Government’s Autumn Budget 2018 to support capital funded works to support the UK City of 
Culture 2021. It was confirmed that the funding would be distributed by Arts Council England 
(ACE) to Coventry City Council, subject to their grant management processes and conditions.

The Council have also been successful in securing £2.4m Growth Deal Funding from the August 
open call led by the CWLEP to support the City’s cultural capital infrastructure.

Consequently, his report is asking for:
 acceptance of the £8.51m grant allocation  
 for Coventry City Council to become the Accountable Body for this funding and 
 for the £8.51m and £2.4m to be added to the Council’s Capital Programme.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is asked to recommend that Council:

1) Authorise that the Council accept the £8.51m grant allocation acting as Accountable Body 
on behalf Arts Council England to support Capital funding works in 2019/20 and 2020/21 in 
preparation for Coventry hosting the UK City of Culture 2021.

2) Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services to accept the terms and conditions of the grant, to enter into the 
necessary legal agreements to secure the grant and add to the Capital Programme as 
necessary 

3) Authorise that the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services be given delegated authority to approve all elements of capital 
expenditure associated with Recommendation 1 above.

4) Authorise the £2.4m Growth Deal to be added to the Capital Programme as necessary 

Council is asked to:

1) Approve that the Council accept the £8.51m grant allocation acting as Accountable Body 
on behalf Arts Council England to support Capital funding works in 2019/20 and 2020/21 in 
preparation for Coventry hosting UK City of Culture 2021.

2) Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services to accept the terms and conditions of the grant, to enter into the 
necessary legal agreements to secure the grant and add to the Capital Programme as 
necessary 

3) Approve that the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services be given delegated authority to approve all elements of capital 
expenditure associated with Recommendation 1 above.

4) Approve £2.4m Growth Deal to be added to the Capital Programme as necessary

List of Appendices included:

None

Page 36



Background papers:

None 

Other useful documents

The following papers are posted for reference on the Coventry City Council 
website: https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx

1. UK City of Culture and European Capital of Culture – Briefing Note of the Executive 
Director of Place (Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4), 14 January 
2015).

2. Coventry Bid for UK City of Culture 2021 – Cabinet Report (14 July 2015)

3. Appointments of the City Council: Coventry City of Culture Trust (8 September 2015)

4. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021: Progress Update (December 2015) - Cabinet 
Report (9 February 2016)

5. Destination, Events and UK City of Culture - Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny 
Board (3) (13 April 2016)

6. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021: Progress Update (June 2016) – Cabinet 
Report (5 July 2016)

7. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021: Progress Update (December 2016) – Cabinet 
Report (3 January 2017)

8. Coventry 2021 UK City of Culture Bid – Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny 
Board (4) (6 September 2017)

9. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021 – Council Commitments – Cabinet Report (28 
November 2017)

10. Update on City of Culture 2021 – Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4) 
(25 April 2018)

11. Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 – Cabinet Report (12 June 2018)

12. UK City of Culture 2021 – City Readiness – Cabinet Report (28th August 2018)

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

Yes – on 3rd September 2019.

Page 37

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx


Report title: UK City of Culture 2021 Capital Programme – Approval to receive and be 
accountable body for additional capital funding for the Cultural Capital Investment Fund

1. Context (or background)

1.1. On 7th December 2017, it was announced that Coventry had been awarded the title of UK 
City of Culture 2021.

1.2. In June 2018, Coventry City Council commissioned the Coventry Cultural Capital 
Prioritisation Strategy. The strategy was developed by Coventry City Council in 
partnership with Coventry City of Culture to provide a framework for capital investment 
selection in the period leading up to UK City of Culture 2021. The strategy was based on 
a review of current and planned capital schemes across the cultural sector in the City and 
consultation and discussion with the relevant organisations.

1.3. The strategy identified key cultural asset as being significant on contributing to the future 
resilience and sustainability of the organisations and the City. 

1.4. The criteria measures applied to each project were: 

 Contribution to the Coventry Cultural Strategy and UK City of Culture 2021
 Funding potential
 Importance as a venue/production facility/ heritage and tourism asset for 2021
 Tourism impact
 Employment impact
 Deliverability (costs, timelines and outputs)
 Capacity to deliver and contribution to step changes in tackling inequality
 Level of work undertaken to date or in progress (e.g. RIBA design, feasibility study, 

business plan etc./readiness to move forward)
 Sustainability – all projects to be revenue or sustainable
 Financial benefits
 Environmental impact

1.5. The strategy recommended key venues and production space that were considered 
relevant for the successful delivery and reputation of the city in hosting the UK City of 
Culture. 

1.6. Assessed the appropriateness and readiness of capital scheme proposals against six 
strategic priorities:

 Developing and improving the Cathedral/Museum Quarter as a key, multi-faceted 
visitor destination

 Strengthening the City’s creative sector economy through the provision of space for 
production, training and creative industries working 

 Ensuring that the City’s key venues are equipped to deliver programmes of the 
highest National quality and appeal

 Creating new space for dance, independent film and exhibition
 Creating and improving informal spaces for a wide range of indoor and outdoor 

events and performances.
 Addressing the City Centre public realm through coordinated initiatives to improve the 

creative environment

Page 38



1.7. Although not exclusive the schemes that were rated at the top of the assessment were 
used as the key projects within the CWLEP growth deal and Arts Council England grant 
applications. These are detailed in section 2.5 table 1 – Cultural Capital Investment Fund 
Projects – Arts Council England 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. Option 1 – Accept the £8.51m allocation from Arts Council England (Recommended)

2.2. This is an opportunity, through culture, to raise the profile of the city, to attract new 
investors and enable significant regeneration.  Coventry effectively has the benefit of the 
title for seven years from announcement, through delivery year to three years legacy. 
Already, the city has already realised over £28.5m of media coverage so far. 

2.3. Coventry has developed a partnership Cultural Strategy 2017-2027 for which City of 
Culture can be an accelerant, for achieving wellbeing and economic outcomes. The 
Council already has a £722m capital programme in place from 2019 to 2024 with, clear 
economic and regenerative goals. 

2.4. The recommendations for the Council to accept the £8.51m grant allocation would 
(subject to meeting terms and conditions of the award) could support the following capital 
projects that will create production space and expand and improve event/performance 
spaces. The funding could also help restore key historic buildings in the City Centre and 
ensure that they play an important part in 2021 and, most importantly, continue as a 
legacy for the City into the future.

2.5. The table below shows the schemes that were submitted in the application and the 
indicative amounts. The funding is restricted for the sole purpose of delivering the agreed 
capital project plan, however, as with all significant capital programmes there is flexibility 
to reallocate between agreed and potentially future projects.

Table 1 – Cultural Capital Investment Fund Projects – Arts Council England (ACE) 
proposed allocation 

Project Name Delivery Body ACE Allocation 
Coventry Cathedral extension Coventry Cathedral £1,000,000
Drapers Hall Historic Coventry Trust £1,500,000
Daimler Powerhouse Coventry City Council £750,000
Belgrade Belgrade Theatre £2,750,000
Herbert Art Gallery & Museum Culture Coventry Trust £1,000,000
St Mary’s Guildhall Coventry City Council £1,510,000
Total £8,510,000

2.6. Project Descriptions

2.6.1. Coventry Cathedral

The Cathedral is Coventry’s best-known visitor attraction providing the only large-scale 
indoor space capable of seating in excess of 1,500 people for live performances in 
Coventry City Centre. It has a unique collection of visual arts and crafts as well as its own 
historic collection of artefacts and photos. The ruins of the medieval Cathedral are also an 
important visitor attraction and venue and are used for a range of events and activities 
including the popular dining club, music and food evenings and concerts held in a 
marquee.  

Page 39



The project will enable the Cathedral to host a more diverse range of events and 
experiences and increase accessibility for visitors, improve visitor facilities and thus the 
visitor experience, as well as improving support for major events. The main capital 
project (Phase 1) is the extension to the New Cathedral which will provide 
essential facilities to support the projected increase in visitor numbers who will attend 
special events at the Cathedral or visit as a tourist during 2021 and beyond. 

The extension will contain a new passenger lift, new W/C facilities, and an Education 
Room/events space with associated cloakroom (which will improve access and free-up 
valuable space in the Cathedral’s Undercroft) and essential storage and back-of-
house facilities to support events.  

2.6.2. Drapers Hall

Drapers Hall is one of Coventry’s neglected heritage assets and is located adjacent to the 
Cathedral and St Mary’s Guildhall in the 'Cathedral Quarter'.  The scheme to bring 
Draper’s Hall back into regular use is being developed by the Historic Coventry Trust 
(HCT) and involves the restoration and adaptation of the Regency building as a centre for 
music performance and music education.  Once operational, it is proposed the Trust will 
take the building on a 250-year lease from Coventry City Council (CCC) under the 
Framework Agreement which it holds with the Council.

2.6.3. Daimler Powerhouse 

The Daimler Powerhouse building is owned by commercial property developers Wigley 
Group and located in a developing canal-side semi-industrial location and has potential 
for engaging local residents in participatory and training programmes.  The building has 
been home to two arts organisations, providing administrative, rehearsal and production 
capacity for large-scale work, as well as a venue for participatory dance, music and 
theatre.  
 
The proposed capital development could create production spaces  for the UK City of 
Culture.  

2.6.4. Belgrade

The Belgrade Theatre is Coventry’s largest producing theatre, seating 850 people in its 
main auditorium.  It is the premiere space for live performing arts in the City Centre 
presenting a mixed programme of large-scale touring productions, including ballet and 
opera, as well as drama and musical productions created in-house.  Alongside this it also 
presents stand-up comedy, live music and a wide range of youth and community 
events.   

This project will refurbish the main auditorium (built in 1958) including the seating and 
flooring (in urgent need of upgrading); extend and re-brand the café involving a re-
development of the Burbidge Room (former restaurant space) and create conferencing/ 
workshop/hospitality space with storage facilities.  The scheme aims to enable the 
Theatre to increase its earned income and provide multi-functional spaces for both 
creative and commercial benefit whilst reducing the building's environmental impact.

2.6.5. Herbert Art Gallery

The Herbert Art Gallery & Museum is a museum, art gallery, records archive, learning 
centre, media studio and creative art facility located in the heart of the City Centre.

Page 40



The project will re-purpose an existing painting store at the Herbert Art Gallery and 
Museum (HAGM) into additional gallery space and make improvements to the three 
adjoining galleries. The investment will allow the creation of a flexible space that enables 
a circular flow of visitor movement, which will support a connected dialogue 
between the four gallery spaces.  

The additional gallery space and connectivity with adjoining galleries will provide Culture 
Coventry with the opportunity to attract and showcase nationally and internationally 
significant work; increase the number of National Partners using the HAGM gallery 
spaces; respond to customer feedback and improve the visitor experience in readiness for 
2021; and create a platform for learning and engagement work to be exhibited alongside 
core programming.

2.6.6. St Marys Guildhall

St Mary’s Guildhall is a highly valuable cultural asset that Coventry is proud of. It holds 
significant national and local heritage value and is a Grade 1 listed building. The building 
has one of the last remaining intact medieval kitchens in England and houses the 
Coventry Tapestry which is the highlight of the historic collections at St. Mary's Guildhall, 
and is widely recognised as one of the rarest and most important examples of textile art in 
the country

St Mary’s Guildhall currently does not offer a particularly engaging visitor experience 
neither does it adequately cater for the modern conferencing and event market. This 
project seeks to make capital improvements to the building to deliver an exceptional 
visitor experience, whether it be for casual visitors wanting to engage with the heritage of 
the Guildhall, event attendees or attract those hosting a conference.

2.7. Arts Council England Grant Conditions 

Arts Council England have issued a draft offer letter which has standard grant conditions 
for the award, as expected.  To secure the public investment for each project, they are 
asking to put in place a deed of covenant on each of the assets, apart from the Cathedral, 
as outlined below:

Belgrade Theatre: Tripartite deed of covenant between Coventry City Council (the 
Organisation), Belgrade Theatre (the leaseholder) and Arts Council England (as funder) 
with a restriction on title over the leasehold of the Project Asset for a period of 20 years

The Daimler Powerhouse:  Deed of covenant between Coventry City Council (the 
Organisation), and Arts Council England (as funder) with restriction on title over the 
leasehold  of the Project Asset for a period of 20 years

St Mary’s Guildhall: Deed of covenant between Coventry City Council (the 
Organisation), and Arts Council England (as funder) with restriction on title over the 
freehold of the Project Asset for a period of 20 years

Herbert Art Gallery and Museum: Deed of covenant between Coventry City Council (the 
Organisation), and Arts Council England (as funder) with restriction on title over the 
freehold  of the Project Asset for a period of 20 years

Draper’s Hall:  Tripartite deed of covenant between Coventry City Council (the 
Organisation), Historic Coventry Trust (the leaseholder) and Arts Council England (as 
funder) with restriction on title over the leasehold of the Project Asset for a period of 20 
years

Page 41



2.8. Option 2 – Do not accept the £8.51m allocation from Arts Council England – resource 
from Coventry City Council Capital Programme or leave the work unfunded (Not 
recommended)

2.9. The Council have already committed £5m capital into the city readiness and legacy 
programme and a proportion of this fund has been allocated to the projects described 
above. This allocation has helped secure the £8.51m allocation and £2.4m allocation from 
the Local Growth Fund. 

2.10. Not accepting the Arts Council England grant would place the Local Growth Fund and 
other match funding at risk. Funding has been awarded to the City of Culture projects 
contingent on the projects being able to source other match funding. If this match funding 
is reduced it places the whole programme of works at significant risk.

2.11. Not accepting the Arts Council Grant and utilising City Council Resource would impact on 
the Council’s ability to deliver other capital work earmarked or prioritised within current 
capital programmes. Utilising CCC funding, given the reduction in public sector funding, 
and increased demand on Council services, would not be prudent.

2.12. Without the £8.51m allocation, there wouldn’t be sufficient resource to fund the projects 
above and this would mean a lost opportunity to develop strong cultural infrastructure 
within the City. This would also have a detrimental effect on the legacy that UK City of 
Culture 2021 can build post 2021.  

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. Through Coventry’s City of Culture bidding process, over 13,000 people were directly 
consulted concerning the City of Culture plans. This consultation shaped and influenced 
the programme, messaging and marketing.

3.2. Over 109,000 people engaged in the city’s advanced programme through the City of 
Culture bidding process and social media outreach has been extensive, with over 36,000 
people directly following and supporting the City of Culture programme online.

3.3. The proposed City of Culture programme will reflect the voice of communities. For 
example, the proposed Streets of Culture programme will celebrate 21 Coventry 
neighbourhoods in 2021. Producers will support and empower local communities to 
curate festivals and commissions that showcase their culture: whether that be a street 
band, a public art commission, a storytelling festival – individual streets will be reinvented 
as new cultural spaces to be shared with the city.

3.4. Since winning the title, the City of Culture Trust, with the support of partners (including the 
Council), has hosted a number of meetings and series of public events across the city to 
update people on Coventry’s bid, preparation, programme and delivery plans and how the 
public, partners, schools and local businesses can contribute to, engage with and support 
Coventry 2021.  

3.5. The Trust’s Collaborative City team of producers will work closely with community 
organisations across the city to co-create a programme that is sustainable long after 2021 
is over.  This team will cover the 18 wards of the city and is already immersing 
themselves in the great work that currently happens across Coventry, working with 
schools, libraries, doctors surgeries, high street businesses, U3A and older voices, 
community organisations and charities, family hubs and faith groups.

Page 42



3.6. The Trust’s team of producers will be embedded in key organisations and networks in the 
city that are working to address some of the challenges the city faces – adding a layer of 
activity to work towards strengthening communities around issues surrounding poverty 
and homelessness; mental health; isolation and inequality experienced by newly arrived 
communities; and knife crime and safety, particularly amongst young people.

3.7. The Trust’s Dynamic City producing team will showcase Coventry as a creative city – one 
that is creative; playful by nature; seven years younger than the national average; a test 
bed for 5G technology in 2021; and acutely aware of the impact we’re having on our 
planet.  This team will be future facing, pioneering new partnerships and new ways of 
working

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. The terms of the £8.51m Arts Council grant funding stipulate that all capital projects must 
be completed and operational by 31st March 2021. The majority of these projects have 
already commenced and are all on track to be completed in advance or in line with this 
deadline.

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1. Financial implications

The report seeks approval to accept £8.51m capital resource from Arts Council England 
(ACE) to support the development of the City’s Cultural Infrastructure to ensure that the 
City is ready for 2021. Approval is also sought to add to the capital programme, the £2.4m 
resources referenced in the report and approved by the CWLEP for the same purpose.  Both of 
these allocations build on the £5m existing capital allocation approved by members in August 2018, 
forming a total City Council programme of enhancements to Cultural and Heritage assets of 
c£15.9m.

The Council would be required to act as accountable body for both the ACE, and the 
CWLEP grant monies for those projects not being directly delivered by the City Council.  
These projects will be supported by a back to back Grant Aid Agreement with relevant 
partners, outlining the grant conditions

Both of the external allocations will have some limited flexibility to reallocate resources 
within the scope of the infrastructure projects referenced in the report, however there is 
no flexibility to spend outside of the scope of projects bid for.

Members have previously been made aware of other grant funding and investment 
opportunities that have already been secured through third parties up to a value of £47m 
that will also contribute to the readiness of cultural assets for 2021. The largest of these 
relate to Warwick Arts Centre, Charterhouse and Drapers Hall. The project delivery and 
financial risk of these will of course be through external partners.

5.2. Legal implications

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 permits a Council to do anything that an individual 
may do whether or not normally undertaken by a local authority (the General Power of 
Competence). The power is subject to any pre or post commencement restriction on the 
use of the power (none of which apply in this case).

The grant award letter sets out the terms and conditions which the Council will be 
required to comply with and in light of the fact that part of the funding secured through this 

Page 43



award will passed to third parties, the Council will ensure that there is a legal agreement 
which passes these conditions to the third party organisation in order to minimise any risk 
to the Council.

Legal Services will continue to work alongside other colleagues in ensuring that any 
decision taken in relation to City Readiness is undertaken in a legal and compliant 
manner to mitigate against any state aid and procurement challenges.

6. Other implications

Any other specific implications

6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

As previously reported to Cabinet and Council, City of Culture 2021 and associated 
programmes will make wide-ranging contributions to delivery of the Council’s key 
objectives and corporate priorities. The following are only a selection of potential 
contributions that Coventry 2021 and associated readiness and legacy programmes 
could make:

 A prosperous Coventry – The City of Culture title can bring significant economic 
benefit to a city and its surrounding area. Hull attracted major national investment 
towards its programme budget for 2017, with Arts Council England, Heritage Lottery 
Fund, Big Lottery (via Spirit of 2012), British Council and the University committed to 
the programme. The estimated value of tourism for Hull in 2017 was £300m, with an 
£11m-£17m estimated gross value added to the local economy from tourism growth. 
One in four businesses in Hull took on new staff in 2017 and the reported economic 
outcomes of City of Culture include at least £22m of projected Gross Value Added to 
the local economy and nearly 800 new jobs created in the creative and visitor 
economy in the three years leading up to 2017. In terms of investment activity, Hull 
reports £81.6m of ‘full attribution investments (i.e. where investment was highly 
unlikely without City of Culture); £137.9m of ‘partial attribution investments’ (where 
City of Culture is seen as an important factor in accelerating or increasing 
investment); and £297.1m of minor attribution investments (where investment is not 
directly linked to City of Culture but is attributed to an enhanced investment 
environment). Derry/Londonderry reported more than 1 million visitors to the city in 
2013 and an increase of 20% in bed and breakfast and hotel bookings. The city also 
attracted 30 business conferences to the city and 40 new business starts were 
supported by the Business Opportunities Fund.

 Healthier, independent lives – Cultural activity plays a vital role in addressing 
social challenges, reducing isolation, improving mental wellbeing and increasing 
physical activity. As a Marmot City we are committed to good jobs for local people 
via our economic growth and building resilience and aspiration in young people; 
which will have a lasting impact on reducing inequalities in health. UK City of Culture 
gives Coventry communities a once in a generation opportunity to engage as a 
participant, active observer or volunteer all of which will promote health and 
independence.  Through Hull 2017, 8 out of 10 participants said that being part of a 
project made them happier and 34% reported improvements to self-esteem of 
children and young people. There was also a 9% increase in the confidence of Hull 
residents to take part in or join in with cultural and non-cultural activities.

 Making Coventry an attractive and enjoyable place to be – Derry/Londonderry 
reported positive impacts on civic confidence and pride in its creative and cultural 
offer. The city further saw physical assets created or refurbished in the city. In the 
build-up to its City of Culture year in 2017, Hull experienced the acceleration of 
significant regeneration schemes and projects. A public survey in the Hull Daily Mail 

Page 44

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


identified that City of Culture was the single thing most people thought was putting 
Hull ‘on the map’. In-depth surveys by Lottery funder Spirit of 2012 further showed a 
positive impact on well-being, happiness and local pride in Hull’s population across 
2017.

 Ensuring that children and young people achieve and make a positive 
contribution – Engagement with children and young people was a key element of 
the Coventry bid, opportunities to engage and inspire a generation exist. In Hull 100% 
of schools participated in the City of Culture Programme The Coventry City of Culture 
programme, build-up and legacy plans should generate a step-change in 
opportunities for young people and new graduates in the city across culture and the 
creative industries. The Warwick Commission on the Future of Cultural Value (2015) 
noted that “the extraordinary cultural and creative talents that we share contribute to 
the well-being of our society, our economic success, our national identity and to the 
UK’s global influence.” The Commission noted that not enough was being done to 
realise the creative potential of individuals, despite the workforce in this sector 
growing over four-times faster than the UK’s workforce as a whole. The Coventry 
City of Culture programme, build-up and legacy plans should generate a step-change 
in opportunities for young people and new graduates in the city across culture and 
the creative industries.

 Encouraging a creative, active and vibrant city – The process of developing a City 
of Culture Bid has stimulated a new cultural narrative in Coventry and has supported 
the creation of a new partnership Cultural Strategy 2017-2027. City of Culture, 
aligned with the Cultural Strategy, is already opening the city up to new artistic 
collaborations and investment. The opportunity to generate a step-change around 
cultural tourism is apparent from baseline data along with outcome data from Hull. 
There is further a unique opportunity to stimulate a more diverse and vibrant cultural 
offering within the night-time economy of the city.

 Developing a more equal city with cohesive communities and neighbourhoods – 
The Diversity of Coventry is celebrated within the city and was a significant strength of 
our bid. The creative programme and volunteering opportunities presented by City of 
Culture can bring communities together and generate a greater sense of civic pride in 
the host city. Liverpool reported that over two thirds of the city’s residents participated 
in their Capital of Culture programme of events and 85% of residents said the city 
was a better place to live as a consequence of hosting the year. Hull has reported that 
90% of residents engaged with their City of Culture Programme. The Warwick 
Commission (2015) further calls for a strategic shift in addressing unrepresentative 
levels of diversity and participation in the arts and culture. Coventry’s City of Culture 
programme could create a powerful platform for such a step change at a local level, 
where evidence suggests participation in the arts remains uneven across the city.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

The Coventry City of Culture Trust led the Coventry bid, and is leading programme 
planning for 2021, with direct input from partners and Elected Members on the Board and 
from officers on the Executive Group.

The city readiness and legacy programme is being overseen by a City Readiness Board, 
chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive (Place).

A Place Directorate Programme Board has been established to monitor and review 
progress on key capital schemes impacting on Coventry 2021 and/or public realm and 
key city infrastructure.

Page 45



6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

The Council is not the lead agency for City of Culture delivery but is the lead partner for 
the city readiness and legacy programme recommended within the report and for 
providing advice on events safety and infrastructure, including transport and liaison with 
statutory services. The Council is also acting as guarantor for the delivery programme.

The recommended investment in cultural capital and city readiness programmes 
includes allowances for increases in Council staff capacity to optimise the opportunities 
and manage these commitments. It should be noted that this will require specific and in 
some cases accelerated support from some wider Council services (e.g. Human 
Resources, ICT, Legal Services) and there will still be additional opportunities for and 
demands placed on Council services as a consequence of programme decisions currently 
still at the planning stage within the City of Culture programme (e.g. Public Health, 
Welfare services). However, any delay now in making decisions around sector 
development and capital proposals in order to consider the full implications of a 
confirmed programme for 2021 would negatively impact on the city’s ability to secure and 
deliver key capital projects and external funding in time for 2021.

6.4. Equality and Consultation Analysis (ECA)

The City of Culture Guidance for Bidding Cities requires cities to demonstrate a high 
quality cultural programme that reaches a wide variety of audiences and that uses 
culture and creativity to lead to lasting social regeneration through building engagement, 
widening participation, supporting cultural diversity and cohesion, contributing to the 
localism agenda and reaching out to sectors of the community who are disenfranchised 
and isolated.

The DCMS has further explicitly required that the winning city engages a wide range of 
audiences and participants, especially children and young people and under-represented 
groups and communities.

No potential adverse impact from winning the tile has been identified for any specific 
group. However, capacity assessment work through the bid indicated that Coventry 
could significantly and positively deliver equalities outcomes for a range of protected 
groups including young people; vulnerable people (economically disadvantaged); 
disabled people; people of black, Asian and minority ethnicity; women and older people. 
Open events and workshops in Coventry have therefore purposely focused on 
engagement with wide and diverse audiences, and an outcomes framework has been 
developed (underpinned by baseline data).

 
6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

The city readiness programme includes public realm works and potential capital 
developments. Where applicable, construction will be undertaken in accordance with 
Secured By Design principles. Modern construction materials will be utilised and will 
present a significantly lesser impact on the environment than materials that were 
historically used. Site Waste Management techniques will be utilised and off-site 
manufacture will be prioritised wherever possible, thereby reducing reliance on water, 
minerals and other natural resources. Local contractors will be prioritised where 
appropriate and local specialised sub-contractors, suppliers and labour sources will also 
be utilised, wherever possible. Where approved, the disposal of building materials from 
affected areas will require an approved risk management and methodology strategy

Page 46



6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

Coventry City of Culture 2021 and the Coventry Cultural Strategy 2017-2027 are 
partnership initiatives developed through consultation with a range of stakeholders. 
Approval and early implementation of key elements of both initiatives have given 
confidence to external funders that the city has clear cultural and wider city objectives 
and priorities for 2021 and legacy plans through to 2027. Further commitment to 
investing in culture and aligned regeneration should give assurance to external partners 
and should assist local partners when applying for external grant funding to deliver 
cultural regeneration, creative industry and cultural development in the city.

Page 47



Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Charlotte Booth, Programme Development Manager – UK City of Culture 2021
Andy Williams, Director of Business, Investment and Culture

Directorate:
Place

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7683 3827
Email: Charlotte.booth@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Lara Knight Governance Services 

Co-ordinator
Place 7/8/19 7/8/19

Steve Weir Head of Economic 
Growth

Place 05/08/19 7/8/19

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and members)
Phil Helm Finance Manager 

(Place)
Place 05/08/19 05/08/19

Gurbinder Singh Sangha Corporate and 
Commercial Lead 
Lawyer, Legal 
Services

Place 05/08/19 06/08/19

Andy Williams Director of Business, 
Investment and 
Culture

Place 05/08/19 06/08/19

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief 
Executive

Place 06/08/19 06/08/19

Councillor G Duggins Cabinet Member
for Policy and 
Leadership

- 06/08/09 07/08/19

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 48

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 
Public report

Cabinet

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 17 July 2019
Cabinet 27 August 2019

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins

Director approving submission of the report:
Chief Executive

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-2019

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

One Coventry is the narrative that describes the Council’s objectives, key strategies and 
approaches. It includes the Council’s vision and priorities; new ways of working; and core areas 
of activity. The One Coventry Plan sets out our vision and priorities for the city: globally 
connected to promote the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy; locally committed to 
improve the quality of life of Coventry residents; working together with partners and residents to 
deliver priorities with fewer resources.

The annual performance report sets out the progress made towards the One Coventry Plan. For 
each objective, this report sets out the trends, actions taken, and performance metrics, to provide 
an objective assessment of the progress made.

Recommendations:

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee is requested to:

1) Consider the Council’s performance as set out in the performance report.
2) Identify any issues they may wish to raise to Cabinet.
3) Identify areas that Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee or other Scrutiny Boards may wish to 

address as part of this year’s scrutiny work programme.

Cabinet is requested to:

1) Consider any recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee.
2) Approve the performance report.
3) Consider the Council’s performance this year and identify areas that they wish to address 

in further detail.

Page 49

Agenda Item 7

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=12034&Ver=4
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=11942&Ver=4
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councillors/54/george_duggins
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/6/council_structure/25/our_strategic_management_board/2
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/


List of appendices included:

Appendix I – One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19
Appendix II – One Coventry Performance Management Framework
Appendix III – Briefing Note with Recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents:

One Coventry Plan (Council Plan) www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/ 
Council’s performance and open data www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/ 
Performance management framework https://smarturl.it/PMF
Citywide intelligence hub https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHubOCP 

Equality objectives www.coventry.gov.uk/equality/
Statement of accounts www.coventry.gov.uk/statementofaccounts/

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

Yes – Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 17 July 2019

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 50

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://smarturl.it/CovPerf1819
https://smarturl.it/PMF
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://smarturl.it/PMF
https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHubOCP
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/equality/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/statementofaccounts/


Report title: 
One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19

1. Context (or background)

1.1 One Coventry is the narrative that describes the Council’s objectives, key strategies and 
approaches. It includes the Council’s vision and priorities; new ways of working; and core 
areas of activity. One Coventry will help improve the city and improve people’s lives; deliver 
the Council Plan; better use resources to deliver better outcomes for people; and help the 
Council meet the challenges of increasing demand and reduction in funding. The One 
Coventry Plan sets out our vision and priorities for the city. The plan is for the period 2014 
to 2024; and it was last refreshed in 2016.

1.2 The annual performance report sets out the progress made towards the One Coventry 
Plan. For each objective, the report sets out the trends, actions taken, and performance 
metrics, to provide an objective assessment of the progress made against previous years 
and other places.

1.3 The Council uses agreed indicators to show progress made towards its priorities. This is 
supported by a wider basket of measures such as equality and perception measures that 
help explain the trends and story behind the headlines. Indicators are selected from key 
strategies and aligned to directorate priorities and equality and health inequalities 
objectives.

1.4 Further information including infographics, open data, maps and a publication schedule are 
available at www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/. This year, progress have been made 
towards developing a Citywide Intelligence Hub, a one-stop data platform providing a 
“single source of truth” of data and evidence about Coventry.

1.5 The Council’s priorities are delivered through strategies aligned to the One Coventry Plan; 
as set out in the performance management framework. As part of the performance 
management process, leadership teams within each directorate and the corporate 
leadership team have been involved in ensuring that the organisation’s key strategies are 
aligned to the One Coventry Plan.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The One Coventry Plan is currently measured 
using 75 indicators, of which 42 indicators 
improved; 10 stayed the same; 15 indicators got 
worse; can’t say or no clear direction of travel 
for 7 indicators (for example a higher number of 
domestic violence offences reported may 
indicate an increase in cases, but may also 
reflect better reporting and awareness); and 
progress is not available for 1 indicator (visitor 
trips). 

This means, at the end of year, 78% (52/67) of 
directional indicators (excluding can’t say or not 
available) improved or stayed the same. This 
compares to 71% (42/59) in 2017/18 and 75% 
(43/57) in 2016/17.

42

10

15

7

1

75
headline

indicators

Page 51

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHubOCP


2.2 Progress has been maintained in the context of continued and sustained reduction in the 
overall resources available to the Council: resources available to Coventry through the 
Local Government Finance Settlement had fallen by £113m in the period between 2010/11 
and 2018/19 on a like for like basis – and this is expected to continue, with an expected 
further reduction of £7m for 2019/20.

2.3 Many of the Council’s key priorities have an equality dimension or address an inequality 
caused by economic or social circumstances. Consequently, this report also sets out how 
the Council addresses these equality and health inequalities.

2.4 Members are asked to consider the Council’s performance towards the Council’s priorities, 
and to identify areas and issues to be addressed.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 The Council regularly meets with employee representatives, community and interest 
groups, and partner organisations to help the Council achieve its equality and health 
inequalities objectives for the city. 

3.2 Where appropriate, this report uses residents’ perceptions to help understand residents’ 
views of the Council and the city. This report includes findings from the household survey, 
youth survey and conversations with community groups as part of the refresh of the joint 
strategic needs assessment (JSNA).

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 Not applicable.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications
Delivery of the Council’s objectives can have a direct positive impact on the Council’s 
overall financial position although there are no direct financial implications from this report.

5.2 Legal implications
The single data list sets out a list of all the datasets that local government must submit to 
central government. In addition, the Government’s local government transparency code 
sets out the minimum data that local authorities should be publishing; the frequency it 
should be published; and how it should be published. There is no requirement placed on 
local authorities to publish a report on its performance or any requirement on the Council to 
publish performance on any indicators or metrics.

Coventry City Council does so as it is committed to providing information that helps the 
Council work together with neighbours and partners, fulfilling its One Coventry Plan 
priorities; and sees it as good practice to do so.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council’s key priorities?

The performance report sets out the progress made towards the One Coventry Plan, that 
is, the Council’s key priorities. The performance management framework sets out how the 
Council plans and organises the resources at its disposal to achieve the vision and 
priorities, as set out in the Council Plan.

Page 52

https://letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/jsna/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/jsna/


6.2 How is risk being managed?

The performance report helps the Council manage risk by measuring and reviewing 
progress in relation to the priorities of the One Coventry Plan. It identifies areas where we 
are making good progress, areas where progress is not as expected, and areas where the 
Council needs to take corrective action. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The One Coventry Plan impacts on the whole organisation. Effective performance 
management arrangements at all levels will help to ensure that the Council’s priorities are 
delivered.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

The Council’s performance management framework and reporting arrangements must 
have due regard to the public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010. This includes the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and 
victimisation; to meet the needs of people regardless of their background; and to 
encourage all people to participate in public life, or in other activities where their 
participation is low. 

Many of the key priorities set out in the One Coventry Plan are also equality objectives. In 
addition, a specific set of equality objectives has been agreed and progress against these 
is reported annually to the Cabinet Member (Policing & Equalities). This contributes to 
meeting the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) Regulations 2011.

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) Climate Change and the environment

The Council has confirmed its commitment to addressing the issue of climate change. This 
report includes environmental progress measures including air quality, energy use, and 
carbon dioxide emissions from local authority operations.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations

Whilst this report reflects progress against the Council’s priorities, it also includes actions 
and measures where the contribution of partners is essential to their delivery.

Page 53

http://goo.gl/ckGp0


Report author(s):

Names and job titles: 

Si Chun Lam
Insight Development Manager (Place and Public Sector Transformation), Insight Team
Bev McLean
Performance Information Officer, Insight Team
Yeng Yeng Shang
Analyst, Insight Team

Directorate:
People

Contact:
SiChun.Lam@coventry.gov.uk 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received 
or 
approved

Contributors:
Mark Andrews Planning Team Manager (Policy) Place 12/06/2019 12/06/2019
David Ashmore Director of Customer Service and 

Transformation
People 14/06/2019 26/06/2019

Adrienne Bellingeri Head of Customer Service People 19/03/2019 01/05/2019
Andrea Buckley Community Resilience Team 

Manager
People 21/05/2019 29/05/2019

Sally Caren Head of Social Work Mental 
Health and Sustainability

People 12/06/2019 12/06/2019

Debbie Cashmore Senior Analyst (Housing and 
Homelessness)

People 19/06/2019 19/06/2019

Kevin Coughlan Performance Manager (Data 
Team-Education, Early Years and 
YOS)

People 20/03/2019 06/06/2019

Tracy Cowley Highways Technical Team 
Manager

Place 19/03/2019 29/04/2019

Jane Craig Health Protection People 20/03/2019 21/06/2019
Debbie Dawson Policy and Partnerships 

Transformation Officer
People 13/05/2019 13/05/2019

Liz Deakin Insight Manager (Intelligence) People 14/06/2019 17/06/2019
Valerie De Souza Consultant in Public Health 

Intelligence and Communities
People 14/06/2019 04/07/2019

Amanda Durrant Head of Payroll Pensions Emp 
Bens

People 19/03/2019 26/04/2019

Tom Evans Senior Analyst People 20/03/2019 25/06/2019
Peter Fahy Director of Adult Services People 14/06/2019 26/06/2019
Paul Ferris Performance Manager (Social 

Care & Communities)
People 20/03/2019 07/06/2019

Jane Fowles Consultant in Public Health People 20/03/2019 03/05/2019
Emily Garratley Senior Analyst People 20/03/2019 07/06/2019
Liz Gaulton Director of Public Health and 

Wellbeing
People 14/06/2019 19/06/2019

Sarah Gill Energy and Low Carbon 
Placement Student

Place 19/03/2019 30/05/2019

Juliet Grainger Programme Manager-Lifestyles People 20/03/2019 08/05/2019

Page 54

http://smarturl.it/SiChunLam
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/factsaboutcoventry/
mailto:SiChun.Lam@coventry.gov.uk


Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received 
or 
approved

Wilma Green Human Resources Adviser People 01/05/2019 10/05/2019
John Gregg Director of Children’s Services People 14/06/2019 26/06/2019
Rajvinder Grewal Apprenticeship & Career Pathway 

Development Lead
People 20/05/2019 12/06/2019

Louise Hewitt Waste Support Officer Place 19/03/2019 29/05/2019
Graham Hood Head of Streetpride & 

Greenspace
Place 19/03/2019 07/05/2019

Nadia Inglis Consultant in Public Health People 20/03/2019 15/04/2019
Paul Jennings Finance Manager (Corporate 

Finance)
Place 19/03/2019 08/05/2019

Judi Kilgallon Project Manager
Economic Development Service

Place 19/03/2019 17/05/2019

Colin Knight Director of Transportation and 
Highways

Place 14/06/2019 26/06/2019

Martin Lawlor Information Officer
Community Safety Team

Place 19/03/2019 05/06/2019

Anna Livesey Project Manager in Economic 
Development Service

Place 19/03/2019 17/05/2019

Martin McHugh Street Enforcement Manager Place 19/03/2019 24/04/2019
Richard Moon Director of Project Management & 

Property Services
Place 14/06/2019 25/06/2019

Ross Mudie Strategy – Housing and 
Homelessness

People 19/03/2019 09/05/2019

Kirston Nelson Director of Education, Libraries & 
Adult Learning

People 14/06/2019 25/06/2019

John O’Neill Management Information Team 
Leader

People 24/06/2019 24/06/2019

Danny Rawle Highways Asset Management 
Engineer

Place 19/03/2019 29/04/2019

Joe Sansom Programme Manager in 
Transformation

People 30/05/2019 30/05/2019

Helen Shankster Insight Manager (Engagement) People 14/06/2019 14/06/2019
Joanne Smith Senior Commissioning Manager- 

Children
People 19/03/2019 29/04/2019

Barrie Strain Senior Operational Manager 
Revenue

Place 19/03/2019 30/04/2019

Andrew Walster Director of Streetscene & 
Regulatory Services

Place 14/06/2019 26/06/2019

Sarah Watson Green Business Programme 
Manager

Place 31/05/2019 06/06/2019

Andy Williams Director of Business, Investment 
and Culture

Place 19/03/2019 25/06/2019

David Woodhouse Lead Performance Analyst People 19/03/2019 01/05/2019
Names of approvers for submission: 
(officers and members)
Barry Hastie Director of Finance & Corporate 

Services
Place 14/06/2019 26/06/2019

Julie Newman Legal Services Manager and 
Monitoring Officer

Place 14/06/2019 17/06/2019

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief Executive (People) 14/06/2019 26/06/2019
Martin Yardley Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 14/06/2019 26/06/2019
Councillor Duggins Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership 14/06/2019 25/06/2019

This report is published on the Council’s website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings/

Page 55

https://smarturl.it/covperf1819cover


This page is intentionally left blank



 

ONE COVENTRY PLAN
Annual Performance Report 2018-19

www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/

  

Page 57



On
e 

Co
ve

nt
ry

 P
la

n

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

2 

Infographic 
 

Highlights 

95% of pupils attended 
good/outstanding primary 

schools; 80% in secondary, and 
100% in special schools

2nd of 63 UK city clusters for 
patent applications per 

population, secondary only to 
Cambridge

40 care leavers attending 
university in 2019, compared to 

just 5 care leavers in 2014

7th highest exporter per job out of 
62 UK cities. 38% went to the EU; 

13% headed to China

Only 5.4% of young people not in 
education, employment, or 

training (NEET); better than 
regional and national averages

40% in statutorily homeless 
households since the 
implementation of the 

Homelessness Reduction Act

Full fibre broadband roll-out to 
Coventry households, increasing 

their value by £101m in the 
next 15 years

50% increase in enforcement 
action taken regarding fly-tipping

3rd consecutive year of increase 
in employment; currently at 72%

550 additional trees planted in 
parks and green spaces

1 in 3 working-aged residents 
are qualified to degree level or 

above

0.2% in overall footfall, 
bucking national trend, and 
4.1% in evening footfall

6 out of 10 adults are 
physically activeCity of Culture

European City of Sport

Page 58



One Coventry Plan

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

3 

Overview
One Coventry 

One Coventry is the narrative that describes the Council’s 

objectives, key strategies and approaches. It includes the 

Council’s vision and priorities; new ways of working; and 

core areas of activity. One Coventry will help improve the 

city and improve people’s lives; deliver the Council Plan; 

better use resources to deliver better outcomes for people; 

and help the Council meet the challenges of increasing 

demand and reduction in funding. 

One Coventry Plan (Council Plan) 

The One Coventry Plan sets out our vision and priorities 

for the city: 

Globally connected 

Promote the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy by: 

• supporting businesses to grow; 

• developing the city centre; 

• creating infrastructure for the city to thrive; and 

• raising the profile of Coventry. 

And ensure that residents share in the benefits by: 

• helping local people into jobs; 

• increasing the supply, choice and quality of 

housing; 

• reducing the impact of poverty; and 

• increasing access to arts, sports and cultural 

opportunities. 

Locally committed 

Improve the quality of life for Coventry people by: 

• creating an attractive, cleaner and greener city; 

• improving educational outcomes; 

• making communities safer; and 

• improving health and wellbeing. 

Especially for our most vulnerable residents by: 

• protecting our most vulnerable people; and 

• reducing health inequalities. 

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources 

Make the most of our assets and work closer with partners 

and residents to enable people to do more for themselves. 

About the performance report 

This annual performance report sets out the progress 

made towards the One Coventry Plan. For each objective, 

this report sets out the trends, actions taken, and 

performance metrics, to provide an objective assessment 

of the progress made against previous years and with 

other places. 

Indicators 

The Council uses indicators to show progress made 

towards its priorities. This is supported by a wider basket of 

measures such as equality and perception measures that 

help explain the trends and story behind the headlines. 

Indicators are selected from key strategies and aligned to 

directorate priorities. 

Open data 

Infographics, open data, maps and a publication schedule 

are available at www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/. This 

year, progress have been made towards developing a 

Citywide Intelligence Hub, a one-stop data platform 

providing a “single source of truth” of data and evidence 

about Coventry. 

Abbreviations & symbols used 

Symbol Progress Target status 

 

Improved (or target already 

achieved) 
On-target 

 
Got worse Off-target 

 

Similar, unchanged or 

statistically insignificant 
– 

 

Can’t say, no clear direction 

of travel 
– 

 

Not available or no updated 

data 
No target set 

SN 

WMCA 

WMR 

CIPFA 

Statistical neighbours (similar authorities) 

West Midlands Combined Authority 

West Midlands Region 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 

nearest neighbours (similar authorities) 
 

www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/  

13/08/2019 15:44:15

 

Page 59

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHubOCP
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=11942&Ver=4


On
e 

Co
ve

nt
ry

 P
la

n

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

4 

Executive summary 

Overall summary 

 

The One Coventry Plan is currently measured using 75 

indicators, of which 42 indicators improved; 10 stayed the 

same; 15 indicators got worse; can’t say for 7 indicators 

(for example a higher number of domestic violence 

offences reported may indicate an increase in cases, but 

may also reflect better reporting and awareness); and 

progress is not available for 1 indicator (visitor trips 

indicator). 

This means, at the end of year, 78% (52/67) of directional 

indicators (excluding can’t say or not available) improved 

or stayed the same. This compares to 71% (42/59) in 

2017/18 and 75% (43/57) in 2016/17. 

Globally connected: promoting the growth of a 

sustainable Coventry economy 

 

Coventry is a city with exciting and challenges times 

ahead. Over the years, the city has continually reinvented 

itself to rise to fresh challenges. As the city steps up to 

becoming the UK City of Culture in 2021, the city’s 

economy remains strong and resilient, with a growing 

advanced manufacturing sector, increasing rates of 

employment and decreasing rates of unemployment. More 

residents are working in highly-skilled and higher paid jobs; 

with over 35% of the city’s residents qualified to level 4 

(degree level) or above. 

However, significant pockets of deprivation limit some 

residents’ opportunities to succeed in life, with nearly one 

in five neighbourhoods considered to be amongst the 10% 

most deprived neighbourhoods in England. In addition, 

10% of the population have no qualifications at all, limiting 

their ability to gain more rewarding employment in the city. 

The city continues to attract external investment, leading to 

a rapidly changing city skyline – from the demolition of old 

tower blocks that no longer meet the city’s need, to the 

construction of new buildings, such as student 

accommodation and apartment blocks, to meet the 

changing demands of the city. This is predicted to lead to 

further private sector investment into the city centre 

including Cathedral Lanes, the Upper Precinct, and City 

Centre South. 

However, the city is facing a huge challenge around 

homelessness, both in terms of financial costs and wider 

outcomes, associations with placements in temporary bed 

and breakfast accommodation. This year has seen the 

creation of an integrated housing team bringing together 

housing strategy, housing options (choice-based lettings) 

and homelessness prevention; and the bringing together of 

the Council’s Housing First and “making every adult 

matter” approach for people who experience rough 

sleeping, substance misuse and other severe and multiple 

disadvantage. 

As Coventry becomes a “globally connected” city, it will 

need to address the climate emergency to ensure the city’s 

future sustainability. Initiatives like improving the city’s air 

quality and reducing greenhouse gas emissions towards 

net zero emissions will need a citywide focus. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42

10

15

7

1

75
headline

indicators

12

1

3

1

17
headline

indicators

Page 60

https://smarturl.it/covperf1819cover


One Coventry Plan

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

5 

Locally committed: improving the quality of life 

for Coventry people 

 

To support the growth of the city’s economy and to provide 

a pleasant environment for local people, the Council has 

responsibilities around transport networks, air quality, 

green spaces and cleanliness. The city’s road network 

continues to be in a good/acceptable condition, having 

improved markedly from previous years. However, the city 

faces challenges around littering and fly-tipping, with a 

marked increase in the number of fly-tips reported. Despite 

the increase in fly-tipping, the Council continues to 

successfully attend to and address the same proportion of 

fly-tips; and has developed metrics to identify, determine 

and address the levels of cleanliness across the city. 

A person’s lifelong health, happiness and productivity in 

society are influenced by their early years. The city has 

seen an increase in the percentage of five-year olds 

achieving a good level of development. However, this is 

still below the rates seen in similar authorities and 

nationally. 

The vast majority (95%) of primary school pupils continue 

to attend schools rated good/outstanding and, compared to 

the last two years, more pupils finish year 6 reaching the 

expected standard in reading, writing and. At secondary, 

over three-quarters (80%) of pupils attend a 

good/outstanding school, and attainment and progress 

measures at year 11 have seen improvement. 

With two good universities and an increasing range of 

highly paid jobs available in the city, there has also been a 

decrease in the number of young people not in education, 

employment or training – although further work needs to be 

done to raise aspirations of young people to take on the 

significant and growing opportunities available in the city 

and region. 

Social care services in the city have seen a marked 

improvement, however the sector faces significant and 

sustained pressures. In children’s services, there has been 

an increase in the overall number of looked after children, 

as well as an increase in re-referrals. In adult social care, 

the number of people in long term support have increased 

– but remain within the expected range. 

Like other cities, there has been a surge in concern about 

crime and violence, particularly knife crime, and 

consequential effects on perceptions of safety. The city has 

seen an increase in crime rates, however rates are still 

lower than other areas in the West Midlands such as 

Birmingham or Wolverhampton. 

The city is adopting a public health approach to tackling 

violence, that is, looking at violence not as isolated 

incidents or solely a police enforcement problem but 

considering violence as a preventable consequence of a 

range of factors, such as adverse early-life experiences, or 

harmful social or community experiences and influences. 

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources 

 

Progress has been maintained in the context of continued 

and sustained reduction in the overall resources available 

to the Council: resources available to Coventry through the 

Local Government Finance Settlement had fallen by 

£113m in the period between 2010/11 and 2018/19 on a 

like for like basis – and this is expected to continue, with an 

expected further reduction of £7m for 2019/20. 

This year, the Council has seen a slight increase in its 

permanent workforce, reflecting reductions in the use of 

temporary agency staff, and a decrease in sickness 

absence rates. 

The city’s emerging One Coventry approach is working 

towards ensuring that services in the Council, along with 

partner agencies and local community groups, work 

collaboratively to make the biggest positive impact on the 

lives of local people. 

 

26

9

11

7

53
headline

indicators

4

1

5
headline

indicators

Page 61



Globally connected
Promoting the growth of a sustainable 
Coventry economy

 

  

Page 62



Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

7 

Supporting businesses to 

grow 

Coventry has successful business clusters 

The Council supports businesses to grow by attracting 

inward investment; helping businesses to expand; 

encouraging them to create jobs; improving their access to 

skilled workers; and retaining skilled graduates in the area. 

Coventry and Warwickshire are home to clusters of 

successful, world-class business sectors, including 

advanced manufacturing and engineering (particularly in 

aerospace and automotive industries); energy and low 

carbon; connected autonomous vehicles; business, 

professional & financial services; and digital, creative and 

gaming. 

 

Business rates remain constant 

Coventry’s business rates rateable value increased from 

£313m to £319m in 2018/19. The city’s rateable value has 

remained relatively constant in recent years. This suggests 

growth from new properties or those with increased 

rateable value has been broadly neutralised by those that 

have been removed from the list or received a reduced 

rating. 

 

98.2% of collectable business rates were collected in-year. 

This is above the target of 98% for the second consecutive 

year. 

 

A growing local economy 

Gross value added (GVA) is a measure of the size of a 

local area, calculated from the value of goods and services 

produced by businesses operating in an area. GVA may 

increase due to increased productivity; growth in business 

size; or an increase in the number of businesses. 

Given Coventry’s population size, the city has historically 

performed below average. More recently, the city has 

experienced good growth. The latest data, for 2017, shows 

an annual GVA growth of 3.3% to £8.8 million for Coventry, 

compared to 3.1% for England. This is believed to be a 

result of the growth in the number of small businesses in 

the city. 

But population growth outstrips economic growth 

To compare regions of different sizes, the GVA per head 

figure is used. At £24,500 in 2017, Coventry’s GVA per 

head was higher than in similar authorities but remained 

lower than England overall at £27,949. The city’s GVA per 

head figure increased by only 1.3% year-on-year, 

suggesting that the local economy did not grow as fast as 

the local population. This is partly explained by the growth 

in student numbers, the majority of whom are economically 

inactive. 

Recovering productivity levels 

In recent years, the UK’s level of productivity, a measure of 

efficiency, fell behind other advanced economies. 

Coventry’s productivity remains lower than the national 

average. However, in 2017, productivity increased by 4.5% 

in Coventry compared to 2.5% nationally, narrowing the 

gap. Indeed, the city’s productivity is now higher than 

amongst similar local authorities. 

High levels of exports 

 

Coventry has a high rate of exports per job. This reflects 

the strength of the local business partnerships, particularly 

in the advanced manufacturing sector. 59% of the city’s 

exports were from the road vehicles sector, and this is 

attributable to the partnership between Jaguar Land Rover, 

its local supply chain, and the Warwick Manufacturing 

Group at the University of Warwick. 

Did you know, Coventry is ranked 2nd

out of 63 city clusters across the UK 
for the rate of patent applications per 

population, second only to 

Cambridge.

In 2016-18, over 800 businesses in 

Coventry were supported by the 
European Union’s European 

Regional Development Fund, 

generating over £16m in private 
investment and helping create some 

775 jobs in the city.

The Council met its target to collect 

over 98% of collectable business 
rates in year – money that is 

reinvested into city services.

In 2017, Coventry was 

the 7th highest exporter 
per job out of 62 cities. 

38% of Coventry’s 

exports went to the European 
Union and 13% headed to China.

38%

EU

13%

China

Page 63



Gl
ob

al
ly

 c
on

ne
ct

ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

8 

Decrease in active enterprises 

 

In 2018, there were 9,845 active enterprises in the city. At 

a rate of 340 enterprises per 10,000 adult population, the 

number of active enterprises in Coventry remain notably 

lower than elsewhere: 377 in the West Midlands Combined 

Authority (WMCA), 588 in Warwickshire and 515 in 

England. 

Most enterprises in Coventry are small firms employing 

fewer than 10 people – so the number of active enterprises 

is, in effect, a measure of the city’s small to medium 

enterprise (SME) sector. 

In the four years leading to 2018, Coventry’s business 

stock grew at a faster rate than the regional and national 

averages, fuelled by strong growth in new business 

creation. However, in 2018 the total number of active 

businesses dropped by about 200, falling from 10,065 to 

9,845, amounting to a 2% decrease. This is a result of a 

reduction in the number of new businesses created 

compared to previous years; the rate of annual business 

creation in Coventry remains lower than national and 

regional averages. 

Supporting local businesses 

Supporting businesses to create jobs 

The Coventry & Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

(CWLEP) Growth Hub works with local business, helping 

start-ups get off the ground and established SMEs grow. 

Since its establishment in 2014, the Growth Hub has 

supported the creation of over 5,000 jobs in the sub-region. 

The CWLEP works alongside local authorities, universities, 

and business groups to help secure funding deals. 

Helping businesses access investment 

The Council’s economic development service delivers 

business support and helps local businesses secure 

funding. In 2016-18, the team managed three European 

Regional Development Fund (ERDF) business support 

programmes, supporting over 800 businesses, generating 

£16.7m private investment, creating 775 jobs and reducing 

carbon emissions by 11,686 tonnes. 

The team works closely with partners including the WMCA 

and the local business community; and has been awarded 

over £10m to deliver another three years of tailored 

support to local businesses, focusing on growth and job 

creation. 

Upskilling local people 

The Skills 4 Growth project, a partnership with the CWLEP 

and Warwickshire County Council, supported 61 SMEs to 

provide accredited training to 278 employees according to 

their identified skills needs. Furthermore, four young 

people have successfully completed their apprenticeships 

through the award-winning Construction Shared 

Apprenticeship Scheme. The project’s social value work 

has resulted in 1,069 local people employed on sites with 

skills and employment plans. 

Creating the infrastructure 

Funding secured for transformational schemes 

This year, permission has been granted for a £93.8m 

scheme to transform Upper Precinct (£11.8m) and 

Coventry railway station (£82m). £30m of the funding for 

both schemes are from the Local Growth Fund. 

Transportation 

Improving capacity and accessibility of Coventry 

station 

 

Coventry rail station is one of the fastest growing stations 

outside London. The £82.3m Coventry station masterplan 

is funded by the CWLEP, WMCA, Department of 

Transport, and others. Phase one of the development is 

under way with the construction of a new footbridge, 

There were 9,845 active enterprises 

in 2018, a decrease of about 200 

enterprises from 2017. This cancels 

out the recent trend where the 

number of enterprises in Coventry 

has grown at a faster rate than 

nationally or regionally.

Page 64



Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

9 

canopies, and an access tunnel under Warwick Road. The 

contract for phase two was recently awarded to 

Buckingham Group, and this will bring a new station 

concourse that links to Warwick Road and all platforms, a 

new pedestrian route via the tunnel under Warwick Road to 

the new bus interchange, and an additional multi-storey car 

park. 

Better connectivity to Warwickshire 

Hourly train services running between Coventry, 

Kenilworth, and Leamington Spa were introduced in April 

2018 following the re-opening of Kenilworth train station. 

By popular demand, the one-carriage service expanded to 

two carriages in May 2019, with services extending past 

Coventry to Nuneaton, calling at Coventry Arena, 

Bedworth, and Bermuda Park. 

Broadband 

Full fibre broadband roll-out 

CityFibre is rolling out full fibre broadband offering ultrafast 

gigabit broadband to over 5 million addresses in the 

country. In Coventry, households in Old Church Road and 

Gayer Street are now connected to gigabit broadband from 

Vodafone; with roll-out to Longford and Bell Green next. 

Gigabit broadband will help the city meet its smart city, 

smart energy and intelligent transport systems ambitions. 

Regeneris, an economic consultancy, estimated that the 

full fibre connectivity could increase values of local homes 

by £101m in the next 15 years. 

Developing the city centre 

A changing city centre skyline 

The Coventry city centre skyline has been rapidly changing 

with the demolition of old tower blocks and the rise of new 

ones that reflect the city’s growing and changing need for 

apartment blocks and student accommodation. By 

attracting people to live and work in the city centre, there 

will be increased footfall and increased demand for retail 

and destination leisure activities in the city centre, helping 

attract more shops and restaurants to create a more 

vibrant city centre for everyone. 

While the development of city centre apartment blocks and 

student accommodation are led by private investors, the 

Council is working to ensure residents benefit from the 

changes and is investing monies through the Growth Deal. 

Through the programme, the Council helped deliver 531 

jobs and apprenticeships and 10,440m2 of commercial 

space in 2018/19; with a target of creating over 10,000 jobs 

and over 30,000m2 of skills and commercial space by 

March 2021. 

Public realm improvements 

Transformation of Upper Precinct 

 

Upper Precinct is under transformation with the removal of 

escalators and footbridges connected to West Orchards, 

the ramp near Ernest Jones, and canopies. This will result 

in larger shop units, and a modernised central pedestrian 

area with a courtyard-style design, with planting, 

landscaping, water features, seating areas, and timber 

terraces. To attract more people to the city centre, the 

unused upper levels will house local students, further 

freeing up family homes in local neighbourhoods. The 

modernisation of Upper Precinct is part-funded by the 

Council, the Shearer Property Group, JP Morgan Asset 

Management, the Local Growth Fund, and others. 

Regeneration of the Burges 

 

Following a successful bid put together by Historic 

Coventry Trust, the Coventry Business Improvement 

District (BID), and the Council, Coventry was chosen by 

the Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) 

as a High Streets Heritage Action Zone project. The DCMS 

has pledged £2m to regenerate the Burges, one of the few 

parts of Coventry that preserved its pre-Second-World-War 

Page 65



Gl
ob

al
ly

 c
on

ne
ct

ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

10 

appearance, restoring building façade, historic shopfronts, 

and access to River Sherbourne at Palmer Lane. 

Active design to promote physical activity 

The Council has blended in private sector developments 

with public realm improvements designed to encourage 

residents into physical activity and active travel patterns. 

Works this year include opening-up the link between 

Hertford Street and Broadgate Square to create a more 

attractive pedestrianised city centre environment; and 

Phase 2 of Coventry on the move! in Parks providing 

exercise equipment and marked walking and jogging trails. 

  

  

Free Wi-Fi 

The Council is increasing the range of free public Wi-Fi in 

the city centre, in partnership with IntechnologyWifi and 

local businesses, which have allowed Wi-Fi equipment to 

be mounted on their buildings. The Wi-Fi brings benefits to 

businesses, visitors, and residents, and may help 

encourage high tech firms to contribute to the city’s growth. 

City centre footfall 

The Council has footfall counting devices located in five 

city centre locations: City Arcade, Hertford Street, Market 

Way, Smithford Way and Upper Precinct. 

 

Overall footfall is broadly unchanged 

In 2018/19, there is a marginal increase (+0.2%) in overall 

footfall in 2018/19, up 0.2% from 2017/18; compared to a 

marginal decrease the previous year (-0.3% from 2016/17). 

An index of places nationally suggest footfall has declined 

by 8.7%, suggesting that Coventry has bucked the national 

trend. 

There was significant variation in the trends of change 

between different locations in the city centre. Footfall 

increased in Hertford Street (+5%) and Smithford Way 

(+3%); no change in Upper Precinct (0%); and footfall 

decreased in Market Way (-9%) and City Arcade (-16%). 

 

The number of students enrolled at Coventry University 

and living around the city centre has continued to increase. 

This should have a positive effect on footfall, although this 

may be limited by the placement of the city’s footfall 

counting devices which are focused in the retail area and 

may not cover the routes students tend to take, for 

instance, between Trinity Street, Priory Place, High Street 

and Coventry University. A review of the numbers and 

locations of counting devices may help address this. 

Changes to the Council’s estate may also have an impact 

in footfall patterns: for instance, the opening of One 

Friargate in November 2017 and the relocation of staff 

away from the demolition of the Civic Centres may have 

influenced figures at Hertford Street; and the refurbishment 

of Broadgate House and relocation of staff from elsewhere 

may have influenced figures at Upper Precinct. 

The ongoing redevelopment of the city centre precinct, 

including the demolition of Coventry Point and 

transformation of Upper Precinct may have a negative 

effect on footfall in 2019/20; but upon completion it is 

hoped that city centre footfall will recover and increase as 

the city becomes the UK City of Culture in 2021. 
Map © OpenStreetMap contributors

City Arcade

Hertford Street

Market Way

Smithford Way

Upper Precinct

High Street
(counting device no longer operational)

Priory Place
(counting device no longer operational)

Lower Precinct
(operated by Lower Precinct)

West Orchards
(operated by West Orchards)

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Change in overall footfall (Coventry)

Change in evening footfall (Coventry)

Change in overall footfall (UK Index)

Change in footfall (% year-on-year change)

Overall 0.2%

Evenings only 4.1%

Page 66



Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

11 

Increasing evening footfall 

Like recent years, evening footfall continue to buck the 

trend, continuing to improve and perform better than 

daytime footfall. In 2018/19, footfall in the city centre after 

7pm was 4.1% higher than it was in 2017/18. This year’s 

evening performance improvement was even higher than 

last year’s by an additional 2.1% points. There has been 

variation between different locations in the city centre; 

evening footfall increased in Hertford Street (+14%), Upper 

Precinct (+4%) and Smithford Way (+2%) but evening 

footfall fell in Market Way (-8%) and City Arcade (-10%). 

Empty shop units remain constant 

In 2018/19, the number of empty shops in the prime retail 

areas of the city centre (the area covered by the footfall 

counting devices) fluctuated over the year but remains 

broadly unchanged, falling by two units from 55 at the end 

of March 2018 to 53 at the end of March 2019. 

 

Raising the profile of Coventry 

and arts, sports & cultural 

opportunities 

Encouraging investment 

Coventry’s international presence continues to strengthen 

through active place promotion both in the UK and 

overseas. In recent years, the city benefitted from 

significant Chinese investment, and China remains a key 

market. 

In 2018/19, Coventry hosted 10 international delegations of 

government officials and businesses looking for investment 

opportunities. Coventry also participated in three outward 

missions to seek investment, showcasing the region’s 

strong economy, excellent partnerships and universities, 

technical assets and support services. 

 

Hosting major events 

UK European City of Sport 2019 

 

Coventry is emerging as a destination for hosting major 

sporting events. Following the legacy of London 2012, the 

city was awarded the UK European City of Sport for 2019. 

In the coming years, Coventry will also host the 2021 

Rugby League World Cup, and netball matches for the 

Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games. 

European Corporate Games 2019 

As part of the European City of Sport 2019 programme, 

Coventry hosted Europe’s largest corporate multi-sports 

festival in August 2019. The four-day event attracted over 

4,000 registered participants from firms such as Vodafone, 

IBM, and Barclaycard to participate in 23 sports. The 

Games are expected to generate £5m for the local 

economy. 

Vélo Birmingham and Midlands cycling race 

17,000 cyclists entered Vélo Birmingham & Midlands, the 

second biggest closed-road event in the UK. The Council 

worked closely with the organisers, CSM Active, and 

emergency services to ensure the safety of participants. 

Both the 42-mile and 100-mile routes took cyclists to 

Coventry city centre, passing through the Cathedral on 

cobbled lanes. 

Tale of Two Streets: a showcase of local identities 

 

The city hosted a major photography exhibition where 

Coventry-based Photo Archive Miners collaborated with 

internationally renowned photographer Niall McDiarmid 

and 10 Coventry University graduates to capture images of 

local people from Far Gosford Street and Foleshill Road. 

Hundreds of people and locations were captured, 

showcasing the city’s identities and personalities. 

21
24

42

67

59

39
44

56 57

63

55

62

55 53

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Empty shop units in city centre prime retail areas
(at the end-March each year)

Page 67

https://photomining.org/projects/a-tale-of-two-streets


Gl
ob

al
ly

 c
on

ne
ct

ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

12 

Building sports facilities 

The Wave destination waterpark and a new 50m pool 

The Council has pledged £60m of investment to new 

sports and leisure facilities in the city – these include a 

waterpark called The Wave and new facilities at the Alan 

Higgs Centre. A £36.7m project, the Wave is the Council’s 

biggest single investment in sports and activity, a 

destination leisure facility that will help Coventry residents 

be more active – as well as encourage people into the city 

centre. It is designed to be one of the most accessible 

water parks in the UK, with easy access areas for people 

with mobility issues and slides for toddlers. The Wave’s 

fitness and spa facilities opened in July 2019 with the 

waterpark expected to open later this year. A cash boost of 

£10.5m brings the Alan Higgs Centre a new eight-lane 50-

metre pool, a viewing gallery for spectators, a health suite, 

and an expansion of the fitness suite. 

 

Coombe Abbey tree-top adventure 

Go Ape, a tree-top attraction, opened at Coombe Abbey in 

April 2019. The first of its kind in the region, it features a 

12-metre free-fall drop, a dual Tarzan Swing, and a 200m 

double zip course finale. Open from February to 

December, the attraction created 30 jobs. Looked-after 

children and care leavers were among the first groups to 

trial the attraction. 

Go CV residents’ loyalty card 

The city’s Go CV loyalty card allows all Coventry residents 

to take advantage of discounts and offers at the city’s 

attractions such as music venues, museums, and the new 

Wave waterpark. Replacing the Passport to Leisure and 

Learning scheme, the Go CV card will offer all residents 

discounts and offers, with additional discounts for people 

on low incomes. The Council is reaching out to shops, 

bars, and restaurants to join the scheme too. Residents 

can register for a Go CV card free of charge at www.go-

cv.co.uk or collect one at the local leisure centre. 

 

Care leavers, that is, young people leaving the care of 

Coventry City Council, should have access to the same 

level of care and support that others would expect from a 

reasonable parent. The Council’s local offer to care leavers 

also ensures access to the city’s arts, sports and cultural 

opportunities. 

Helping local people into jobs 

Some residents are benefitting from growth 

Coventry’s economy is strong, bolstered by the growing 

advanced manufacturing sector, increasing rates of 

employment, decreasing rates of unemployment, and more 

residents with high level qualifications. There are also more 

residents working in highly-skilled and higher paid jobs. 

While good growth in the city has created more well-paid 

jobs, there also arises a need to address skills shortages 

by raising aspirations amongst schoolchildren and retaining 

skilled professionals and graduates in the city. 

Strong levels of employment 

The number of Coventry residents in employment has 

been increasing strongly for the last few years. The 

employment rate is 72%, with 173,100 of 241,900 working 

age (aged 16-64) residents in paid work. This rate is in line 

with other similar areas with a high number of full-time 

students but is lower than national average. 

Overall, employment rate has been improving for three 

years, signifying a departure from a situation in previous 

years where a notable increase in total working age 

population led to a boost in employment head count but did 

not translate to a significant increase in employment rate. 

Page 68

http://www.go-cv.co.uk/
http://www.go-cv.co.uk/
https://thewavecoventry.com/
https://go-cv.co.uk/


Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

13 

The increase in the employment rate in the last year of just 

over one percentage point is not statistically significant, but 

the data gives some evidence that the trend of 

improvement continued in 2018. 

The total number of residents in employment has grown 

because of increases in both full-time and part-time work. 

In recent years, there has been a bigger increase in the 

number of residents working in higher skilled and higher 

paid jobs than in lower skilled occupations. 

There appears to be inequalities in employment, with 

residents of White British ethnicity having higher 

employment rates than amongst residents from BME 

backgrounds overall. The increases in employment 

amongst residents has been amongst both men and 

women, although the employment rate amongst men 

remains higher; 74% compared to 68%. 

Unemployment in line with national averages 

 

Unemployment rate in Coventry stands at 4.6%, or 

approximately 8,600 working-age residents. Coventry’s 

figures are roughly in line with the regional (4.7%) and 

national (4.1%) rates. National unemployment is at its 

lowest level in years. Similarly, unemployment in Coventry 

has been dropping over the medium term and is now 

notably lower than pre-recession levels. In 2018, the 

unemployment rate amongst Coventry residents fell a little, 

continuing the positive medium-term trend. 

Claimant count rate comparable to national average 

The claimant count, a measure of the number of residents 

who are claiming jobseeker’s allowance or claiming 

universal credit due to unemployment, stands at 6,000 

people, compared to the unemployment estimate of 8,600. 

The claimant count is highest in Foleshill and lowest in 

Wainbody. 

Universal credit full-service went live in Coventry in July 

2018, where claimants for several benefits began the 

transition to claiming universal credit. It was predicted that 

the transition would be challenging for some claimants, 

with potential delays in receiving payment; a wider group of 

people are required to search for work; and there are 

stricter conditions on what claimants are required to do to 

receive payment. 

Increasing qualification levels but still some 

challenges and skill shortages 

Over one in three working aged residents are qualified 

to degree level or above 

35% of Coventry’s working aged residents, or around 

85,400 people, are now qualified to level 4 (degree level) 

or above. Coventry now performs better on this measure 

than the West Midlands average or in similar areas. 

Coventry benefits from a ‘graduate gain’ thanks to the 

number of students at the city’s two universities; however, 

graduate retention is low with only 15% of students staying 

to work in the city following graduation. 

One in ten working aged residents have no 

qualifications 

Almost a tenth of working aged residents (24,900 people) 

in the city have no qualifications. This is worse than the 

England average (8%) but is comparable to region (10%) 

and similar areas. A lack of qualifications may limit 

residents’ ability to gain more rewarding employment. 

However, many of the residents with no qualifications are 

aged 50 or over and are already in employment. 

Local businesses report skill shortages 

8% of Coventry firms who responded to the national 

Employer Skills Survey 2017 said they had at least one 

skills shortage vacancy and were finding it difficult to recruit 

to a job because the candidates did not have the required 

skills. Additionally, 12% of Coventry firms said they had 

skills gaps whereby at least one of their employees did not 

have all the skills required for the job. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

J
a

n
 2

0
0

4
-D

e
c
 2

0
0
4

J
a

n
 2

0
0

5
-D

e
c
 2

0
0
5

J
a

n
 2

0
0

6
-D

e
c
 2

0
0
6

J
a

n
 2

0
0

7
-D

e
c
 2

0
0
7

J
a

n
 2

0
0

8
-D

e
c
 2

0
0
8

J
a

n
 2

0
0

9
-D

e
c
 2

0
0
9

J
a

n
 2

0
1

0
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
0

J
a

n
 2

0
1

1
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
1

J
a

n
 2

0
1

2
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
2

J
a

n
 2

0
1

3
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
3

J
a

n
 2

0
1

4
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
4

J
a

n
 2

0
1

5
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
5

J
a

n
 2

0
1

6
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
6

J
a

n
 2

0
1

7
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
7

J
a

n
 2

0
1

8
-D

e
c
 2

0
1
8

Unemployment rate (2004-2018)

Coventry England

Page 69



Gl
ob

al
ly

 c
on

ne
ct

ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

14 

Supporting young people into work 

Fewer young people not in education, employment, or 

training (NEET) 

 

In January 2018, 380 (5.4%) of 16-to-17-year olds were 

either NEET or their activity was not known. This is lower 

than the WMCA (7.1%), West Midlands (6.4%) and the 

England (6.0%) figures and represent a decline of 1.5% 

points from January 2017. 

Half of all apprenticeships are at level 3 and not 

enough are at level 4 

One way to address skill shortages is through 

apprenticeships. In 2017/18, nearly half (47%) of 

apprenticeships in the city are at level 3 (advanced level) 

with level 4 (degree level) apprenticeships remaining the 

smallest level. Coventry apprentices with a Coventry home 

address are more likely to be studying at level 2 

(intermediate level), and apprentices with a non-Coventry 

home address are more likely to be studying for a level 4 

apprenticeship. To address the skills gap and wage gap 

between people living in the city and people working in the 

city, it may be worth encouraging more residents to start 

level 4 apprenticeships. 

79 new Council apprenticeships and 99 qualifications 

Employers with a pay bill of over £3 million each year, 

including Coventry City Council, pay into the government’s 

apprenticeship levy scheme to fund apprenticeship 

programmes. Funding can be retained by the employer if it 

goes towards apprenticeship training and assessments. 

In 2018/19, the Council spent £524,540 of apprenticeship 

levy funding, supporting 79 new apprenticeships in the 

Council and local authority schools and providing 99 

qualifications for Council staff. 12 types of courses were 

offered, including civil engineering, catering and 

professional chefs, accountancy, taxation, and play work. 

To widen participation, the Council has partnered with two 

charities, the Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre and 

Grapevine, to improve access to apprenticeships for 

underrepresented groups; and has begun offering 

mentoring to apprentices. The Council has also joined the 

Apprenticeship Diversity Champions Network; and Young 

Apprenticeship Ambassador Network, offering 

opportunities to apprentices, providing training to help 

apprentices inspire the next generation of apprentices. 

Skill sharing and Time Union 

The Pod hosts the city’s Time Union, which is a system of 

mutual exchange where members share their time, assets, 

and skills on an hour-for-hour basis. Members of the Time 

Union have exchanged cinema trips and lessons in 

languages, fitness, DIY, career, life coaching, filmmaking, 

and crafts. 

Reducing the impact of 

poverty 

There are significant pockets of multiple 

deprivation in the city 

According to the 2015 English indices of multiple 

deprivation (IMD), 18.5% of the city’s neighbourhoods are 

amongst the 10% most deprived areas in England. Overall, 

the city is the 46th most deprived local authority area out of 

326 across England. Furthermore, the city has a notably 

higher proportion of households with no working age adult 

works (17%). One-third of Coventry households with 

children are regarded as low-income families (33%). An 

updated IMD for 2019 is expected later this summer. 

Helping families in need access fresh, nutritious food 

 

The city’s Feeding Coventry programme has launched a 

web-based map of places where families in need can 

access food handouts, cooked meals, social events and 

food-related learning across the city. 

England
6.0%

England
6.0%

WMR
7.3%

WMR
6.4%

Coventry
6.8%

Coventry
5.4%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

2017 2018

NEET

2.8%

Not 

known
3.2%

NEET

2.7%

Not

known
3.3%

NEET

2.7%

Not 

known
4.6%

Not

known
4.0%

NEET

3.5%

Not

known
1.9%

NEET

2.4%

NEET

3.1%

Not

known
3.7%

Page 70

https://myaccount.coventry.gov.uk/service/Feeding_Coventry
https://myaccount.coventry.gov.uk/service/Feeding_Coventry
https://myaccount.coventry.gov.uk/service/Feeding_Coventry
https://myaccount.coventry.gov.uk/service/Feeding_Coventry


Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

15 

Growth in median annual pay is below inflation 

so real incomes for some residents are falling 

The median full-time annual pay for Coventry residents 

was £28,927 in 2018, a growth of 1.8% from 2017. The 

rate of growth is lower than the WMCA, regional and 

national growth rates of 3.2%, 3.0% and 2.7% respectively. 

At just 1.8%, the growth rate is below inflation, so real 

incomes for some residents are falling. 

In 2018, the median full-time annual pay in Coventry 

workplaces was £31,010; an increase of 4.3%, further 

widening the gap between resident and workplace pay. 

Gender pay gap 

The median full-time gender pay gap for Coventry is 

estimated at 23.3 (where 0 represents gender parity; and a 

positive value represents higher male pay). This is notably 

bigger than the England average of 9.5. 

Nationally, the gender pay gap has continued to fall and 

indeed the gap for full-time employees is close to zero for 

those aged between 18 and 39 years. Locally, the large 

gap may reflect a gendered profile in certain highly paid 

jobs in the economy. 

Note that the gender pay gap is the percentage difference 

between men’s and women’s median earnings across all 

job types; it is not a measure of the difference in pay 

between men and women for doing the same job. 

Gross disposable household income (GDHI) 

GDHI measures the money available to spend or save 

after distributional effects such as taxes, social 

contributions and benefits. In 2017, Coventry’s GDHI stood 

at £14,455 per head, notably less than the region and 

nationally (by about £2,500 and £5,500 respectively).  

Notably, while GVA per head in Coventry is higher than the 

average for similar areas, GDHI per head is lower; 

meaning residents capture a lower share of GVA than in 

other places. 

Total GDHI, at £5.206 billion, increased by 2.7% in 2017 

compared to 1.6% for England. However, after considering 

Coventry’s rapid population growth, GDHI per head grew 

by only 0.7%. This is below inflation, indicating that overall 

real incomes fell in 2017. 

 

Tackling low pay, poverty and inequality 

Coventry Poverty Summit 2018 

Recognising that despite the city’s growth, there are still a 

large proportion of the population that are significantly 

disadvantaged and whose overall health and life 

expectancy is lower than those in more affluent parts of the 

city, Coventry held a Poverty Summit in November 2018. 

This brought together the Council, universities and 

voluntary and community organisations to recognise the 

progress made as a Marmot city, and to share insights on 

using a system-wide approach to alleviate the harm of 

poverty. 

Working in partnership as One Coventry 

By working in partnership, advice and support agencies 

can be more effective in helping the city’s most vulnerable 

residents to share the benefits of the city’s growth. For 

example, the city’s Universal Credit Working Group and 

Welfare Reform Working Together Group brings together 

local advice agencies supporting some of the most 

vulnerable residents in the city with public sector 

organisations to share updates, learning and collaborate 

on best practices. 

Many community and voluntary groups, including a 

substantial number of faith-based groups, are addressing 

the needs of the city’s most vulnerable residents such as 

rough sleepers and refugees, by providing food, clothes 

and charitable donations. A number of these groups feel 

that they would benefit from co-ordinating resources, better 

collaboration and having a networked approach. 

£0

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

Gross Disposable Household Income per head 1997-2017

*

SN £15,248 (+15%)

Coventry £14,455 (+12%)

UK £19,514 (+19%)

Warks £22,138 (+28%)

Page 71



Gl
ob

al
ly

 c
on

ne
ct

ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

16 

Supply, choice & quality of 

housing 

A new housing and homelessness strategy 

 

In March 2019, the city’s new housing and homelessness 

strategy formally came into effect. The vision for the city is 

for Coventry citizens to be able to “access a suitable, 

affordable and decent home, with the support they need to 

sustain their housing”. 

The Council continues to bring together its housing and 

homelessness strategy together, recognising that actions 

to prevent homelessness are dependent on the availability 

of additional housing; an improvement in the management 

and quality of existing housing; and the advice and support 

available for people to successfully maintain their home.  

Actions outlined include further assessments to understand 

the needs of vulnerable residents; partnership working to 

prevent and resolve homelessness; supporting 

regeneration and redevelopment schemes such as the 

‘inclusive growth corridor’ brought by the development of 

the High Speed 2 railway and working creatively with 

partners to develop additional affordable housing. 

House prices and rental prices 

While house prices tend to be lower than the regional 

level, rental prices appear to be slightly higher 

As of March 2019, there were 143,552 dwellings in the city. 

Approximately 82% of the city’s properties are privately 

owned. Just over half (51%) of residents live in privately-

owned properties. The city’s house prices on average have 

increased by £9,400 (+7%) per year over the last five 

years. This increase is higher than West Midlands region’s 

(+£7,600 per year), but lower than England’s (+£10,200 

per year). Despite such increase, house prices remained 

lower than the regional (by £13,000) and national (by 

£64,000) median prices. 

Just over a quarter of residents rent from private landlords. 

In October 2017-September 2018, the mid-point of 

available rental prices in Coventry was £625 per month. 

Rental prices in Coventry appear to be slightly higher than 

the regional levels and are rising slowly towards the 

national levels. The differences in purchase and rental 

prices may reflect the demand for student accommodation 

in the city – and may eventually be offset as purpose-built 

student accommodation blocks come on stream. 

House sales are down slightly – but average selling 

prices have increased 

According to data from the Land Registry, there were 4,247 

residential property sales in Coventry at an average selling 

price of £199,708 in 2018. That is down from 4,576 in 2017 

and 4,880 in 2016. However, prices have gone up much 

faster than average: it went up by 13.3% in the same 

period in Coventry (average selling price increased from 

£176,272 to £199,708 in 2016-2018) compared to 5.2% 

nationally (average selling price up from £282,708 to 

£297,411). 

Building new homes and neighbourhoods 

The city’s local plan is encouraging the growth of the 

city in specific localities and new neighbourhoods 

The Council is addressing the city’s housing shortage by 

encouraging the development of larger family homes, and 

purpose-built student accommodation. Coventry is co-

operating with its neighbouring local authorities with a view 

to build 25,000 homes within the city’s boundary, and 

another 18,000 homes in Warwickshire, outside of the 

city’s boundary. 

A third of the city’s population growth is concentrated in 

one-tenth of the city – they are mainly in and around the 

city centre and a few new housing developments such as 

around Banner Lane, Lower Stoke and Wood End. 

Over 230 new affordable homes being delivered in 

partnership with Whitefriars 

A partnership between the Council and Whitefriars is 

providing new affordable homes for local people. 

The first scheme, a £1.8m project part-funded (£400,000) 

by Homes England, the government’s housing accelerator, 

brought 14 new homes to Stretton Avenue and Dunsmore 

Avenue in Willenhall. 

The homes were a mix of three-bedroom and two-bedroom 

family properties and two-bedroom bungalows. The latter 

Page 72



Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

17 

was a specific requirement to address the lack of 

bungalows in the area. By mid-December 2018, all 

properties were occupied on an affordable rent basis. 

A second scheme, Tudor Grange, a £9.5m project also 

part-funded (£1.4m) by Homes England, is scheduled for 

completion by December 2019. This scheme will provide 

72 two, three and four-bedroom homes in Westwood 

Heath. The scheme will include 51 homes at affordable 

rent, and the remaining 21 to be offered for sale with an 

option for buyers to access Help to Buy. 

£12.7m secured from the Housing Infrastructure Fund 

to unlock developments at Eastern Green 

The funding will be used to deliver new road infrastructure 

at Eastern Green. This will help unlock the development of 

over 2,500 homes. 

 

5,899 homes to be built with Growth Deal support 

The Council has supported the creation of 1,378 new 

homes in 2018/19 across Coventry and Warwickshire and 

is working towards delivering 5,899 homes by March 2021. 

The homes being delivered in Coventry are spread across 

the city, but with some notable key developments such as 

the two sustainable urban extensions at Eastern Green 

and Keresley, alongside the continued regeneration 

programmes in Wood End and Canley, significant 

residential developments in the city centre and continued 

brownfield regeneration at Paragon Park, Whitmore Park 

and Old Church Road. 

25 homes to be delivered through a community-led 

housing scheme 

The Council has supported the Moat House Community 

Trust, a charity, to access finance to develop 25 new 

homes. Unlike traditional approaches of relying on private 

developers, this will be a community-led scheme which will 

use local community resources to provide homes at 

affordable rental levels for the local people. This will be the 

first community-led housing project in the city and is the 

only one that has received funding in the West Midlands. 

Council tax 

Over 95% of Council tax is collected in year 

 

The local plan sets out to increase the housing stock 

overall (measured through council tax base, number of 

properties, and collectible value) and, to meet the demand 

for larger family homes (measured through properties in 

the higher Council Tax bands). 

The Council tax base remains buoyant growing by 1.08% 

in 2018/19 compared to 1.07% in 2017/18. 

In 2018/19, 95.7% of Council tax was collected in-year. 

This is slightly below last year’s figure of 95.9% and 

represents the first fall in collection rate since 2014/15 but 

remains consistent with the five-year average of 95.7%. 

There is an increase in the number of properties – but 

there has not been an overall shift to properties 

attracting a higher Council tax rate band 

The overall number of properties increased by 1,536 from 

142,016 in March 2018 to 143,552 in March 2019. 

Amongst properties in the higher Council tax bands of C to 

H, the number of properties increased by 395 from 41,864 

to 42,259 in the same period. As a result, there has been a 

small decline in the percentage of higher banded 

properties relative to the overall tax base, now at 29.44%. 

95.6% 95.4% 95.8% 95.8% 95.9% 95.7%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Council tax collection rate

Page 73

http://planning.coventry.gov.uk/portal/servlets/AttachmentShowServlet?ImageName=1441367


Gl
ob

al
ly

 c
on

ne
ct

ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

18 

Indicators 

Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Gross value added (pound per 
head) 

£24,188 (2016 
revised) 

£24,500 (2017 
provisional) 

WMR £22,815 (2017 
provisional), England 

£27,949 (2017 provisional) 
 

To increase 
 

Business rates tax base 
(change from 2002 base) 

132.74 (2016/17 
revised) 

137.17 (2017/18) 
CIPFA 140.12 (2017/18), 
England 157.85 (2017/18) 

 

To increase 
 

Business rates total rateable 
value (and collection rate) 

£313m (98.1%) 
(2017/18) 

£319m (98.2%) 
(2018/19 

provisional) 

All Metropolitan Districts 
97.7% (2017/18), England 

98.4% (2017/18)  

£310m 
(98%+) 

 

Active enterprises (number and 
rate per 10,000) 

355 (10,065) 
(2017) 

340 (9,845) (2018) 
WMCA 377, Warwickshire 
588 (2018), England 515 

(2018) 
 

To increase 
 

City centre footfall (year-on-
year % change) 

-0.3% (2017/18) 0.2% (2018/19) 
N/A (No regional data),  

 UK index-8.7% (2018/19) 
 

To increase 
 

Visitor trips 7,974,000 (2015) N/A (No update) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

To increase 
 

Resident employment rate 
70% (Jan-Dec 

2017) 
72% (Jan-Dec 

2018) 

WMR 73 % (Jan-Dec 
2018), England 75% (Jan-

Dec 2018)  

To increase 
 

Unemployment (model-based)  
5.2% (Jan-Dec 

2017) 
4.6% (Jan-Dec 

2018) 

WMR 4.7% (Jan-Dec 
2018), England 4.1% (Jan-

Dec 2018)  

To decrease 
 

16-17 year olds not in 
education, employment or 

training (NEET) including not 
knowns 

6.8% (NEET 3.1%, 
Not known 3.7%) 

(2017) 

5.4% (NEET 3.5%, 
Not known 1.9%) 

(2018) 

WMR 6.4% (NEET 2.4%, 
Not Known 4.0 %) (2018), 

England 6.0% (NEET 2.7%, 
Not Known 3.3%) (2018) 

 

Below 
(better than) 

national 
average 

 

Residents qualified to level 4 or 
above (working age population) 

35% (Jan-Dec 
2017) 

35% (Jan-Dec 
2018) 

WMR 33% (Jan-Dec 2018), 
England 39% (Jan-Dec 

2018)  

To increase 
 

Median annual pay (full-time 
employees) of residents1 

£28,412 (2017 
revised) 

£28,927 (2018 
provisional) 

WMR £27,636 (2018 
provisional), England 

£29,869 (2018 provisional)  

To increase 
 

Median annual pay (all 
employee types) of residents2 

£23,021 (2017 
revised) 

£24,291 (2018 
provisional) 

WMR £22,753 (2018 
provisional), England 

£24,298 (2018 provisional)  

To increase 
 

Gross disposable household 
income per head 

£14,351 (2016 
revised) 

£14,455 (2017 
provisional) 

WMR £16,885 (2017), 
England £19,988 (2017) 

 

To increase 
 

Change in Council tax base 
(change from 2009 base) 

107.37 (2017/18) 108.83 (2018/19) 
WMCA 107.08 (2018/19), 
England 109.73 (2018/19) 

 

To increase 
 

                                                           

1 ‘Median annual pay (full-time employees) of residents’ does not take inflation into account. 
2 ‘Median annual pay (all employee types) of residents’ does not take inflation into account. 

Page 74



Globally connected

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

19 

Total amount of Council Tax in 
an area and number of 

properties 

£132m (142,016 
properties) 
(31/03/2018 

revised) 

£149m (143,552 
properties) 
(31/03/2019 
provisional) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

To increase 
 

Properties in higher Council 
Tax bands (C to H) 

29.48% (41,864) 
(31/03/2018) 

29.44% (42,259) 
(31/03/2019) 

WMM 35.23% 
(31/03/2016), England 
55.74% (31/03/2016)  

To increase 
 

Council tax collection rate 95.9% (2017/18) 95.7% (2018/19) 
 All Metropolitan Districts 

95.5% (2017/18), England 
97.1% (2017/18)  

96%+ 
 

 

Page 75



Locally committed
Improving the quality of life for Coventry people

 

 

  

Page 76



Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

21 

Create an attractive, cleaner 

and greener city 

Addressing climate change 

Recognising that climate change is a global emergency 

with significant impacts on local people and communities, 

the Council, partners, businesses and communities are 

working together using a One Coventry approach to 

address the issues. 

Climathon 2018 

One Friargate hosted Coventry’s first Climathon in October 

2018. Coventry became part of a global network of 

Climathons, year-round ‘hackathons’ which seek to 

translate responses to climate change into tangible 

projects, supporting eco-friendly businesses & start-ups 

and addressing local policy changes. 

The first Coventry Climathon brought together 

policymakers, students and citizens to brainstorm ideas to 

tackle air pollution in the city. Innovative ideas ranged from 

creating a walking bus where children are dropped off a 

mile away from school grounds and walk the last leg in 

supervised groups; to partnering with City of Culture to 

create a ‘Clean Coventry’ brand, building walls with planted 

features in the city, offering free public transport on days 

with City of Culture events, and displaying air quality 

monitoring data in real time alongside road signage. 

This event was a joint project by the Council, the University 

of Warwick, Warwick Business School, Coventry 

University, and the EU’s European Institute of Innovation 

and Technology Climate Knowledge and Innovation 

Community (EIT Climate-KIC). 

 

Find out more about the Coventry Climathon at: 

https://warwick.ac.uk/about/environment/news/climathon_2018_air/ 

Green Week 2019 

Green Week, which took place in March 2019, brought 

events and educational talks to the city. These included a 

sustainability market, a pay-as-you-feel vegan soup shop 

at Broadgate, a litter picking walk, a swap shop, a bike 

maintenance stall, a plastic-free stall, and a FabLab Repair 

café where the public could learn to fix broken items. 

Regional businesses, schools, charities, and community 

groups were involved. The event was a joint project by the 

Council, Warwick District Council, Action 21 (a charity), the 

University of Warwick, Coventry University, and their 

respective student unions. 

Improving air quality 

Certain parts of the city have poorer air quality than EU 

and international standards 

 

The Government has identified Coventry as one of 22 

towns and cities in the UK forecasted to exceed legal limits 

for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) in 2021. 

Poor air quality is an important contributor to mortality and 

exacerbates certain health conditions. Research suggests 

that long-term exposure to particulate air pollution 

contributes to mortality at a similar level to obesity and 

alcohol. Air quality particularly affects the most vulnerable, 

including elderly people, pregnant women, children, and 

people with cardiovascular and/or respiratory disease. In 

Coventry, NO2 is one of the pollutants of concern. While 

85% of locations measured had a safe level of NO2, there 

are areas beyond safe levels, including Ball Hill, Foleshill 

and the Holyhead Road/ring road junction. 

A local air quality action plan for Coventry 

The Council produced a Coventry Local Air Quality Action 

Plan (LAQAP) in February 2019 and submitted its Outline 

Business Case to Government. It sets out a 

comprehensive package of measures to address areas of 

the city with the poorest air quality, including dynamic 

traffic management to steer traffic away from air quality 

hotspots such as Holyhead Road; cleaner vehicle fleets; 

and the promotion of walking, cycling and bus travel for 

85%
of locations 

measured have 
safe levels of NO2

17 smart, hybrid low-emission 

buses now in operation
offering more comfortable seats, free Wi-Fi 
and on-board USB power to encourage 

non-bus users to make the switch

Page 77

https://warwick.ac.uk/about/environment/news/climathon_2018_air/


Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

22 

local journeys by providing enhanced and more attractive 

routes and services. 

The Government issued a Ministerial Direction requiring 

the Council to undertake additional modelling, review the 

measures proposed in the Action Plan and submit revised 

evidence in June 2019. The Direction also requires the 

Council to submit a Full Business Case (FBC) for the 

LAQAP by late September. The Council is progressing the 

work required to comply with these requirements. 

The Government also directed the Council to implement a 

Clean Air Zone (CAZ), whereby vehicles that do not meet 

the required emission standard are charged for entering 

the zone. The Council’s view continues to be this is not an 

unacceptable or proportionate response to the issue 

considering the city’s local circumstances and given the 

need to undertake additional modelling work and update 

the Action Plan. In developing the Action Plan and FBC, 

the Council remains mindful of the need to improve air 

quality in the city in a way that does not have negative 

impact upon residents and the business community. 

Roads and footways 

 

Road network are in a good/acceptable condition 

The 2018/19 survey shows 99% A roads, 98%, B & C 

roads, 82% unclassified roads and 38% of footways to be 

in a good/acceptable condition. National indicators show 

that the condition of highway network remains above the 

national average. Satisfaction is also high, with Coventry 

ranked 22 out of 113 authorities that took part in the 2018 

National Highways and Transport Network (NHT) survey. 

 

9% more priority potholes reported and fixed 

The severe winter conditions in late-2017/early-2018 

resulted in an increase in the number of high priority 

potholes reported in 2018/19, rising by 9% from 846 in 

2017/18 to 925. This year, the Department for Transport 

(DfT) awarded Coventry an additional £1.2m from the 

pothole action fund. This is being used for pothole repairs, 

road patching, and road resurfacing to help prevent further 

deterioration. In 2018/19, amid rising prices and reduced 

budget in response to central government’s funding cuts, 

treatment programmes were completed on 15.72 miles of 

carriageway and 60 footway sites. 

 

Three road renewal schemes were completed in 2018/19 

using recycled plastic and tyres, such as rubber ‘crumbs’ 

that have come from old vehicle tyres. As well as the clear 

recycling benefits, using recycled plastic and tyres have 

the potential to be longer lasting than traditional resurfacing 

materials. 

Fly-tipping 

 

47% increase in fly-tipping… 

The city faces challenges around littering and fly-tipping, 

with a marked increase in the number of fly-tips reported. It 

should be noted that fly-tipping is increasing nationally. 

There has been a 47% increase in the number of fly-tips 

reported, with an increase from 4,704 in 2017/18 to 6,922 

in 2018/19.  

The online reporting form makes it much easier for the 

public to check if the fly-tipping has already been reported 

and if not for them to ensure that an accurate report is then 

generated.  

Coventry City Council maintains a network 

of 550 miles of roads.

99%

98%

82%

38%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Roads and footways in a good/acceptable condition

A roads B &C roads Unclassified roads Footways

36

24

15.7

63

55

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Miles of carriageway and number of footway sites treated

Miles Carriageways Footway sitesMiles of carriageways

3,925

2,613

1,989

1,611

2,055

6,922

4,704

3,342

2,316

2,811

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000

2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

Fly-tipping incidents reported and enforcement actions completed

Fly-tipping incidents reported Enforcement actions completed

Page 78



Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

23 

…and a 50% increase in enforcement action taken 

The number of enforcement actions has also increased 

from 2,613 in 2017/18 to 3,925 in 2018/19, a 50% 

increase. Despite the marked increase in fly-tipping, the 

Council has slightly increased the proportion of fly-tips 

attended to and addressed; and has developed metrics to 

identify, determine and address the levels of cleanliness 

across the city. 

Fly-tipping reports are monitored, and with intelligence 

from citizens and partners including the police and housing 

associations. ‘Hot streets’ are identified, allowing resources 

to be targeted on problem areas. Neighbourhood 

enforcement officers are deployed to these areas, 

providing education and a staged approach to enforcement 

when required. 

‘Keep it clean’ cards are distributed, which outline the way 

waste should be disposed. Residents are encouraged to 

take ownership of environmental issues within their 

community, and to notify the Council of any issues and 

possible perpetrators. 

Household waste recycled and composted 

A moderate increase in recycling 

This is the first full year since the move to alternate weekly 

waste collections. Provisional data shows overall the 

recycling rate increased from 32.9% to 34.9%. There has 

been a sustained increase in recycling (including food and 

garden waste), reduction in residual waste, and overall 

drop in tonnage collected. 

 

Over 6,000 residents are now part of the recycling club. 

The club continues to provide hints and tips for residents 

and enable residents to earn points for recycling which are 

turned into donations to support local good causes. 

 

 

Streetpride and cleanliness 

96% of inspected sites meet standards 

In 2018/19, 1,016 inspections were completed and 96% 

was graded A or B. These weekly inspections, based on 

the former national indicator 195, measures work 

undertaken by the Streetpride teams including cleanliness, 

fly-tipping, graffiti, grass cutting, hedges and shrub beds of 

the local environment. 

New ways of working 

Cleansing frequencies are adjusted to manage increasingly 

limited resources in line with the Grade B standard. The 

service is now replacing pedestrian operations with mobile 

units. Initial trials suggest an increase in litter collected and 

improved standards. 

A greener city 

Community-led tree planting scheme 

This year, 550 additional trees have been planted 

throughout Coventry’s parks and green spaces to celebrate 

the 550th birth-anniversary of Sri Guru Nanak Dev Ji, the 

founder of the Sikh religion. This is organised by the Sikh 

Union, the Friends of Longford Park, and the Council’s 

Park Rangers. At the initiation event, hundreds of primary 

students, along with representatives from multiple faiths, 

gathered to plant saplings and pray. 

Make communities safer 

Addressing crime and violence 

An increase in recorded crime in line with regional and 

national trends 

Overall, Coventry follows the national and regional 

increase in crime rates per 1,000 population but remains 

lower than West Midlands areas such as Birmingham and 

Wolverhampton. 

In Coventry, there were 28,056 recorded crimes in 2018 

(⇧9% from 2017). The main offences were residential 

burglaries 2,534 (11%); assault occasioning actual bodily 

harm 2,162 (⇧24%); theft from motor vehicles 2,144 

(10%); theft from shop/stalls 2,107 (⇧2%); common 

assault 1,831 (⇧44%); and criminal damage to vehicles 

1,367 (2%). 

 

 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018/19

Household waste recycled and composted

Coventry WMCA England

The Council collects 10,800,000 bins each year 

– that is, 900,000 collections each month. 
Following the introduction of alternate weekly 
collections, collection of comingled recycling 

and food waste has increased – and residual 
waste to incinerator has decreased.

Page 79



Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

24 

Knife Angel sculpture 

 

The Knife Angel, an 8 metre (27ft) sculpture made up of 

100,000 confiscated knives dedicated to the victims of 

knife crime, was temporarily installed at Coventry 

Cathedral in March-April 2019.  

The installation was made possible by sixteen Coventry 

organisations working together. The local community 

responded to the installation and laid flowers and photos 

by the Angel in memory of local victims of knife crime.  

A programme of activity was organised around the Angel 

by the City of Culture Trust and the Cathedral to spread its 

impact. 

A public health approach to tackling violent crime 

The city has adopted a public health approach to violence 

prevention. This means regarding violence as a 

preventable consequence of multiple factors (e.g. adverse 

early-life experiences, harmful social or community 

experiences and influences), instead of isolated incidents 

or solely a police enforcement issue. 

Fewer Coventry residents feel safe  

Public concern about crime and violence (especially knife 

crime) has negatively affected their perceptions of safety. 

In 2018, fewer Coventry residents (74%) said they felt safe 

in the neighbourhood at night than two years ago (85%). 

This is not unique to Coventry and is in line with the 

national average.  

There were vast differences between neighbourhoods: in 

Stoke Park/New Century Park, 98% felt safe at night, but in 

Tile Hill, only 45.8% do. 

 

Darker areas on the map reflect a higher percentage of Household Survey 

respondents who said they felt safe at night. Source: Coventry Household 

Survey 2018. Visualisation by Mario Gutiérrez-Roig and Federico Botta 

from the Warwick Business School Data Science Lab.) 

Research by Warwick Business School suggests residents 

were more likely to feel safe at night if they felt: 

• more satisfied with their local area;  

• their neighbourhood has become a better place to 

live in the past two years;  

• more informed about the Council’s work; and  

• there were opportunities to be actively involved in 

improving their local area. 

Youth offending 

Low and declining levels of youth offending… 

Coventry’s youth offending rates are low. In 2018/19, there 

has been a further reduction in first time entrants to the 

youth justice system (93, down from 126); and reduction in 

the number of substantive offences (479, down from 

582). However, many of the young people known to youth 

offending face complex needs including mental health 

issues, poor educational attainment. and poor 

school attendance. This will have an impact on their life 

chances. 

…but nearly a third of young people feel unsafe 

In 2018, only 16% of the city’s young people felt very safe 

or safe in the city; and 30% said they felt very unsafe or 

unsafe in the city. The remainder were in-between and did 

not feel strongly either way. Young people voiced concerns 

about knife crime, and some alluded to postcode gangs, 

citing fear about stepping on another gang’s turf. Almost a 

third of young people said it was easy to buy illegal drugs 

in their area. Social media may be disproportionately 

Page 80

https://www.britishironworkcentre.co.uk/show-areas/the-knife-angel-official


Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

25 

affecting perceptions of safety and facilitate crime; for 

instance, it was pointed out that Instagram, a photo-sharing 

social networking app, was used to sell illegal drugs. 

Partnership working is crucial for dealing with 

challenging behaviour in young people 

Young people with behaviours regarded as ‘challenging’ 

may fall outside of the support offered by the city’s family 

hubs. Some ethnic minority communities felt they did not 

know where to access help to guide their younger children.  

There is scope for developing partnerships with schools, 

colleges and universities to address this in local areas, for 

instance: making use of the facilities of the city’s two 

universities to provide a space for youth groups and 

simultaneously raise aspirations; making use of student 

volunteering networks already in place, such as Warwick 

Volunteers; and connecting businesses across the city with 

youth mentoring schemes such as One Million Mentors. 

Hate crime 

Hate incidents recorded 

The largest category (85.5%) of hate crime and non-crime 

incidents recorded were related to the protected 

characteristic of race/ethnicity; followed by sexual 

orientation (8.1%); disability (2.4%); 

sex/gender/transgender (1.9%) and religion (1.9%). 

Incidents relating to disability or sex/gender/transgender 

saw an increase. 

Note that these figures are by no means the full picture. 

Under-reporting makes it difficult to quantify the prevalence 

of hate incidents and hate crime. 

 

Challenging hate crime and supporting victims 

The city’s new Hate Crime Strategy 2019-21 recognises 

that hate crime has a devastating and often lasting effect 

on victims and their families. It divides our communities; 

prevents people from living and enjoying their lives; and 

makes people fearful to leave their homes, let their children 

play outside, or be who they are. 

Backed by the Coventry Police and Crime Board, the 

strategy aims to: support victims, witnesses and 

communities; reduce and prevent incidents and increase 

awareness and reporting. It makes each partner 

accountable; and encourages a better understanding of 

why certain groups are more reluctant to report hate crime, 

and to encourage all communities to increase reporting. 

Community organisations been involved in developing the 

strategy and are working collaboratively with the Council to 

develop an action plan. 

Supporting local groups to challenge extremism 

The Council works closely with local groups to encourage 

joint working and provides support for funding bids that will 

challenge and counter extremism. These groups represent 

a cross-section of the city’s diverse communities and 

working together helps build trust and cooperation. 

Domestic abuse 

Increase in domestic abuse crimes reported 

The increase in domestic abuse crimes (that is, all crimes 

with a marker for domestic abuse) may be an indicator of 

increased confidence in police and partners to address 

domestic abuse. 

Domestic abuse is everybody’s business: 16 days of 

action against domestic abuse 

 

Following the launch of the Domestic Abuse Strategy in 

June 2018, the Council supported the citywide ‘domestic 

abuse is everybody’s business’ campaign last Winter. In 

recognition that workplaces can do more to support and 

protect employees facing domestic abuse, colleagues wore 

orange and shared photos and messaging on social media. 

Broadgate, Gosford Street, and West Orchards were also 

lit in orange to mark the occasion. 

 

 

 

 

Protected characteristic of… 2017/18 2018/19

Race/ethnicity 415 400

Sexual orientation 39 38

Disability 5 11

Religion/belief 27 9

Sex/gender/transgender 5 9

Not stated 5 5

<

<

<

<

Hate crime and non-crime incidents in Coventry

Page 81



Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

26 

Improving educational 

outcomes 
Schools in Coventry serve communities that are relatively 

more deprived than the England average; and a diverse 

population with a significantly higher number of pupils with 

English as an additional language. To address the 

challenges, the Council has worked closely with schools to 

create a shared vision for school improvement and to 

provide the enabling infrastructure for school improvement 

and school-to-school support. 

Coventry’s school improvement model has delivered 

results. Schools across the board are much improved – 

and the deep partnership networks developed help provide 

peer challenge and support to ensure those standards can 

be maintained and the needs of all children can be met 

effectively. 

School performance 

Most pupils attend a good/outstanding school 

 

In 2018/19 (March 2019), 95% of pupils attended a 

good/outstanding primary school – an improvement from 

42% just seven years ago. In secondary, 80% of pupils 

attended a good/outstanding school – an improvement 

from 59% just three years ago. In special schools, 100% of 

pupils attend a good/outstanding special school. 

School attainment 

The Council monitors results at the end of year 6 (key 

stage 2), year 11 (key stage 4) and year 13 (key stage 5). 

At year 6, Coventry pupils perform better than the 

average for similar areas 

 

In 2018, the key stage 2 expected standard in reading, 

writing and maths improved by 4%-points to 62%. This is 

1% above the average for similar areas. All key priority 

groups have made positive progress apart from Asian 

Chinese, White and Black African and White Asian. 

 

At year 11, pupils narrowed the gap with the national 

average 

The city’s attainment 8 score improved from 42.8 to 43.3. 

Positive progress was made across all key priority groups, 

including boys, pupil eligible for pupil premium, White boys 

eligible for pupil premium, special educational needs, 

looked after children, Black Other, Asian Pakistani, White 

and Black African, White, White and Asian. 

95%

80%

100%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Pupils attending good/outstanding schools

Primary Secondary Special

62%

61%

64%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2016 2017 2018

Key stage 2 expected standard in reading, writing & maths 

Coventry SN England

77.6%
73.3%
73.3%

70.1%
64.3%
63.9%

63.2%
62.5%

61.7%
60.3%
60.3%
60.0%

58.0%
57.5%

49.0%
46.0%

38.5%
34.2%

33.3%
25.8%

18.6%
12.8%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Asian Indian
Asian Chinese

Irish
Asian Bangladeshi

Asian Pakistani
White Black African

Girls
White and Asian

Black Other
Any Other Mix
Black African

White
Boys

White and Black Caribbean
Pupil Premium

White Boys Pupil Premium
Transient

Black Caribbean
Traveller of Irish Heritage

Looked After Children
Special Educational Needs

Roma/Gypsy

N
a

tio
n

a
l a

v
e

ra
g

e
 6

4
%

Coventry average (62%)

Key stage 2 expected standard in reading, writing & maths

Page 82



Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

27 

 

The city’s progress 8 score improved from -0.12 to -0.08. 

At key stage 4, GCSE A* to G grades are being gradually 

replaced with grades 9 to 1; a grade 9 is the highest mark. 

At a school and city level, attainment and progress are 

measured using attainment 8 and progress 8. 

 

The percentage of pupils achieving grades 9-5 (good pass) and 9-4 

(standard pass) in English and maths both increased in 2018, to 37.5% 

and 60.2% respectively. 

 

For Key Stage 4: (grades 9-5) English & Maths, data before 2017 is not 

comparable. 

Fewer permanent exclusions 

At primary, the city is now on par with the most recent 

England rate of 0.03% (2016/17). At secondary, the city is 

below the England rate of 0.20% (2016/17). The Council 

provides support and guidance to schools to deal with 

challenging pupils, including supported transfer and 

interventions for pupils at risk, and working with special 

educational needs and disability information, advice and 

support. 

At key stage 5, progress was made in tech levels – but 

decreased in A-level and general applied courses 

 

Further work needs to be done to raise aspirations of 

young people to take on the significant and growing 

opportunities available in the city and region. Their 

aspirations may be raised by improving their awareness of 

the significant and growing opportunities in highly paid jobs 

available in the city, and their requirement for people with 

the right skills and qualifications. 

800% increase care leavers attending university 

 

University Go!, a partnership programme between 

Coventry City Council, Warwickshire County Council, the 

University of Warwick, and Coventry University, recognises 

looked-after children with potential to benefit from 

university study, and informs them, their carers, social 

workers, and schools, on the accessible routes into higher 

education. This was highlighted as good practice in the ‘12 

by 24’ report by the Centre for Social Justice, a think tank, 

to the All Party Parliamentary University Group. 

58.1
51.2

48.0
45.9
45.5

44.5
44.0
43.6

42.1
41.4
41.1
40.7

38.9
37.6
37.0

31.7
28.9

25.1
18.2

15.6

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Asian Chinese
Asian Indian

Asian Bangladeshi
Girls

Asian Pakistani
Black African

White and Asian
Black Other

White Black African
White

Any Other Mixed Background
Boys

Black Caribbean
White and Black Caribbean

Pupil Premium
Transient

White Boys Pupil Premium
Special Educational Needs

Looked After Children
Roma Gypsy

Coventry average (43.3)

N
a

tio
n

a
l a

v
e

ra
g

e
 4

6
.5

Attainment 8 

60.2%

59.5%

64.4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2016 2017 2018

Key stage 4 standard pass in English & maths 

Coventry SN England

0.0%

37.5%

38.6%

43.5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2017 2018

Key stage 4 good pass in English & maths 

Coventry SN England

A levels

29.81 points

Tech levels

31.66 points

General applied

25.46 points

In 2019, 40 care leavers are 

attending university – this 

compares to just 5 care leavers 

five years ago.

Page 83

https://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/core/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/12by24-Publication.pdf
https://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/core/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/12by24-Publication.pdf


Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

28 

Improving health & wellbeing 

Childhood obesity 

Almost a quarter of the city’s 10-11 year olds are obese 

In 2017/18, nearly a quarter (23.5%) of Coventry children 

in year 6 were measured as ‘obese’ (956 children), an 

increase from one-in-ten (10.5%) in reception year (454 

children). At reception (age 4-5), Coventry’s obesity rate 

(23.2%) is slightly higher than the England average 

(22.4%); but by year six, the city’s obesity rate is much 

higher. 

 

The new family health and lifestyles service took on the 

city’s Be Active Be Healthy family weight management 

service last September. The service works with partners to 

prevent obesity, improve self-care and promote local 

community support. The team also works closely with 

school nurses to deliver ‘One Body One Life’, a weight 

management programme. 

The Coventry Obesity Alliance was re-launched in June 

2019, taking stock of the progress made and the next steps 

needed, from addressing food poverty to encouraging 

physical activity. 

HIV 

Slight increase in late HIV diagnoses 

 

Coventry has established a range of HIV community 

testing points and raised awareness of HIV amongst our 

primary and secondary care colleagues. The purpose of 

the work was to identify individuals with undiagnosed HIV 

thereby enabling them to access treatment and reducing 

the likelihood of onward transmission of the infection.  

People can get tested through sexual health services, 

online self-sampling, and in some community pharmacies. 

Some GPs in high prevalence areas of the city are being 

supported to increase HIV testing among their practice 

populations. Although the proportion of late diagnoses 

remains above 50%, the total number of late diagnoses 

has reduced from 71 over the 2009-2011 period to 49 in 

the 2015-2017 period. 

Smoking has reduced but challenges remain 

Although smoking prevalence has reduced, the number of 

women successfully quitting with support from a stop 

smoking service at the time of delivery has remained 

unchanged. In 2017/18 around 300 pregnant women 

sought support from stop smoking services to quit, of which 

142 managed to quit by the time of delivery. As part of the 

new Family Health and Lifestyles Service, an action plan 

and working group is in place to improve support to 

pregnant women and under 18s who smoke. 

 

Diabetes 

Diabetes prevalence remain stable 

To improve our approach to the prevention and 

management of diabetes, changes have been made to the 

city’s self-care, patient information and education offer. 

This includes new face to face and digital options; better 

community-based support for diabetes; and awareness 

raising during Diabetes Awareness Week. 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Overweight/obese at Year 6

Coventry WMR England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16 2015-17

HIV late diagnosis
Percentage of diagnoses made at a late stage of HIV infection out 

of all newly diagnosed adults (aged 15 or over)

Coventry WMR England

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Percentage of women who smoke at time of delivery

Coventry WMR WMCA England

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Diabetes prevalence
Percentage of GP registered patients (aged 17+) who are recorded 

on practice disease registers with diabetes

Coventry WMR England

Page 84



Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

29 

Physically active adults 

6 in 10 adults are physically active 

In 2017/18, 60.6% of adults were physically active, a 

marginal increase from 59.3% a year ago. There are some 

positive signs, where there has been an increase in 

participation in gym and fitness classes, active travel, 

cycling and outdoor sports.  

However, there are challenges around some groups:  

• inactivity among people with a long-term limiting 

illness or disability have worsened; and  

• activity levels amongst people in lower managerial 

and administrative occupations are significantly 

worse than average. 

The city’s new physical activity framework was agreed by 

the Health and Wellbeing Board, and progress towards an 

implementation plan is under development. 

Childhood injuries 

Increase in admissions to hospital due to injuries 

The city’s rate for hospital admissions caused by injuries in 

children aged 0-14 per 10,000 has increased in 2017/18 to 

203.7. This appears to be worse than both regional and 

national average. However, evidence suggests this is due 

to admission practices at the hospital, not necessarily 

because more children in Coventry were getting injured. 

The number of attendances at A&E amongst Coventry 

children was not higher than average in 2017/18 but a 

much higher percentage of A&E attendees were being 

admitted to hospital as inpatients. 

 

The city’s local safeguarding children board is working to 

prevent both unintentional and intentional injuries in 

children. 

Conceptions to under 18s 

Fewer conceptions to under 18s 

Coventry’s under 18 conception rate continues to decrease 

from a high of 68.1 per 1,000 females aged 15-17 years in 

2008, the highest rate in the West Midlands, to 26.1 in 

2017, the latest data available. The three-year moving 

average data for under-16 conceptions is also 

demonstrating a downward trend. 

Year of Wellbeing 2019 

 

The Year of Wellbeing 2019, created by the Place Forum, 

a partnership between the Coventry and Warwickshire 

Health and Wellbeing Boards, aims to inspire Coventry and 

Warwickshire residents to feel good and to take positive 

action to improve their physical and mental health in 2019 

and beyond. Individuals are encouraged to pledge to do 

one thing to look after their wellbeing, while organisations 

can sign up to be a wellbeing employer. 

Mental Health Awareness Week 

Mental Health Awareness Week took place in May 2019. 

Body image was the theme of this year’s event. The week 

included a free one-day Year of Wellbeing Festival, which 

connected the public to organisations that promote good 

mental health and wellbeing. There were over 30 stalls 

from local groups, including Positive Youth Foundation, 

Papyrus, Samaritans, Arty-Folks, and the NHS. There were 

also taster activities for mindfulness, sport, and arts, and 

the creation of a gratitude wall. 

Comedy Festival 

Coventry hosted its first Comedy Festival in May 2019 to 

promote the role of laughter in our wellbeing. The 10-day 

event brought 80 different shows from local talents, as well 

as nationally and internationally renowned acts, to a range 

of venues. Headlined by Tom Allen at the Belgrade 

Theatre, performances included stand-up comedies, 

improvs, family shows, and musicals. 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate 
injuries in children (aged 0-14 years)

Coventry WMR England

Page 85



Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

30 

Festival of Creativity and Wellbeing 

The free Festival of Creativity and Wellbeing provided an 

opportunity for Coventry residents to connect creatively. 

Local artists and cultural organisations worked together to 

put on a programme of workshops, performances, 

activities, and stalls to showcase the use of creativity to 

support positive wellbeing. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2019 

 

The Coventry Health and Wellbeing Board has launched 

an updated report on the health and wellbeing of residents 

and communities. The report, known as the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA), brings together evidence and 

data from a variety of sources to help inform future 

decision-making. A wide range of residents, communities 

and partners have been involved in the creation of the 

report. 

The report has explored what is happening in Coventry and 

what more can be done to improve peoples’ health and 

wellbeing. The city’s growing and changing communities; 

rising education levels and improving job prospects; 

housing, environment and safety; and social inequalities 

are some of the key issues assessed. 

This year’s report is different; transforming from a 

collection of statistics about Coventry into a place-based 

assessment of local health and wellbeing conditions. The 

full report is available at www.coventry.gov.uk/jsna/ along 

with a citywide intelligence hub data profiler tool where 

communities and partners can investigate the data in more 

detail. Further profiles for each of the city’s eight family hub 

neighbourhoods are under development. 

Protecting our most 

vulnerable people 
The Council helps to keep children and adults safe from 

harm; provide early intervention for families; and prevent 

homelessness, while services continue to face significant 

and sustained pressures. 

Breastfeeding 

Breastfeeding rates remain stable 

At 48.3%, the breastfeeding rates at 6-8 weeks remained 

stable in 2017/18. The family health and lifestyles service 

has brought together services such as infant feeding and 

health visiting, offering drop-in sessions, telephone advice 

and information to promote breastfeeding. 

Early years 

More five-year-olds achieve a good level of 

development 

This is encouraging and follows the investment into early 

help in the city’s family hubs. However, Coventry is still 

behind similar authorities and England. 

 

 

Early help across all neighbourhoods 

The Council’s family hubs approach brings advice and 

support services under one roof, enabling families to gain 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Good level of development at age 5

Coventry SN England

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 p
o

in
ts

Inequality in achievement of a good level of development at age 5
Difference between the average score of the lowest achieving 20% in the early years and the average score 

of the rest of the peer group

Coventry SN England

Page 86

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/jsna/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/jsna/


Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

31 

integrated early help and for services to better meet their 

needs.  

This is a recognition that social inequalities are already 

established from the early years of life, and to transform life 

chances and thereby increasing everybody’s opportunity to 

succeed in life requires ensuring every child achieves a 

good level of development by the age of five. 

Children’s services 

The city's looked after children rate and repeat referrals 

increased; however, the percentage of new looked after 

children who were previously looked after has remained 

stable. 

Superkids breaking away from care documentary 

 

Expectation Factual, a TV production company, 

approached the Council to create Superkids. The 

documentary follows a group of Coventry children as they 

worked with Lemn Sissay MBE, an award-winning writer 

and performer, to create poems on their experiences of the 

care system and perform them at the Belgrade Theatre.  

The documentary was broadcasted on Channel 4 in 

November 2018 and was nominated for the BAFTA 

Television Awards in the Specialist Factual category. 

Local offer for care leavers 

 

The Council launched its local offer for care leavers in 

March. The offer sets out what care leavers can expect 

from the Council in terms of support for finance, 

employment training, accommodation, relationships, and 

health and wellbeing.  

Representatives from business, health, police, charity and 

voluntary sectors attended the launch, and those 

organisations are also looking at what they can offer our 

care leavers in the future. Pledges have already been 

received to further enhance the offer. 

Find out more at www.coventry.gov.uk/careleavers/. 

Tackling substance misuse/risk-taking behaviours 

Change Grow Live, a Council-commissioned service, 

launched Positive Choices to address substance 

misuse/risk-taking behaviours amongst young people. 

Protecting young people from gangs 

The Council, West Midlands Police and local partners 

Catch 22, and Positive Youth Foundation successfully 

obtained funding from the government’s supporting families 

against youth crime fund.  

The project will offer support to young people and families 

where there is a concern that a young person is being, or 

at risk of being, exploited by a gang. 

Adult social care 

The number of people accessing long term adult social 

care support has increased but remains within the 

expected range. 

Avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions 

The Council and NHS organisations are working together 

to help Coventry residents to stay out of hospital and to 

stay well.  

In addition, the transforming care scheme for people with 

learning disabilities has been supported with additional 

health-funded social work posts, with a focus on supporting 

admission avoidance and providing discharge support. 

Mental health support & promoting independence 

The Council and the NHS Coventry and Warwickshire 

Partnership Trust have extended their joint funding for the 

provision of mental health services in the city. Additional 

funding has been secured through mental health networks 

to support admissions for children and young people. The 

Council’s promoting independence approach for people 

with disabilities (learning disabilities, in particular) has had 

good outcomes.  

The challenge going forward is to ensure these 

approaches are mainstreamed across all service areas 

including mental health. 

Page 87

http://www.bafta.org/television/awards/tv-2019
http://www.bafta.org/television/awards/tv-2019
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/careleavers/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/31/children_and_families/3265/superkids_%E2%80%93_breaking_away_from_care_%E2%80%93_in_their_own_words
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/29100/through_care_local_offer


Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

32 

Housing and homelessness 

The city faces a growing population and a huge challenge 

around homelessness. Homelessness and rough sleeping 

leads to poor outcomes for individuals and is costly for the 

Council in terms of placements in temporary bed and 

breakfast accommodation. This year, the Council has 

created an integrated housing team – which, along with the 

strategic approach outlined in the housing and 

homelessness strategy 2019-24, brings together housing 

strategy, housing options (choice-based lettings), and 

homelessness prevention to ensure that all residents are 

able to access a suitable, affordable and decent home, 

with the support they need to sustain their housing. 

A streamlined approach to supporting families and 

individuals to maintain their accommodation 

The Council has reconfigured its approach to supporting 

families and individuals at risk of homelessness. A front-

line duty roster has been introduced to facilitate and triage 

approaches and enquiries made. 

This service routinely receives around 70 approaches per 

week and the streamlining of the service means there is a 

quicker turnaround – helping more families and individuals 

maintain their housing. 

 

40% reduction in households assessed as being owed 

a statutory homelessness duty 

This year saw the implementation of the Homelessness 

Reduction Act. The number of households assessed as 

being owed a statutory homelessness duty has fallen by 

40% in 2018/19, from 557 in 2017/18 to 388 in 2018/19. 

413 homeless cases were prevented/relieved this year. 

As of 1 April 2019, 13,658 people were on the Homefinder 

register. This is a marginal fall from the average of 14,000 

people on the register at any point in time. The proportion 

of households who have been assessed as having a 

housing need on the council’s Homefinder system now 

account for around 19% of the total figure, an increase of a 

third from last year (12.6%). 

1,400 properties advertised on Homefinder in 2018/19 with 

1,187 (85%) of these being let during the same period. 

Tackling severe and multiple disadvantage and 

people facing multiple and complex needs 

Brighter Futures: supporting rough sleepers through 

Housing First 

 

The Council is working with the West Midlands Combined 

Authority to deliver the Housing First pilot scheme. Housing 

First is an approach to support individuals facing severe 

and multiple disadvantage to begin recovery and move 

away from rough sleeping. 

A departure from the traditional approach of moving 

individuals facing severe and multiple disadvantaged 

through transitional housing and support, Housing First 

secures suitable housing in an appropriate area for the 

individual and acts as a base for other wraparound 

support. The Coventry scheme will include a navigator 

(floating support) service for a total of up to 109 rough 

sleepers or those at risk of rough sleeping. 

Steps for Change: Coventry’s making every adult 

matter (MEAM) approach 

Coventry has adopted the MEAM approach to tackling 

homelessness, where organisations are coordinated to 

provide more effective services for people facing multiple 

disadvantages. It also encourages people with lived 

experiences to help shape services. 

Partnership working is at the heart of the MEAM approach 

– the Council joined hands with The Arc (Ayriss Recovery 

Coventry CIC, a community interest company of local 

experts by experience), the Salvation Army, Langar Aid, 

Crisis, and the Police to create ‘Steps for Change’. 

‘Steps for Change’ is a drop-in shop in the city centre, 

which provides a safe and welcoming environment for 

vulnerable people to seek support. Following a successful 

one-year pilot, which saw 25 to 40 rough sleepers visit the 

Hertford Street shop front on any Thursday, it has recently 

moved to City Arcade, where it will be open for up to five 

days a week, with additional opportunities for businesses 

and volunteers to get involved. 

Did you know?

All housing case officers take part in the 

duty roster and follow through with the 

case. This helps us provide consistent 

support to families and individuals facing 

housing difficulties.

Page 88

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/news/article/2953/new_project_underway_to_help_address_rough_sleeping_in_coventry


Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

33 

Reducing health inequalities 

Life expectancy 

 

 

Healthy life expectancy 

Healthy life expectancy is the number of years a person 

can expect to live in good health. The gap between healthy 

life expectancy and life expectancy is known as the 

‘window of need’ and indicates the period that individuals 

can expect to live with poorer health. 

Coventry residents spend on average a greater proportion 

of their lives in poor health than average. Coventry females 

can expect to live almost a quarter of their lives in poor 

health (18.9 years), while males can expect to live just over 

a fifth of their lives in poor health (15.4 years). 

Coventry males and females tend to face different causes 

of premature death. The most significant differences are in 

causes of death that are considered preventable by public 

health interventions. 

Inequalities across Coventry neighbourhoods 

Residents in Coventry’s most deprived areas have a wider 

‘window of need’; meaning they are living shorter lives with 

more of their life in poor health. There are significant 

inequalities across Coventry’s neighbourhoods and the 

extent of the inequality is relatively large compared to other 

areas. 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is consulting residents, 

communities and partners on a new Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy. Its strategic ambitions are: people are healthier 

and independent for longer; children and young people 

fulfil their potential; and people live in connected, safe, and 

sustainable communities. 

The Council and its Health and Wellbeing Board partners 

are adopting a new population health framework, which will 

underpin the health and wellbeing system’s activity. The 

new approach places stronger emphasis on working in 

partnership to embed the Marmot City principles; aligning 

and coordinating prevention programmes to improve health 

behaviours and lifestyles; working with local communities 

to mobilise solutions; and building a closer partnership 

between health and social care partners.

Life expectancy at birth in Coventry 2013-2017
Coventry’s bus route 10 crosses the city’s more affluent and more deprived neighbourhoods. 

It illustrates the stark differences in life expectancy across the city –

a gap of 9 years for males and 9.4 years for females.
14 June 2019

       

www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/

   
 

 

 85

 82

 
Banner 

Lane

 80

 77

 
Broad 

Lane

 81

 76

 
Albany 

Road

 80

 76

 
Mercer 

Avenue

 85

 79

 
Avon 

Street

 83

 81

 
Blackberry 

Lane

 78

 75

 
Broad Park 

Road
 79

 75

 
Riley 

Square

 84

 81

 
XUpper Eastern 

Green Lane

 87

 82

 
XAlderminster 

Road

 83

 81

 
XBeech Tree 

Avenue

 83

 81

 
XWhoberley 

Avenue

 84

 81

 
XAllesley

Old Road

 79

 73

 
XThe Arches 

Spon End

 81

 75

 
XFar Gosford 

Street

Page 89



Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

34 

Indicators 

Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Principal roads (A roads) in a 
good/acceptable condition 

99% (2017/18) 99% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

95% 
 

Non-principal roads (B and C 
roads) in a good/acceptable 

condition 
98% (2017/18) 98% (2018/19) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

95% 
 

Unclassified roads in a 
good/acceptable condition 

80% (2017/18) 82% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

80% 
 

Footways and pavements in a 
good/acceptable condition 

36% (2017/18) 38% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

38% 
 

Fly-tips reported in the city 4,704 (2017/18) 6,922 (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

≤ 
5500 

 

Household waste recycled and 
composted 

32.9% (2017/18) 
34.9% (2018/19 

provisional) 
WMCA 36.1% (2017/18), 
England 43.2% (2017/18) 

 

To increase 
 

Cleanliness levels-Grade A 17% (2017/18) 2% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

10% 
 

Cleanliness levels-Grade B 80% (2017/18) 94% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

90% 
 

Cleanliness levels-Grade C 3% (2017/18) 4% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

0% 
 

Cleanliness levels-Grade D 0% (2017/18) 0% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

0% 
 

Crime (rate per 1,000 
population and number of 

crimes) 

71.3 (25,687 
crimes, +11.6%) 

(2017/18) 

77.9 (28,056 

crimes, +9.2%) 
(Jan 2019 rolling 

year) 

Wolverhampton 97.4, 

Birmingham 98.6 (Jan 
2019), England N/A (No 

data) 
 

To 
decrease 

 

Drug offences and drug 
markers recorded  

425 drug offences 
and 736 drug 

markers recorded 
(2017/18) 

479 drug offences 
and 890 drug 

markers (2018/19) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data)  

None set 
 

First time entrants to youth 
justice system (rate per 

100,000 young people aged 10-
17) 

311 (2017/18) 235 (2018/19) 
Family group average of 

315 (2017/18), England 302 
(2017/18)  

To 
decrease 

 

Domestic violence (crime and 
non-crime) offences known to 

the police  

5,812 (+0.43%) 
(2017/18) 

6,719 (+15.6%) 
(2018/19) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

None set 
 

Repeat victims of domestic 
violence reported 

11.3% (2017/18) 11.5% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

To 
decrease 

 

Page 90



Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

35 

Pupils attending a 
good/outstanding primary 

school 
95% (March 2018) 95% (March 2019) 

SN 85% (March 2019), 
England 87% (March 2019) 

 

≥ 
National 
Average  

Pupils attending a 
good/outstanding secondary 

school 
74% (March 2018)  80% (March 2019) 

SN 76% (March 2019), 
England 80% (March 2019) 

 

≥ 
National 
Average  

Pupils attending a 
good/outstanding special 

school 
100% (March 2018) 

 100% (March 
2019) 

SN 89% (March 2019), 
England 94% (March 2019) 

 

≥ 
National 
Average  

Primary school pupils with 
permanent exclusions 

0.11% (March 
2018) 

 0.03%  
(March 2019) 

SN 0.03% (March 2018), 
England 0.03% (2016/17) 

 

≥ 
National 
Average  

Secondary school pupils with 
permanent exclusions 

0.30%  
(March 2018) 

 0.06%  
(March 2019) 

SN 0.23% (March 2018), 
England 0.20% (2016/17) 

 

≥ 
National 
Average  

Key stage 2 expected standard 
in reading, writing & maths 

58% (2017) 62% (2018) 
SN 61% (2018), 

 England 64% (2018) 
 

Better than 
SN 

 

Key stage 4: attainment 8 42.8 (2017) 43.3 (2018) 
SN 43.7 (2018),  

England 46.5 (2018) 
 

Better than 
SN 

 

Key stage 4: progress 8 -0.12 (2017) -0.08 (2018) 
SN-0.14 (2018),  

England -0.02 (2018) 
 

Better than 
SN 

 

Key stage 4: standard pass 
(grades 9-4) in English and 

maths 
58.3% (2017) 60.2% (2018) 

SN 59.5% (2018),  
England 64.4% (2018) 

 

Better than 
SN 

 

Key stage 4: good pass (grades 
9-5) in English and maths 

36.2% (2017) 37.5% (2018) 
SN 38.6% (2018), 

 England 43.5% (2018) 
 

Better than 
SN 

 

Key Stage 5 level 3 average 
point score A Level entry 

28.95 (Grade C+) 
(2017) 

29.81 (Grade C) 
(2018) 

SN 30.21 (Grade C) (2018), 
England 32.12 (Grade C+) 

(2018)  

Better than 
SN 

 

Key Stage 5 level 3 average 
point score and grade tech 

Level entry 

29.29 (Merit +) 
(2017) 

31.66  
(Distinction-) 

(2018) 

SN 28.6 (Merit +) (2018), 
England 28.11 (Merit +) 

(2018)  

Better than 
SN 

 

Key Stage 5 level 3 average 
point score and grade general 

applied entry 

34.49 (Distinction) 
(2017) 

25.46 (Merit) 
(2018) 

SN 28.6 (Merit +) (2018), 
England 28.43 (Merit +) 

(2018)  

Better than 
SN 

 

Smoking status at time of 
delivery 

10.9% 
 (10.0%-11.9%) 

(2016/17) 

11.8%  
(10.8-12.8%) 

(2017/18) 

WMR 11.9% (2017/18), 
England 10.8% (2017/18) 

 

To 
decrease 

 

Adults achieving 150 minutes of 
physical activity per week 

59.3%  
(56.1%-62.4%) 

(2016/17) 

60.6%  
(56.3%-64.7%) 

(2017/18) 

WMR 63.2% (2017/18), 
England 66.3% (2017/18) 

 

To increase 
 

Hospital admissions caused by 
injuries in children 0-14 (rate 

per 10,000) 

190.2  
(1,248 injuries) 

(2016/17) 

203.7 
 (1,358 injuries) 

(2017/18) 

WMR 103.4 (2017/18), 
England 96.4 (2017/18) 

 

To 
decrease 

 

Overweight or obese among 
children in Year 6 

38.2% (36.7%-
39.7%) (2016/17) 

37.9%  
(36.4%-39.4%) 

(2017/18) 

WMR 37.1% (2017/18), 
England 34.3% (2017/18) 

 

To 
decrease 

 

Page 91



Lo
ca

lly
 c

om
m

itt
ed

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

36 

Recorded cases of diabetes as 
recorded on GP practice 

6.7% (21,296) 
(2016/17) 

 6.7% (21,650) 
(2017/18) 

WMR 7.7% (2017/18), 
England 6.8% (2017/18) 

 

None set 
 

HIV late diagnosis 
53.7% 

 (44.4%-62.7) 
(2014-16) 

55.1% 
 (44.1%-65.6%) 

(2015-17) 

WMR 46.1% (2015-17), 
England 41.1% (2015-17) 

 

To 
decrease 

 

Conceptions to girls aged under 
18 (rate per 1,000 girls aged 

15-17) 
26.6 (2016) 26.1 (2017) 

WMCA 22.4 (2017), 
England 17.8 (2017) 

 

To 
decrease 

 

Good level of development at 
age 5 

66.1% (2017) 67.8% (2018) 
SN 68.8% (2018),  

England 71.5% (2018) 
 

Better than 
SN 

 

Gap (in the good level of 
development at age 5) between 
the lowest achieving 20% and 

the rest 

37.3 (2017) 37.4 (2018) 
SN 35.24 (2018),  

England 31.8 (2018) 
 

Better than 
SN 

 

Looked after children (rate per 
10,000 population under 18 & 

number) 

 84 (652 children) 
(March 2018) 

92.5 (707 children) 
(March 2019 
provisional) 

SN 86 (598 children) 
(2017/18), England 64 

(2017/18)  

None set 
 

Repeat referrals to children's 
social care 

21.1%  
(March 2018) 

25.9% (March 
2019 provisional) 

SN 22.0% (2017/18), 
England 22% (2017/18) 

 

<19% 
 

Percentage of new looked after 
children who were previously 

looked after (rolling 12 months) 
8.1% (March 2018) 

8.1% (March 2019 
provisional) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

<8% 
 

Common assessment 
framework assessments closed 

with all actions complete 

71.9%  
(March 2018) 

69% (March 2019 
provisional) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

70% 
 

Households accepted as 
statutory homeless (in priority 

need) 

557 (3.86 per 1,000 
households) 

(2017/18) 
388 (2018/19) 

WMR 3.33 per 1,000 
households (2017/18), 
England 2.41 per 1,000 

households) 
 

None set 
 

Homelessness cases 
prevented and relieved 

659 (4.58 rate per 
1,000 households) 

(2017/18) 
413 (2018/19) 

WMR 10.67 per 1,000 
households (2017/18), 
England 9.19 per 1,000 
households (2017/18) 

 

None set 
 

Adults using social care who 
receive self-directed support 

88% (March 2018) 
88% (March 2019 

provisional) 
CIPFA 91% (2017/18), 
England 90% (2017/18) 

 

88% 
 

Adults using social care who 
receive direct payments 

23% (March 2018) 23% (March 2019) 
CIPFA 31% (2017/18), 
England 29% (2017/18) 

 

>23% 
 

Adult safeguarding S42 
enquiries (number and rate per 

100,000 population) 

717 (259 per 
100,000) (2017/18) 

 628 (222 per 
100,000) (2018/19 

provisional) 

 WMR 183 per 100,000 
(age-standardised) 

(2017/18), England 245 per 
100,000 (age-standardised) 

(2017/18) 

 

None set 
 

Proportion of adult social care 
service users placed in 

regulated adult social care 
services rated as inadequate  

4%  
(31 March 2018) 

0%  
(31 March 2019) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

<4% 
 

Adult social care service users 
receiving long term on-going 

support 

3,230 people 
(1,168 per 100,000) 

(31 March 2018) 

3,314 people 
(1,199 per 

100,000) (31 
March 2019 
provisional) 

WMR 1,389 per 100,000 
population (2017/18), 

England 1,467 per 100,000 
(2017/18) 

 

Between 
3,100 and 

3,500 
people 

 

Proportion of adult social care 
service users who feel safe 

72% (2017/18) 70% (2018/19) 
CIPFA 68% (2017/18), 
England 70% (2017/18) 

 

≥70% 
 

Page 92



Locally com
m

itted

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

37 

Adults who contacted social 
care not previously receiving 

social care support 

10,290 (3,639 per 
100,000) (2017/18) 

10,367 (3,750 per 
100,000) (2018/19) 

CIPFA 4,870 per 100,000 
(2017/18), England 4,215 

per 100,000 (2017/18)  

Between 
4,215 and 

11,905 
people 

 

Breastfeeding rates at 6-8 
weeks 

48.7% (47.2%-
50.2%) (2016/17) 

48.3% (46.8%-
49.8%) (2017/18) 

WMR no data available 
(2017/18), England 42.7% 

(2017/18)  

To increase 
 

Male healthy life expectancy at 
birth 

62.2 (60.5-63.9) 
(2014-16) 

62.9 (61.3-64.6) 
(2015-17) 

WMR 62.1 (2015-17), 
England 63.4 (2015-17) 

 

To increase 
 

Female healthy life expectancy 
at birth 

62.9 (61.1-64.7) 
(2014-16) 

63.5 (61.7-65.3) 
(2015-17) 

WMR 62.9 (2015-17), 
England 63.8 (2015-17) 

 

To increase 
 

 

 

Page 93



Delivering our priorities
with fewer resources

 

 

  

Page 94



Delivering our priorities w
ith few

er resources

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

39 

Making the most of our assets 
The Council has had to respond to significant and 

sustained reductions in its funding from the Government. 

Resources available to Coventry through the Local 

Government Finance Settlement had fallen by £113m in 

the period between 2010/11 and 2018/19 on a like for like 

basis – and this is expected to continue, with an expected 

further reduction of £7m for 2019/20. 

Corporate peer challenge 

 

In October 2018, a Local Government Association (LGA) 

peer challenge team visited the Council to review its 

workings. The team consisted of senior officers and 

councillors from other local authorities, partners, and 

external stakeholders. They conducted 18 interviews and 

attended 13 workshops over four days to get to know the 

city and the Council. 

The team saw that the pride and passion of employees and 

partners for their work and the city really stood out; the 

Council was seen as a good partner and a key player 

within a wider cultural and economic geography; now is a 

‘point of step change’ for the city and the Council. 

Their findings recognise the Council’s work in: 

• “successfully [meeting] the financial challenge to 

date”; 

• “combining its traditional values centred on 

delivering for local people with a growing track 

record of innovation and managed risk taking”; 

• building a “strong reputation as an evidence-led 

organisation”; and 

• being “one of the most pro-active local authorities 

to work with in terms of promoting social value”. 

The peer challenge team also identified some areas where 

further work was needed. Recommendations include: 

• prioritising action to tackle homelessness; 

• learning from other public sector on best practice 

on industrial relations, pay and reward, and HR 

policy and partnership; 

• driving the digital agenda; and 

• building a shared vision for working in partnership. 

Steps have been taken to address these challenges and 

recommendations – from developing a new, integrated 

housing and homelessness team in line with the One 

Coventry approach, to ambitions to make better use of 

insight and intelligence and making it more integral to 

policy formulation and service planning; and strengthening 

partnership arrangements across the city and working 

together to create connectivity through partnerships, 

including the People Partnership. 

Council workforce 

Slight increase in full-time equivalent employees 

 

There were 3,830 full-time equivalent (fte) employees in 

the Council at the end of March 2019, an increase of 

136.23 fte compared to a year ago. This reverses a trend 

of falling fte numbers over the past few years. 

Reduction in sickness absence 

 

In 2018/19, 10.94 days per fte (excluding schools) were 

lost, down from 11.75 days in 2017/18. The top reasons for 

absence were stress, depression and anxiety; other 

musculoskeletal problems; and stomach and liver problems 

and gastroenteritis. The figures reported here differ from 

4,515
4,242 4,108

3,694 3,830

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Mar 2015 Mar 2016 Mar 2017 Mar 2018 Mar 2019

Staff full-time equivalent (fte)

9.94 10.34 10.56 10.22

11.75
10.94

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Sickness absence (excluding schools) (days lost per fte)

Days lost per fte Target of 8.0 days

Page 95



De
liv

er
in

g 
ou

r p
rio

rit
ie

s 
w

ith
 fe

w
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

40 

previous years’ as these are a rolling year and exclude 

schools. 

Workplace wellbeing 

Wellbeing, that is, health and happiness, sense of purpose, 

and satisfaction with life, has a huge impact inside and 

outside of work. Council employees now have a range of 

activities and opportunities to get involved, from a monthly 

book club meeting to wellbeing therapy massage sessions, 

yoga classes, crafts club, five-a-side football, and the 

Council choir.  

The Council is offering Mental Health First Aid training, 

which will help managers to recognise signs of mental ill 

health in staff and offer support and signposting. 

 

Council employees (in black bibs) took part in the Corporate Netball 

Tournament in May 2019, playing against Warwick University, Arden 

University, WM Housing, and Telemarketing. 

Making savings to support frontline services & 

addressing our environmental footprint 

Improved capture rate 

In 2018/19, the Council’s customer service centre received 

486,766 telephone contacts, of which 82.8% were 

captured. This is an improvement from 74.23% in 2017/18 

and 62.85% in 2016/17. The Council has set a target of 

95% for 2019/20. 

36% of transactions now completed online or by self-

service 

This is a 3%-point increase from 33% in 2017/18. Face-to-

face and telephone contact has reduced further, by 39% 

from the baseline. The decline has been driven by 

encouraging people to self-serve and has been further 

supported by the improvement in telephone performance 

reducing the volume of repeat contact. 

For 2019/20, the Council is working towards a target of 

40% of transactions to be completed online or by self-

service, both improving the customer service experience, 

and reducing the local authority’s environmental footprint 

by moving to less carbon-intensive methods of contact. 

Further reductions in carbon emissions 

It is estimated in 2018/19, local authority operations 

generated 10,690 tonnes of CO2. This figure includes both 

direct emissions from owned or controlled sources (Scope 

1) and indirect emissions from the generation of purchased 

energy (Scope 2). 

This figure appears to suggest a reduction of 28% from 

2017/18 and a reduction of 59% from the 2008/09 

baseline. However, due to methodological changes, care 

must be taken with this comparison: this year’s figure only 

includes properties that are wholly Council-owned and 

operated. It excludes leased or outsourced properties 

where the Council has no say over the operation of the 

building. Work is underway to revise existing reporting 

procedures and, where necessary, a new baseline will be 

established. 

Regenerating the economy 

£55.9m of external funding was applied to the 

Council’s capital funding programme in 2018/19 

This represents an increase of almost £23m from £33m in 

2017/18. This year’s capital programme has increased in 

size and reflects the growth in the level of external funding 

attracted.

Let’s Talk Coventry 

 

Let’s Talk Coventry (https://letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/) is a new engagement platform that will help grow and nurture an online 

community of good relationships and understanding between the Council and the public. 

Page 96

https://letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/


Delivering our priorities w
ith few

er resources

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

41 

Active communities & 

empowered citizens 

Engaging local communities 

As part of the development of the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA), the Council held consultation 

workshops and attended community events to hear from 

local communities about local assets and needs. 70 

organisations took part in the workshops and 

conversations were held with 205 individuals. Community-

based organisations were asked about their work and 

future ambitions to improve health, social care, and 

wellbeing in Coventry, and residents were asked about 

their experiences of living in the city. There is a wealth of 

social action taking place, and the Council is proposing 

ways to generate better connectivity and collaboration 

amongst community based and public sector 

organisations. 

Feeding Coventry and social supermarket 

Feeding Coventry is opening the city’s first social 

supermarket in September 2019. This responds to issues 

identified around food poverty and food waste. 

The social supermarket will sell food surplus, that is, 

perfectly good food that is not considered sellable in 

commercial supermarkets, at heavily discounted prices. 

This will help low income communities to access affordable 

and nutritious food. 

The social supermarket has been made possible through 

the asset transfer of Foleshill Community Centre with 

funding from the Big Lottery Fund. 

In addition, Feeding Coventry has launched an online 

crowd-funder to raise funds to support help deliver a 

programme of holiday food and fun clubs to ensure that 

every child has access to healthy food and fun activities. 

Disability Equality Action Partnership 
The Disability Equality Action Partnership brings together 

representatives from a variety of groups supporting 

disabled people and the Council. This year, the group has 

launched a disabled shoppers charter to improve 

accessibility; a pavement parking awareness campaign; 

and is assisting with taxi inspections to ensure they have 

the straps to make wheelchairs secure. 

 

Community capacity & resilience bursary fund 
The Council awarded bursaries to a range of community 

and voluntary organisations to improve their financial 

viability and long-term sustainability. 

Working with experts by experience 

The Council and partners, including the Police, Crisis, WM 

Housing, change grow live, Salvation Army, Coventry 

University, Department for Work and Pensions and Mind, 

are working with people with lived experiences of 

homelessness, substance misuse and offending behaviour 

as “experts by experience” to co-design ways to improve 

the outcomes for people with multiple complex needs. 

This year, experts by experience at The Arc CIC have 

contributed to the development of the city’s housing and 

homelessness strategy, helping unblock issues which are 

preventing vulnerable individuals from accessing support 

and accommodation. 

Rough sleepers often have a range of health issues they 

need help to overcome. Steps for Change acts as a link to 

other support. 

Peer support 

The Council is supporting Coventry and Warwickshire Mind 

to help provide funding and grants to encourage the growth 

and sustainability of peer support groups. Peer support is 

when people use their own experiences to help each other. 

It can happen on a one-to-one basis, online or in a group. It 

may involve a range of activities such as crafts, walking or 

meeting for coffee. The Council recognises that coming 

together with people experiencing similar problems can 

make a real difference.  

 

Page 97

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42154/Appendix%20-%20Experts%20by%20Experience%20feedback%20on%20Homelessness%20and%20Housing%20Strategy.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42154/Appendix%20-%20Experts%20by%20Experience%20feedback%20on%20Homelessness%20and%20Housing%20Strategy.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42154/Appendix%20-%20Experts%20by%20Experience%20feedback%20on%20Homelessness%20and%20Housing%20Strategy.pdf


De
liv

er
in

g 
ou

r p
rio

rit
ie

s 
w

ith
 fe

w
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL · JULY 2019

 

 

 

Indicators 

Indicator Previous Current Comparators Progress Target Status 

Carbon dioxide emissions (from 
local authority operations) 

14,833 tonnes 
(+3%) (2017/18 

final) 

10,690 tonnes 
 (-28%) (2018/19 

estimate) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

-35% by 
2020 

 

Core employee headcount (full-
time equivalents, fte) 

3,693.71 (March 
2018) 

3829.94 (March 
2019) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

To 
decrease 

 

Council staff sickness absence 
(rolling twelve-month period) 

11.75 days per fte 
(2017/18) 

10.94 days per fte 
(2018/19) 

N/A (No data), England N/A 
(No data) 

 

8.0 days  
 

Transactions done online or 
self-service 

33% (2017/18) 36% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

35% 
 

Reduction in face to face and 
telephone contact 

32% (2017/18) 39% (2018/19) 
N/A (No data), England N/A 

(No data) 
 

32% 
 

 

 

Page 98



One Coventry Plan

ONE COVENTRY PLAN ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19

 

 

 

43 

Further information 
Further information, including infographics, open data, 

maps and a publication schedule is available at 

www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/. This year, progress 

has been made towards developing a Citywide Intelligence 

Hub, a one-stop data platform providing a “single source of 

truth” of data and evidence about Coventry. 

Change log 

The following list sets out indicators that are new, revised 

or deleted, or where data is unavailable for this report. 

New indicators 

Cleanliness levels 

Drug offences and drug markers recorded 

Percentage of pupils attending good/outstanding special 

schools 

Percentage of primary school pupils with permanent 

exclusions 

Percentage of secondary school pupils with permanent 

exclusions 

Educational attainment at Key Stage 4: (Grades 9-5) 

Percentage of new looked after children who were 

previously looked after 

Revised indicators 

Council staff sickness absence (rolling annual average now 

used) 

Overweight or obesity among children (Year 6 now 

monitored) 

Deleted indicators 

Percentage of looked after children with 3 or more 

placements within the last 12 months 

External funding attracted 

Data unavailable 

Visitor trips 

Feedback 
Thank you for reading this annual performance report. If 
you have any feedback or comments about this report, 
please get in touch with the Insight Team: 
 
Web: www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/ 
Email: insight@coventry.gov.uk  
Twitter: @CovCCInsight 
 

 

Page 99

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHubOCP
https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHubOCP
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
mailto:insight@coventry.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/CovCCInsight
https://smarturl.it/CitywideIntelHub


 

 

www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/

Insight Team
Coventry City Council

 

Page 100

https://smarturl.it/CovPerf1819
https://smarturl.it/CovPerf1819
https://smarturl.it/CovPerf1819


 

One Coventry
Performance Management Framework 2019/20

www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/

  

Page 101



Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t F

ra
m

ew
or

k

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL

 

 

2 

1  Introduction 

Organisational performance management helps us 

ensure we achieve what we set out to do. It does so by 

setting out how we plan and organise our resources to 

achieve the things we want to do – our vision and 

priorities, as set out in the Council Plan.  

By aligning our resources, actions and activities to the 

Council’s vision, priorities and desired outcomes, it 

helps us measure how public money is turned into 

results for citizens. 

2  The Council’s approach 

Performance management is everyone’s responsibility, 

and it is also part of our day-to-day operation. The 

performance management cycle is made up of: 

• planning – developing a strategy or plan;  

• doing – implementing the strategy/plan and 

undertaking the activities;  

• reviewing – monitoring the implementation of 

the plan, through performance dashboards, 

metrics and measures; and  

• revising – revising a strategy or plan following 

the review. 

Our performance management framework recognises 

the diversity of our business, and is mindful that 

services already respond to a wide range of other 

performance management arrangements, e.g. statutory 

returns, partnership working arrangements, and 

different legal, regulatory, or policy frameworks.  

As a result, this framework builds on the systems and 

processes already in place, while ensuring a unified, 

One Coventry approach, striking a balance between 

minimising administrative burden and ensuring 

commonality across the organisation. Additionally, as 

we increasingly deliver our priorities in partnership, 

where we commission, champion, or co-ordinate 

services with partners and communities, we need to 

ensure that we work together for the good for Coventry 

people. 

3  Balanced scorecard approach 

The Council uses a balanced scorecard approach to 

performance management. That is, it recognises that 

we cannot rely on financial measures (whether we 

balanced our budget or not) alone to measure our 

performance. Instead, we monitor our performance 

using outcomes, finance, workforce, and quality 

measures to ensure strategy is aligned to delivery. 

Outcomes 

Service outputs and 

outcomes. 

Finance  
Budgets, financial 

inputs, profit/loss. 

Workforce 

Our people. 

Quality  
Satisfaction, complaints, 

timescales. 

4  Key documents 

The Council’s vision is connected to its delivery at every 

level of the organisation, from the Council Plan to 

employee appraisals. 

4.1 Council Plan (One Coventry Plan) 

The Council Plan, One Coventry, is the organisation’s 

top-level strategy setting out our vision and priorities. In 

other authorities this may be called a corporate plan or 

corporate strategy. 

The Council Plan is the responsibility of Corporate 

Leadership Team along with Cabinet and Scrutiny Co-

ordination Committee. 

Progress towards the Council Plan is reported annually 

to Cabinet and Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee. 

4.2 Key strategies 

The organisation has a set of key strategies setting out 

how it will achieve the Council Plan vision. Typically, 

strategies set out the strategic direction to deliver a key 

priority, including key objectives, deliverables and 

targets. Examples include our Local Plan, Housing and 

Homelessness Strategy, Cultural Strategy, Green 

Space Strategy, and Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Key strategies are the responsibility of a management 

team at an appropriate level of responsibility, along with 

the relevant cabinet member and/or board. 

Page 102

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


Perform
ance M

anagem
ent Fram

ew
ork

ONE COVENTRY

 

 

3 

Progress reported to a strategic group regularly and at 

least annually to relevant cabinet member and/or 

board. 

4.3 Action plans 

Underneath each key strategy are a series of work 

plans or action plans. These set out how we deliver the 

strategy. For instance, a work plan or action plan will 

set out the activities, timescales, resources and 

responsibilities, translating strategies into operational 

activities. Examples include  

Action plans are the responsibility of a service or team; 

and progress should be reported regularly to managers 

responsible for a strategy. 

4.4 Appraisals 

Individual employees are all subject to annual 

appraisals. These set out objectives for an individual 

and their progress towards their objectives and 

progress towards the expected standards set out in the 

behaviours framework. 

Responsibility for appraisals lie with individual 

employees and their manager. Each employee must 

have an annual appraisal; with objectives and progress 

reviewed regularly through one-to-one meetings 

5  Our behaviours 

In addition to what we do – our vision and strategy, it is 

important to consider how we do it – our values and 

behaviours/principles. The following sets out what 

effective performance management means in line with 

the Council’s behaviours framework. 

5.1 Putting customers first 

Goals or targets are challenging but achievable and 

realistically reflects the level of funding and resources 

available – so that we deliver the best possible 

outcomes for the people of Coventry. Services do not 

shy away from setting a goal or target when it would be 

appropriate to do so; and management also recognises 

that goals and targets can change as the situation 

requires. 

5.2 Being adaptable 

Performance management adapts to needs of each 

service including the legal, regulatory, policy 

frameworks of each area; as well as the needs of the 

organisation. Where possible, services are flexible to 

work together to adopt common reporting 

arrangements. 

5.3 Always improving 

A learning culture where performance management is 

used to understand what went well, what didn’t work as 

planned, and what can be done better. There is no 

blame culture; poor performance is not used to 

apportion blame to a service area, but is used to help 

recognise where things can be done better. 

5.4 Working together 

Where possible, performance information is shared 

openly between people who need to or have a right to 

know; whether they are in another part of the Council or 

in a partner organisation. Information is shared by 

default, and not suppressed just because they may 

reveal something uncomfortable. 

5.5 Leading by example 

Everybody works together collaboratively and 

recognises that they have a role in the organisation’s 

performance management no matter where they are in 

the formal hierarchy; and everyone takes steps to 

ensure information is recorded accurately. 

5.6 Having a strategic perspective 

Having the strategic perspective to ensure that 

performance reports and dashboards provide the right 

information to the right people at the right time. Services 

work together to having a simple, consistent set of 

performance indicators to minimise duplication: write 

once, use anywhere. 

Page 103



Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t F

ra
m

ew
or

k

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL

 

 

4 

6  Performance measures 

Progress should be monitored using a consistent set of 

headline indicators. A wider basket of indicators 

including lag (output oriented, easy to measure but 

harder to influence) and lead (more input oriented, hard 

to measure but easy to influence) indicators are drawn 

on to explain the trends and stories behind the 

headlines. A mixed set of measures can be used. 

These include: 

• outcomes that our strategies can influence but 

not directly control (e.g. long-term ones like life 

expectancy or short-term ones like 

unemployment); 

• outputs showing how much a service has 

delivered of something (e.g. jobseekers 

supported); 

• inputs demonstrating efficiency in our 

resource usage (e.g. savings delivered); and  

• perceptions showing what residents think of 

our services (e.g. % of survey respondents 

satisfied). 

When setting performance measures, we should be 

mindful that we are responsible for a diverse range of 

services, including services which we: 

i.) directly provide through staff we directly 

employ;  

ii.) commission through private, voluntary or 

public sector providers;   

iii.) deliver in partnership or co-ordination 

with others; and 

iv.) do not provide, but we champion or 

support through our political leadership or 

other forum. 

To measure our performance, it is important to 

recognise that we are one organisation in a complex, 

interconnected web of people, interests and 

organisations. This means that performance measures 

need to be set carefully, taking into account, amongst 

other things: statutory requirements; priorities; 

resources; and how we compare to other places. In 

addition, it is recommended that measures are set in 

consultation with frontline staff, and discussed with 

clients/customers/service users – and finally, reviewed 

and agreed by managers with the relevant cabinet 

member, in line with the relevant strategy. 

7 Reporting arrangements 

7.1 Reports 

The Council strives to be open and transparent, and in 

line with our digital strategy priority to “maximise the 

value in our data and information”, we make all of our 

key performance reports publicly available. 

Our current performance reporting arrangements 

consist of: 

• an annual performance report to Cabinet and 

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 

summarising the Council’s progress towards its 

priorities, including inequalities (protected 

characteristics under the Equality Act and 

health inequalities as a Marmot city);  

• an annual members seminar summarising our 

performance;  

• live, web-based performance information 

setting out a publication schedule, 

trends/comparators, progress reports, maps 

and infographics; and  

• indicator data published as open data on 

GitHub. 

7.2 Performance Hub 

The Council’s Performance Hub sets out guidance for 

performance management alongside performance 

dashboards. This is accessible to Coventry City Council 

employees on SharePoint at 

https://smarturl.it/PerformanceInfoHub. 

Page 104

https://smarturl.it/PerformanceInfoHub


Perform
ance M

anagem
ent Fram

ew
ork

ONE COVENTRY

 

 

5 

8 Symbols and vocabulary 

The Council has a consistent set of symbols and 

vocabulary used to describe the performance of its 

services. Two columns are used to describe 

performance:  

• progress (whether something has improved or 

worsened); and  

• target status (whether or not a target has 

been met). 

The table below sets out the symbols and its definition: 

Symbol Progress Target status 

 
Improved (or target 

already achieved) 
On-target 

 Got worse Off-target 

 
Similar, unchanged or 

statistically insignificant 
– 

 
Can’t say, no clear 

direction of travel 
– 

 
Not available or no 

updated data 
No target set 

 

9 Find out more 

Further guidance on performance management is 

available on the Performance Hub at: 

https://smarturl.it/PerformanceInfoHub 

In addition, a wealth of information is available on the 

Council’s website including: 

• Information and statistics hub: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/ 

• Council Plan: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/ 

• Performance: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/ 

• Key strategies: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/policy/ 

Contact us: insight@coventry.gov.uk 

Version control 

Document Owner 

Si Chun Lam 

Insight Development Manager (Place and Public Sector 

Transformation) 

insight@coventry.gov.uk  

Document Location 

Published location: https://smarturl.it/PMF  

SharePoint: 

https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/teams/ChiefExec/Pu

blicHealth/Insight/Documents/Performance 

Management Framework 2019.docx 

Reviewing arrangements 

The performance management framework is to be 

reviewed in 2020 along with the Council Plan 2019/20 

annual performance report. 

17/05/2019 15:33:01 

Page 105

https://smarturl.it/PerformanceInfoHub
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/policy/
mailto:insight@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:insight@coventry.gov.uk
https://smarturl.it/PMF


 

www.coventry.gov.uk/performance/

 

Page 106



 Briefing note 

To:   Cabinet                                                                                  Date: 27th August 2019

Subject: One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19  

1 Purpose of the Note
1.1 To inform the Cabinet of the recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination 

Committee on the One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19

2 Recommendations
2.1 Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee recommend that:

1) The Cabinet approve the performance report.
2) Request that the following points are considered for future performance reports:

a) Consideration be given to including information on fly-tipping and street 
cleansing on a ward by ward basis on the online tool.

b) Consideration be given to including ethnicity information on the life 
expectancy no 10 bus route diagram in future annual performance reports.

c) In relation to Supporting Local businesses, consideration be given to the 
inclusion of a gender analysis of business leads in future annual 
performance reports.

d) The intention to include City of Culture and Climate Change in future annual 
performance reports be noted.

3 Information/Background
3.1 At their meeting on 17th July 2019, Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee considered 

the One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19.
3.2 Members questioned officers on a number of issues and responses were provided, 

matters raised included:

 Support for the informative document which allowed the opportunity to revisit 
performance in key areas. 

 An acknowledgement of Coventry being second only to Cambridge in the 
number to patent registrations.

 A request for further details about numbers of job seekers, fly tipping and street 
cleansing on a ward by ward basis.

 Suggestions to include ethnicity information on the life expectancy number 10 
bus route diagram and the inclusion of a gender analysis of business leads in 
future annual performance reports. Page 107



2

 A suggestion of using discreet cctv at fly-tipping hotspots.

 Support for including new performance indicators on the Climate Change 
strategy and the City of Culture in the report in due course.

 Support for the increase in footfall in the city centre and an acknowledgement of 
the likelihood of a further increase due to the opening of The Wave.

 Concerns about the private rental sector housing market, in particular the high 
rents which could also lead to fuel poverty and the aspiration for vacant student 
homes to be used by local families.

 Whether landlords were making a profit which was having a negative effect on 
accommodation standards.

 A suggestion that the two local universities be requested to consider selling 
surplus properties to local families rather than buy to let investors.

3.3 Members of the Committee were also able to identify issues to be considered in 
more detail at future meetings.

Gennie Holmes
Scrutiny Co-ordinator
Tel: 024 7697 1857
Email: gennie.holmes@coventry.gov.uk 

Page 108



 
 

 
Public report 

         Cabinet  
 

 
  

Cabinet 27th August 2019 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities – Councillor T Khan 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) 
Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
 
Yes - The adoption of the three SPD’s will provide technical guidance which supports the 
adopted Local Plan and affects all wards of the City. 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
Following the adoption of the Coventry Local Plan in December 2017, the Council has been 
developing several Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD’s) to provide technical guidance 
and support to specific policies within the Plan.  
 
The development of SPDs is subject to statutory process including public consultation. The Air 
Quality and Hot Food Takeaways SPDs summarised within this report have been subject to two 
periods of consultation during August/September 2018 and January/February 2019. The SUE 
Residential Guide SPD has been subject to two separate periods of consultation, including, 
August/September 2018 and February/March 2019. This is summarised in section three of this 
report. These stages have previously been overseen through the Cabinet Member process. All 
SPDs have been updated to reflect the results of public consultation and are now presented for 
adoption. 
 
 
 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



 

 

1. Air Quality SPD 
This SPD is intended to provide technical guidance and support to Policy EM7 (Air 
Quality) of the Local Plan. This SPD has been developed in partnership with the Council’s 
Planning, Environmental Protection and Public Health functions and is intended to support 
ongoing joint working through the planning process. As a result, this will help deliver one 
of the overall objectives of the Plan which is to help improve the health and wellbeing of 
Coventry residents and visitors. 

  
2. Hot Food Takeaways SPD 

This SPD is intended to provide technical guidance and support to Policy R6 
(Restaurants, Bars and Hot Food Takeaways) of the Local Plan. This SPD has been 
developed in partnership with the Council’s Public Health team and is intended to support 
ongoing joint working on all matters of health and wellbeing considerations through the 
planning process.  

 
3.  Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUE) Residential Design Guide SPD 

This SPD is intended to provide technical guidance and support to the relevant policies of 
the Local Plan that relate directly to the allocated urban extensions at Keresley and 
Eastern Green. For the avoidance of doubt, this primarily relates to Policies DS4 and H2. 
The Design Guidance can also be applied to other site allocations within Policy H2 and 
relevant larger developments, particularly those situated within the wider Arden 
landscape. An indicative masterplan document to support the Keresley SUE is also 
appended to this SPD to reflect the fragmented land ownerships within the area and 
facilitate coordinated master planning across a range of planning applications. 
 

All SPD’s are appended to this report at Appendix 1, 2 and 3 respectively. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet is requested to: 
 
1) Approve the content of the Air Quality SPD, Hot Food Takeaways SPD and the 

Sustainable Urban Extension Residential Design Guide SPD and agree their adoption 
with effect from the 6 September 2019. 

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1: Air Quality Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and associated Appendices. 
 
Appendix 2: Hot Food Takeaways SPD and associated Appendices. 
 
Appendix 3: Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUE) Residential Design Guide and associated 
appendix (indicative Keresley masterplan). 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

 

Other useful documents 
 
The SPD’s have been subject to previous Cabinet Member reports to oversee the related 
consultation stages. Papers are available via the following links: 
 

 Initial round of consultation – Cabinet Member for Community Development – 6th August 
2018: https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=739&MId=11832 

 

 Further round of publication relating to the Hot Food Takeaway and Air Quality SPDs– 
Cabinet Member for Housing and communities – 10th December 2018: 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=739&MId=11834 
 

 A further round of publication relating to the SUE Design Guidance SPD – Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Communities – 5th February 2019: 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=739&MId=11906&Ver=4 
agenda item 29 

 
The report for the Adoption of the Coventry City Council Local Plan was considered at Council 
on 5th December 2017. All papers are available under Agenda item 70 on 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=11416&Ver=4 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
The Hot Food Takeaway SPD went to scrutiny Board 4 in February 2019 as part of the final 
round of publication. 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=652&MId=11711&Ver=4 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 
 

Page 111

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=739&MId=11832
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=739&MId=11834
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=739&MId=11906&Ver=4
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=11416&Ver=4
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=652&MId=11711&Ver=4


 

 

Report title: Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban Extension 
(SUE) Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 Following the adoption of the Coventry Local Plan in December 2017 the Council has 

been developing several Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD’s) to provide technical 
guidance and support to specific policies within the Plan.  

 
1.2 Supplementary Planning Documents are designed to build upon and provide more 

detailed advice and guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. They do not introduce new 
policy and should be used to help applicants make successful applications and are not to 
be used to add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development. 

 
1.3 The development of SPD’s is subject to a number of statutory processes including an 

initial period of public consultation, followed by a further period of publication and 
engagement to present the consultation responses and how they have informed the final 
draft of the SPD. They must then be presented to Cabinet for adoption in accordance with 
the Council’s constitution. 

 
1.4 All SPD’s presented with this report have been through two stages of consultation and 

public engagement. The responses to these consultations have previously been 
considered through respective Cabinet Member reports but are summarised in section 3 
of this report. 

 
1.5 This Cabinet paper seeks the adoption of the three SPDs. These are summarised below: 
 

Air Quality SPD 
 
1.6 The planning process has a significant role to play in ensuring health and wellbeing by 

encouraging greater levels of sustainable development, including measures to secure air 
quality improvements. The entire city is currently a designated Air Quality Management 
Area and so all planning applications must be assessed in accordance with Policy EM7: 
Air Quality as set out in the Coventry Local Plan, 2017. 

 
1.7 The Council has worked closely with the other West Midlands local authorities as part of 

the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) supported by West 
Midlands Low Emission Towns & Cities Programme (or LETCP for short). The LETCP 
seeks to promote joint working to reduce regulated road transport emissions, primarily 
Oxides of Nitrogen (NOx) and particulates (as coarse, PM10 and fine, PM2.5, fractions). 
Building on policies and measures designed to encourage a shift to sustainable transport 
modes, the LETCP seeks to target emission improvements of buses and taxis through the 
accelerated take-up of cleaner fuels and technologies and by discouraging the use of high 
emission vehicles. 

 
1.8 The impacts of poor air quality can extend across local authority boundaries. To enable a 

consistent approach to implementation across Coventry and its neighbouring areas, the 
draft Air Quality SPD has been developed in partnership with the Coventry and 
Warwickshire authorities. This has included representatives from planning, environmental 
and public health which has enabled important contributions from these specialist service 
areas. To support the improvement in the city’s air quality the revised draft SPD should be 

Page 112



 

 

applied in conjunction with the Low Emissions Strategy and Good Practice Guidance on 
Planning and Procurement for the West Midlands (2014) developed by the LETCP. All 
major developments will therefore be required to undertake full air quality assessments. 
Where appropriate exposure assessments will also apply to smaller developments in 
accordance with this guidance. 

 
1.9 The SPD sets out guidance for dealing with all planning applications where air quality 

needs to be addressed. The document: 
 

 Explains why air quality is important in Coventry and sets out the existing policy 
framework. In short, this involves simplifying the consideration of air quality impacts 
associated with development schemes and focusing on incorporating mitigation at the 
design stage, countering the cumulative impacts of aggregated developments, providing 
clarity to developers and defining sustainability in air quality terms.  

 Presents the methodology for identifying development proposals where an air quality 
assessment will be required, and the processes involved; 

 Identifies the types of development such as shops, offices, housing and hotels as a few 
examples. Where appropriate, air quality mitigation measures are specified, including 
electric vehicle charging points that will be required to offset any incremental increase in 
pollutant emissions; and 

 Proposes various options for site specific mitigation such as plug in vehicle re-charging 
and measures to support more sustainable modes of travel to protect future occupiers 
from poor air quality, and how such measures will be secured and delivered.  

 
 Hot Food Takeaway SPD 
 
1.10 Hot Food Takeaways can play an important service to local people and add vitality and 

interest to defined centres, but planning applications for hot food takeaways, particularly 
those in close proximity to residential properties, frequently generate a significant number 
of objections. These premises also have the potential to have a negative impact on the 
health and wellbeing of those in Coventry. It is therefore important that there is appropriate 
guidance in place to allow new hot food takeaways to provide a service to local people, 
but without having a negative impact on the health and wellbeing of those in the area. 

 
1.11 The Hot Food Takeaway SPD is aimed at individuals and organisations involved in 

preparing and submitting a planning application as well as those involved in the 
determination and enforcement of planning applications. This is for all applications for hot 
food takeaways, including a change of use to a hot food takeaway, use class A5. This 
includes applications for which the A5 class of use is part of a larger development for a 
mixed use (for example, a restaurant with takeaway - a mixed A3/A5 use). 

 
1.12 By way of summary, the SPD is structured around seven requirements for relevant 

applications. It also covers links to other relevant policies in the Local Plan and City 
Centre Area Action Plan, including policies on waste, environmental management, parking 
and design. The Hot Food Takeaway SPD explains the requirements, relevant thresholds 
and measures that may need to be taken to ensure that a hot food takeaway is acceptable 
in planning terms and satisfies policy R6. The requirements consist of: 

 

Page 113



 

 

 Concentration of Hot Food Takeaways – drawing on nationally available information 
linked to population density and prevalence of hot food takeaways within a local 
catchment area; 

 Proximity to schools – establishing five minute walk time isochrones from school gates 
with a view to limiting or restricting hot food takeaways within this ‘zone’; 

 Litter and Waste disposal – ensuring both customer and waste disposal facilities are 
provided in an acceptable and appropriate location; 

 Odour extraction – to manage issues of odour in so far as it relates primarily to any 
residential amenity situated above or in close proximity to the hot food takeaway; 

 Highway Safety – ensure matters of parking and highway movements are safe and 
secure; 

 Opening Times, Crime and Security – with a view to potentially limiting opening times if it 
helps overcome other issues (for example, proximity to schools) and appropriate 
measures to ensure the safety and security of residents and visitors is maintained; 

 Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings – ensuring shop fronts and extraction flumes 
are appropriately positioned and designed to minimise any relevant impact on heritage 
assets. 

 
 SUE Residential Design Guide SPD 
 
1.13 The SPD will act as a guide to inform and advise on how to deliver high quality 

development primarily within the city’s two Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUE’s) at 
Keresley and Eastern Green. This will have full regard to the Ancient Arden landscape 
characteristics and could also be applied to other development proposals within this area 
as well as other site allocations. It builds upon previous guidance and responds to the 
adoption of the Local Plan. It also has regard to the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The SPD is split into five specific sections with a supporting 
Appendix. These sections are summarised as follows: 

 
(i) Introduction and the Ancient Arden: 

 
1.14 This section of the Design Guidance introduces the SPD and gives it context alongside 

the newly adopted Local Plan. Throughout the SPD, focus is placed on the importance of 
the Ancient Arden. The key points identified include the significance of the Ancient Arden 
and the characteristics of the landscape and built form. It discusses previous guidelines 
specific to the area, drawing on the Ancient Arden Design Guidelines (1995). Displaying 
examples of authentic Arden building characteristics, it highlights how original buildings 
can be extended or regenerated managing and reflecting historic character, generating 
modern interest and respecting the character of the buildings and surrounding area. 

(ii) Housing Design: 
 

1.15 This section of the SPD focuses on the delivery of high-quality residential development. 
The SPD recommends retention of Arden characteristics as a starting point but makes 
allowances for incorporating these within a modern interpretation. This produces a 
flexible approach to housing design, ensuring that there is a variety of character and 
texture across development whilst retaining links back to Arden examples. The key 
points it identifies include: 

 The positive effect that ‘linked dwellings’ can have in the creation of visually 

harmonious street scenes.  

Page 114



 

 

 The purpose of corner sites and the opportunities they can bring to a development. 

 The relationship of feature buildings to key view corridors and street setting.  

 The consideration of bicycle and bin storage in developments and provides guidance 

on how to avoid issues generated (as a result them being both unaesthetically 

pleasing and potentially dangerous).  

 The integration of suitable car parking provision. 

1.16 It draws on examples of well-designed, new traditional buildings successfully developed 
in practice such as a timber framed building on Far Gosford Street and The Old Dairy, 
Washbrook Lane. There are also examples of vernacular architecture interpreted in a 
modern style, for example in Chatham, Kent (taking inspiration from a farmstead using 
the typical ‘big roof’ barn and interpreting local brick work forms). It displays various 
examples of linked dwellings developed successfully such as Beaulieu, Chelmsford and 
Horsted Park, Chatham, Kent. When considering Corner and Landmark buildings it 
draws inspiration from various developments including a Dutch Style Gable, Upton, 
Northampton. 

 
 (iii) Street Hierarchy 
 
1.17 A hierarchy of streets has been devised to help reflect how vehicles and pedestrians will 

move through the new developments. It considers the vision for:  

 Link roads (primarily applied to the Keresley, urban extension). 

 Avenues and internal roads (set out primarily, addressing how they contribute 

positively in both usage and aesthetics).  

 Courtyards and how they can better contribute to more efficient development that 

reflects development characteristics of the Arden area. 

 Edge roads and how they help integrate new developments with wider countryside 

and green spaces.  

1.18 This section also focuses on the importance of internal junctions, how they integrate with 
the wider public realm the materials palette utilised. This section also gives guidance as 
to the types of acceptable boundary demarcation available (both formal and informal) 
and how these can reflect the Arden character, the public realm and existing landscape 
features. To help demonstrate the street hierarchy and how it operates elsewhere, the 
SPD draws on a range of examples including: 

 Link roads / spine roads in Chelmsford and Lutterworth.  

 Well-designed Avenues is The Chase, Harlow.  

 The successful implementation of edge streets, it uses the example of Holmead Walk, 

Poundbury.  

 An example of the use of internal junctions in Newhall.  

 The housing scheme at Ivy Farm Lane, Coventry (is identified as a site where a 

courtyard was implemented into development, done so respectfully of the setting of 

the two barns and the character of the conservation area).  

 Providing a suggested design for parking is The Old Diary, Henlow along with 

negative examples of parking in developments, including more local schemes across 

Coventry.  

Page 115



 

 

1.19 The Public Realm materials palette reflects examples of what the Council wants to 
encourage developers to use in new developments and draws upon well received 
schemes across Coventry city centre and the experience gained from them. 

(iv) Commercial Centres: 
 
1.20 Commercial developments within the area covered by the SPD are expected to be 

limited and constrained to 4 specific cases identified within the Local Plan. They will 
include 2 Local Centres at Keresley, a Major District Centre at Eastern Green and an 
area of primarily B class development adjacent to the A45. With regards the designated 
centres, these are expected to form the community heart of the new development. As 
such, this section provides a focus on this concept, identifying how they should be 
designed and integrated. For example, they are often unique buildings and can often 
become a local landmark, so should include high quality architecture and materials. To 
help demonstrate this the SPD draws on examples from Poundbury, Dorset, designed in 
the form of a traditional market square and Houlton, Rugby where the buildings are 
arranged to form a type of ‘farm yard’ interpreted in a modern way.  

 
1.21 With regards large b-class employment, this is traditionally more challenging to deliver in 

unique and well-designed schemes (unless they involve specific office delivery). 
However, examples of the Morrison Distribution Centre, Bridgewater, the Audi showroom 
in Leicester and more local developments at Warwick University campus offer more 
positive examples of what can be achieved. All these developments use high standard 
design and high-quality materials to create unusual and interesting schemes. 

 
 (v) The Natural Landscapes  
 
1.22 Focusing on existing trees, hedgerows or other aspects of important green and blue 

infrastructure, this section considers how new development can work to integrate these. 
It identifies how, doing so successfully, can act to enhance the development. It also 
considers the topography and the importance of natural landscape features within the 
historic context of the area. It draws inspiration from Upton, Northampton, Grey to 
Green, Sheffield and Poundbury, Dorset. This section also provides a list of appropriate 
tree species and how they could relate to the street hierarchy.  

 
1.23 The SPD is supported by an appendix which sets out an indicative high level masterplan 

for the Keresley SUE. This has bene prepared in response to the fragmented land 
ownership and multiple site promotions within the Keresley SUE. As such it will help 
ensure various land parcels are brought through planning in a coordinated and coherent 
manner. The indicative masterplan highlights areas of development focus as well as the 
green corridor, protected woodlands and Hall Brook corridor. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 As the Coventry Local Plan has already been adopted, only two potential options have 
 been considered. 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 

 

2.2 The first of these options has been set out in the recommendation to this report. The 
adoption of the SPD’s would ensure the relevant Local Plan policies can be implemented 
and interpreted in a consistent and effective way. This will help reduce any potential 
conflict and promote higher quality planning application submissions, saving time and 
resources through the wider planning process. 

 
2.3 The second option would be to not progress the Supplementary Planning Documents 

and to rely solely on the policies in the Local Plan and how applicants interpret those 
policies. This option has not been recommended as it would place greater reliance on 
how applicants use the policies which could generate greater inconsistency in evidence 
submitted in support of applications and lead to greater resource pressure for planning 
officers managing day to day caseloads.  

 
2.4 The level of detail provided by these SPD’s was not provided within the Local Plan itself 

as it would have extended the complexity and length of the Plan substantially. 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1 In terms of the HFT and Air Quality SPDs, two rounds of consultation were undertaken 

between 8 August - 23 September 2018 and 7 January – 18 February 2019. In terms of 
the SUE Design Guide SPD, two rounds of consultation were undertaken between 8 
August – 23 September 2018 and 8 February – 22 March 2019.   

 
3.2 In relation to the first round of consultation a total of 10 responses were received to the 

SUE Residential Design Guide SPD, 15 responses to the Air Quality SPD and six 
responses to the HFT SPD. Comments were received via email and post as well as a 
range of informal comments and suggestions made through stakeholder meetings and 
consultation drop in events. A summary of the representations to all SPDs was then 
presented to the Cabinet Member meetings in January 2019 alongside amended version 
of all documents.  

 
3.3 In all cases, most comments were supportive of the SPD’s with comments focusing more 

on matters of principle, technical adjustment or general observations. 
  
 In relation to the HFT SPD they can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Query as to whether the National Planning Policy Framework supported the SPD; 

 Additional clarification on requirements and definitions suggested; 

 Importance of ensuring there was demonstrable evidence between health and 
wellbeing and hot food takeaways accompanying the SPD; and 

 Support for the approach of using the Planning System as part of a wider approach 
to tackle obesity. 

 
 In relation to the Air Quality SPD they can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Request for additional monitoring in key locations of the city; 

 Lack of measurement and target setting for sooty particles; 

 Clarification as to the type of charging unit and cabling for charging point provision in 
new developments; 

Page 117



 

 

 SPD not sufficient in mitigating the potential impacts of the planned growth set out in 
the Local Plan; 

 No specific solutions to tackle poor air quality; and 

 No focus of particulate matter and lack of categorisation of pollutants. 
  
 In relation to the SUE Design Guide SPD they can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Request for additional references within the natural environment section with 
regards biodiversity offsetting; 

 Additional section for on-plot drainage attenuation measures; 

 Suggestions that the guidance is too over prescriptive; 

 Updates to reflect new NPPF; 

 Additional references to separation distances between properties; 

 That the scope of the Design Guidance could put viability pressures on development 
and the delivery of sites; 

 That the scope of the Design Guidance is not reflective of the property types 
delivered by volume housebuilders; 

 That the guidance lacks local examples of good quality larger developments relative 
to the Arden characteristics; 

 A range of typographical amendments and terminology changes to ensure 
consistency; 

 Additional section on appropriate lighting proposals; and 

 Requests for clarification around a range of specific points – including: 
o Function of junctions on/off the link road; 
o The primary function of the link road proposal at Keresley and how it will relate 

to the wider development; 
o References to building heights; 
o The overarching vision for edge roads needs to be clearer; 
o How the indicative masterplan at appendix 1 will evolve as sites get delivered; 
o Boundary demarcation and links to ecology and biodiversity; 
o Integration of Green Infrastructure into the new developments as a whole; 
o Buffer zones to ancient woodland; 
o Parking provision;  
o What type of trees will be appropriate within the developments and how will they 

be maintained; and 
o Property types and relevance of linked dwellings. 

  
3.4 All comments were then incorporated into the revised documents (as appropriate) and 

the SPDs were reissued for public consideration between 7 January – 18 February 2019 
for the HFT and Air Quality SPDs and 8 February – 22 March 2019 for the SUE Design 
Guide SPD. A further 4 responses were received to the HFT SPD, a further 4 to the Air 
Quality SPD and a further 24 to the SUE Residential Design Guide SPD. 

 
 3.5 All focused on minor adjustments to the text (which were duly incorporated as 

appropriate) or were not of direct relevance to the SPDs. The vast majority of the 
additional comments received in relation to the SUE Design Guide SPD were making 
reference to population projections, development in the Green Belt, lack of infrastructure 
and potential effects on flora and fauna. Officers consider these responses to be beyond 
the scope of the SPDs objectives, as it is ostensibly a design guide document.  

 

Page 118



 

 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Subject to approval by the Cabinet, it is proposed to adopt the SPD’s with effect from the 

6 September 2019. They will then form a material consideration as part of all relevant 
planning applications. 

 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
  
 Unlike the Local Plan or an Area Action Plan, a SPD is not subject to public examination. 

It therefore does not incur the same level of costs as a higher-level plan. As such, any 
costs associated with the delivery of these SPD’s is met through existing budgets 
attributed to the Planning Policy team. 

 
5.2 Legal implications 

 
 Supplementary Planning Documents are produced under the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Supplementary Planning 
Documents are subject to supporting evidence and consultation but are not publicly 
examined or subject to Sustainability Appraisal. As such, their ‘material weight’ in 
planning terms is less than that of a Local Plan, Area Action Plan or other Development 
Plan Document.  

 
 Notwithstanding this, SPD’s must be adopted by a resolution of the Local Planning 

Authority and they are still important planning policy documents that provide technical 
guidance and supporting information to those submitting planning applications. A SPD 
does not introduce new policy, instead it builds and expands upon policies set out in the 
higher level plan (in this case the Local Plan) to ensure they are interpreted and 
delivered in the most efficient and effective way. 

 
6. Other implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 All SPD’s will support the delivery of the overarching aims and objectives of the Council 

Plan, in particular it will contribute to: 
 

 Promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy; 

 Improving the quality of life for Coventry people;  

 Promote the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy that benefits the city;  

 Developing the city centre for the 21st century;  

 Creating the infrastructure for the city to grow and thrive;  

 Raising the profile of Coventry;  

 Helping local people into jobs;  

 Reducing the impact of poverty;  

 Improving the quality of life for Coventry people;  

 Create an attractive, cleaner and greener city;  

Page 119

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

 

 Improving health and wellbeing;  

 Reducing health inequalities;  

 Making the most of our assets;  

 Support the regeneration of Coventry’s economy; 

 Active communities and empowered citizens; and 

 Working together with neighbours and partners across the voluntary, public and 

private sectors. 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 Recent periods of consultation have helped to identify and mitigate risk by highlighting 

any issues and concerns with the SPDs. 
 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 No direct impact.   

 
6.4 Equality and Consultation Analysis (ECA)  
 
 A full Equality and Consultation Assessment (ECA) was undertaken as part of 

developing the Local Plan. As these SPD’s support the delivery and technical 
interpretation of policies within the Plan no further assessment has been undertaken. As 
part of that analysis, the Council had due regard to its public sector equality duty under 
section 149 of the Equality Act (2010).  

 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 
 Air quality is a key environmental issue. The revised draft SPD will help ensure the 

Council is meeting its obligations regarding air pollution. 
 
6.6      Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 The Council will continue to work closely with its partners to ensure the benefits of the 

SPDs can also be realised on a cross boundary basis, particularly on matters relating air 
quality. 

 
 

Page 120



 

 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title:  
Rob Haigh 
Acting Planning Policy Manager 
 
Directorate:  
Place Directorate 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 972214 
Email: rob.haigh@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation 

Date doc 
sent 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon Governance Services  
Co-ordinator 

Place 11 July 2019 12 July 2019 

Mark Andrews Acting Development 
Manager 

Place 11 July 2019 16 July 2019 

Karen Lees Programme Officer - 
Inequalities 

People 11 July 2019 11 July 2019 

Liz Gaulton Director of Public Health 
and Wellbeing 

People 19 July 2019 22 July 2019 

Andrew Walster Director, Street Scene and 
Regulatory Services 

Place 25 July 2019 26 July 2019 

Tracy Miller Strategic Lead, Planning 
and Regulation 

Place 24 July 2019 25 July 2019 

Names of approvers 
for submission:  

(Officers and Members) 

    

Cath Crosby Lead Accountant Business 
Partner 

Place 11 July 2019 18 July 2019 

Clara Thomson 
Planning and Highways 
Lawyer (Place), Legal 
Services 

Place 11 July 2019 16 July 2019 

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief Executive 
(Place) 

Place 29 July 2019 05 August 2019 

Councillor T Khan Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Communities 

- 05 August 
2019 

06 August 2019 

 
This report is published on the Councils website: https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk 

Page 121

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Air Quality 

Supplementary Planning Document 
 
 

 

Coventry City Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         

August 2019 
 

Page 123



2 

 

This document is designed to support measures to mitigate against and improve air quality 
impacts on new developments. 
 

This guidance has been developed in co-operation between Coventry City Council, Coventry 
& Warwickshire Public Health, Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council, Rugby Borough 
Council, Stratford District Council and Warwick District Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



3 

 

 

Contents 

           Page 

 

Glossary          4 

 

1 Purpose of the Guidance       7 

 

2 Local Air Quality        8 
         

3 National Planning Policy & Practice     9 

 

National Planning Policy Framework     9 

 

National Planning Practice Guidance     11 

 

4 Local Planning Policy       12 

 

5 Development Classification, Assessment and Mitigation  14 

 

Stage 1: Classification       14 

 

Stage 2: Assessment       16 

 

Stage 3: Mitigation        19 

 

Assessing scheme acceptability      21 

 

Specific issues:        22 

-         Heating plant        22 

-         Biomass boilers       22 

-         Stand-by/back-up generators     23 

-         Part A and B Processes      23 

-         Mechanical ventilation      23 

-         Green infrastructure        24 

-         Section 106 & Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  25 

 

Appendix 1 – Air Quality Assessment Protocol    26 

Appendix 2 – Damage Cost calculations & example   27 

   

 

Page 125



4 

 

 

Glossary 

 
AADT Annual average daily traffic flows 

Air Quality Assessment 
(AQA)  

 

An assessment of the impact of a development on the levels 
of certain pollutants in the local area and the impact of 
pollution levels on future occupants.  

Air Quality Management 
Areas (AQMAs)  

Areas where the air quality objectives are likely to be 
exceeded. Declared by way of an order issued under the 
Section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995.  

Air Quality Objectives  

 

Air quality targets to be achieved locally as set out in the Air 
Quality Regulations 2000 and subsequent Regulations. 
Objectives are expressed as pollution concentrations over 
certain exposure periods, which should be achieved by a 
specific target date. Some objectives are based on long term 
exposure (e.g. annual averages), with some based on short 
term objectives. Objectives only apply where a member of 
the public may be exposed to pollution over the relevant 
averaging time.  

Clean Air Zones (CAZ)  Zone implemented by a local authority setting nationally set 
emission standards for vehicles. Non-charging zones can be 
implemented through policies covering bus and taxi 
emissions. Charging zones require non-compliant lorries and 
possibly vans to pay a charge to enter the zone. 

Damage costs Damage costs are a simple way to value changes in air 
pollution. They estimate the cost to society of a change in 
emissions of different pollutants 

Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) 

Assessment required for projects specified in Environmental 
Impact Assessment Directive. Governed by the Town & 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

EU Limit Value Legally binding pollutant concentration limit on 
Governments of EU Countries 

Euro Standards European Emission Standard (progressively tightened 
emission standards for vehicles. Euro Standards for cars and 
small vans are stated in Hindu-Arabic numbers and HDVs in 
Roman numerals) 

Exceedence  Concentrations of a specified air pollutant greater than the 
appropriate Air Quality Objective. 

HDV Heavy duty vehicle (lorry or bus greater than 3.5 tonnes 
gross vehicle weight) 

LAQM.TG(16)  

 

Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (2016). 
This document provides national advice on how local 
authorities should assess air quality.  

Page 126



5 

 

LETCP Low Emission Towns & Cities Programme1 – joint 
programme between all 7 West Midlands Metropolitan 
Authorities to produce the West Midlands Low Emission 
Vehicle Strategy (LEVS), including good practice guidance on 
planning and procurement 

Low Emission Strategy 
(LES) 

Overarching strategy to integrate policies and practices to 
achieve year on year vehicle emission reductions, optimising 
opportunities for national funding assistance 

Low Emission Zone (LEZ) Council area in which emission standards apply for either 
road transport vehicles or power generation/industrial 
emissions. The council can set emission standards that differ 
in standard and scope from the Government requirements 
for implementing Clean Air Zones for vehicles 

LDV Light duty vehicle (car or small van less than 3.5 tonnes 
gross vehicle weight 

Limit Values/EU limit 
values  

 

The maximum pollutant levels set out in the EU Daughter 
Directives on Air Quality. In some cases the limit values are 
the same as the national air quality objective, but may allow 
a longer period for achieving.  

Mitigation  

 

Mitigation measures will minimise, but not necessarily 
remove, the impact of or effect of poor air quality on a 
development  

National Air Quality 
Objectives  

See Air Quality Objectives 

National Air Quality Plan Government Plan to improve roadside concentrations of 
nitrogen dioxide (July 2017) 

Non-road mobile 
machinery (NRMM) 

Diggers, cranes, bulldozers, plant etc used on construction 
sites 

NO2 Nitrogen dioxide 

NOx  

 

NOx = nitrogen oxides, which includes nitric oxide and 
nitrogen dioxide. Most pollution sources emit nitrogen 
oxides primarily as nitric oxide. However, once in the 
atmosphere nitric oxide can be converted to nitrogen 
dioxide. Therefore, it is important to know the 
concentrations of both NOx and NO2  

Offsetting  

 

Measures which ‘compensate’ for anticipated increases in 
pollution in the area but not necessarily at the exact locality. 
This might be for example by funding more general 
measures in the air quality action plan.  

PM Particulate matter 

PM2.5 Particulate matter with a diameter of 2.5 microns or less 

PM10  Particulate matter with a diameter of 10 microns or less. 

                                                 
1 https://go.walsall.gov.uk/low_emissions_towns_and_cities_programme  

Page 127

https://go.walsall.gov.uk/low_emissions_towns_and_cities_programme


6 

 

Part A1 and A2 
Processes  

 

Industrial processes which are regulated under the Pollution 
Prevention and Control (PPC) Regulations and subsequent 
Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control (IPPC) for 
emissions to all media (i.e. atmosphere, land and water).  

Part B Processes  

 

Industrial processes which are regulated under the Local Air 
Pollution Control (LAPC) and Local Air Quality Pollution 
Prevention and Control (LAPPC) Regulations for emissions to 
air only.  

Point sources Chimneys 

Polluting development  

 

A development which will directly or indirectly increase 
levels of relevant pollutants. This may include industrial 
processes but my also include developments which could 
cause increased traffic emissions.  

Sensitive development  

 

A development which would allow users of the site to 
potentially be exposed to pollutants above the objective for 
the relevant period. For example, the introduction of a new 
residential development into an area where an air quality 
objective is already exceeded, would create the potential for 
the exposure of residents to poor air quality above the 
objective. Incidentally, this type of development may also 
generate significant additional traffic flow and also be a 
polluting development.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



7 

 

 

 

1 Purpose of the guidance 
 

Coventry City Council has to weigh up economic, social and environmental factors when 
deciding to grant or refuse planning permission or decide if conditions are required to make 
a development acceptable and sustainable.  
 

Air quality is a material consideration that planners are required to take into account when 
making their plans and when taking planning decisions.  
 

This guidance aims to simplify the consideration of air quality impacts associated with 
development schemes and focus on incorporation of mitigation at design stage, countering 
the cumulative impacts of aggregated developments, providing clarity to developers and 
defining of sustainability in air quality terms. In doing so the Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) provides technical guidance and support to Policy EM7 of the city’s Local 
Plan (2016). 
 

The objectives of this SPD are to:  
 

 Improve the consideration of air quality & health impacts in the planning process, in 
line with national / local policy and practice; 

 Help ensure consistency in the approach to dealing with air quality and planning across 
Coventry;  

 Highlight the existing policy framework in Coventry, and emphasise the importance of 
air quality as a material planning consideration;  

 Identify the circumstances where detailed assessments and/or low emission 
strategies will be required as part of planning applications;  

 Provide guidance on measures that can be implemented to mitigate the potentially 
harmful impacts of new developments on air quality;  

 Promote the identification of suitable mitigation on major schemes through pre-
application discussions; 

 Provide guidance on the use of planning conditions and Section 106 obligations to 
improve air quality; and 

 Encourage co-benefits of reducing Carbon and noise emissions.  
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



8 

 

 

 

 

2 Local Air Quality 

 
Coventry City Council designated the City area as an air quality management area (AQMA) 
from 1st November 2009 due to elevated, yearly levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2).  
 

Map 1 shows the extent of the Coventry AQMA, which reflects the cities administrative 
boundary. 
 

Map 1 – Coventry City Council Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 

 

 
 

While levels of particulate matter (PM10) in Coventry do not breach Air Quality Objectives it 
is acknowledged that fine particulate matter (PM2.5) levels have a significant impact on health 
across the City. Around 1 in 20 deaths in Coventry can be attributed to PM2.5 concentrations 
accounting for 168 deaths (over 25s) and 1882 associated life-years lost in 20102.  

 
For the purpose of improving air quality and health impacts in Coventry this draft SPD is 
concerned with achieving and maintaining compliance with the National Air Quality 
                                                 
2 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332854/
PHE_CRCE_010.pdf  

Page 130

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-eu-limits
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332854/PHE_CRCE_010.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332854/PHE_CRCE_010.pdf


9 

 

Objectives and with improving air quality further, particularly with respect to particulate 
concentrations.  

 

 

3 National Policy & Practice 

  
3.1 National Planning Policy Framework 
 

National planning policy is set by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)34. The NPPF 
places a general presumption in favour of sustainable development. Air quality is a material 
consideration in the planning process, in line with the following paragraphs of the NPPF: 

 

170. Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment by:  

e)  preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, 
air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever 
possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water 
quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin management 
plans;   

181. Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance 
with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account 
the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the 
cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve air 
quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel 
management, and green infrastructure provision and enhancement. So far as 
possible these opportunities should be considered at the plan-making stage, to 
ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be reconsidered when 
determining individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new 
development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent 
with the local air quality action plan.  

183.  The focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed 
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or 
emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning 
decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where a 
planning decision has been made on a particular development, the planning issues 

                                                 
3 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/Natio

nal_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf 

4 

Page 131

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-eu-limits


10 

 

should not be revisited through the permitting regimes operated by pollution control 
authorities.  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 132



11 

 

 

 

3.2 National Planning Practice Guidance 
 

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)5 provides advice to planning authorities on 
implementing the NPPF, including guidance on how air quality can be considered as part of 
the planning process.  
 

The NPPG states that “mitigation options where necessary will be locationally specific, will 
depend on the proposed development and should be proportionate to the likely impact. It is 
important therefore that local planning authorities work with applicants to consider 
appropriate mitigation so as to ensure the new development is appropriate for its location 
and unacceptable risks are prevented. Planning conditions and obligations can be used to 
secure mitigation where the relevant tests are met. 
Examples of mitigation include: 

 the design and layout of development to increase separation distances from sources 
of air pollution; 

 using green infrastructure, in particular trees, to absorb dust and other pollutants; 
 means of ventilation; 
 promoting infrastructure to promote modes of transport with low impact on air 

quality; 
 controlling dust and emissions from construction, operation and demolition; and 

 contributing funding to measures, including those identified in air quality action plans 
and low emission strategies, designed to offset the impact on air quality arising from 
new development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The NPPG states that where a planning proposal, including mitigation, prevents sustained 
compliance with EU Limit Values or National Objectives for air quality and cannot be made 
acceptable then refusal of planning permission should be considered.  
 

 

 

 

  
                                                 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


12 

 

 

 

4 Local Plan 
 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, amended by the Localism Act 2011 requires 
planning authorities to prepare Local Plans. The Coventry City Council Local Plan6 was adopted 
on the 6th December 2017. 
 

 
 

The Local Plan includes the following Policy on Air Quality (EM7): 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
6 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/localplan  

Page 134

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/localplan


13 

 

Policy EM7 is supported by the following text: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This SPD updates the LETCP Good Practice Guidance on Planning. For the avoidance of 
doubt, scheme classifications, including minor, medium and major shall be in line with 
section 5.1 of this guidance. 

 

This SPD should be read in conjunction with other Council SPD and wider policies including: 
 

 Health Impact Assessment SPD7 

 Coventry Connected SPD (including Car and Cycle Parking Standards)8 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)9 

 Developer Contributions SPD 

 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans10 

 Hot Food Takeaway (Draft) SPD11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Development Classification, Assessment and Mitigation 
The assessment of air quality for relevant planning applications should follow a three-stage 
process:  

                                                 
7 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/26333/draft_heath_impact_assessments_spd  
8 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/26331/draft_coventry_connected_spd  
9 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/cil  
10https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607016
/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf  

11 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/27658/hot_food_takeaway_draft_spd 
 

Page 135

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/26333/draft_heath_impact_assessments_spd
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/26331/draft_coventry_connected_spd
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/cil
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607016/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607016/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/27658/hot_food_takeaway_draft_spd


14 

 

1. Determining the classification of the development proposal;  
2. Assessing and quantifying the impact on local air quality; and 
3. Determining the level of a mitigation required by the proposal to make the scheme 

acceptable.  

 

 

 

5.1 Stage 1 - Development Type Classification 
The classification of developments is shown in tables 1 and 2 (below). The assessment and 
mitigation of development proposals is shown in figure 1 (below in section 5.2). 
 

Table 1 – Air quality classification of developments  
 

Scheme Type Minor Medium Major  

Threshold Below 
threshold 
criteria for a 
Transport 
Assessment 
or Travel Plan 

Meets threshold 
criteria for a 
Transport 
Assessment or 
Travel Plan 

 
. 

 

Medium type developments 
which also trigger any of the 
following criteria: 
i) Where development is within 
or adjacent12 to an AQMA or 
CAZ 

ii) Where development 
requires an EIA13 and air quality 
is to be considered 

iii) Where any of the criteria in 
table 2 are triggered 

Assessment None (other 
than for 
exposure) 

None (other than 
for exposure) 

Air Quality Assessment14 
required including an 
evaluation of changes in 
emissions15    

Mitigation Type 1 Types 1 and 2  Types 1,2 and 3 

 

The threshold criteria for Transport Assessments (TA) can be found in Table 4.2 of the 
Councils Coventry Connected SPD16. 
 

At present, all of the Coventry City Council area is designated as an AQMA, therefore, all 

medium classified developments will be classified as major. 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
12 Where development has potential to impact on concentrations in AQMA or CAZ  

13 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment 

14 Air Quality Assessment Protocol can be found in Appendix 1 

15 Assessment includes monetisation of the impacts arising from emission changes in line with Defra IGCB 

Damage Costs  

16 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/111/planning_policy/2310/local_plan/5  

Page 136

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/111/planning_policy/2310/local_plan/5


15 

 

Table 2 – Additional Trigger Criteria for Major Developments 

 Proposals in areas where sustained compliance with EU Limit Values may be at 
risk17 

 Any development proposing a net increase of 100 or more parking spaces 

 Any development that could increase the existing traffic flows on roads of > 
10,000 AADT by 5% or more 

 Any development that causes a change in LDV (cars and small vans) flows of: 
-          more than 100 AADT within or adjacent to an AQMA, CAZ or exceedance 
area 

-          more than 500 AADT elsewhere 

 Any developments that could increase traffic flows by 5% or more in road 
canyons18 (or creates a canyon) with > 5,000 AADT 

 Any development that causes a change in HDV flows (lorries, large vans and 
buses) of: 
-          more than 25 AADT within or adjacent to an AQMA, CAZ or exceedance 
area 

-          more than 100 AADT elsewhere 

 Proposals that could introduce or significantly alter congestion (DfT Congestion) 
and includes the introduction of substantial road infrastructure changes 

 Proposals that reduce average speeds by more than 10 km per hour 

 Proposals that include additional HGV movements by more than 10% of total 
trips 

 The construction, widening or repositioning of a road in the vicinity of sensitive 
receptors19 

 Where significant demolition and construction works are proposed20 

 Where a centralised combustion unit of thermal input >300kWh is proposed 

 All biomass boiler applications  

 All stand-by/short-term power generation units regulated by the Environment 
Agency 

 

 

 

5.2 Stage 2 - Air Quality Impact Assessment 
 

MINOR and MEDIUM Classified Proposals 
 

Smaller development proposals may not in themselves create an additional air quality 
problem but may introduce more people that are likely to be exposed to existing levels of 
poor air quality. An assessment of the likelihood of introducing additional exposure will be 
determined using the following criteria:  

                                                 
17 Where current monitoring data shows NO2 annual average concentrations of 36 ug/m3 or more  

18 Where the height of buildings adjacent to either side of the road are higher than the width between them. 
Local knowledge and professional judgement will be required to help identify road canyons 

19 See section 5.2 

20 Significance determined by professional judgement based on scale of works and proximity of sensitive 
receptors 

Page 137



16 

 

 The proposal is adjacent to or within an AQMA;  
 The proposal is in a location 20m from roads at or above the relevant national 

objective highlighted on the DEFRA GIS modelled maps - http://uk-
air.defra.gov.uk/data/gis-mapping   

 The proposal is one of the Land Use types:  
-  C1 to C3;  
-  C4 (Homes of Multiple Occupation);  
- D1; and 

- Within 20m of roads with >10,000 AADT  
 

Air Quality Monitoring 

 

Where it is unclear whether levels of NO2 may pose an unacceptable exposure risk to the 
inhabitants of proposed dwellings, it may be appropriate to undertake a period of monitoring 
at the site as part of the air quality assessment. The requirements of such programmes are to 
be agreed with the Environmental Protection Team prior to monitoring taking place (see 
appendix 1). 
 

 

The outcome of the exposure assessment will determine the level of mitigation required to 
make the development acceptable. Should there be no acceptable mitigation the 
recommendation may be to consider refusing the proposal on air quality grounds. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138

http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/gis-mapping
http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/gis-mapping


17 

 

Figure 1 – Classification, assessment & mitigation of new developments 

 
 
 

 
 

   
 

 

Page 139



18 

 

MAJOR Classified Proposals  
 

It is important that all major schemes should identify suitable assessment requirements and 
potential mitigation through pre-application discussions. The scale and nature of this type 
of proposal is such that a detailed air quality assessment will be required to determine the 
impact on public health and the local environment. The assessment requires:  

 The identification of the level of exposure through the change in pollutant concentrations 
including cumulative impacts arising from the proposal, during both 
demolition/construction operations and operational phases. Mitigation measures should 
be identified and modelled where practicable.  

 The calculation of pollutant emissions costs from the development.  
 

A. The methodology to be used for the determination of pollutant concentration change 
should meet the requirements of the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) Technical Guidance Note LAQM TG. (16)21. Further details of the air quality 
assessment requirements can be found in appendix 1 and through the Council’s 
Environmental Protection team. 
 

All Air Quality Assessments received will be assessed by Coventry City Council against the 
requirements of this Technical Guidance Note. If the requirements are not met, Coventry City 
Council may request that the applicant carries out the assessment again, if the assessment 
does not meet the required standards, the application may be refused. 
 

B. The pollutant emissions costs calculation will identify the damage costs associated with the 
proposal and will assist the Council in assessing the overall impacts on air quality arising from 
major developments. We may use the damage costs in considering the appropriate scale and 
kind of mitigation that is required to make certain major schemes acceptable in terms of air 
quality. The overall benefit of the scheme will be taken into account in making the site 
acceptable. The calculation should utilise the most recent DEFRA Emissions Factor Toolkit22 to 
estimate the additional pollutant emissions from a proposed development and the latest 
DEFRA IGCB Air Quality Damage Costs for the specific pollutant of interest, to calculate the 
resultant damage cost23.  The calculation process includes:  
• Identifying the additional trips generated by the proposal (from the Transport 

Assessment);  
•      The emissions calculated for the pollutants of concern (NOx and PM10) [from the 

Emissions Factor Toolkit];  
•      The air quality damage costs calculation for the specific pollutant emissions (from DEFRA 

IGCB);  
•      The result is totaled for a five-year period to enable mitigation implementation.  
 

The calculation is summarised as follows: 

Road Transport Emission Increase = 

[Estimated trip increase for 5 years X Emission rate per 10 km per vehicle type X 
Damage Costs]  

                                                 
21 https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/technical-guidance/  

22 https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html  

23 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality-economic-analysis  

Page 140

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/technical-guidance/
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality-economic-analysis


19 

 

Further information can be obtained from the Council’s Environmental Protection team. 
Should there be no net increase in trips arising from a development scheme then the 
damage costs are zero. Further information on damage costs can be found in appendix 2. 

5.3 Stage 3 - Mitigation  

Where mitigation is not integrated into a proposal, we will require this through planning 
conditions. The NPPF (paragraph 152) states that “where adequate mitigation measures are 
not possible, compensatory measures may be appropriate”. If on-site mitigation is not 
possible then Coventry City Council will seek compensation for the identified air quality 
impacts through a section 106 agreement or similar agreement.  
 

Default mitigation measures are presented for each type of proposal that demonstrate a 
minimum requirement. This is not an exhaustive list but a suggested suite of measures and 
will be adapted for particular locations and needs identified by the Council. We welcome the 
opportunity to work with developers to devise innovative measures that will lead to 
improving local air quality.  
 

Type 1 mitigation is listed in table 3 and Types 2 and 3 are listed in tables 4 and 5 respectively. 
 

Due to elevated concentrations of particulate matter in the district, Medium and Major 
developments will be required to implement suitable abatement controls for the use of non-
road mobile machinery (NRMM) – see table 6. 
 

Type 1 Mitigation 

 

Table 3 – Type 1 Mitigation 

Plug-in Vehicle Re-Charging: 
 

Residential:  
1 charging point per dwelling with dedicated parking (16amp) or 1 charging point per 
10 spaces (unallocated parking) and ensure appropriate cabling is provided to enable 
increase in future provision. 
  
Commercial/Retail:  
10% of parking spaces (32 amp) which may be phased with 5% initial provision and the 
remainder at an agreed trigger level. At least 1 charging unit should be provided for 
every 10 disabled parking spaces. Where 50 parking spaces or more are provided then 
1 rapid charging unit (43kW/50kW) per 50 spaces shall also be considered and parking 
time limited to a maximum of 1 hour for public access car parks.  
 

Industrial:  
10% of parking spaces which may be phased with 5% initial provision and the 
remainder at an agreed trigger level. At least 1 charging unit should be provided for 
every 10 disabled parking spaces. Where 50 parking spaces or more are provided then 
1 rapid charging unit (43kW/50kW) per 50 spaces shall also be considered. 
 

Page 141



20 

 

All charging units shall be installed where practical. Developers installing public 
charging points shall ensure that the National Charge Point Registry is updated.  
 

For further information on EV charging points contact the Environmental Protection 
Team 
 

Low NOx heating and boilers (see section 5.5) 
 

Code of Construction Practice  
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to be incorporated into 
MEDIUM and MAJOR developments and agreed with Council Officers. This shall include 

NRMM controls (see table 6). 
 

Green Infrastructure 

Where it can be shown that such infrastructure will reduce exposure from air pollution. 
 

 

 

Type 2 Mitigation 

 

The following tables provide a suite of measures to be considered where appropriate. 
 

Table 4 – Type 2 Mitigation 

 Monitored Travel Plan24. 
 Measures to support public transport infrastructure and promote use. 
 Measures to support cycling and walking infrastructure. 
 Measures to support an Electric Vehicle Plan. 
 Designated parking spaces and differentiated parking charges for low emission 

vehicles. 
 Non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) controls (see table 6). 
 Measures provided in the Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) 

Commercial development specific: 
 Use reasonable endeavours to use/require vehicle use complying with the latest 

European Emission Standard. 
 Provide a fleet emission reduction strategy/Low Emission Strategy, including 

low emission fuels and technologies, including ultra-low emission service 
vehicles. 
 

 

 

Type 3 Mitigation  
 

Table 5 – Type 3 Mitigation 

Off-set mitigation to support: 
 Implementation and operation of Clean Air Zones (CAZ), Low Emission Zones 

(LEZ) or Low Emission Strategies (LES). 

                                                 
24 Where the developer funds the monitoring of a travel plan 

Page 142



21 

 

 Implementation of measures in the AQAP 

 Growth in low and ultra-low emission public transport, including buses. 
 Electric Vehicle Plans. 
 Car clubs (including electric) and car sharing schemes. 
 Cycling Hubs and corridors, including bike and e-bike hire. 
 Plugged-in development and demonstration schemes e.g. new occupants given 

demonstration use of plug-in vehicles. 
 Low emission waste collection services. 
 Infrastructure for low emission, alternative fuels e.g. refuse collection and 

community transport services. 

 

Further information on the suitability of mitigation for developments can be obtained from 
the Council’s Environmental Protection Team and through pre-application discussions. 
 

 

Table 6 – Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) Controls 

NRMM of net power between 37kW and 560kW will be required to meet the standards 
based upon the engine emissions standards in EU Directive 97/68/EC and its 
subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed engines 
for both NOx and PM. These standards are:  
(a) NRMM used on the site of any MEDIUM classified development in the AQMA will be 
required to meet Stage IIIA of the Directive as a minimum.  
 (b) NRMM used on any MAJOR classified development in the AQMA will be required to 
meet Stage IIIB of the Directive as a minimum.  
 

From 1 September 2020 the following changes will apply:  
•        (a)  NRMM used on any construction or demolition site within the AQMA will be 

required to meet Stage IIIB of the Directive as a minimum.   
•        (b)  NRMM used on any MEDIUM or MAJOR classified development in the 

AQMA will be required to meet Stage IV of the Directive as a minimum.   
The requirements may be met using the following techniques;  

(a) Reorganisation of NRMM fleet (b) Replacing equipment (with new or second-hand 

equipment which meets the policy) (c) Retrofit abatement technologies (d) Re‐
engineering.  
 

All eligible NRMM should meet the standards above unless it can be demonstrated that 
the machinery is not available or that a comprehensive retrofit to meet both PM and 
NOx emission standards is not feasible.  

5.4 Assessing the acceptability of a scheme 

We will determine the acceptability of a scheme and its location based on the outcome of the 
air quality assessment and the provision of on-site and/or off-set mitigation. 

While applicants may present evidence as to the significance of scheme impacts or the impact 
of air quality on a scheme, we reserve the right to determine the acceptability of a scheme 
based on local air quality knowledge and the cumulative impacts of schemes. A key test is 

Page 143



22 

 

whether the development impact will help sustain and contribute towards compliance with 
relevant limit values or national objectives.  

5.5 Specific Issues 

 

5.51 Heating & Power 
 
Minimum emission standards that are outlined below should be applied where relevant. 
 

Heating plant on developments in the AQMA: 
 

•        Individual gas fired boiler <40mgNOx/kWh 

 

•        Spark ignition engine 95mgNOx/Nm3 

 

•        Compression ignition engine 400mgNOx/Nm3 

 

•        Gas turbine 20mgNOx/Nm3 

 

It should be noted that all plant equipment permitted under the Pollution Prevention and 
Control Act 1999 and the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016 (as amended), including 
CHP plant 20 MWth input or above, will need to comply with the emission standards set 
through the permitting process and the planning system cannot set alternative standards. 
This means that, based on the emissions of such plant, the Council will need to decide 
whether such schemes are an acceptable use of the application site depending on their 
impact on air quality.  

 

5.52 Biomass boilers 

 
Biomass boiler provision has increased over recent years, supported by the financial benefits 
of the Government’s Renewal Heat Incentive (RHI)25. However, the emissions from biomass 
plant can lead to significant emissions of NOx and PM, even from relatively small plant. 
 

All biomass boiler plant applications will be subject to a full air quality assessment and will be 
resisted in our AQMA unless mitigation is provided to achieve emissions of NOx and PM that 
are capable of achieving the following standards: 
 

•        Solid biomass boiler (< 1 MW thermal input) NOx 180mgNm3 / PM 5mgNm3 

 

•        Solid biomass boiler (=/> 1 MW thermal input) NOx 125 mgNm3 / PM 5mgNm3 

 

 

 

These standards can be achieved through the use of fabric or ceramic filters. 

                                                 
25 http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/scotland/grants-loans/renewables/renewable-heat-
incentive?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI_ZiY2Z7Q2gIVgbHtCh0dwgxCEAAYASABEgKGgvD_BwE  

Page 144

http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/scotland/grants-loans/renewables/renewable-heat-incentive?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI_ZiY2Z7Q2gIVgbHtCh0dwgxCEAAYASABEgKGgvD_BwE
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/scotland/grants-loans/renewables/renewable-heat-incentive?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI_ZiY2Z7Q2gIVgbHtCh0dwgxCEAAYASABEgKGgvD_BwE


23 

 

 

 

 

 

5.53 Standby / back-up power generation 
 

All standby/back-up power generation applications, including schemes regulated by the 
Environment Agency, will require a full air quality assessment to assess the acceptability of 
the site for such a scheme.  
 

We expect all such assessments to include reasoning as to whether gas powered generation 
can be utilised in the first instance e.g. identify the provision of suitable gas mains in the 
vicinity. 
 

Any diesel-powered generators will be required to incorporate abatement equipment such 
as selective catalytic reduction and particulate trap (SCRT) and demonstrate that they don’t 
add to the problem. 

 

5.54 Permitting under the Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 and the 
Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016 (as amended)  
 

Industrial processes which may range from large industrial plant to dry cleaners and paint 
spraying workshops, are regulated by the Environment Agency (Part A1 processes) and the 
Council (Part A2 and Part B processes). The planning regime must assume that the permitting 
regime will ensure the processes comply with their permits and the Act. The planning regime 
can, however consider whether a land use is appropriate and it must consider the exposure 
to pollutants.  
 

All Part A and B Process developments requiring planning applications and where NOx and 
PM emissions are relevant will be required to carry out a detailed air quality assessment  
 

5.55 Mechanical Ventilation 
 

Air quality concentrations may affect the suitability of certain locations for sensitive 
developments and this should be assessed in line with section 5.2.  
 

Some applications in areas of poor air quality have proposed mechanical ventilation as a 
solution to overcoming potential exposure to poor air quality. This may involve sealed 
windows / triple glazing with trickle vents and a forced ventilation system, incorporating 
filters to remove pollutants such as NOx and particulates. 
 

Not only do such schemes increase the energy requirements of developments but also 
provide a questionable living space in what is essentially a ‘hermetically sealed unit’ and 
should not be seen as a desirable or automatically acceptable solution to mitigating against 
exposure, particularly where mechanical failure would make the situation even worse. 
 

Page 145



24 

 

Any sensitive development in an area of pollutant exceedance should first examine the 
following considerations: 
 

 The sensitive development should be at least 20m from the curb, with the alignment of 
living space to afford further separation from a pollutant source. 

 Take account of the height separation of living accommodation from a road source e.g. 
can residential dwellings be provided from floors 2 / 3 upwards with commercial premises 
at lower levels. 

 The use of green infrastructure to provide a barrier to an adjacent pollution source (see 
5.56). 

 The projected length of time that the sensitive dwelling will be exposed to elevated 
pollution levels from scheme completion. 

 Reduce the potential for internal pollution e.g. through electric cooking provision. 

 Provision of monitoring data to support applications for sensitive developments. This 
requirement should be agreed with the Council’s Environmental Protection Team prior to 
commencement of monitoring. 

 

Where the above considerations cannot achieve acceptable exposure for a sensitive 
development, then consideration should be given to a refusal of the scheme. 
 

5.56 Green Infrastructure 

 
Plants and trees may provide an aesthetically pleasing aspect to a scheme and may also be 
used to provide a barrier from a pollutant source such as a trafficked road. 
 

While there is conflicting evidence as to whether green infrastructure can help reduce 
concentrations of NO2, it is acknowledged that certain types of shrubs and trees can be 
effective at removing particulates from the atmosphere, increasing pollutant dispersion and 
providing a barrier to pollutant sources such as heavily trafficked roads. 
 

For example, a living wall or a framework for climbing plants may offer some protection 
between a pollution source such as a road and a dwelling. Additionally, certain types of trees 
such as varieties of pine, planted between a road and residential accommodation may help 
reduce exposure to particulates. 
 

Careful consideration is needed as to the type of green infrastructure to be used as certain 
tree species can produce their own emissions, such as isoprenes, which may exacerbate air 
pollution.  
 

Any proposals to incorporate green infrastructure into scheme design should provide 
evidence as to the suitability of the species chosen. 

 

5.57 Section 106 Agreements and the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

Page 146



25 

 

If Coventry City Council develop a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)26 in addition to its 
Developer Contributions SPD, the Council’s most recent Infrastructure Delivery Plan does 
however include some air quality mitigation infrastructure, including electric vehicle charging 
points. 
 

The Council  will seek Section 106 Agreements (Town and Country Planning Act 1990) and 
other relevant obligations with developers to secure mitigation, including off-set, on larger 
schemes (Medium and Major), where appropriate, to make the scheme environmentally 
acceptable.  
 

 

Section 106 Agreements will only be sought where the following tests are satisfied: 
 

-          Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

-          Directly related to the development; and 

-          Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

 

 

Where Coventry City Council specifies contributions towards air quality infrastructure then 
this will be considered as part of negotiating wider developer contributions to avoid any issue 
of double counting. 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
26 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/111/planning_policy/2764/community_infrastructure_levy/1  

Page 147

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/111/planning_policy/2764/community_infrastructure_levy/1


26 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Air Quality Assessment Protocol to Determine the Impact of Vehicle Emissions 
from Development Proposals  
 

An air quality assessment should clearly establish the likely change in pollutant concentrations 
at relevant receptors resulting from the proposed development during both the construction 
and operational phases. Air quality assessments must also consider the cumulative impacts 
associated with all planned developments, particularly those allocated in the Local Plan. This 
is particularly relevant, for example, in areas such as Keresley and Eastern Green where 
sustainable urban extensions would result in developments being brought forward in various 
phases. 
 

An air quality assessment should consider NOx and PM emissions and NO2 and PM 
concentrations 

 

Key Components of an Air Quality Assessment  
The assessment will require dispersion modelling utilising agreed monitoring data, traffic data 
and meteorological data. The modelling should be undertaken using recognised, verified local 
scale models by technically competent personnel and in accordance with LAQM TG.16. The 
study will comprise of: 

1. The assessment of the existing air quality in the study area for the baseline year with 
agreed receptor points and validation of any dispersion model; 

2. The prediction of future air quality without the development in place (future baseline 
or do-nothing); 

3. The prediction of future emissions and air quality with the development in place (with 
development or do-something); and 

4. The prediction of future emissions and air quality with the development (with 
development or do-something) and with identified mitigation measures in place. 
 

The assessment report should include the following details: 
A. A detailed description of the proposed development, including: 

 Identify any on-site sources of pollutants; 

 Overview of the expected traffic changes; 

 The sensitivity of the area in terms of objective concentrations; 

 Local receptors likely to be exposed; and 

 Pollutants to be considered and those scoped out of the process. 
B. The relevant planning and other policy context for the assessment. 
C. Description of the relevant air quality standards and objectives. 
D. The assessment method details including model, input data and assumptions: 

For traffic assessment: 

 Traffic data used for the assessment; 

 Emission data source; 

 Meteorological data source and representation of area; 

 Baseline pollutant concentration including any monitoring undertaken; 

 Background pollutant concentration; 

Page 148



27 

 

 Choice of base year; 

 Basis for NOx:NO2 calculations; and 

 A modelling sensitivity test for future emissions with and without reductions. 
For point source assessments: 

 Type of plant; 

 Source of emission data and emission assumptions; 

 Stack parameters – height, diameter, emission velocity and exit temperature; 

 Meteorological data source and representation of area; 

 Baseline pollutant concentrations; 

 Background pollutant concentrations; 

 Choice of baseline year; and 

 Basis for deriving NO2 from NOx. 
E. Model verification for all traffic modelling following DEFRA guidance LAQM.TG (16). 
F. Identification of sensitive locations. 
G. Description of baseline conditions. 
H. Description of demolition/construction phase impacts. 
I. Summary of the assessment results: 

 Impacts during the demolition/construction phase; 

 Impacts during the operation phase; 

 The estimated emissions change of local air pollutants; 

 Identified breach or worsening of exceedences of objectives (geographical extent) 

 Whether Air Quality Action Plan is compromised; 

 Apparent conflicts with planning policy and how they will be mitigated; and 

 Uncertainties, errors and verification. 
J. Mitigation measures. 

 Air Quality Monitoring 

In some case it will be appropriate to carry out a short period of air quality monitoring as part 
of the assessment work. This will help where new exposure is proposed in a location with 
complex road layout and/or topography, which will be difficult to model or where no data is 
available to verify the model. Monitoring should be undertaken for a minimum of three to six 
months using agreed techniques and locations with any adjustments made following Defra 
technical guidance LAQM.TG (16). 
 

Assessing Demolition/Construction Impacts 

The demolition and construction phases of development proposals can lead to both nuisance 
dust and elevated fine particulate (PM10 and PM2.5) concentrations. Modelling is not 
appropriate for this type of assessment, as emission rates vary depending on a combination 
of the construction activity and meteorological conditions, which cannot be reliably 
predicted. The assessment should focus on the distance and duration over which there is a 
risk that impacts may occur. The Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM)27 has produced 
a number of documents to which this guidance refers. The document `Guidance on the 
Assessment of the Impacts of Construction on Air Quality and the Determination of their 
Significance’ should be the reference for reporting the construction assessment. 
 

                                                 
27 IAQM www.iaqm.co.uk  

Page 149

http://www.iaqm.co.uk/


28 

 

Cumulative Impacts 

The NPPF (paragraph 124) recognises that a number of individual development proposals 
within close proximity of each other require planning policies and decisions to consider the 
cumulative impact of them. Difficulties arise when developments are permitted sequentially, 
with each individually having only a relatively low polluting potential, but which cumulatively 
result in a significant worsening of air quality. This will occur where: 

 A single large site is divided up into a series of units, such as an industrial estate or retails 
park; 

 A major development is broken down into a series of smaller planning applications for 
administrative ease; and 

 There are cumulative air quality impacts from a series of unrelated developments in the 
same area. 

The first two cases the cumulative impact will be addressed by the likelihood that a single 
developer will bring forward an outline application for the whole site which should include an 
air quality assessment as part of an Environmental Assessment. For major developments that 
are broken down into a series of smaller planning applications, the use of a `Master or 
Parameter Plan’ that includes an air quality assessment will address the cumulative impact. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



29 

 

Appendix 2 – Damage Costs: calculations and example 

 
Damage costs are the costs to society (mainly health) per tonne of pollutant emitted. They 
provide an easy reckoning of the monetised value of changes in pollution. The Government 
publishes damage costs for NOx and PM and also provides an Emission Factor Toolkit to allow 
the calculation of the emissions from schemes over the coming years. 
 

Applicants calculating damage costs should incorporate the following: 
 

 The most recent version of the Emission Factor Toolkit  

 Both NOx and PM to be considered 

 Appropriate HGV % traffic split to be used 

 Traffic speed of 30km / hour to be used  

 The appropriate damage cost category as advised by the Council Air Quality Team 

 
The following example outlines the damage cost calculation process for an urban mixed-use 
development outside London, to be operational in 2019, including residential development 
in 2 blocks and a hotel. The trip generation for the residential scheme is low due to less than 
50% parking level per dwelling, including 25% provision of electric vehicle charging points (and 
a further 25% potential) and cycle stores. The hotel scheme includes 100+ space parking 
provision. Service deliveries to both the residential and hotel scheme are also considered. 
 

The scheme is categorised as ‘outer conurbation (not London)’ for damage costs. 
 

Step 1 – Using the trip increase for each aspect of the scheme calculate the annual emissions 
of NOx and PM (in tonnes) for each of the 5 years from opening 

 

 Projected yearly emissions (Defra Emission Factor Toolkit v8) 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Residential 
NOx 

129.73952 120.58516 110.44020 100.85574 92.75155 

Residential 
PM 

11.50558 11.31002 11.17497 11.06880 10.98908 

Hotel NOx 506.79502 471.03580 431.40703 393.96773 362.31073 

Hotel PM 44.94366 44.17977 43.65224 43.23749 42.92610 

Deliveries 
NOx 

477.56736 409.78076 347.56394 296.07882 256.18598 

Deliveries 
PM 

32.62307 31.71858 30.96677 30.38716 29.94013 

Total NOx 
(kg) 

1,114.1019 1,001.4017 889.41117 790.90229 711.24826 

Total PM 
(kg) 

98.07231 87.20837 85.79398 84.69345 83.85531 

Total NOx 
(t) 

1.1141019 1.0014017 0.8894111 0.7909022 0.7112482 

Total PM (t) 0.0980723 0.0872083 0.0857939 0.0846934 0.0838553 

Page 151



30 

 

 

Step 2 – Using the selected damage cost category, uplift the 2015 prices provided by the IGCB 
by 2% per annum to reflect the correct cost in each of the first 5 years from opening 

 

 Price per tonne of pollutant in projected years (Defra IGCB) 

 2015 
price/tonne 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

NOx £31,776 £34,395 £35,083 £35,784 £36,500 £37,230 

PM £87,770 £95,003 £96,903 £98,841 £100,817 £102,833 

 

Step 3 – Multiply the tonnage of emissions for each pollutant by the damage cost price for 
each year. Provide a cumulative total for 5 years 

 

 Damage Costs 

 2019 (year 
1) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 (year 
5) 

NOx £38,319 £35,132 £31,826 £28,867 £26,479 

PM £9,317 £8,450 £8,479 £8,538 £8,623 

Totals 
(cumulative) 

£47,636 £91,218 £131,523 £168,928 £204,030 

 

Page 152



 

 

 
 
 

Hot Food Takeaway 

Supplementary Planning Document 
 
 

 

Coventry City Council 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153



Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document (HFT SPD) 
 

 

1. Purpose of this SPD 
 

The Council recognises the role that hot food takeaways play in the economy. They provide a 

service to local people and add vitality and interest to defined centres, but planning applications 

for hot food takeaways, particularly those in close proximity to residential properties, frequently 

generate a significant number of objections. If successful, these premises can also have a 

negative impact on the health and wellbeing of those in Coventry. It is therefore important that 

there are appropriate requirements in place to allow new hot food takeaways to provide a 

service to local people, but without having a negative impact on the health and wellbeing of those 

in the area. 

This SPD is a material consideration in the determination of a planning application and provides 

information and appropriate guidance to those involved in planning applications covering hot 

food takeaways. It is aimed at individuals and organisations involved in preparing and 

submitting a planning application as well as those involved in the determination and 

enforcement of planning applications. 

The SPD covers all applications that include an element of hot food takeaway (A5 use class) 

regardless of their size and nature. This includes applications for new build and changes of use 

to a hot food takeaway, as well as all forms of mixed use facilities (containing an element of A5 

use). 

In relation to mixed use schemes in particular it is not uncommon for the non A5 element of a 

scheme to diminish over time to the detriment of the centre as a whole. Therefore mixed use 

applications, which contain an element of A5 use will be considered through this SPD in the 

same way as a singular A5 use. In such circumstances this may also generate the need for 

specific planning conditions to be attached to a decision which manage the level of A5 floor 

area or operating hours etc. 

This SPD provides details of some relevant planning policies, guidance on how to meet Policy 

R6 (2(c)) and details of some non-planning related considerations that an applicant may wish 

to consider, with useful contact details. 

 
2. Classification of Hot Food Takeaways 

 

In planning terms, there is a distinction between a shop (use class A1), a restaurant or café (use 
class A3), a drinking establishment (use class A4) and a hot food take away (use class A5). For 
the avoidance of doubt an A5 use is where food is prepared, cooked and sold within the premises 
but to be consumed away from it. This can include Kebab shops, fish and chip shops or pizza 
places for example.  

 

3. Local Planning Policy 
 

3.1 The Coventry Local Plan 

 
This SPD has been developed to support The Coventry Local Plan, adopted in December 2017. 

Page 154



The main relevant policy within this Local Plan is Policy R6: Restaurants, Bars and Hot Food 

Takeaways. 
 

 
Policy R6 in the Local Plan is accompanied by the following text: 

“The Council has pledged to improve its population’s health and wellbeing and to reduce health 

inequalities. One of the challenges the Council faces in promoting healthy eating is the 

availability of foods high in fat, salt and sugar in local neighbourhoods, including the prevalence 

of hot food takeaways in some areas. 

Such uses do however have the potential to cause significant problems which impact upon 

residential amenity, highways and parking. Hot food takeaways often attract considerable 

customer numbers and are regularly associated with issues such as litter, waste disposal, 

noise, odour, traffic and health. For a combination of these reasons, they will normally only be 

supported within defined centres where residential amenity is less likely to be an issue and will 

be resisted elsewhere. Where homes are situated above such premises, specific care will need 

to be given to odour extraction, noise insulation and general public convenience. Where 

appropriate provisions cannot be included then such uses will not be supported, even within 

designated centres.” 

 
The defined centres referred to in Policy R6 (and throughout this document) will be as per the 

Policies Map accompanying the Coventry Local Plan1 and include the City Centre, Major District 

Centres, District Centres and Local Centres. 
 

3.2 The Coventry City Centre Area Action Plan 

 
The Coventry City Centre Area Action Plan has been developed to help guide, inform and 

consider development proposals within Coventry City Centre and was adopted in December 

2017. Particular policies to consider for Hot Food Takeaway applications include: 

                                                
1 http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/110/planning_applications/1333/online_planning_map/2 

Policy R6: Restaurants, Bars and Hot Food Takeaways 

1. Outlets should be located within defined centres and will normally be discouraged 

outside those locations. 

 
2. Proposals within defined centres will be permitted provided they: 

a) Would not result in significant harm to the amenity of nearby residents or highway 
safety; 

b) Would not result in harmful cumulative impacts due to existence of any existing or 
consented proposed outlet; 

c) Are in accordance with the emerging Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning 
Document (in particular, for A5 uses); and 

d) Are compatible with other Plan Policies. 

Page 155

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/110/planning_applications/1333/online_planning_map/2


 

 

 

 

If a hot food takeaway application does not comply with the relevant policies in the Coventry Local 

Plan and City Centre Area Action Plan, the Council may request additional information or 

require amendments to the application. If the issues remain, planning permission will not 

normally be granted. 

 
 

4. Requirements for Hot Food Takeaway Applications 
 

All applications for A5 premises must contain information to demonstrate that they meet the 

following requirements 4.1 – 4.7 (below). Failure to do so may ultimately result in a refusal of 

planning permission  

 

4.1 Concentration of Hot Food Takeaways 

 

Coventry Local Plan Policy R6, referred to in section 1.1, refers to harmful cumulative impacts 

of hot food takeaways. It is acknowledged that hot food takeaways offer a popular service to 

local communities and have a role to play within town centres and other shopping areas. 

However, where groups of hot food takeaway uses develop, so can harmful cumulative impacts 

Policy CC15 

b) Far Gosford Street will be regarded as a local centre meaning proposals for local 

shopping provisions will be supported. This will however exclude the provision of any further 

hot food takeaways (use class A5), which will not be permitted. 

Policy CC17 

b) Spon Street will be encouraged as a suitable and attractive location for specialist and 

independent retailers. In order to protect the availability of property for such use, further hot 

food takeaways (use class A5), which will not be permitted within this Area. 

Policy CC22: Primary and Secondary Frontages 

a)  Primary Frontages, shown in appendix 1, are expected to include a high proportion of 

retail uses which may include food, drink, clothing and household goods. A clear majority 

of A1 retail uses should remain within all Primary Frontages at all times. Where 

proposals would result in less than 60% of primary frontages being classed as A1 retail 

then the applicant will be expected to demonstrate exceptional circumstance to justify 

change of use. Under no circumstances though will A1 retail be allowed to fall below 

51% of primary frontages. Class A5 and sui-generis uses will only be permitted in 

exceptional circumstances. 

Page 156



such as displacement of other retail shops, breaking up the continuity of the retail frontage and, 

in defined centres, an overabundance can undermine the primary retailing function of these 

areas and/or result in a loss of shops to the detriment of local residents. Additional harmful 

cumulative impacts include increased numbers of customers around hot food takeaways 

(including at less sociable hours), which can lead to problems in disturbance, increased noise, 

littering, crime and anti- social behavior. 

 
To encourage balanced and diverse shopping areas and to help reduce these harmful 

additional impacts, the concentration of hot food takeaways will be considered. 

 

 
Please note that this requirement will not apply to applications within Coventry City Centre (for 
the purposes of hot food takeaway applications, this will be classified as the area marked in 
the Coventry City Centre Area Action Plan City Centre Boundary in figure 12). 

 
In areas that have become over concentrated with hot food takeaways (with the exception of 
Coventry City Centre), further hot food takeaway applications will not be granted. An area will 
be classed as over concentrated with hot food takeaways if the proposed address falls into a 
Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) where the number of takeaways per one thousand population 
exceeds the average for England as per the most up to date data on the FEAT tool 
(http://www.feat-tool.org.uk/map/). Further information and mapping is available on the 
Planning pages of the Council’s website3. The current average number of takeaways per one 
thousand population in England is shown in Appendix A section 1.5, along with a table showing 
the current number of takeaways per one thousand population at each defined centre. 

 
Failure to meet this threshold will mean the application is unlikely to be approved. 

 
More information on the concentration of hot food takeaways can be found in Appendix A. 

Applications must demonstrate how they meet the policies above (Policy R6 from the Local 

Plan and Policies CC15, CC17 and CC22 from the City Centre Area Action Plan, see sections 

3.1 and 3.2) in the application. Failure to do so may ultimately result in a refusal of planning 

permission. 

 

4.2 Proximity to schools 

 
Obesity, and the long term consequences of obesity, is a growing problem with a significant 

burden on health and society in England and Coventry. Appendix A includes the evidence 

supporting an intervention limiting new hot food takeaways in close proximity to schools. 

 

                                                
2 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 
 

3 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 
 

Concentration of Hot Food Takeaways: In areas that have become over concentrated 

by hot food takeaways, further hot food takeaway applications will not be permitted 

Page 157

http://www.feat-tool.org.uk/map/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


The Council understands that obesity is a complex problem and as such there is no single 

solution. The need for action at all levels of government and society has been recognised. This 

measure is one of many initiatives being worked on by the Council and its partners. This whole 

systems, coordinated approach can help to reduce the obesity crisis in Coventry. 

 

 
To avoid any ambiguity with street geography increasing or decreasing the length of time to 

walk a distance, the Council have developed a map identifying the 5 minute walk boundaries 

around school gates. A sample of this map for illustration purposes and details on how it was 

created can be found in Appendix B. 

 
A more detailed, interactive map showing the exclusion zones around schools (including 

special schools, colleges and academies) is available on the Councils local plan webpages4. 

This map is to be used by potential applicants and those involved in the determination of planning 

applications to ascertain whether a premises falls within an exclusion zone. 

 
If the majority of the hot food takeaway falls within a zone, planning permission is unlikely to be 

granted. 

 
Further information on the reasoning for a 5 minute walk as an exclusion zone is shown in 

Appendix A. 

Failure to do so may ultimately result in a refusal of planning permission. 

This requirement will not apply to hot food takeaway proposals that fall within a defined centre 

in addition to falling into the 5 minute walk zone. However, if this situation does arise, provision 

must be made to minimise the negative impact on health and wellbeing. This may include 

conditions being applied relating to the opening hours of the hot food takeaway (see 

requirement 4.6). If provision is not made, the application may be delayed as the Council may 

request extra information, amendments or conditions to the application and if the issues are 

not resolved, planning permission will not normally be granted. The supporting maps to this 

SPD show further detail of the areas where defined centres and 5 minute walk zones around 

schools overlap5. 

 
This will ensure that requirement 4.2 “Proximity to Schools” aligns with Local Plan policy R6 

(Restaurants, Bars and Hot food Takeaways – see section 3.1) around normally permitting hot 

food takeaways in defined centres, provided they meet a variety of criteria and also complies 

with Local Plan policy DS3 (Sustainable Development Policy): 

                                                
4  http://www.coventry.gov.uk    
 
5 http://www.coventry.gov.uk  

Proximity to Schools: Hot food takeaway applications will not be approved if the hot food 

takeaway falls within a 5 minute walk from the gate(s) of any primary or secondary school 

(including any Special School, Sixth Form College and Academy), within or outside Local 

Education Authority Control. 

Page 158

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


 

 
 

4.3 Litter and Waste Disposal 

 
Litter is unsightly and causes considerable annoyance to residents and adjoining businesses 

and can attract vermin and harm the environment. Hot food takeaways are often associated 

with the generation of litter, which can be discarded both in the immediate vicinity and further 

afield. Objectors to hot food takeaway applications often cite litter as a nuisance. Although the 

proprietor of the hot food takeaway business has little control over where its customers drop 

their litter, they can act to significantly reduce the potential of its occurrence by providing 

litterbins within their premises and this will contribute toward protecting residents by supporting 

2a in Policy R6 (“Proposals within defined centres will be permitted provided they would not 

result in significant harm to the amenity of nearby residents or highway safety”). 

 
Due consideration must be given to relevant policies in the Coventry Local Plan (such as policy  

EM8: Waste Management). 

 
 

 
 

If the planning application does not include evidence that adequate space to facilitate 

appropriate waste storage, refuse, recycling and composting has been provided for the 

proposal, extra information, amendments or conditions may be requested. If the issues remain, 

Policy EM8: Waste Management 

1) The Council’s Waste Management Strategy will be supported through: 

a) Encouraging less consumption of raw materials through the reduction and re-use 

of waste products; 

b) A requirement for development proposals to incorporate adequate storage 

for waste and recycling services along with safe access for collection 

vehicles; 

4) Development proposals should demonstrate measures to minimise the generation of 

waste in the construction, use and life of buildings and promote more sustainable 

approaches to waste management, including the reuse and recycling of construction waste 

and the promotion of layouts and designs that provide adequate space to facilitate waste 

storage, reuse, recycling and composting 

Policy DS3: Sustainable Development Policy 

1) When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach 

that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 

National Planning Policy Framework. It will work proactively with applicants to find 

solutions to enable proposals to be approved wherever possible, and to secure 

development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the 

area, including: 

e) increased health, wellbeing and quality of life 

Page 159



planning permission will not normally be granted. 

The bins to be provided must be a suitable size and should be stored in a location so as not to 

cause a nuisance to neighbouring residential or commercial properties, including with regard to 

odours and accessibility. Where possible, the bins should be located where they are out of hot 

summer sunshine, be screened and be emptied and cleaned regularly. This will contribute 

toward preventing odours and flies. The bin stores should also be appropriately located for clear 

convenient access for refuse collection services and be accessible at all times to those working 

at the hot food takeaway. In addition to these points, commercial bin stores must be contained 

within the site. Where this is not possible, secure storage structures should be provided. 

The applicant also needs to ensure that listed building consent and planning requirements in a 

conservation area are considered when developing the storage facilities for waste (see section 

4.7). 

Suitable grease traps must be installed on all drains for hot food takeaway shops to prevent 

blockages and the flooding of properties. 

Conditions to ensure that litter and waste requirements are met may be applied. 

 

4.4 Odour Extraction 

 
Many hot food takeaways produce odours during opening times. In the majority of cases, 

consideration to the impact of odours is key when submitting a hot food takeaway planning 

application, however it is worth noting that some types of food preparation and cooking practices 

will produce more odours than others and therefore may require a higher specification and 

control to remove the odour, grease and smoke particles. 

 

 

If unacceptable smells and fumes cannot be prevented by means of an effective extraction or 

abatement system, or if ducting cannot be installed without significant detriment to visual or 

residential amenity, planning permission will not normally be granted. 

 
To be deemed acceptable, the proposed extraction system will need to: 

 
 Have a flue that terminates at least 1 metre above the ridge height of the building to which 

it is attached, taking into consideration the height of neighbouring buildings 

 Incorporate suitable odour treatment systems such as carbon or ozone (the use of odour 

neutralizing systems is discouraged) 

 Include effective grease filtration in the canopy and, where carbon filtration systems are 

used, fine grease filters will normally be required 

 Have route ducting so as to avoid proximity to residential or office windows on 
neighbouring properties (it is worth noting that this route ducting can only be run up 
walls that the applicant owns, where an external flue is proposed on a property in joint 
ownership or involving a wall owned by a third party, legal consent of all parties must 

Odour Extraction: Extraction systems should be installed to effectively disperse odours 

from hot food takeaways, whilst satisfying the councils design policies 

Page 160



be demonstrated) 

 Incorporate flue terminals that do not impede discharge; i.e. china man’s hats 

 Have a minimal number of bends in the ducting 

 Use ducting with a smooth internal surface 

 Maximise dispersion by being capable of achieving a ventilation rate of 30 air changes 
per hour for kitchen areas 

 Have an efflux velocity of at least 15m/s, dependent on stack height and odour treatment 
system 

 Use circular duct cross sections whenever possible 

 Fit all ductwork with anti-vibration couplings or mountings to minimise the vibration 
caused by air passing through 

 Not exceed the existing background noise level as measured or calculated at the 
nearest residential property. It is recommended that noise assessments are carried out 
and submitted with the application 

 Meet the planning requirements for a Conservation Area and Listed Building (see 
section 4.7) 

 
On a case by case basis an odour impact assessment may be required to determine the need 
and scale of appropriate extraction equipment, 

 
Suitable odour extraction can contribute toward protecting residents by supporting 2a in Policy 

R6 (“Proposals within defined centres will be permitted provided they would not result in 

significant harm to the amenity of nearby residents or highway safety”). 

 
Grease deposits in ducting can not only cause nuisance but present a fire risk, therefore a 
schedule of preventative maintenance and cleaning needs to be submitted with the application. 

 
Particular reference to considering odour extraction for Hot Food Takeaway applications is 

included in the City Centre Area Action Plan: 

 
Designated centres are often focal points for commercial premises such as restaurants and hot 

food takeaways. Coventry city centre is no different and is becoming an increasingly popular 

place for the provision of such uses. Where new restaurants and/or takeaways are provided 

within the city centre consideration must again be given to the impacts this could have on 

adjoining uses, most notably in terms of odour control in this instance. As such, all food 

premises will require an odour extraction system tailored to the nature and location of the 

premises to prevent nuisance from odours. This will also include sufficient mitigation to prevent 

noise and vibration nuisance from extraction flues. 

 

4.5 Highway Safety 

 
The impact of hot food takeaways on traffic flow and road safety is an important consideration 

when determining applications. 

Hot food takeaways can attract a high proportion of car-borne and short-stay customers, 

particularly when areas in which they are located are not highly accessible. Often, in the vicinity 

of hot food takeaways, there is an increased occurrence of indiscriminate parking and 

interruption to the free flow of traffic along the roads adjacent to these premises. Customers 

Page 161



may be tempted to park inappropriately and indiscriminately for short periods to quickly pop in 

and out of takeaway premises, often jeopardising the safety of other road users and the free 

flow of traffic on the highway network. 

As a consequence, this can also lead to an increase in noise and have a detrimental impact on 

the air quality and amenity of the area during the opening times of the hot food takeaway. 

Insufficient parking facilities in and around hot food takeaways can also have an adverse impact 

on the amenity of the immediate and surrounding areas. The increased demand for on-street 

parking, particularly in the evenings and at weekends when this demand is at its highest and 

often inconveniences local residents. 
 

 

In reviewing a proposal, the impact on the safety of pedestrians and road users will be 
considered with regard to: 

 The existing use of the site 

 Existing traffic conditions 

 The accessibility of the site by public transport, cycling and walking 

 The availability of easily accessible private and public parking provision in close proximity 
to the premises, including on-street parking 

 Proximity of proposal to junctions, pedestrian crossings, and bus stops 

 The availability of safe and legal loading areas in close proximity 

 The implications for the amenity of the surrounding area 

 

Please note, the above is not an exhaustive list and further information on Highway Safety can 
be found in the Coventry Connected SPD6.  
 

A delivery and service plan statement will be required for all applications. 
 

Where a proposal is considered to have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, the Council 
may request extra evidence, amendments or conditions to the application. Failure to comply with 
this may ultimately result in a refusal of planning permission. 

 

4.6 Opening Times and Crime & Safety 

 
The proposed hours and days of opening should be specified as part of planning applications 

for hot food takeaways. Any agreed hours of opening will be made a condition of the planning 

permission if it is granted and, in some instances, proposals will only be accepted if opening 

hours are restricted 

 
As mentioned at the beginning of this document, the Council recognises the important role that 

                                                
6 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 

Highway Safety: Information must be submitted with the application to evidence that the hot 

food takeaway will not cause detriment to highway safety in accordance with Local Plan 

policies contained within Chapter 10 (Accessibility). Further guidance on Chapter 10 can be 

found in the Coventry Connected SPD 

Page 162

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


hot food takeaways can play in the local economy. 

 
When a hot food takeaway application meets the majority of requirements in this document and 

the policies within the Local Plan, but might only meet all of the requirements if a limitation on 

the opening hours is imposed, a condition of restricting the opening hours will be considered. 

 
Opening times will be considered on a case by case basis. When considering if an application 

might be approved with conditions on the opening hours, regard will be had to: 

 

 The existence of an established late night economy in the area 

 The character and function of the immediate area 

 The potential benefits of the proposal for the wider community 

 The impact of opening hours and the resulting effect of noise, crime, antisocial 

behavior, vibration and odours on neighbouring uses 

 The impact on highway safety 

 The impact on the health and wellbeing of pupils, students and their families attending 

local schools, colleges and academies 

 
In these cases, the application may be approved with conditions specifying the opening hours, 

benefitting the local economy, yet minimising any negative impact on local residents and 

visitors to the area. 

 

In order to protect the amenities of nearby residents by promoting a safe and secure 
environment which deters anti-social behaviour, crime and reduces the fear of crime, 
proposals for hot food takeaways should provide evidence that crime and security matters 
have been taken into consideration and appropriately addressed. Advice can be sought from 
the West Midlands Police at the pre-application and planning application stages. Where 
appropriate, mitigation measures may be sought (as conditions), such as installation of lighting 
or CCTV. 

 
Where a proposal is considered to have an unacceptable impact on safety in the area, the 
Council may request extra evidence, amendments or conditions to the application on behalf of 
the West Midlands Police. Failure to comply with this may ultimately result in a refusal of 
planning permission. 
  

 
 

4.7 Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings 
 
As with all planning applications, the applicant will also need to ensure that listed building 

consent and planning requirements in a conservation area are considered. More information can 

be found under the Conservation and Archaeology section of the Local Plan7 and the “Design 

guidance on shop fronts for conservation areas and historic buildings”8. 

 

                                                
7 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 

8 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 
 

Page 163

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


This includes the aesthetics of the extraction unit and flue (see section 4.4) and bin storage 

(see section 4.3) 

 
5 Other Considerations and Legislation affecting Hot Food Takeaways 

 

It is recommended that applicants also consider other areas that are not covered by planning 

policy, but whose regulations and requirements could still affect a hot food takeaway. These 

include, but are not limited to: 

 
a. Licensing 

If the hot food takeaway wishes to sell hot food and/or hot drink to the general public 

between the hours of 11p.m. and 5 a.m. then the hot food takeaway must apply to the 

Council for a Premises License. Application forms and details of the application fees 

and the annual charges can be found on the Councils website9. 

 
All applications for licenses and decisions made by the Council when considering 

applications must promote the four licensing objectives; 

 The prevention of crime and disorder

 Public safety

 The prevention of public nuisance

 The protection of children from harm.

When considering applications for licenses, the Council will also have regard to its 

Licensing Policy10. 

For further information please contact the Licensing Team on 

licensing@coventry.gov.uk or 024 76831888. 

 

b. Food Safety 

The proprietor of any hot food takeaway must register the premises as a food business 

with the Council’s food safety team at least 28 days before the premises opens for 

business. 

 
More information is available on the Councils website11. It is strongly advised that the 

applicant should contact the food safety team prior to the application for planning 

permission (ehcommercial@coventry.gov.uk). Food safety officers can provide detailed 

advice on the current requirements of food hygiene and health and safety legislation. 

Advice provided before any application is submitted can help ensure that all necessary 

requirements are met prior to the commencement of the business. 

 
The food safety team can be contacted on 08085 834333. 

 

                                                
9 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 

 
10 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 

 
11  http://www.coventry.gov.uk 

Page 164

mailto:licensing@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:ehcommercial@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


 
c. Building Control 

 

The applicant will need to comply with any relevant building regulations. More 

information can be found on the councils website12 or by contacting the Building Control 

team on 024 76 832057. 

 
 

d. Litter and Waste Disposal 

Further information on how to reduce litter (and therefore the impact of litter) caused by 

hot food takeaways can be found at “Reducing litter caused by ‘food on the go’ – A 

Voluntary Code of Practice for Local Partnerships” by DEFRA13. 

 
The applicant needs to consider their duty of care to dispose of waste lawfully under 

the Environmental Protection Act, for example all waste generated must be removed by 

an authorised waste contractor and providing an accurate description of waste (through 

the use of an appropriate transfer note). Further information on this can be found on the 

Waste Duty of Care Code of Practice produced by DEFRA in March 201614. 

 
Consideration should also be had to relevant acts, such as the following (non-

exhaustive) list: 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 Section 34

 Environmental Protection (Duty of Care) Regulations 1991 Regulation 4

 The Waste [England and Wales] Regulations 2011 Section 35

Other considerations for litter and waste disposal include, but are not limited to: 

 Commercial paper and cardboard waste is not allowed to be burnt

 Used cooking oil must not be poured down the drains

If you would like further advice regarding fulfilling your Duty of Care obligations please 

contact the Environmental Advice Section on 024 7683 2155. Alternatively you can 

contact the Commercial Waste Section to arrange for a waste management contract 

(wastesolutions@coventry.gov.uk, telephone 024 7683 2255). 

                                                
12 http://www.coventry.gov.uk 

 
13 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-litter-caused-by-food-on-the-go-a-voluntary-
code-of- practice-for-local-partnerships 

 
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-duty-of-care-code-of-practice 

 

Page 165

mailto:wastesolutions@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-litter-caused-by-food-on-the-go-a-voluntary-code-of-practice-for-local-partnerships
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-litter-caused-by-food-on-the-go-a-voluntary-code-of-practice-for-local-partnerships
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-litter-caused-by-food-on-the-go-a-voluntary-code-of-practice-for-local-partnerships
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-duty-of-care-code-of-practice


Appendices 

 

Appendix A: Supporting information and evidence base to Hot Food Takeaway 

Supplementary Planning  

 

This is an evidence base focusing on the harms of excess weight and the relationship between 
hot food takeaways within close proximity of schools and levels of obesity. It provides the evidence 
to support the requirement shown in section 4.2 in the Hot Food Takeaways Supplementary 
Planning Document (HFT SPD) with regard to planning applications for hot food takeaways. This 
appendix covers the impacts of obesity, particularly childhood obesity, and the current situation 
(locally, regionally and nationally). It also covers information around the concentration of hot food 
takeaways in different areas. This information has been used to inform requirement 4.1 – 
concentration of hot food takeaways. 

1.1 Excess weight (defined as weight that is in excess of the ideal body weight) and obesity 
are associated with a myriad of health problems. These include heart disease1, stroke, high blood 
pressure, diabetes and arthritis. For example, 90% of adults with type 2 diabetes are estimated 
to be overweight or obese2. Obesity has also been associated with a higher risk of cancer3. The 
consequences of obesity and excess weight cost the NHS £6 billion annually.4 The annual spend 
on the treatment of obesity and diabetes is greater than the amount spent on the police, the fire 
service and the judicial system combined.5 
 
 
Obesity has numerous other drawbacks aside from health, including employee absenteeism from 
work6 and social exclusion7. Childhood obesity is a major issue facing the UK. It is particularly 
important due to the adverse implications that childhood obesity has on the economy and society 
over the long-term, as well as detrimental health outcomes and quality of life for those affected. 
 
Increased obesity from a younger age contributes to a negative impact on the ability of children 
to live a healthier lifestyle.8 Obese children are more likely to be ill, be absent from school due to 
illness, experience health-related limitations and require more GP appointments than normal 
weight children9. As children constitute the future workforce of an economy, this is also associated 
with a reduction in employee productivity10 and increased spending on health care over the 

                                                           
1 Yudkin, J. S., Kumari, M., Humphries, S. E., & Mohamed-Ali, V. (2000). Inflammation, obesity, stress and coronary heart disease: 
is interleukin-6 the link?. Atherosclerosis, 148(2), 209-214. 
2  Coventry Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
3 Wolk, A., Gridley, G., Svensson, M., Nyren, O., McLaughlin, J.K., Fraumeni, J.F., Adam, H.O. (2001). A prospective study of 
obesity and cancer risk 
4 Rudolph, Tackling obesity through the healthy child programme: a framework for action 
5 Health matters: obesity and the food environment (PHE 31/03/2017) 
6 Finkelstein, N., Hanson T., Huang, C.W., Hirschman, B., and Huang, M. (2010) Effects of problem based economics on high 
school economics instruction. 
7 Westermann, S., Rief, W., Euteneuer, F., & Kohlmann, S. (2015). Social exclusion and shame in obesity. Eating behaviors, 17, 74-
76. 
8 Janssen, H. G., Davies, I. G., Richardson, L. D., & Stevenson, L. (2017). Determinants of takeaway and fast food consumption: a 
narrative review. Nutrition research reviews, 1-19. 
9 Wijga A, Scholtens S, Bemelmans W, de Jongste J, Kerkhof M, Schipper M, et al. Comorbidities of obesity in school children: a 
cross-sectional study in the PIAMA birth cohort. BMC Public Health 2010;10(1):184. 5 Abbasi A, Juszczyk D, van Jaarsveld CHM, 
Gulliford MC. Body mass index and incident type 1 and type 
10 Cawley, J. (2010). The economics of childhood obesity. Health affairs, 29(3), 364-371. 

Page 166



lifetime11. This clearly illustrates the importance and relevance of the topic of addressing 
childhood obesity in the UK, if the UK economy and society is to make the most of the available 
human resources.  

 

Obesity continues to be an important health issue globally. Even though the precise causes 
contributing to obesity are various, including cultural, environmental and biological factors; one 
such cause is the heightened consumption of food12.  

1.2 Obesity amongst children in the UK is on the increase 13 and in 2016/17, 22.9% of children 
in reception class (aged 4 to 5) in Coventry have excess weight (including those who are obese), 
which is lower than regional levels of 24.2 %, but higher than the national level of 22.6% By year 
6, these proportions have increased, with 38.2% of children having excess weight (including being 
obese) for 2016-17 (which is higher in comparison to both 37.1% regionally and to 34.2% 
nationally).14 See figures 1 and 2. If trends continue, it is estimated that 1 in 3 people will be obese 
and 1 in 10 will develop type 2 diabetes by 2034.15 
 
Figure 1 - Reception: Prevalence of overweight (including those who are obese) 
 

 
 
 

                                                           
11 Maher, J., Fraser, S., & Wright, J. (2010). Framing the mother: childhood obesity, maternal responsibility and care. Journal of 
Gender Studies, 19(3), 233-247. 
 
12 Obesities: Future Choices – Project Report. 2nd Edition (Government Office for Science) 
13 https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/oct/19/obesity-primary-school-reception-children-nhs-digital-figures 
14 Coventry Join Strategic Needs Assessment  
15 Public Health England: Public health matters: Preventing Type 2 diabetes (Jennifer Smith, 24/05/2018) 

Page 167

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/oct/19/obesity-primary-school-reception-children-nhs-digital-figures


Figure 2 – Year 6: Prevalence of overweight (including those who are obese) 

 
 
 
 
 
Being overweight or obese in early life increases the risk of adult obesity, along with a higher risk 
of premature mortality in adulthood, see figure 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



 
Figure 3: How the provenance of obesity changes over time 
 

 
 
 
Data from 2015 – 2016 indicate that in Coventry, 64% of adults in the city have excess weight 
(higher than the regional average which stands at 63.9% and the national average at 61.3%) and 
the prevalence of excess weight and obesity is known to be rising overall. 
 
1.3 A number of studies and mapping exercises suggest that there is a greater number of hot 
food takeaways and obesity in deprived areas 16  17 18 19 and that takeaways are likely to be 
contributing to inequalities in childhood obesity20. There is a clear deprivation-related inequality 
within Coventry, with proportions of obesity ranging from 17% in Wainbody to 30% in Longford.21 
This shows that it is in Coventry’s most deprived areas that obesity levels are at their highest and 
therefore reducing obesity levels will help reduce health inequalities in Coventry, supporting the 
principles behind Coventry being a Marmot City. 
 
Men in the most affluent areas of the city will live, on average, 9.4 years longer than men in the 
most deprived areas, while for women the difference is 8.7 years. These inequalities in life 
expectancy and health arise out of inequalities in society - they are not inevitable - and there are 
ethical, social and economic reasons why they should be prevented. As well as improving health 
outcomes, reducing inequality in society has been shown to lead to improvements in wellbeing, 

                                                           
16 Strategies for Encouraging Healthier ‘Out of Home’ Food Provision. A toolkit for local councils working with small food 
businesses. Local Government Association 
17 Turbutt, C. Richardson, J. and Pettinger, C. (2018). The impact of hot food takeaways near schools in the UK on childhood 
obesity: a systematic review of the evidence. Journal of Public Health.  
18  Obesity and the environment. Density of fast food outlets. Public Health England  
19 Strategies for Encouraging Healthier ‘Out of Home’ Food Provision. A toolkit for local councils working with small food 
businesses. Local Government Association 
20 House of Commons Health Committee – Childhood obesity: Time for action. Eighth Report of Session 2017 - 19 
21 Coventry Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Page 169



better mental health, better community and social relations, reduced levels of violence and better 
educational attainment.  
 
Tackling the causes of health inequalities cannot be done through health services alone. The 
transfer of public health services to local authorities provided Coventry with an opportunity to 
continue to broaden the ownership of the health inequalities agenda.  
 
Coventry is committed to delivering rapid change in health inequalities and was one of seven 
cities in the UK invited to participate in the UK Marmot Network and became a Marmot City. Being 
a Marmot City has brought together partners from different parts of Coventry City Council and 
from other public sector and voluntary organisations, whose decisions and activities have an 
impact on health.  
 
The Marmot principles, from the Marmot Review, Fair Society, Healthy Lives which aim to reduce 
inequality and improve health outcomes for all have been embedded into the core functions of 
the council and its partners. Improving health and reducing inequalities in Coventry is not only a 
priority for the NHS and public health - it is a priority for everyone who is working to improve the 
lives of people in the city. A policy recommendation from the Marmot Review is to improve the 
food environment in local areas across the social gradient. 
 
1.4 According to the National Diet and Nutrition survey, just over 1 in 5 children eat a takeaway 
meal at home at least once a week. This may under-estimate total takeaway food consumption 
by children, as it does not include takeaway food consumed outside the home.22 
 
The majority of hot food takeaways offer food which is energy dense and nutritionally poor. Out 

of home meals generally contain significantly higher intakes of sugar, fat, salt and portion sizes 

tend to be bigger, as well as usually being cheap and easily available23. Current daily guidelines 

for adults in the UK are that men should consume approximately 2500 kcal per day and women 

approximately 2000 kcal per day. Of this total daily energy intake, not more than 11% (30 g for 

men and 20 g for women) should be from saturated fat. Adults should reduce their daily intake to 

less than 6 g of salt per day (SACN). Sampling by Liverpool John Moores University has identified 

that a single portion of fish and chips can contain between 1076 and 2476 calories and up to 66g 

of saturated fat and 9.3g of salt, and that a portion of special fried rice contains between 870 and 

1942 calories and up to 23g of saturated fat and 14.4g of salt. 

Research suggests that at least 25% of calories are now consumed outside the home and that 

over the past decade consumption of food away from the home has increased dramatically by 

29%, a trend driven by a proliferation of hot food takeaways. Research indicates these social and 

environmental trends could be contributing to rising levels of overweight and obesity in the UK. 24 

We live in an obesogenic environment, where the less healthy choices are the default (which can 

lead to excess weight gain and obesity).  

The increased focus of academics and researchers on obesity has contributed to emergence of 
a new area of research which explores the relationship between obesity and food environment 
and the importance of addressing this.  

                                                           
22 House of Commons Health Committee – Childhood obesity: Time for action. Eighth Report of Session 2017 - 19 
23 Health matters: Obesity and the food environment (31st March 2017). Public Health England 
24 Health matters: Obesity and the food environment (31st March 2017). Public Health England 

Page 170



1.5 Studies have shown that people exposed to the highest number of takeaways are 80 per 
cent more likely to be obese and 20 per cent more likely to have a higher Body Mass Index than 
those with the lowest number of encounters.25 Coventry has 1.04 takeaways per 1,000 population 
(compared to a West Midlands average of 1.12 and an England average of 1.09), as shown in 
figure 5. 
 
 
Figure 5: Concentration of hot food takeaways26 

 Takeaway numbers per 1000 population Increase in number of takeaways 
from June 2014 to December 
2017 

 June 
2014 

June 
2015 

June 
2016 

June 
2017 

Dec 
2017 

West 
Midlands 

0.98 1.00 0.95 1.09 1.12 13.62% 

Coventry 0.90 0.91 0.98 0.99 1.04 15.03% 

England 0.99 1.00 1.06 1.08 1.09  10.32% 

 
Although the average number of hot food takeaways in Coventry is currently slightly lower than 
the regional and national average, the rate of increase is higher. Without any limitations on new 
hot food takeaway applications you would therefore expect Coventry to have a greater number of 
takeaways per 1000 population in the future, supporting requirement 4.1 to limit over 
concentration of hot food takeaways “In areas that have become over concentrated by hot food 
takeaways, further hot food takeaway applications will not be permitted”. Coventry’s HFT SPD 
goes on to say “An area will be classed as over-concentrated with hot food takeaways if the 
proposed address falls into a LSOA where the number of takeaways per one thousand population 
exceeds the average for England as per the most up to date data on the FEAT tool 
(http://www.feat-tool.org.uk/map/).” Currently the average number of takeaways per one 
thousand population in England is 1.09 per 1000 population. 27 

 
These threshold’s show compatibility with other Planning Policies in Coventry regarding over 
concentration of hot food takeaways. For example, the City Centre Area Action Plan states in 
Policy CC15 “Far Gosford Street will be regarded as a local centre meaning proposals for local 
shopping provisions will be supported. This will however exclude the provision of any further hot 
food takeaways (use class A5), which will not be permitted.” Currently, there are 6.86 takeaways 
per 1000 population in the LSOA that Far Gosford Street is in. This would breach the national 
average for concentration of takeaways in a LSOA (currently 1.09 per 1000 population). 
 
An example where the threshold requirement 4.1 (Concentration of Hot Food Takeaways) would 
be met would be an application for a hot food take away on the Major District Centre of Brandon 
Road as the number of takeaways per 1000 population in this LSOA is only 0.57, less than the 
England average. 
 
 

                                                           
25 Burgoine, T., Forouhi, N.G., Griffin, S.J., Wareham, N.J. & Monsivais, P. (2014), ‘Associations between exposure to takeaway 
food outlets, takeaway food consumption, and body weight in Cambridgeshire, UK: population based, cross sectional study’, 
BMJ 2014, 348: g1464 
26 Food environment assessment tool (Feat) insert year, UKCRC Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR), University of 
Cambridge, http://www.feat-tool.org.uk. Leaflet | Map data © OpenStreetMap | © Crown Copyright and Database Right insert 
year. OS (100059028) | Copyright and database right © 2017 CEDAR/MRC Epidemiology Unit. All rights reserved. 
27 Food environment assessment tool (Feat) insert year, UKCRC Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR), University of 
Cambridge, http://www.feat-tool.org.uk. Leaflet | Map data © OpenStreetMap | © Crown Copyright and Database Right insert 

Page 171

http://www.feat-tool.org.uk/map/


Figure 6: Number of Takeaways per 1000 population for defined centres in Coventry 28 
 

Defined Centre (as per 
Policy Map) 

Number of Takeaways per 1000 
population (in the corresponding LSOA).*  

  

City Centre 17.35   

Major District Centre 

Arena Park 2.29 and 2.41   

Cannon Park 1.12   

Brandon Road 0.57   

Eastern Green 0   

District Centres 

Ball Hill 2.82, 3.37 and 4.93    

Bell Green 0 and 2.68   

Brade Drive 0, 0.62 and 2.81   

Daventry Road 0, 0.62, 1.88 and  2.16   

Earlsdon 0.67 and 3.29   

Foleshill 0.56, 2.77, 3.80 and 7.07   

Jardine Crescent 0 and 2.08   

Jubilee Crescent 0 and 4.30   

Local Centres 

Acorn Street 0   

Ansty Road 0, 1.20 and 1.30   

Baginton Road 0.60   

Bannerbrook 0.39   

Barker Butts Lane 0, 1.71 and 2.26   

Binley Road 2.36 and 3.37   

Birmingham Road 0   

Broad Park Road 0 and 0.64   

Charter Avenue 0.77   

Far Gosford Street 6.86   

Green Lane 0.60   

Hillfields 6.65   

Holbrook Lane 0, 1.21 and 2.80   

Holyhead Road 4.67   

Keresley North 0   

Keresley Road 0.62   

Keresley South 0   

Longford 0.51 and 3.21   

Quorn Way 0.67   

Radford Road 0 and 2.56   

Station Avenue 1.52   

Sutton Avenue 1.38   

Walsgrave Road 0.69 and 3.21   

Willenhall 0.52 and 0.64   

Winsford Avenue 2.80   

    

                                                           
28  

Page 172



*Where there is more than 1 figure, this indicates that the centre falls into more than 1 LSOA. Whether or not 

the proposed takeaway will be deemed to meet the required threshold will depend on the exact address within the 

centre and the number of takeaways per 1000 population for the corresponding LSOA 

Number of Takeaways per 1,000 population: 29 

 
 
Number of takeaways per 1,000 population: 

 

                                                           
29 Food environment assessment tool (Feat) insert year, UKCRC Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR), University of 

Cambridge, http://www.feat-tool.org.uk. Leaflet | Map data © OpenStreetMap | © Crown Copyright and Database Right insert 
year. OS (100059028) | Copyright and database right © 2017 CEDAR/MRC Epidemiology Unit. All rights reserved. 

Page 173



 
 
1.6 Research and reports into the impact of hot food takeaways near schools is an area that 

continues to expand30. Research has indicated that children attending schools near fast food 

outlets are more likely to be obese than those whose schools are more inaccessible to such 

outlets31. Further to this, research found that “More frequent takeaway meal consumption in 

children was associated with unhealthy dietary nutrient intake patterns and potentially with 

adverse longer term consequences for obesity and coronary heart disease risk32.” Researchers 

have also successfully identified the link between the hot food takeaway presence within the 400m 

of schools and childhood obesity33  34. Hot food takeaways within easy walking distance of schools 

can provide an attractive and affordable food option for pupils. 

In addition to this a study by Davis and Carpenter35 found that students with fast food restaurant’s 

near their schools consumed fewer servings of fruit and vegetables, consumed more servings of 

soda, and were more likely to be overweight. The study concluded that exposure to poor quality 

food environments has important effects on adolescent eating patterns and weight issues, and 

that ‘policy interventions limiting the proximity of fast food restaurants to schools could help reduce 

adolescent obesity’.  

Studies show that food outlets in close proximity to, and surrounding schools were an obstacle to 
secondary school children eating healthily. Some schools might have a stay-on-site policy during 
lunch hours, which supports research that has indicated that the most popular time for purchasing 
food from shops is after school36. Research on the impact of local food environment round schools 
and its impact on diet, with a specific focus on primary and secondary schools in East London, 
concluded that the close proximity of hot food takeaway not only influences the obesity of the 
secondary school students but also the primary school students37. This is because although 

primary school children are not allowed to leave by themselves, the lack of awareness amongst 
parents regarding child healthcare and obesity means parents are likely to walk the children to 
the takeaway. Significant health problems related to obesity start to develop at primary school 
age and behavior established in early life has been shown to track into adulthood38. As there is a 

positive relationship between hot food takeaways in close proximity of the school not only in 
secondary schools, but also primary schools, this HFT SPD specifies schools covering the age 

                                                           
30 Local Government Association (2016) Tipping the scales: Case studies on the use of planning powers to limit hot food 
takeaways. 
31 Engler-Stringer, R., Ha, L., Gerrard, A. and Muhajarine, N. (2014). The community and consumer food environment and 
children’s diet: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 14 (522) 
32 Donin, A., Nightingale, C., Owen, C., Rudnicka, A., Cook, D. and Whincup, P. (2017). Takeaway meal consumption and risk 
markers for coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes and obesity in children aged 9-10 years: a cross-sectional study. Archives of 
Disease in Childhood. 
33 Fraser, L. K., Edwards, K. L., Cade, J., & Clarke, G. P. (2010). The geography of fast food outlets: a review. International journal 
of environmental research and public health, 7(5), 2290-2308. 
34 Barrett, M., Crozier, S., Lewis, D., Godfrey, K., Robinson, S., Cooper, C., ... & Vogel, C. (2017). Greater access to healthy food 
outlets in the home and school environment is associated with better dietary quality in young children. Public health 
nutrition, 20(18), 3316-3325. 
35 Davis B, Carpenter  C (2009)’ Proximity of fast-food restaurants to schools and adolescent obesity’ American Journal of Public 
Health Vol 99, No. 3 505-510 
36 Sinclair, S. and Winkler, J. (2009). The School Fringe: from Research to Action. Policy Options within Schools on the Fringe. 
Nutrition Policy Unit, London Metropolitan University 
37 Smith, D., Cummins, S., Clark, C., & Stansfeld, S. (2013). Does the local food environment around schools affect diet? 
Longitudinal associations in adolescents attending secondary schools in East London. BMC public health, 13(1), 70. 
38 Craigie, A. M., A. A. Lake, et al. (2011). "Tracking of obesity-related behaviours from childhood to adulthood: A systematic 
review." Maturitas 70(3): 266-284 

Page 174



range for both primary and secondary schools (including special schools, pupil referral units, sixth 
form colleges and academies) for the requirement in 4.2. 
 
Another publication reviewed the way in which Planning adds value to obesity prevention 
programmes. The paper remarked that the planning profession has been stated as an important 
department that can assist in tackling obesity amongst other health care issues facing the UK 
society39. This HFT SPD is one such example. This was supported by Lowe et al in 201540 when 
their analysis showed the importance of tackling obesity in general and particularly how critical 
the role of the planning authority was. 

 
1.7 To identify an appropriate set of requirements for hot food takeaway applications, 
Coventry have also reviewed and taken into account approaches by other local authorities in 
tackling obesity. Appendix C shows a list of relevant planning policy and guidance from other local 
authorities. This includes the relatively common policy of having a 400m exclusion zone around 
schools for new hot food takeaway applications. The focus on the 400m circumference rule used 
by many local authorities who have adopted similar policies is that this distance is approximately 
equivalent to the 10 minute walking duration (five minutes in each direction)41. The 400m distance 
and the resultant 10 minute walking duration leaves sufficient time for pupils to leave school, 
purchase the hot food and subsequently return for the afternoon lessons. 
 
The rationale underlying the map in Appendix B showing the exclusion zones in close proximity 
to primary and secondary schools (including special schools, pupil referral units, sixth form 
colleges and academies) in Coventry follows the same principle. There is acknowledgement that 
a 400m circumference as the crow flies (used by some local authorities) may have different 
walking times dependent on the street geography of the area. The exclusion zones in appendix 
B are based on a 5 minute walk from the entrances of a school, created using RouteFinder 42, 
and therefore include consideration of the street geography and create a more accurate indication 
of a 5 minute walk from the school gates. This will guide those involved in submitting hot food 
takeaway applications and those involved in the determination of these applications. Additionally, 
using this approach will contribute towards avoiding legal challenge when enforcing the 
requirement in the SPD. For example a planning appeal in Barking and Dagenham was allowed 
as the Inspector considered that 400m would equate to a 5 minute walk as the crow flies and that 
taking into account site specific factors the actual journey time from the nearest school would take 
longer than 5 minutes. As a result, the inspector considered it unlikely that the proposed takeaway 
would therefore attract customer from pupils of the school 43. 
 
A 10 minute walk was considered as there is some evidence to show that it is this greater distance 
that can impact on the consumption of food from hot food takeaways by pupils44, but this evidence 

                                                           
39 Goodwin, D. M., Mapp, F., Sautkina, E., Jones, A., Ogilvie, D., White, M., ... & Cummins, S. (2014). How can planning add value 
to obesity prevention programmes? A qualitative study of planning and planners in the Healthy Towns programme in 
England. Health & place, 30, 120-126. 
40 Lowe, M., Whitzman, C., Badland, H., Davern, M., Aye, L., Hes, D., ... & Giles-Corti, B. (2015). Planning healthy, liveable and 
sustainable cities: how can indicators inform policy?Urban Policy and Research, 33(2), 131-144. 
41 Healthy People, healthy places briefing: Obesity and the Environment: regulating the growth of fast food outlets 
(March 2014) 
42 http://www.routeware.dk/routefinder5/routefinder.php 
43 122 Fanshawe Avenue, Barking, appeal allowed for a change of use from A2 to A5 takeaway (ref: APP/Z5060/A/11/2167225 
44 Hot-food takeaways near schools; An impact study on takeaways near secondary schools in Brighton and Hove (September 
2011) 

Page 175

http://www.routeware.dk/routefinder5/routefinder.php


is currently limited and therefore Coventry will be using the more robust and evidenced 5 minute 
walk approach. 
  
1.8 To summarise, the above information shows that obesity, and the long term consequences 
of obesity, is a growing problem with a significant burden on health and society. In addition, our 
food choices also directly cause and exacerbate other health risks un-related to obesity – such 
as the impact of trans-fat use on cardiovascular risk; and impact of salt in food on the risks from 
high blood pressure. 
 
This appendix also shows that obesity is influenced by many factors, and hot food takeaways are 
just one of those factors. For this reason, the requirement shown in section 4.2 with regard to 
planning applications for hot food takeaways within a 5 minute walk of a primary or secondary 
school (including special schools, pupil referral units, sixth form colleges and academies) is not 
seen as the sole solution to reducing childhood obesity in Coventry. Coventry City Council and its 
partners are taking a broader approach to tackling childhood obesity, which the requirements in 
the HFT SPD can contribute to. More information on this whole systems, holistic approach 
(including working with schools, healthy eating campaigns and community cooking skills) can be 
found at Director of Public Health Annual Report 16/17 ‘Shape-Up’. 
 
1.9 In addition to the other Local Authorities listed in Appendix C that have already 
implemented similar policy(ies) and requirements, there is a whole host of organisations (locally 
and nationally) making recommendations for Local Authorities to implement similar planning 
policy and requirements. These include: 
 
Garden City Standards – Practical Guides for Creating Successful New Communities. 
Guide 8 (Creating health-promoting environments) 
 This guide was launched in December 2017 by the Town and Country Planning 
Association, It includes guidelines for local authority policies to avoid over-concentration of hot-
food takeaways and to restrict their proximity to schools, town centres or other facilities aimed at 
children, young people and families.  
 
Healthy Lives, healthy people – our strategy for Public Health in England. 
 This government publication explicitly recognises that “health considerations are an 
important part of planning policy” 
 
Healthy Urban Design Unit – Using the planning system to control hot food takeaways, A good 
practice guide 
 Recommends a range of policies or criteria to be used together, including to address: 

 A concentration and clustering of hot food takeaways in town or local 
centres 

 Hot food takeaways in close proximity to schools 

 Restaurant providing a takeaway service 

 Hot food takeaways in new developments 

 Residential amenity, such as noise and odour 
 
Healthy Weight, Healthy Lives: A Cross-Government Strategy for England (2008) 
 In this strategy, the Secretary of State for Health proposed strategy that planning powers 
should be used to manage the proliferation of fast food outlets, particularly in proximity to parks, 
showing how long the concept of using planning controls in this way has been considered  
 

Page 176



Local Government Association (2014) – Tipping the scales 
There are several key messages in this document, including use of planning powers as part of a 
community healthy weight strategy and it also emphasises that planning decisions need to refer 
to health issues where relevant. 
 
 
The Marmot Review, Fair Society Healthy Lives 
 This includes a policy recommendation to improve the food environment in local areas 
across the social gradient. 
 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 This shows the responsibility that local planning authorities have to promote healthy 
communities. The NPPG states: 

 “local planning authorities should ensure that health and wellbeing, and health 
infrastructure are considered in local and neighbourhood plans and in planning decision 
making” 
 

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) - Prevention of cardiovascular 
disease at population level PH25 (June 2010) and Preventing Type 2 disease – population and 
community interventions PH35 (May 2011) 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 Identifies that the planning system can play an important role in creating healthy, inclusive 
communities (paragraph 69) 
This further encourages the consideration of health in planning decisions, stating: 

 Local planning authorities should “work with public health leads and organisations to 
understand and take account of the health status and needs of the local 
population…including expected changes, and any information about relevant barriers to 
improving health and wellbeing” 

 And that planning policies and decision should take account of and support local strategies 
to improve health and wellbeing for all (para 17) 
 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 
 This identifies a range of issues that could be considered through the plan-making and 
decision-making processes, including promoting access to healthier food. The NPPG states that 
particular regard should be given to bringing forward supplementary planning documents that 

 Limit the proliferation of certain use classes in identified areas 
Local planning authorities and planning applicants could have particular regard to the following 
issues: 

 Proximity to locations where children and young people congregate such as schools 

 Evidence indicating high levels of obesity, deprivation and general poor health in specific 
locations 

 Over-concentration and clustering of certain use classes within a specified area 

 Odour and noise impact 

 Traffic impact 

 Refuse and litter 
 
 

Page 177



Obesity and the environment: regulating the growth of fast food outlets (Public Health 
England, Chartered Institute of Environmental Health and Local Government Association) 

This acknowledges that the majority of Local Authorities with a policy in place regarding 
new hot food takeaway applications and proximity to schools use a distance of 400m (taken to be 
approx. 5 min walk), however at least one Local Authority found the ground covered by pupils 
was actually a 800m radius during lunchtime and have used this. 
 
Obesity and the food environment (Public Health England, 2017) 
 This document also discusses using planning policies to tackle obesity, ensuring 
development avoids over-concentration of hot food takeaways in existing town centres or high 
streets, and restricts their proximity to schools or other facilities for children and young people 
and families. 
 
Planning healthy weight environments - a TCPA reuniting health with planning project 
(December 2014) 
 This guidance identifies themes and elements of a healthy-weight environment. Amongst 
others, this includes the food retail theme, with specific elements including that the development 
should avoid “overconcentration of hot-food takeaways (A5 uses) in existing town centre or high 
streets, and restrict their proximity to schools or other facilities for children and young people and 
families” 
 
Shape Up Coventry – The urgency of promoting healthy weight among children and young 
people 
 The Director of Public Health Annual Report for 2016 focuses on childhood obesity, one 
of the most pressing public health concerns and ensuring that the next generation stays a healthy 
weight. It covers more detail around the negative influence of food outlets on childhood obesity 
and recognises the fact that adolescents at schools with nearby food outlets tend to be heavier. 
 This report summarises an approach which encompasses all the factors that affect how 
much people eat, what they eat and how much physical activity they do to ensure a whole systems 
approach to tackling childhood obesity. 
 
 

Appendix B 

 

This map showing the 5 minute walk around a school in this appendices document is for 

illustration purposes only and is not to be used to identify whether or not a proposed hot food 

takeaway falls within this exclusion zone. To identify the location of a proposed hot food takeaway 

in relation to these 5 minute walk zones, a larger scale, interactive map can be accessed at 

www.coventry.gov.uk.  

 

Walking speeds can vary greatly depending on many factors such as height, weight, age, 

terrain, surface, load, effort and fitness. The average human walking speed is about 5.0 km per 

hour (3.1 miles per hour). Specific studies have found pedestrian walking speeds ranging from 

4.51 km per hour (2.80 mph) to 4.75 km per hour (29.95 mph) for older individuals and from 

5.32 km per hour (3.31 mph) to 5.43 km per hour (3.37 mph) for younger individuals and a brisk 

walking speed can be around 6.5 km per hour (4.0mph)45 46 47. With this in mind, and to 

                                                           
45 Study Compares Older and Younger Pedestrian Walking Speeds. TranSafety, Inc. 1997 – 10 -01 
46 Aspelin, karen (2005-05-25).Establishing Pedestrian Walking Speeds. Portland State University 
47 About/com page on walking speeds 

Page 178

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


encompass the variety in age of the pupils, students and families that this requirement is aimed 

at, this map has been created using the overall average walking speed of 5.0 km per hour (3.1 

miles per hour). 

Primary and secondary school locations (including for special schools, pupil referral units, sixth 

form colleges and academies) may change over time, sometimes with new ones opening or an 

existing one relocating or expanding. In these cases the new location of the gate will automatically 

have an exclusion zone as per the HFT SPD. Where an existing school closes without a 

replacement at the same site, the exclusion zone will not apply. 

 

 
*Any school and/or surrounding 5 minute walk zone falling outside of the Coventry Local Authority area (shown in the black border) is 

shown for illustrative purposes only. 
 

 

Appendix C – Other Local Authorities 

 
A number of local authorities have produced planning policies and requirements relating to hot 
food takeaways and their scope in terms of proximity to schools, concentration, clustering and 
opening hours. Their scope in these areas has been summarised in brief below. Many local 
authorities also have policies and requirements around odours, litter and waste product, anti-
social behavior, noise, crime and highway safety, which have not been included on the below 
table. 
 

Page 179



Some of the below are still going through the adoption process, however the majority have been 
successfully adopted by the relevant local authority. 
 

Page 180



 

Local Authority  Restrictions on concentration and clustering of hot 
food takeaways 
 

Restrictions on proximity to 
schools 

Restrictions on 
opening hours 

Barking & 
Dagenham 

5% limit on A5 units and/or frontage. 
No more than two adjoining frontages to be A5; at least 
two non-A5s between groups of A5. 

400m around primary and 
secondary schools (measured from 
the school boundary) 

 

Barnsley No more than two A5 units are located adjacent to each 
other; no less than two non-A5 units between groups of 
A5 units 

400m around primary and 
secondary schools or Advanced 
Learning Centre 

 

Birmingham No more than 10% of units within the centre or frontage to 
be A5  

  

Bolton  Applications within 400m of a 
secondary school may be refused 

 

Bradford  Outside district centres, 
applications for hot food takeaways 
will not be allowed within 400m of 
the boundary of an existing primary 
or secondary school, youth centred 
facility , recreation ground or park 
boundary 

If the application is 
granted, opening 
hours will be given as 
a condition dependent 
on a variety of factors. 

Brent Applications will be refused if they will result in: 
More than 6% of the units within a town centre frontage in 
A5 uses. 
More than 1 unit or 15% of the units within a 
neighbourhood parade, whichever is the greater, in A5 
use. 
less than two non-A5 units between takeaways 

An A5 application will not be 
approved if it is within 400 metres 
of a secondary school or further 
education establishment entrance/ 
exit point 

 

Bristol  Limiting A5 applications within 
close proximity (up to 400m) of a 
school 

 

Bromley Proposal should not result in an over concentration of food 
and drink establishments 

 The opening hours 
must not cause any 
harm, or loss of 
amenity to nearby 
residents 

Central 
Lancashire  

Applications must not result in an over concentration in 
the centre 

400m or primary or secondary, 
special school or sixth form college 
will not be approved 

 

P
age 181



Dudley No more than 5% of the frontage to be A5 uses 
No more than two A5 uses will be permitted adjacent to 
one another 

400m of an existing primary and 
secondary school or other youth 
centre facility will not be approved 

 

Gateshead Permission will not be granted where the number of 
approved A5 establishments, within the ward, equals or 
exceeds the UK national average, per 1000 population 
No clustering of A5 uses to the detriment of the character 
and function or vitality and viability of a centre or local 
parade or if it would have an adverse impact on the 
standard amenity for existing and future occupants. 
Two consecutive A5 uses in any one length of frontage 
not permitted (Where A5 uses already exist, a gap of at 
least two non A5 uses is required before a further A5 use 
is permitted in the same length of frontage) 

Applications will not be approved in 
a 400m radius of entry points to 
secondary schools, youth centres, 
leisure centres and parks. 
Permission will not be granted in 
wards where there is more than 
10% of the year 6 pupils classified 
as obese 

 

Greenwich 25% limit on non-A1 frontage Applications will not be approved 
within 400m around primary and 
secondary schools (measured from 
school boundary) 

 

Halton No more than 1 unit or 5% in a defined primary frontage or 
2 units or 10% in a defined secondary shopping frontage 
No more than 2 A% units adjacent to each other and no 
less than 2 non-A5 units between hot food takeaways 

Applications will not be approved 
within 400m of primary, secondary 
schools, playing fields and 
children’s play spaces 

Proximity to primary 
schools, secondary 
schools or sixth form 
colleges to be 
considered for hours of 
operation 

Hammersmith 
and Fulham 

No more than 20% of the length of the local shopping 
centre frontage as a whole will be permitted to change to 
food and drinks uses (A3, A4, A5) 

Areas where children are likely to 
congregate – schools, parks and 
youth facilities 

 

Islington  Restrict potential harmful uses such 
as takeaways when they are in 
close proximity to schools; or where 
they are over concentrated 

 

Knowsley  The following must not be exceeded: 
a) More than 10% of units within town centres being hot 
food takeaways;  
b) More than 20% of units within district centres, local 
centres and shopping parades being hot food takeaways;  
c) More than two directly adjoining hot food takeaways in 
a single centre’s frontage; and  
d) Less than two non-hot food takeaway units between 
individual or groups of hot food takeaway units 

 Conditions on opening 
hours will consider: 
a) The likely impacts 
on residential amenity;  
b) The existence of an 
established late night 
economy in the area; 
 c) The existence of a 
primary or secondary 

P
age 182



school within close 
proximity of the 
proposal; and  
d) The character and 
function of the 
immediate area. 

Lambeth Centre specific restrictions for clustering Applications will not be approved 
within 400m of secondary or 
primary school boundary 

 

Leeds a)No more than two consecutive A5 uses should be 
located adjoining to each other.  
b)Between groups of existing A5 uses, there should be at 
least two non A5 uses. 
c)Where the parade has fewer than 20 units, no more 
than 4 A5 units will be permitted in total. 

New hot food takeaways will not be 
permitted within 400 metres of a 
secondary school main school 
building except within the 
boundaries of designated centres 
 

 

Lewisham a. the percentage of hot food take-away shops in Major 
and District Centres does not exceed 5% and in Local 
Centres does not exceed 10% 
b. the number of hot food take-away shops in Local 
Parades of nineteen units or less does not exceed one hot 
food take-away shop 
c. the number of hot food take-away shops in Local 
Parades of twenty or more units does not exceed two hot 
food take-away shops 
d. the location and design is acceptable and the p 

The Council will not grant planning 
permission for new hot food take-
away shops that fall within 400 
metres of the boundary of a primary 
or secondary school (the exclusion 
zone). 

 

Manchester An A5 application will not be approved if it increases the 
concentration of hot food takeaway ground floor frontages 
in a centre to more than 10% of all non-residential ground 
floor frontages. 
An A5 application will not be approved if it creates a 
cluster of more than two hot food takeaways together or 
reduces the number of units between hot food takeaway 
clusters to less than two non-A5 uses 

Limited within 400m of primary and 
secondary schools 

Restriction of opening 
ours when near 
primary schools (3pm 
– 5.30pm) and 
secondary schools 
(closed until 5.30pm) 

Medway Have restricted A5 uses to 10% in town centres and 15% 
in neighbourhood and local centres 

Buffer zone is set at 400m from 
both secondary and primary 
schools. This distance is equivalent 
to a five-minute walk and it is widely 
used across the country. 

Restriction to the 
hours of operation of 
hot food takeaways 
within 400 metres of 
schools 

Newcastle SPD Regard will be had to: Hot food takeaways which are 
located outside of a centre in the 

Considerations 
include: 

P
age 183



 The potential benefits of the proposal to the wider 
community;  

 The number of existing hot food takeaway premises in 
the local area and their proximity to each other;  

 The role and character of the centre or shopping parade 
and the importance of the number, function and location of 
shops and other services that would remain to serve the 
local community; and  

 The existence of vacant shop units and the general retail 
health of the centre or shopping parade 
Clustering and concentration of hot food takeaways will be 
a consideration when reviewing planning applications, 
certain criteria must be met: 

 That no more than two consecutive hot food takeaways 
should be located adjacent to each other;  

 Between an individual or multiple, adjacent hot food 
takeaways, there should be at least two non-hot food 
takeaway shop units. 

retail hierarchy will not be permitted 
within a designated secondary 
school exclusion zone (a 10 minute 
walk) 

 The likely impacts on 
residential amenity;  

 The existence of an 
established evening 
economy in the area;  

 The character and 
function of the 
immediate area; 
including existing 
levels of night-time 
activity and noise. 

Newham  New applications within 400m 
around secondary schools will not 
be approved 

 

Nottingham  Located at least 400m from 
secondary schools 

 

North Tyneside Prevent the development of A5 use in wards where there 
is more than 15% of the year 6 pupils or 10% of reception 
pupils classified as very overweight 
Proposals for A5 uses will be permitted unless: 
a. It would result in a clustering of A5 uses to the 
detriment of the character, function, vitality and viability of 
the defined centres or it would have an adverse impact on 
the standard of amenity for existing and future occupants 
of adjacent land and buildings.  
b. There are two or more consecutive A5 uses in any one 
length of frontage. Where A5 uses already exist in any 
length of frontage, a gap of at least two non A5 use shall 
be required before a further A5 use will be permitted in the 
same length of frontage. 

Prevent the development of A5 use 
within a 400m radius of entry points 
to all middle and secondary 
schools, as shown on the Policies 
Map. 

 

North West 
Leicestershire 

No more than 10% of the total commercial units in 
specified centres, to be A5 units 

  

P
age 184



No more than two A5 units to be located adjacent to each 
other 

Nuneaton & 
Bedworth  

The proposal will be permitted provided they […] do not 
increase the number of units under the A3-A5 use class to 
over 30% of the centre’s total usage 

The proposal will be permitted 
provided they […] are not within 
400m of the boundary of a 
secondary school 

 

Rochdale  a)More than 5% of the total ground floor units within a 
defined Primary Shopping Area being hot food takeaways;  
b)More than 10% of the total ground floor units within a 
defined Secondary or Central Shopping Area being hot 
food takeaways; 
c)More than 20% of the total ground floor units within an 
area of a defined centre, outside the above areas, being 
hot food takeaways; 
d)More than two hot food takeaways being located 
adjacent to each other; and v. Any fewer than two non-A5 
units between hot food takeaways. 

No new Hot Food Takeaways 
within a 400m Buffer of a 
secondary school 

Restrictions on hours 
of opening maybe 
imposed as a condition 

Rossendale Regard will be had to the number of existing hot food 
takeaway establishments in the immediate area and their 
proximity to each other. 

With regard to proposals which fall 
outside town centre and local 
parade locations, hot food 
takeaways will be resisted where 
the proposal would fall within:  
1. 200m of the boundary of an 
existing school or youth centred 
facility  
2. 200m of a park boundary. 

 

Rotherham Hot Food takeaways will be permitted within town, district 
and local centres (outside of Primary and secondary 
Shopping Frontages) where they: 
a)Would not result in more than 10% of the ground floor 
units within a defined town or district centre being hot food 
takeaways; or 
b)Would not result in more than 25% of the ground floor 
units within a defined local centre being hot food 
takeaways ; and 
c)Would not result in more than two A5 units being located 
adjacent to each other;  

Hot food takeaways (including A3 
restaurants with takeaway facilities 
will not be permitted whete they are 
within 800m of a primary school, 
secondary school or college 
(measures in a straight line from 
any pedestrian access to the school 
or college) 

 

Salford  When considering whether a proposed hot food takeaway 
would result in an over-concentration of such uses, regard 
will be had to a variety of fields, including: 

To control the availability of hot 
food takeaways near schools so 
that “Where a hot food takeaway is 

To limit hours of 
opening so that “Within 
an area that is 

P
age 185



a)the number of existing hot food takeaway 
establishments in the immediate area and their proximity 
to each other; 
b)the importance of the location for local shopping; 
c)the type and characteristics of other uses 

proposed within 400 metres of a 
secondary school, planning 
permission will only be granted 
subject to a condition that the 
premises are not open to the public 
before 5pm Monday to Friday and 
there are no over the counter sales 
before that time.” The 400 metre 
control zone is set as the equivalent 
of a 10 minute walk from the 
school. 

primarily residential in 
character, the hours of 
opening will be 
restricted to 8am to 
10pm on Mondays to 
Saturdays, with no 
opening on Sundays 
and bank holidays.” 

Sandwell Percentage Limit of Hot Food Takeaways in Centres and 
Parades of Shops: 
a)Centres with 40 or more units to have no more than 7% 
of frontages occupied by hot food takeaways; 
b)Centres with less than 40 units to have no more than 
12% of frontages occupied by hot food takeaways 
No more than 2 adjacent HFTs (at any location) 

No new hot food takeaway 
developments will be permitted 
where they are within 400m of 
secondary school or college site (as 
measured in a direct line from the 
school entrance(s) used by 
pupils/students) 

 

Sefton Planning permission will only be granted provided that it 
will not result in the percentage exceeding 5% of total 
commercial units of the centre. 
If less than 20 units at in a centre, no more than 1 hot food 
takeaway unit will be permitted 

 
 

 

Restriction zone 
established around 
secondary schools and 
colleges (400m 
restriction zone) limits 
opening hours until 
after 5 pm Monday to 
Friday. 
Hours of operation to 
be established on a 
case by case basis 

South Tyneside  Planning permission will not be 
granted for A5 uses in areas where 
the levels of obesity in Year 6 
pupils is over 10% 
Outside of designated town and 
district shopping centres, proposals 
for new A5 hot food takeaway uses 
will only be permitted where the 
premises are not within 400m of a 
secondary school boundary 

 

P
age 186



Southwark Not to be above 1 per 21 premises (10 on either side of 
the proposal) 
The number of A5 premises are not more than 5% of the 
total number of units in the protected shopping frontages 

To be further than 400m from any 
secondary school boundary 

 

St Helens No more than 5% of units in the centre or frontage being 
A5 
No more than two adjoin frontages to be A5 

400m around primary and 
secondary schools and sixth form 
college either within or outside 
Local  Education Authority control 

 

Stockton-on-Tees Within designated centres, applications for hot food 
takeaways will be supported providing this will not result in 
harmful over-concentration in the area 

  

Stoke Restrictions include: 
• Within primary frontages in the City Centre and town 
centres, no more than 10% of the frontage will be in A5 
use.  
• Within secondary frontages in the City Centre and town 
centres, no more than 20% of the frontage will be in A5 
use. 
• No more than 2 hot food takeaway’s being located 
adjacent each other; • At least 2 non-hot food takeaway 
units between a group of hot food takeaway units. 

Planning permission will not be 
granted for new hot food takeaway 
premises within School Exclusion 
Zones, i.e. within 400m of all 
secondary schools. The 400m 
distance will be measured from the 
school’s main entrance. 

In determining 
planning applications 
for hot food takeaways 
it may be necessary to 
control the opening 
hours by planning 
condition, to minimise 
any impact on the local 
environment and 
amenity. 

Tower Hamlets No more than 5% of units to be A5 within the defined 
areas 
No less than two non-A5 units between groups of hot food 
takeaways 

200m around primary and 
secondary schools, youth club 
and/or local authority leisure centre 
 

200m – 400m from 
schools may be 
permitted with hours of 
operation conditioned 

Wakefield 5% limit on A5 units and/or frontage 
Must not create a continuous frontage of more than 3 non-
retail (A3-A5) uses 
No more than two adjoining frontages to be A5; at least 
two non-A5s between groups of A5s 
Must not result in more than 25% of the total length of 
primary shopping frontage in any one street or of any one 
block being in non-retail use 

Proposals for hot food takeaways 
located within 400m of schools and 
outside centres identified on the 
Policies Map will not be supported.  

 

Waltham Forest 5% limit on A5 frontage; no A5 within 400m of existing A5 
[outside designated area] 
No more than two adjoining frontages to be A5; at least 
two non-A5s between groups of A5 

Hot food takeaways will be resisted 
where they fall within 400m around 
schools, youth centres and park 
boundaries 

 

Wandsworth  Applications for hot food takeaways 
will not be approved were they 
would result in an over-

 

P
age 187



concentration of A5 uses within 
walking distance of school or 
colleges (400m) where this could 
undermine their healthy eating 
initiatives. 

Waltham Forest Appropriate concentrations of A5 uses will be assessed 
based on the following:  
a)Within Primary, Secondary and Retail Parade Zones^ 
No more than 5% of the units shall consist of A5 uses 
Within Tertiary Zones 
b)outside designated centres No more than 1 A5 unit will 
be allowed within 400m of an existing A5 unit 
c) No more than two A5 units should be located adjacent 
to each other. 2. Between individual or groups of hot food 
takeaways 
d)there should be at least two non A5 units 

Hot food takeaway shops will be 
resisted where the proposal will:  
1. Fall within 400m of the boundary 
of an existing school or youth 
centred facility (e.g. YMCA, after 
school clubs).  
2. Fall within 400m of a park 
boundary. 

 

Warrington In Primary Shopping Frontages, hot food takeaways will 
not be permitted if they 
a)Create a continuous frontage of more than three non-
retail uses (classes A3 - A5), or 20 metres of non-retail 
uses;  
b)Result in more than 25% of the total length of primary 
shopping frontage in any one street or of any one block 
being in non-retail use. 

Proposals for hot food takeaways 
located within 400 metres of 
schools and outside centres 
identified on the Polices Map will 
not be supported. 

 

Wolverhampton  In all centres - no more than two consecutive ground floor 
shop units in the centre should be occupied by Hot Food 
Takeaways 
In centres with more than 40 units, no more than 10% of 
ground floor shop units in total and no more than 10% of 
ground floor shop units. In centres with less than 40 units 
– no more than 15% of ground floor shop units in total and 
no more than 15% of ground floor shop units in any 
frontage 

New applications within 400 m of a 
secondary school, ‘as the crow 
flies’ will not be approved 

 

Worcester The proposed use must not cause the proportion of units 
in food/drink (use class A3) use to exceed 20% in the 
areas defined as approach corridors and St John’s district 
shopping centre as shown on the proposals map 
The proposal must be compliant with the Local plan 
policies (Appendix 4) with regards to the proportion of 
units within a geographical area (e.g. in some centres the 

When applications for Takeaway 
Food Outlets within close proximity 
of schools, colleges and community 
centres (400m) are received, the 
relevant organisations should be 
consulted. 

 

P
age 188



proposed use must not result in a continuous frontage of 
more than two non-retail units. (units are defined as a 
shopfront width of about 6 metres (20 feet) larger units will 
be assessed in terms of unit lengths) 

 

 
 
 

 

 

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Coventry City Council 

Urban Extension Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Document

August 2019

P
age 191



Contents
1. Context of  the SPD

2. The Ancient Arden

3. Housing Design

4. Street Hierarchy

5. Commercial Centres

6. The Natural Landscape

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 2

P
age 192



Introduction

This guidance will inform the sustainable and high quality delivery of  larger developments within 
the city’s Ancient Arden landscape area. Although in itself  it does not supersede previous guidance 
it does provide an update to it in response to the development allocations set out in the Council’s 
Local Plan. In this respect it responds primarily (but not exclusively) to the two Sustainable Urban 
Extensions (SUE’s) at Eastern Green and Keresley.

Context of the SPD

The Council have previously issued design guidance for the Ancient Arden area, the most recent of  
these documents being in 1995. This guidance primarily related however to small scale 
developments of  limited infill or property extensions etc. With the new Local Plan introducing 
significant development proposals this guidance needs to be expanded upon and reconsidered 
within a very different development context. This Design Guidance SPD does that.

This SPD is therefore intended to provide a clear guide and steer for how new larger developments 
within the area should be designed and delivered. It will help inform the master planning process 
and detailed design proposals. As a guide this should apply to any developments of  6 or more 
dwellings or any other multiple property developments not accessed from a private drive. It should 
also apply to commercial and community developments. Extensions to existing properties, single 
dwelling proposals or small multiple developments off  private drives or shared drives will continue 
to be considered under the 1995 guidance until such time as it is formally updated.

As a starting point this guidance emphasises the importance of  the Ancient Arden character, 
drawing specific inspiration from materials and characteristics of  local buildings, landscape and 
vernacular. It does not however require a slavish copy of  existing buildings and styles. Instead it 
highlights clear examples for consideration and inspiration which will help to inform creative and 
modern interpretations of  the ‘Ancient Arden’ theme.

To support this, the guidance draws primarily on best practice examples from both the local and 
national arena, whilst also highlighting, where relevant, poor examples of  design and interpretation. 
The Council have identified a number of  high quality examples where historic design characteristics 
have been positively interpreted to create an appropriate high quality built and natural environment. 
This has helped us focus on the Importance of  design as a concept and a component of what 
makes an excellent development. This is exactly what the city council wants to see delivered 
through its two SUE’s and other relevant developments.

Notwithstanding, the Council recognises that design often brings with it a degree of  subjectivity. It 
is for this reason that this guidance is not intended to be overly prescriptive. It also reflects the 
context of  this document as a platform from which detailed proposals can evolve and flourish. To 
support this, the Council are committed to working jointly and proactively with applicants to ensure 
the vision for this area is realised.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 3

Context of  the SPD

P
age 193



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 4

Wider Policy Framework

The following section highlights the importance of  promoting 

and delivering high quality, excellently designed schemes to help 

promote the creation and delivery of  new homes, jobs and 

communities. High quality design is a golden thread that runs 

through national policy and into the city’s new Local Plan. It is 

also an issue that was regularly highlighted through the 

consultation on the Local Plan and is therefore a key priority to 

existing communities that reside in close proximity to planned 

development.

National

National Planning Policy Framework was updated in July 2018. 

Its primary ethos continues to be the presumption in favour of  

sustainable development. The importance of  good design has 

been amplified within the new NPPF making it even more of  an 

important consideration. Chapter 12 of  the Framework in 

particular highlights the importance of  good design.

Indeed, Para 124 of  the NPPF states that “the creation of  high 

quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning 

and development process should achieve. Good design is a key 

aspect of  sustainable development, creates better places in 

which to live and work and helps make development acceptable 

to communities. Being clear about design expectations, and how 

these will be tested, is essential for achieving this”. Para 125 then 

states “plans should set out a clear design vision and 

expectations, so that applicants have as much certainty as 

possible about what is likely to be acceptable. Design policies 

should….. reflect local aspirations, and grounded in an 

understanding and evaluation of  each area’s defining 

characteristics”.

The NPPF is supported by a suite of  National Planning Practice 

Guidance (NPPG) which was first issued in 2014. Of  particular 

relevance is the specific NPPG on Design. This highlights the 

importance of  design when considering materials and build 

quality, new streets and highways, accessibility, connectivity, 

health, crime prevention and security, resource efficiency, public 

and open spaces and community cohesion and vibrancy. 

Examples of  key quotes from the NPPG include:

• “Achieving good design is about creating places, buildings, or 

spaces that work well for everyone, look good, last well, and 

will adapt to the needs of  future generations”;

• “Good design responds in a practical and creative way to 

both the function and identity of  a place”;

• “Good design is indivisible from good planning, and should 

be at the heart of  the plan making process”; and

• “Development should seek to promote character in 

townscape and landscape by responding to and reinforcing 

locally distinctive patterns of  development, local man-made 

and natural heritage and culture, while not preventing or 

discouraging appropriate innovation”.

Regional

The City Council is a constituent member of  the West Midlands 

Combined Authority. As such it works closely with its 

neighbouring Metropolitan authorities and the elected Mayor. 

To support the delivery of  the regions housing needs and wider 

developer requirements the WMCA have published a Land 

Delivery Action Plan, which highlights a range of  priorities and 

objectives to support, promote and facilitate new development. 

Within this Action Plan is a commitment to a WMCA Planning 

Charter, which highlights the importance of  high quality design. 

The Action Plan states:

“Our Local Planning Authorities have an important role to play 

in setting out the spatial framework for the future housing and 

employment space development in our areas - creating unique, 

strong and prosperous communities, supported by a well-

designed built environment, community facilities and 

infrastructure to support the economy to grow”.

“This will include the commitment for development across 

the West Midlands to be of the highest quality in order to 

enhance the desirability of places and drive values . This will 

be driven by WMCA partners, through appropriate delivery 

models, designed to act as exemplars of high standards of 

design and sustainability”.

Local

The new Local Plan and City Centre Area Action Plan both 

highlight high quality design as a key aim and objective. Indeed, 

the new Local Plan sets out nine key objectives, all of  which 

relate to at least one policy within the Plan which will contribute 

towards high quality design and delivery of  new sustainable 

development and communities. These include:

1. Supporting businesses to grow

2. Enabling the right infrastructure for the city to grow and 

thrive.

3. Developing a dynamic 21st century city centre

4. Raising the profile of  Coventry.

5. Creating an attractive, cleaner and greener city.

6. Maintaining and enhancing an accessible transport network.

7. Housing that meets the needs of  all people

8. Improve the health and wellbeing of  local residents.

9. Support safer communities.

Through the development of  the new Local Plan, the city 

council was always clear that if  it was going to plan positively 

for the city’s first urban extensions in over half  a century then it 

needed to do it in a way which was supported by the appropriate 

infrastructure and encapsulated high quality design, materials 

and public realm. These developments in particular need to be 

areas the city can be proud of  and hold up as exemplar and 

desirable communities within which people aspire to live, work 

and visit.

Context of  the SPD

P
age 194



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 5

The following Local Plan policies and objectives are identified as 

a platform for this Design Guide SPD and should be read 

alongside this document.

DS3: Sustainable Development 

DS4: Masterplan Principles

H2: Housing Allocations 

GE1: Green Infrastructure 

GE2: Green Space 

GE3: Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological 

Conservation 

GE4: Tree Protection 

DE1: Ensuring High Quality Design 

HE2: Conservation and Heritage Assets 

EM1-5: Environmental Management Policies covering drainage 

and flood risk

R2 / CC1: Coventry City Centre - Development Strategy 

CC2 - CC7: Historic and Built Environment in the City Centre 

Policy DS4 (parts A, C and D) is of  particular relevance to both 

SUE’s. This sets out masterplan principles for both areas and 

requires consideration of  this SPD when developing those 

masterplans through the detailed planning process.

It is important to note that although this SPD will form part of  a 

wider set of  SPD, It is this document that will form the focal 

point of  supporting master planning and planning applications 

for development within the defined area. For the avoidance of  

doubt further SPD will focus on design across the city as a whole 

and include 

• An update of   the existing Residential Design Guidance SPD 

– this will focus on residential extensions and infill 

development plots; and

• Further Design Guidance and briefs for various parts of  the 

City Centre and other major development proposals (as 

appropriate).

This is not an exclusive list however, and other technical SPD 

may also be of  relevance, most notably in relation to the design 

of  SuDS and highways.

Neighbourhood

Much of  the Ancient Arden landscape, in so far as it relates to 

Coventry’s administrative boundaries, sits within the Parishes of  

Allesley and Keresley. Both have active Parish Councils who have 

been involved throughout the development of  the new Local 

Plan.

Keresley Parish have indicated a desire to produce an updated 

Parish Plan which will set out their vision and objectives for the 

area.

Allesley have commenced work on a Neighbourhood Plan and 

have consulted on the first stages of  this Plan and the defined 

boundaries.

The City Council is committed to working collaboratively with 

both Parishes to deliver their neighbourhood documents. This 

SPD, alongside the new Local Plan is intended to help provide a 

starting point from which those local documents can progress, 

and as such should be reflected within those neighbourhood 

documents.

Moving Forward

This stage of  the SPD is a consultation draft. It has evolved 

through the development of  the Local Plan and had full regard 

to previous consultation responses, drop in sessions and public 

meetings in order to draw on local views and opinions about 

design and how developments within this area could look and 

feel. 

The document sets out a range of  sections to support master 

planning and design initiatives. These include:

• Materials

• Street scene and layout

• Highways and junctions

• Parking

• The natural environment

• Non-residential developments

• future extensions and conversions

This document will now be consulted on for a period of  6 weeks 

from the 8th February to 22nd March 2019.

Following the completion of  this consultation the Council will 

take on board all final consultation responses with a view to 

moving the document forward for adoption in the summer.

Context of  the SPD

P
age 195



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 6

The Ancient Arden

The sites lie within the northern section of the Ancient Arden, an area of ancient 

countryside that stretches from  just south of Atherstone in the North, running to the 

west of Coventry to Balsall Common in the south.  It incorporates Allesley and Keresley 

Parishes and the Coundon Wedge and is described as being “especially significant, as it is now 

the only remaining relatively unspoilt area of  ancient countryside left in Warwickshire”. 

The classification of ‘ancient’ applies to areas not affected by the great planned 

Parliamentary Enclosures of the 18th and 19th Centuries.  Approximately half  of 

England's countryside was recreated in the Georgian era, areas untouched by this 

transformation exhibit a more ancient landscape which has evolved through many planned 

and unplanned stages.  In these areas many landscape features such as field boundaries, 

hedge-banks, sunken lanes, woods and commons have survived from the earliest dates of 

human settlement.

The Arden landscape in Coventry exhibits all these features with little in the way of built 

development.  What development there is, is typically individual farmsteads or small 

groupings of buildings.

In order to ensure that new development reflected and enhance the character of the 

Arden a set of guidelines was published in May 1995 (Ancient Arden Design Guidelines).  

These set out to define the character of the locality and outline the type of design that 

would be appropriate for any new development emphasising the link between landscape 

and the buildings within it.   Whilst is was only ever intended for small scale development 

– a single building or a small group of buildings- the principles of building design and 

materials can still be applied to larger scale development.  It is this guidance that is 

being updated through this SPD to ensure the key elements of  these principles can 

also be applied in an appropriate way to larger scale developments (as well as 

smaller scale traditional proposals), the sort of  which were not envisaged in 1995.

To help identify the historic character of  the area, the following pages outline the 

architectural and material characteristics of  Arden buildings.  These should be used 

as the basis for informing building design in this area. It is important to note that 

whilst this is very much a traditional vernacular it will not be used as a basis to 

preclude creative, well thought out and innovative designs. As previously 

highlighted, modern interpretation of  these historic characteristics are welcomed 

and encouraged and ,will always be treated on their own merits.

The Ancient Arden – An Historic Context

The Ancient Arden in Coventry – taken from Ancient Arden 

Design Guidance

P
age 196



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 7

• Buildings generally have a simple gable roof  with low eaves lines.  Larger forms 

are generally broken up into 2 or 3 smaller interconnecting elements with small  

roof  spans as opposed to bulky boxes like buildings.

• Roof ’s have a typical pitch of  40 degrees and are generally covered with 

brindle/brown sand faced plain tiles, but  slate is also used.

• Tile verges are the most predominant edge treatment.

• General walling material is a mellow mixed stock brick in light red/brown tones 

typical of  central Warwickshire.  Wirecut or strongly textured rustic facing 

brickwork in a single colour are not considered acceptable.

• Contrasting brick colours for lintels, sills, plinths, dentil courses etc are generally 

not used.   Whereas segmental brick arch window heads to the ground floor 

windows and doors are a more typical local feature which may be usefully 

employed.

• Dormer windows are a common feature due to the eaves generally sitting below 

a full two storeys level.  

• Chimney stacks and pots are strong feature of  traditional buildings and in the 

Arden they usually take the form of  a substantial stack topped with one pot of  

traditional design.  Whilst an expensive feature their use on visually prominent 

parts of  the development and key nodes/intersections etc. will be strongly 

encouraged.

• Windows generally have an horizontal emphasis  with widths generally exceed 

height.  Sash windows are common and could be used on more traditionally 

design dwellings.

• Doors are generally plain in design and dark in colour.

• Guttering and down pipes are generally black.

• Porches and door canopies are generally simple gabled or lean to roofs in plain 

tiles to match the main gable roof.

• Driveways are generally informal in nature with light colour surfacing materials.

Arden Building Characteristics

The following provides an overview of  some of  the traditional features and 

characteristics of  buildings within the existing Ancient Arden area. There is no 

fundamental expectation that these will be replicated verbatim across new 

developments, however these are intended to provide a helpful reference for how the 

more traditional elements of  Ancient Arden design can be incorporated and 

interpreted within new development proposals. The pages that follow provide 

examples across Coventry to help clarify these points within a real life context.

Brick built farmhouse, Bridle Brook Lane – from 

Google Street View and Google Earth.

P
age 197



Washbrook Lane, timber 

frame cottage – from Google 

Street View and Google Earth.

Simple brindle/brown  plain tile 

gable roof with low eaves line
First floor largely within the roof space with 

traditional pitched dormers
Simple chimney stacks

Black rainwater goods Simple solid wooden front door set in a simple lean to 

enclosed porch
Timber frame with infill panel 

construction

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 8

The extensions and additions added over the life 

of this building have made for an interesting and 

complex multiple pitched roof form which isn’t 

obvious from the road.

Arden Building Characteristics

P
age 198



Timber frame and brick cottage,

Wall Hill Road– from Google Street View and 

Google Earth.

Simple brindle/brown plain tile 

gable roof with low eaves line
Simple chimney stack with pot

Timber frame with infill panel construction

mellow mixed stock 

brick in light red/brown

Local stone plinth to base of building

Sub-divided windows, wider than they 

are high

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 9

An interesting grouping of buildings that have again 

grown and evolved over time with yet more 

interesting and complex multiple pitched roof forms 

which aren’t obvious from the road.

Arden Building Characteristics

P
age 199



Brick built farmhouse, Bridle Brook Lane – from 

Google Street View and Google Earth.

mellow mixed stock brick 

in light red/brown

Simple brindle/brown plain tile 

gable roof with low eaves line
Slightly more ornate 

chimney stacks with pots

Overall form broken up into smaller interconnecting 

elements with small roof spans that reduce overall height.

First floor partly within the roof 

space with traditional pitched 

dormers

Tile verges

Black rainwater goods

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 10

A small farmstead.  Note again the farmhouse has 

probably grown and evolved over time with yet more 

interesting and complex multiple pitched roof forms.

Arden Building Characteristics

P
age 200



Farmhouse and out-buildings, Pikers Lane –

from Google Street View and Google Earth.

Simple brindle/brown plain tile 

gable roof with low eaves line
Slightly more ornate 

chimney stacks with pots

First floor partly within the 

roof space with traditional 

pitched dormers

Simple barge boards

Gabled plain tiled porch

Black rainwater goodsPlinth detail

Simple dark painted front door

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 11

A small farmstead with an interesting ‘u’-shape 

collection of barns.  

Arden Building Characteristics

P
age 201



Examples of building 

groupings in the 

Arden area with 

interesting roof 

forms – from 

Google Earth.

.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 12

Arden Building Characteristics

P
age 202



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 13

Housing Design
A diverse approach to housing design is encouraged not just 

across each development site, but also within the larger sites 

themselves.  This will ensure that there is a variety of  character 

and texture across the developments as opposed to a 

homogeneous swathe of  development.  

Given this it is felt that there  is scope for both traditional 

versions of  the Arden vernacular and modern interpretations.  

What is important about each approach is that there is an 

integrity to the design.  Traditional approaches should use the 

form and proportions of  Arden dwellings as inspiration and pick 

up on their architectural elements, whilst modern interpretations 

should use the Arden typology as the basis for their design and 

should be accompanied by a design statement that sets out the 

rationale for the design. 

Examples of  traditional interpretations of  the Arden vernacular 

are shown overleaf  along with examples from elsewhere of  how 

traditional vernacular has been interpreted in a modern way.

Other aspects of  housing design that need consideration are:

• the way in which dwellings sit alongside each other

• how they address corners and bends

• the location and design of  bin and cycle storage. 

These are also covered in this section.

P
age 203



The Old Dairy, Washbrook Lane, is a new build dwelling that has taken the materials 

and the essence of the Arden vernacular to create a well proportioned and detailed 

traditional dwelling.

Images from planning and monitoring files

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 14

New build timber frame building.  Designed and constructed to a very high standard.  

This demonstrates that a traditional building technique such as this can be recreated if  

done properly.  Given that this style of building is prevalent in the Arden it should not 

be dismissed off  hand but caveated that any proposal for this form would need to be to 

this standard.

Well Designed New Traditional Buildings

P
age 204



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 15

Examples of  local vernacular interpreted in a modern style

The Horstead Park development in Chatham, Kent takes the typical form of a farmstead 

as the basis for the layout of the development., and uses the typical ‘big roof’ barn as an 

influence on the dwelling design.  The dwellings pick up on and interpret local brick work 

forms in the design of the elevations.

Images from Google Street View and Planning files.

P
age 205



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 16

Examples of  local vernacular interpreted in a modern style

The David Wilson Homes development at 

Upton, Northampton takes the traditional 

form of the Northampton Farmhouse and 

uses it to create large and imposing 

modern dwellings.  Using the same basic 

form – a three storey gable fronted volume 

– and treating it differently with either 

materials or architectural features creates a 

streetscene with a consistent overall form 

and silhouette but interest and variety on 

the elevations and facades. 

Images from Planning records and site 

monitoring

P
age 206



Examples of  local vernacular interpreted in a modern style

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 17

Draycote Reach, Rugby, is an example of a blend of traditional farm style architectural elements 

and materials with more modern features such as the expansive floor to ceiling glazing and large 

open plan volumes.  The interconnected volumes and the cluster/farmyard arrangement of the 

dwellings makes reference to the rural countryside setting. 

Images from Planning Records and site monitoring.

P
age 207



Examples of  local vernacular interpreted in a modern style

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 18

Private house, 

Creaton, 

Northants.  A 

modern 

interpretation of 

the barn typology 

which maximises 

its hill side location  

with floor to 

ceiling windows, 

terraces and 

balconies that look 

out over the 

sweeping 

countryside. 

Images from 

planning records 

P
age 208



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 19

Within this guidance all the street types contain linked dwellings, either in the illustrations 

or within the examples.  Linked dwellings can play an important part in the creation of 

visually harmonious street scenes.  The guidance is not prescribing their wholesale use 

but it is expected that they should be used along with detached house types on any 

development proposal.  Linked dwellings should be used as they:

• create a visually harmonious streetscene;

• create a good sense of enclosure;

• avoids the awkward situation of blank gables siting close together which makes for a 

unsightly streetscene that is jarring on the eye;

• make more efficient use of land;

• allows for a built form that follows the lines of the street.

Concern over noise transfer between dwellings can be overcome with appropriate sound 

proofing.

Images – from Google Street View and planning records.

Linked Dwellings

Poorly positioned detached dwellings creating a visually jarring street scene.

Well designed, high quality linked dwellings, Horsted Park, Chatham, Kent.

Beaulieu, Chelmsford.   Well designed, high quality linked dwellings that turn the 

corner and follow the bend in the road.  Note the integrated parking.

These dwellings are 

well designed in their 

own right, but the 

slavishly repetitive 

placement of  them 

combined with the 

fact that they are 

‘crammed’ so closely 

together makes for a 

monotonous and  

visually jarring street-

scene.

P
age 209



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 20

How corner sites are designed is very important. In most cases corners sites will need 

to address both frontages in an equal way to ensure both elevations have active 

frontage to provide over looking and natural surveillance of the public realm and are 

well detailed architecturally. They have the opportunity to provide additional visual 

interest in the streetscene and they may also have a role to play in aiding legibility 

through the development.

The design and placement of buildings around the junctions will be crucial in 

ensuring that first and foremost they are well overlooked and have a good degree of 

natural surveillance but also that the dwellings engage positively with active frontages 

and architecturally interesting elevations.

Whilst the decorative gable terminates the view down the Mews the cranked arms 

either side offer a deflected view telling users that the street is not necessarily a dead 

end.

Images from site monitoring.

Corner & Landmark Buildings

The cranked building at the end of the mews again makes for an interesting focal point 

whilst again suggesting the mews is not a dead end.

P
age 210



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 21

Corner & Landmark Buildings

The clever placement of  dwellings at right angles on a corner can create positive facades to the 

public realm whilst still creating dwellings with a practical internal layout and good sized rear 

gardens. In these circumstances parking could be provided to the side or rear of  the property or 

in a suitable on street alternative close to the property.

Images from Google Street View – Arden character homes

P
age 211



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 22

Dutch Style Gable.

Upton, Northampton

New Timber frame building, Far Gosford St, Coventry

Unusually designed buildings

can become local landmarks

that not only act as points of

interest adding richness and

variety to the streetscene but

can also help with legibility and

wayfinding.

Images from Google Street

View and site monitoring.

Upton, Northampton

Corner & Landmark Buildings

P
age 212



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 23

Examples of interesting and thoughtfully designed corner buildings – Images from 

Google Earth, Google Street View and site monitoring

Corner & Landmark Buildings

P
age 213



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 24

Separation Distances

To protect the amenity of  

residents a minimum back to back 

distance of  20m (A) will be 

required.  This distance should be 

equally subdivided into two rear 

gardens that are 10m deep.   This 

will ensure that acceptable levels 

of  daylighting to rear gardens is 

achieved whilst also maintaining 

privacy.

This distance will need to be 

increased where dwellings exceed 

two storeys in height and will have 

an  impact on the daylighting and 

privacy of  the adjoining 

gardens/dwellings. 

Where a dwelling fronts/backs 

onto the gable of  a neighbouring 

dwelling, a separation distance of  

12m will be required (B).  This is 

comprised of  a 10m garden depth 

(C) and a 2m access/maintenance 

strip. 

Rear garden walls of  1.8m will be 

required on all sides to rear 

gardens (D)

The distance between the fronts of  

dwellings will vary (E) depending 

on the street typology being 

developed, however consideration 

will need to be given to the 

placement of  dwellings and the 

position of  windows to ensure that 

no overlooking loss of  privacy 

issues arise.

P
age 214



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 25

Whilst wheelie bins are perfectly functional for their 

intended purpose they are unsightly if  left permanently to 

the front of dwellings and can become a nuisance and a 

hazard if  left permanently on the footway, so where ever 

possible storage provision for wheelie bins (and cycles) 

should be made to the rear of properties.  To ensure that 

bins are not left at the front of properties, access to the rear 

that is as direct as possible, is of adequate width and with 

no steps should be provided where ever possible.  Long 

convoluted paths/alleyways to the rear of properties will 

not be acceptable.

Where wheelie bins  can only be stored in a location that 

will be in public view they should be housed either in a 

storage unit that is integrated with the dwelling or, if  this is 

not possible in an appropriately designed free standing 

storage unit.  In either case they should allows for the easy 

disposal of waste/recycling and allow for the bins to be 

easily pulled out for emptying.  The examples over leaf 

illustrate some aesthetically pleasing and practical storage 

solutions.

Consideration should also be given to cycle storage and the 

movement of cycles from the rear to the front of 

properties.

Cycle and Bin Storage

P
age 215



Cycle and Bin Storage

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 26

Long convoluted rear access and routes for 

wheelie bins will not be acceptable

Where wheelie bins can only be stored in 

public view they should where ever 

possible be in storage units designed into 

the dwelling, using the same architectural 

form and materials to complement the 

dwelling.  An adequate hard standing area 

should be provided in front of  the store to 

allow for the easy removal of  the bins on 

collection day.  The location of  the kitchen 

should be as close to the bin store as 

possible to ensure that visits to the bin 

store are as short and easy as possible.

The example here is of  a simple lean-to 

barn style store with a simple timber 

frame, 40 degree hipped roof, ship lap clad 

side and ledged and braced doors with 

sufficient air gaps above and below to 

allow for ventilation.

Rear access should be direct and easy with adequate 

width the moving wheelie bins and cycles

P
age 216



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 27

Where driveways, parking spaces and garages will also act as the 

route for wheelie bins and cycles to be bought from the backs to 

the fronts of properties they will need to allow for a minimum 

0.9m width clear route alongside a parked vehicle.

Cycle and Bin Storage

P
age 217



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 28

Examples of  free-standing wheelie bin and cycle storage. Images from planning records and Google Images

Cycle and Bin Storage

P
age 218



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 29

Street Hierarchy
A street hierarchy has been devised for use on the future development proposals.  Which streets are used will depend on the 

scale and location of  the proposed development.  The hierarchy is as follows:

• Link Road

• Avenue (A)

• Internal Roads (B)

• Lanes (C)

• Courtyards (D)

• Edge Roads (E)

Where relevant matters relating to turning heads and cul-de-sacs are referenced within the consideration of  the street 

typologies.

Each street type is outlined on the following pages.

P
age 219



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 30

This road type will primarily apply to the Keresley urban 

extension and is envisaged to provide a road linking Winding 

House Lane in the North to Long Lane in the south effectively 

linking the M6/A444 to the A45.  This road will carry 

reasonable high volumes of  traffic and so access points into 

the Keresley  development will be limited.  Notwithstanding it 

is imperative that the route is designed in a way that is pleasant 

and comfortable to use and cross by pedestrians and cyclists as 

much as possible (1), with overlooking and natural surveillance 

provided by development fronting the link road. (2)  In order 

to facilitate this it is envisaged that residential roads (3) and or 

private drives (4) will run parallel to the link road.  These  will 

also provide wide footways/cycleways that have a substantial 

landscaped and tree lined buffer between them and the link 

road (5).

4

1

3

5

2

Link Road

2

5

P
age 220



Access road to 

dwellings fronting 

link road.  This can 

take the form of  

short private drives 

or shared space 

roads.  This 

road/drive can be 

combined with the 

footway/cycleway 

and the overall width 

reduced subject to 

agreement with the 

Highway Authority.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 31

2/3m 2/3m 2/3m 2/3m2/3m 2/3m4.1m 4.1mUpto 7.3m

Indicative Link Road Section

Link 

road. Carriageway. 

designed to carry all 

types of  vehicles.

Final width, materials 

and construction to be 

agreed with the 

Highway Authority. 

This will be reflective 

of  the environment 

through which it 

travels or expected to 

travel upon 

completion of  the 

SUE.

Tree and 

landscape buffer.  

Tree planting 

and low level 

landscaping will 

soften link road 

and provide a 

green buffer 

between it and 

the residential 

development.

Tree and 

landscape buffer.  

Tree planting 

and low level 

landscaping will 

soften link road 

and provide a 

green buffer 

between it and 

the residential 

development.

Footway/ 

cycle way to 

run parallel 

to link road 

with the tree 

and 

landscape 

buffer 

providing a 

degree of 

separation.

Footway/ 

cycle way 

to run 

parallel to 

link road 

with the 

tree and 

landscape 

buffer 

providing a 

degree of 

separation.

Private front 

gardens to 

dwellings.  

These can be 

bounded by a 

low wall, 

railings or 

hedge.

Dwellings 

fronting 

onto link 

road.

There is 

scope for 

taller 

dwelling 

and 

buildings 

to provide 

an 

appropriate 

sense of 

enclosure 

and scale.  

Private front 

gardens to 

dwellings.  

These can be 

bounded by a 

low wall, 

railings or 

hedge.

Dwellings 

fronting 

onto link 

road. There 

is scope for 

taller 

dwelling 

and 

buildings 

to provide 

an 

appropriate 

sense of 

enclosure 

and scale.  

Up to 33.2m

Can be combined and overall width reduced. Can be combined and overall width reduced.

Access road to 

dwellings fronting 

link road.  This can 

take the form of  

short private drives 

or shared space 

roads.  This 

road/drive can be 

combined with the 

footway/cycleway 

and the overall width 

reduced subject to 

agreement with the 

Highway Authority.

Link Road

P
age 221



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 32

Link Road

Good Link Road Example, where properties front onto the road and are supported by a good quality 

natural environment.

Beaulieu Boulevard, Chelmsford
Images from Google Street View and Google Earth

The link road typology will need to have regard to the environment within which it will travel or is expected to travel. 

The majority of  a link road is expected to function through a predominantly residential environment, helping serve all 

parts of  the wider development and not act as a 'barrier'. Therefore every effort should be made to integrate active 

frontages, with properties having a frontage to the road (as shown in the subsequent examples and diagrams). This 

should be designed having regard to noise and air quality issues, especially in rear gardens.

P
age 222



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 33

Link Road

RIGHT: Good Link Road Example, where 

properties front onto the road and are supported by 

a good quality natural environment.

Beaulieu Boulevard, Chelmsford
Images from Google Street View and Google Earth

LEFT: Poor Link Road Example, where properties 

either turn their back on the road or front it sideways on 

with blank facades. The road is then bounded by garden 

fences and hedge rows. It lacks in natural surveillance 

and encourages higher speeds.

Brookfield Way, Lutterworth
Images from Google Street View and Google Earth

P
age 223



Avenues are intended to act as the main access routes into 

the larger development parcels.  Whilst designed with a 

more formal footway/carriageway arrangement they 

should be sufficiently wide enough to allow for substantial 

tree planting and landscaping to give them a 

softer/greener character.  Parking should be provided on 

plot but opportunities for parking on street in properly 

designated bays is a possibility.  Junctions with spur roads 

should be designed to give pedestrians priority with 

crossing points on desire lines not set back from the 

junctions.  They should also be designed to slow vehicles 

down.  Other traffic calming features such as carriageway 

narrowing and buildouts should be designed in to read as 

part of the street.  

ESTATE WIDE ROUTES AND LINKAGES

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 34

Entrance to development.  Wider 

street with landscape buffer to 

carriageway.

Scope for on-street 

parking.

Standard carriageway 

with 60mm  kerb 

upstand.

Junction on raised table with 

direct pedestrian crossings, no 

or flush kerb lines.

Sharp change in direction 

and reduction in street 

width.

Gable designed as focal 

point.  Pulled forward to 

break linearity of  the street.

Avenue

P
age 224



ESTATE WIDE ROUTES AND LINKAGES

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 35

Slight variation in 

building line to 

create visual interest.

Street trees. Species, 

size and tree pit 

detail to CCC 

approval.

Low level planting to 

partially screen 

parking.

Trees to help 

delineate appropriate 

width of  carriageway.

Buildings set back to 

reduce impact of  

parking on the street.

Avenue

P
age 225



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 36

CROSS SECTION

2-6m 2-3m 2-3m 2-3m 2-6m2-3m 5.5-6.5m

Indicative Avenue Section

The Avenue will act as the main road into 

large developments.  It’s overall width can 

be up to 6.5m should it need to 

accommodate a bus service.  This will 

have a raised kerb of a minimum of 

60mm and can be surfaced in 

conventional black top with contrasting 

materials being used at key junctions and 

crossing points. At these locations raised 

tables and shared surface principles 

should be incorporated.  

Avenue of  trees 

set in grass or 

possibly some low 

level planting.  

This will soften 

the road and 

provide a green 

buffer between the 

road and the 

residential 

development.

Footway/ cycle 

way to run 

parallel to the 

Avenue with 

the avenue of 

trees providing 

a degree of 

separation.

Private front 

gardens to dwellings.  

These can be 

bounded by a low 

wall, railings or 

hedge.

Should there be 

incidences where 

parking to the front 

of  dwellings is 

required this width 

can be extended to 

6m.

Dwellings 

fronting onto 

Avenue.

These should 

be of 

sufficient 

height to 

provide an 

appropriate 

sense of 

enclosure.

Private front 

gardens to 

dwellings.  These 

can be bounded by 

a low wall, railings 

or hedge.

Should there be 

incidences where 

parking to the 

front of  dwellings 

is required this 

width can be 

extended to 6m.

Dwellings 

fronting onto 

Avenue.

These 

should be of 

sufficient 

height to 

provide an 

appropriate 

sense of 

enclosure.

Up to 30.5m

Footway/ cycle 

way to run 

parallel to the 

Avenue with 

the avenue of 

trees providing 

a degree of 

separation.

Avenue of  trees 

set in grass or 

possibly some low 

level planting.  

This will soften 

the road and 

provide a green 

buffer between the 

road and the 

residential 

development.

Avenue

P
age 226



Good Avenue Example

The Chase, Harlow
Image from Google Earth

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 37

Avenue

P
age 227



The parades of trees will frame the space once matured.  However they could have been 

used to demarcate the ends of on street parking bays.  This would have gone some way 

to reduced the dominance that the on street parking has on the overall streetscene.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 38

Rumble strips in the carriageway will do little to slow vehicles, but combined with 

junctions on raised tables they should slow vehicles and allow pedestrians to cross on 

the desire line.  

Rumble strips forming the ramps to this raised table pedestrian crossing will slow vehicles 

allow pedestrians to cross on the desire line.  

Images from Google Street View

Avenue

Junction Radii could have been tightened to help control vehicle speeds .

P
age 228



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 39

Internal roads are intended to act as the main access route 

into medium sized development parcels or as an interface 

between boulevards and the more intimate less formal 

routes and spaces.  They share the same characteristics as 

avenues – footways with kerb upstands and conventional 

carriageways.  However they should have the feel of an 

organically formed central village street with changes in 

geometry and carriageway narrowing.   This will help both 

control vehicle speeds and add visual interest.   Whilst 

narrower than avenues tree planting and informal 

landscaping should be included to help green and soften 

the routes.  Parking should be provided on plot but on 

street provision can be designed in and could be used to 

aid traffic calming. Junctions with spur roads should be 

designed to give pedestrians priority with crossing points 

on desire lines not set back from the junctions.  They 

should also be designed to slow vehicles down.

Internal Roads

P
age 229



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 40

Internal Road Section

2 to 6m2 to 6m 5.5m

Standard carriageway design and construction 

with kerb upstands…
Dwellings should be set 

back sufficiently to allow for 

adequate privacy. Scope for 

boundary treatment in the 

form of  hedging or low 

brick wall/railings.

up to 23.5m

Height to width ratio 

should be around  3:1 

as this generally 
provides a good sense 

of enclosure that 
doesn’t feel too narrow 

and over-bearing. 

2 to 3m2 to 3m

Demarcated footway 

with scope for tree 

planting.

Demarcated footway 

with scope for tree 

planting.

Internal Roads

P
age 230



Lanes are more intimate shared spaces where there is no 

designated footway or carriageway.  They should have no 

overtly direct vehicle route through, with trees, planting beds 

and street furniture placed in such a way as to slow vehicle 

speeds.  They are narrower in width than Internal Roads and 

are surfaced with  more materials such as blocks, resin 

bonded gravel or coloured tarmac as these will re-inforce the 

more informal nature of this street type and help create a 

more intimate feel and character.       

Continuous built frontages should be used along Lanes with 

the occasional detached and semi-detached dwellings.  

Dwellings should not always be placed in a conventional 

manner – running in straight lines parallel to each other –

instead a layout that appears more organic is encouraged as 

this will provide interest and add to the informality.

Continuous built frontages can be achieved through a 

number of means, for example by the linking of dwellings, 

the use of high masonry walls between dwellings, joined 

garages and/or appropriately designed carports.

Building heights should for the most part be circa two 

storeys to correlate with the narrow street widths.  However 

this does not preclude taller or lower dwellings so long as 

their placement is carefully considered in the design of the 

street. 

Parking can be provided either on-plot or on-street.  Where 

on-street provision is to be included it should be absorbed 

into the street -scene – by setting back the building line or 

setting parallel to the street between trees for example (see 

p.70&71).  On-street parking spaces should not be 

designated by white lines but instead by the use of 

contrasting block work, surfacing or metal studs.  Trees, 

landscaping and/or street furniture can also be used, in 

conjunction with one of these options.

More detailed guidance on Lanes is outlined on the following 

pages.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 41

Lanes

P
age 231



Lanes

1. The lane has a strong continuous built 

frontage.  Dwellings are typically 2 storeys in 

height some with the first floor partly within 

the roof  space.

2. The use of  projecting gables and varying 

architectural detailing breaks up the linearity 

of  the street.

3. The use of  occasional detached dwellings 

provides a break in the building line and adds 

interested to the street.

4. Dwellings to the corners are designed as dual 

aspect.  There is an opportunity on the 

corners to design distinctive and unusual 

dwellings that act as focal points and can aid 

legibility and wayfinding.

5. There is the opportunity to create 

architecturally interesting rear elevations 

where they  will be highly visible in the public 

realm.

6. On plot car parking is provided by way of  car 

ports with accommodation above or simply as 

driveways to the side of  dwellings.

7. Curved brick walls should be used to visi-

splays where possible to add more interest to 

the street-scene.

8. Use columnar trees on tight corners to ensure 

that whilst they help visually narrow the 

corner they will not obstruct vehicles.

9. Dwellings have informal front gardens with 

no boundary treatment. of  1m to 2m in width 

.  These help soften the streetscene and 

preventing the streets from becoming too 

‘urban’.  They can help with rain water 

retention, provide a ‘privacy strip’ between 

residents and street users and allow for 

planting ‘personalisation’ by residents.

10. The carriageway should be designed as a 

shared surface with a notional 4.8m wide 

‘carriageway’ and a notional 2m wide 

‘footway’.

11. Junctions should be designed as informal 

spaces with no inferred priority.  The use of  

different surfacing such as block paving will 

further emphasis these spaces.

12. Trees planted within the lane can help act as 

traffic calming features and add visual interest 

provided they do not overtly impede 

vehicular movement.  The trees should be 

planted in appropriately designed tree pits and 

surfaced in a material that is porous but 

suitable to walk over and withstand the 

occasional vehicle over-run.

13. Trees used to help terminate views and 

contain space, when corner is not built on.

3

10

1
11

12

13

11

7

1

2

4

4

4

4

4

5

6

8

9

9

12

12

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 42

5

P
age 232



Lanes

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 43

Use trees to help terminate views 

and contain space, when corner is 

not built on.

Trees planted within the lane can help act 

as traffic calming features and add visual 

interest provided they do not overtly 

impede vehicular movement.  The trees 

should be planted in appropriately 

designed tree pits and surfaced in a 

material that is porous but suitable to walk 

over and withstand the occasional vehicle 

over-run.

The lane should be designed as a shared surface with a notional 4.8m wide ‘carriageway’ 

and a notional 2m wide ‘footway’. In order to control vehicle speed and provide a more 

organic appearance to the development, long straight sections or carriageway should be 

avoided.

Dark or ‘urban’ surface material colours such as black asphalt or grey paving should be 

avoided.  Instead materials such as buff resin bonded gravel or coloured asphalt, or natural 

brick/block paving should be used.

Where possible kerb upstands should be avoided.  Instead a flush kerb or edging should be 

used.

The use of  projecting gables and 

varying architectural detailing breaks 

up the linearity of  the lane.

Gabled building provides an interesting 

focal point at the junction point 

Use columnar trees on tight corners to ensure that 

whilst they help visually narrow the corner they will 

not obstruct vehicles. 

On plot car parking is provided by way of  car ports with accommodation 

above or simply as driveways to the side of  dwellings.

Use trees to help frame views and contain 

space, when corner is not built on.

Use slightly taller buildings to 

emphasise corners.

P
age 233



1. Different house types with varying 

roof heights, roof pitches create a 

more varied street scene.  Whilst 

features such as chimneys, porches, 

dormers and gables add interest.  

Although there are different house 

types and large gaps between some 

dwellings there is still an overall 

building line.

2. The use of 1.8m high brick walls 

helps give an element of continuity 

to the streetscene.

3. Dwellings to the corners are designed 

as dual aspect.  There is an 

opportunity on the corners to design 

distinctive and unusual dwellings that 

act as focal points and can aid 

legibility and wayfinding.  Here there 

is an example of a two dwellings 

joined to create a 90 degree corner-

tuner (3a). The use of ‘cranked 

buildings’ at the end of streets will 

make for an interesting focal points 

whilst at the same time suggesting 

the mews is not a dead end (3b).

4. There is the opportunity to create 

architecturally interesting rear 

elevations where they  will be highly 

visible in the public realm.

5. On plot car parking is provided by 

way of car ports with 

accommodation above or garages  or 

simply as driveways to the side of 

dwellings.

7. Curved brick walls should be used to 

visi-splays where possible to add 

more interest to the street-scene 

8. Dwellings have informal front 

gardens with no boundary treatment. 

of 1m to 2m in width .  These help 

soften the streetscene and preventing 

the streets from becoming too 

‘urban’.  They can help with rain 

water retention, provide a ‘privacy 

strip’ between residents and street 

users and allow for planting 

‘personalisation’ by residents.

9. The carriageway should be designed 

as a shared surface with a notional 

4.8m wide ‘carriageway’ and a 

notional 2m wide ‘footway.

10. Trees should be planted informally 

within the grass verges to create 

vertical interest.

8

1

9

3

2

4

5

3a

7

7

13a

3a

5

5

5

6

8

9

3b

3

3

4

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 44

Lanes

P
age 234



Lanes

Curve to the street draws the eye and adds interest to the streetscene.

Different house types with varying roof  heights, roof  pitches and features such as chimneys and the 

use of  garages and carports should be used to create visual interest in the street whilst keeping a 

fairly consistent building line.

Trees should be planted 

informally within the grass 

verges to create vertical 

interest. 

Grass verges of  1m to 2m in width should be used to help soften 

the streetscene and prevent them becoming too ‘urban’.  Grass 

verges can help with rain water retention, provide a ‘privacy strip’ 

between residents and street users and will allow for planting 

‘personalisation’ by residents

Curved walls to visi-splays adds interest to the street-scene.

The use of  ‘cranked buildings’ at the end of  streets will make for an interesting focal points whilst at 

the same time suggesting the mews is not a dead end.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 45

Rear gables such as this which are prominent focal points in the street scene should be designed to 

be architecturally interesting.

P
age 235



1. The street has a strong continuous built frontage.  

Dwellings are typically 2 storeys in height some with the 

first floor partly within the roofspace.

2. Dwellings brought forward to visually break line the of  

the linearity of  the street and provide visual interest.

3. Points like this can also be used to narrow the 

‘carriageway’ as a form of  vehicle speed control. A 

narrowing of  3m will require cars to give way but still be 

sufficiently wide enough for refuse vehicles.

4. Dwellings like these need to be designed to terminate 

views and  act as focal points.

5. Use opportunities to incorporate existing hedgerows in a 

positive manner such as here where a hedgerow is used 

as a rear boundary to gardens and is also a green feature 

in the street.  A grass verge can be used as a buffer 

between the carriageway and the hedge.

6. Visitor/additional parking can be provided on street, 

such as here in parallel bays ‘book ended’ by trees. Bays 

should be 6m x 2.4m.

7. The carriageway should be designed as a shared surface 

with a notional 4.8m wide ‘carriageway’ and a notional 

2m wide ‘footway’.

8. Due to the low level of  traffic on the street dwellings 

have no front garden.

9. Trees planted to add vertical interest in the street.

10. Turning heads can act like cul-de-sacs but should be 

‘hidden’ within the street.

1
10

9
3

2

4

5

7 6

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 46

8

8

Lanes

P
age 236



Lanes

Dwellings brought forward to visually break line the of  the street.  

Points like this can also be used to narrow the ‘carriageway’ as a form of  vehicle 

speed control.

3m

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 47

Visitor/additional parking can be provided on street, such as here in 

parallel bays ‘book ended’ by trees. Bays should be 6m x 2.4m.

View down street terminated by gable fronted dwellings.

Turning heads should be ‘hidden’ within the street.

P
age 237



Whilst turning heads need to be designed to accommodate refuse vehicles 

they can still be designed to create intimate and interesting spaces.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 48

Lanes

P
age 238



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 49

Indicative Lanes Section

3m min3m min 6.8m

The carriageway and footway should be designed as a shared-space 

and surfaced in a material such as buff asphalt, which is tonally 

softer than black top and tells drivers this is not a conventional 

road..  The use of kerb upstands should be avoided with a flush 

kerb or edging used instead.  There is scope for tree planting in the 

carriageway to help soften the street and act as a traffic calming 

measure.

Consider the 

placement of windows 

to avoid issues of 

overlooking between 

dwellings..

12.8m min

Dwellings should be set back 

sufficiently to allow for 

informal front gardens with no 

enclosure.  Scope for low level 

landscaping.

Height to width ratio needs 

careful consideration on Lanes to 

ensure that they don’t too narrow 
and over-bearing. The ratio can 

be increased by setting the first 
floor partly in the roof-space with 

dormers.

Dwellings should be set back 

sufficiently to allow for 

informal front gardens with no 

enclosure. Scope for low level 

landscaping.  

Lanes

P
age 239



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 50

Indicative Narrow Lanes Section

2m2m 6.8m

The carriageway and footway should be designed as a 

shared-space and surfaced in a material such as buff 

asphalt, which is tonally softer than black top and tells 

drivers this is not a conventional road..  The use of kerb 

upstands should be avoided with a flush kerb or edging 

used instead.  There is scope for tree planting in the 

carriageway to help soften the street and act as a traffic 

calming measure.

Consider the 

placement of windows 

to avoid issues of 

overlooking between 

dwellings..

10.8m min

Threshold strip, 

demarcated from 

carriageway with scope 

for low level 

landscaping.

Threshold strip, 

demarcated from 

carriageway with 

scope for low level 

landscaping.

Lanes

Height to width ratio needs careful consideration 

to avoid creating a street-scene that  feels too 

narrow and over-bearing. The ratio can be 
increased by setting the first floor partly in the 

roof-space with dormers.

P
age 240



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 51

1m min1m min 6.8m

The carriageway and footway should be designed as a 

shared-space and surfaced in a material such as buff 

asphalt, which is tonally softer than black top and tells 

drivers this is not a conventional road..  The use of 

kerb upstands should be avoided with a flush kerb or 

edging used instead.  There is scope for tree planting 

in the carriageway to help soften the street and act as a 

traffic calming measure.

Consider the placement of 

windows to avoid issues of 

overlooking between dwellings..

8.8m min

This width should not be used for long runs but 

instead only to provide points of interest in the 

street-scene.  Again the height to width ratio needs 

careful consideration to avoid creating a street-

scene that  feels too narrow and over-bearing. The 

ratio can be increased by setting the first floor 

partly in the roof-space with dormers.

Threshold 

strip, 

demarcated 

from 

carriageway 

with scope 

for some  

low level 

landscaping..

Indicative ‘Pinch-point’ Lanes Section

Threshold 

strip, 

demarcated 

from 

carriageway 

with scope 

for some  

low level 

landscaping

Lanes

P
age 241



Courtyards

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 52

Courtyard clusters of  dwellings present the opportunity to 

reflect/reinterpret the farm yard typology that is prevalent 

throughout the Arden area.  They can also be used as way of  

developing awkward or difficult pockets of  land in an efficient and 

effective manner.

Careful thought should be given to the appearance and arrangement 

of  the dwellings that form the perimeter of  the court.  These should 

ideally be barn like in their massing, and architecture and linked 

together. 

1. ‘Farm house’ at entrance to the courtyard

2. Active frontage to gable end of  the barn

3. Single surface material

4. Integrated car ports

5. Variation in roofline

6. Building heights 1.5 to 2 storeys

7. Brick built boundary walls to street

3

1

2

4

4
45

6

7

There is scope for a ‘farm house’ dwelling to be ‘tied’ to the 

courtyard and placed at the entrance to the court.  Car ports should 

be integrated into the layout to ensure that the courts do not become 

dominated by parked cars.

The courtyard should be  wholly surfaced in a single material such as 

block paving, laid to a simple pattern only broken by drainage 

channels that are formed from the same material.  There should be 

no ‘front gardens’ or boundary treatments to the fronts of  the 

dwellings. 

P
age 242



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 53

The housing scheme at Ivy Farm Lane, 

Coventry  involved the development of 

land around two farms in a 

conservation area.  In order to respect 

the setting of the two farm houses and 

existing barns and preserve the 

character of the conservation area, the 

new development was arranged in a 

series of ‘farmyard style’ courtyards.  

The grouping of the dwellings that are 

linked together has helped spatially 

define the courtyards.  Their 

architectural detailing is more 

farmhouse than ‘barn’ like but they are 

well designed nonetheless.  A more 

simple approach to the courtyard 

surfacing would have worked better –

no need for the black-top spur.

Images from Google Earth, Google 

Street View and planning records

Courtyards

P
age 243



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 54

Edge roads will play an important part in both integrating the new 

developments with the wider open countryside whilst at the same time 

providing the views from the open countryside  into the new development.

It is important that these parts of the proposed development integrate 

positively with the wider area with dwellings and other uses that overlook it 

providing natural surveillance and a pleasant outlook for the residents.

The roads along these edges should not act as physical barriers but should 

instead be designed to blend in with the natural landscape and ensure that 

vehicle speeds are kept to a minimum.

Where ever possible clear, safe and direct pedestrian and cycle routes should 

connect the wider  area into the heart of the developments.

Private drives in these locations could also be used provided they are designed 

to fulfil the same purpose.

Edge Roads

P
age 244



Edge Roads

1. There is a complete informality between 

the edge of  the development and the open 

space.  The gentle meandering of  the road 

surfaced in a buff  or natural coloured 

material further adds to the effect.

2. Irregular placement of  dwellings, no 

consistent built line and dwellings are 

placed quite far apart and have varying 

form and architectural detailing.

3. Extensive tree planting between dwellings 

to soften the building line and further blur 

the boundary between the open space and 

the edge of  the housing development.

4. Dwellings have informal front gardens 

with no boundary treatment.  Footpaths 

and driveways surfaced as per the 

carriageway.

5. Carriageway at crossing points narrowed 

to 2.75m emphasises the crossing point 

and requires vehicles to give way.  The use 

of  rumble strips combined with the 

placement of  trees and/or bollards adds 

vertical emphasis to the narrowing and will 

help reduce vehicle speeds.

6. Pedestrian and cycle route overlooked by 

dwellings. Upto 3m wide with no formal 

edging and informal tree planting. Garden 

walls facing footpath constructed in brick.

7. Dwellings linked to provide a continuous 

but informal street frontage.  

8. On plot car parking is provided by way of  

car ports with either a simple pitched roof  

or accommodation above.

9. Dwellings to the corners are designed as 

dual aspect.  There is an opportunity on 

the corners to design distinctive and 

unusual dwellings that act as focal points 

and can aid legibility and wayfinding.

10. There is the opportunity to create 

architecturally interesting rear elevations 

where they  will be highly visible in the 

public realm.

11. Curved brick walls should be used to visi-

splays where possible to add more interest 

to the street-scene.

12. Junctions should be designed as informal 

spaces with no inferred priority.  The use 

of  different surfacing such as block paving 

will further emphasis these spaces.

13. Tree planting in general should be 

informal and either planted singly or 

grouped, this will be in keeping with the 

local hedge rows and copses.  Formal 

avenues should be avoided. The placement 

of  trees in views and to screen parking 

should be carefully considered.

3 78

8

99

9 10

11

12

13

13

13 13

9

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 55

P
age 245



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 56

open space/countryside

varies 2-6m2-3m 4.5-6.8m

The carriageway and footway should be designed 

as a shared-space and surfaced in a material such as 
buff asphalt, which is tonally softer than black top 

and tells drivers this is not a conventional 

road. Their respective width will depend on the 

location of the footpath and cycle way relative to the 

road. The use of kerb usptands should be avoided 
with a flush kerb or edging used instead. This will 

allow blurring of the grass verge and carriageway 

adding to the more informal nature of this 

environment.

There is scope to either utilise 

existing trees or plant 

additional ones here to help 

soften the edge to the 

development.   Trees here 

should be planted in an 

informal manner.  Avenue 

planting should be avoided.

Scope for dedicated 

footway/ cycleway 

with the trees 

providing a degree 

of separation from 

the carriageway.

Dwellings fronting edge road should be set 

back sufficiently to allow for substantial 

informal tree planting and should have 

informal front gardens with no enclosure.  

This will help soften the edge of  the 

development as it ‘transitions’ into the wider 

informal open-space/countryside. 

Where existing trees are to be incorporated 

their RPA will determine the setting out of  

the built form/carriageway.

Indicative Edge Road Section

Edge Roads

Dwellings 

predominantly 

two storeys in 

height but with 

scope for three 

storeys where 

they will act as 

focal points 

such as 

prominent 

corner 

buildings.

P
age 246



Good Edge Road Example

Holmead Walk, Poundbury
Image edited from Google Earth

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 57

Edge Roads

P
age 247



The absence of a kerb upstand allows the grass to grow over the edge of the road.

There is a complete informality between the edge of the development and the open space 

the gentle meandering of the road further adds to the effect.

The use of bollards to narrow the carriageway at crossing points will help reduce speeds.  

Note the complete lack of any formal crossing points.

Landscaping is generally informal with no clear plot demarcation.

Images from Google Street View

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 58

Edge Roads

P
age 248



Examples of modern house types that 

could be used to maximise the views and 

outlook from edge road locations.. 

Additional height (above traditional 2 

story dwellings) will be acceptable where 

it provides focal buildings such as corner 

plots.

Images from Planning records and 

site monitoring

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 59

Edge Roads

P
age 249



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 60

Junctions are crucial in aiding permeability, helping with legibility 

and can act as focal/meeting points.  As such they should be 

designed and treated as spaces and points of interest  in their own 
right rather than merely as locations to facilitate vehicular 

movement through the development.  Where ever possible roads 
should intersect at junctions in a way that does not infer one route 

has priority over another.  This combined with an absence of road 

markings will help to ensure that vehicles enter the junctions and 
manoeuvre by way of negotiation with other users (including 

pedestrians).  Swept paths and generous radii should be avoided and 
instead tight corners should be used to help reduce vehicle speeds.  

The diagrams on p.60 illustrate that irregularly designed junctions 

can be achieved whilst still allowing for refuse vehicles to 

comfortably manoeuvre through the spaces.

Surface treatment should be contrasting to the road to the adjoining 

carriageway to emphasis the uniqueness of the space whilst the 
careful placement of trees and appropriate street furniture can add 

interest, offer additional uses for the space and subtly infer an 

appropriate width for the carriageway.

The design and placement of buildings around the junctions will be 
crucial in ensuring that first and foremost they are well overlooked 

and have a good degree of natural surveillance but also that the 

dwellings engage positively with active frontages and architecturally 

interesting elevations.

Visibility Splays

When designing both roads and junctions, care should be given to 
ensuring that vehicle speeds are kept as low as possible to ensure 

that forward visibility splays and junctions visibility splays can be as 

small as possible and do not become detrimental to the design and 
placement of buildings.  Early engagement with the Local Highway 

Authority in the design process on the proposed layout is strongly 
recommended.

Internal Junctions

P
age 250



Examples demonstrating that irregularly shaped junctions 

can comfortably accommodate refuse vehicles.

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 61

Internal Junctions

P
age 251



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 62

Good examples of informal junctions at Newhall. Note the use of trees to help define the appropriate width of the ‘carriageway’. The use of contrasting materials helps create points of 

interest.

Images from Google Street view

Internal Junctions

P
age 252



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 63

Previous housing design policy and guidance advocated an 

approach where car parking was removed from the street and 

located to the rear of  dwellings normally in communal parking 

courts. Whilst this guidance was drafted with the intention of  

creating less car dominated street-scenes the reality is that in 

many circumstances residents did not choose to park in the 

parking courts but instead on the street in front of  their 

property. The reasons for this are varied but range from concern 

that the parking courts are perceived as not safe to use (rightly 

or wrongly), are too far away from the properties they serve or 

are just not convenient to use. Whether or not these views are 

correct does not take away from the fact that on schemes where 

residents do not use the parking courts as intended; the streets 

are blighted by cars parked on footways, grass verges and other 

places that they were not intended to be. This not only looks 

unsightly but can also inconvenience pedestrians and cyclists can 

hamper refuse collections and potentially delay emergency 

vehicles.

Furthermore initial research suggests that the provision of  

parking courts on ‘traditional’ medium density residential 

developments does not always make for an efficient use of  land, 

with a higher percentage of  land area being used for car 

circulation and parking, usually to the detriment of  garden 

space.

Whilst it will be impossible to eliminate ill considered parking 

completely it is felt that in order to minimise its likely impact 

parking should be provided on plot or as near to the relevant 

dwelling as possible.  This does not mean that layouts should 

revert to the traditional semi-detached format but should look to 

create ways to ‘absorb’ the parking into the built-form so as to 

not create monotonous street-scenes.  

On street parking should be carefully considered and restricted 

to short runs that are softened by tree planting and/or 

landscaping or ‘framed’ within the built form.   

Parking

P
age 253



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 64

Examples of  inappropriate on-street parking.

Images from Google Street View

Parking

P
age 254



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 65

Dwellings linked via carportsParking with accommodation above

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 255



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 66

3mVaries

Varies

Varies

Albermarle Link, Beaulieu – figures above reflect site example.

Images from Google Street View

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 256



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 67

Harrow Rd, Newhall – figures above reflect site example.

Images from Google Street View

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 257



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 68

The Old Dairy, Henlow

Images from Google Street View

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 258



Gunners Rise, Shoeburyness.

Images from Google Street View

and Google Earth

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 69

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 259



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 70

Parking to the front of dwellings should be carefully considered and restricted to short 

runs to ensure that it does not dominate the street scene. The example here demonstrates 

how the buildings can be used to ‘frame’ the parking bays to ensure they are not overly 

visible in the street. The use of the same material for this section of road and the parking 

spaces creates a pseudo square. The trees add an element of vertical interest and soften 

the space.

The size of parking spaces should be agreed with the highways authority at the application 

stage, however the following are identified as being reflective of absolute minimum sizes:

 On plot spaces – 2.4m x 4.8m

 Parallel bays – 2.2m x 6m

Where appropriate, opportunities to provide spaces above the absolute minimum standard 

should be taken.

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 260



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 71

On street parking should be carefully considered and restricted to short 

runs that are softened by tree planting and/or landscaping or ‘framed’ 

within the built form.   

Parking – Suggested Designs

P
age 261



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 72

Buff Asphalt or similar – for crossing points, junctions, key points along the street

Public Realm Materials Palette

HRA with buff chippings or similar – main carriageway

Avenue and Internal Road

Conservation edging 

or similar

Conservation kerb 

or similar 

Charcoal Tactile – for 

crossing points.  They 

provide a suitable contrast 

to light paving.  Not 

suitable for tarmac foot 

paths. 

Arboresin or similar to tree pit –

where they are location in the footway 

or carriageway

Timber Bollards – more 

durable than metal

Images from Google 

Images and marketing 

documentation

Natural stone paving or high quality 

reconstituted stone paving – for key spaces, 

entrances to developments, junctions etc.

A major programme of  public realm works has been carried out 

over the last 7 years across Coventry City Centre. This has 

helped to achieve a step change in the quality of  the city centre 

environment and pedestrian connectivity. These developments 

offer a prime opportunity to apply such schemes within a 

residential environment. Therefore high quality hard and soft 

landscaping will be expected throughout. In order to 

demonstrate a high standard of  landscape design the hard and 

soft landscape elements will need to be considered together and 

integrated early in the design stage.  Where appropriate this 

should include permeable  paving that supports sustainable 

drainage. The following slides provide good (but not exhaustive) 

examples of  appropriate materials

P
age 262



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide

Buff Asphalt or similar – for crossing points, junctions, key points along the street

Public Realm Materials Palette

Arboresin or similar to tree pit 

– where they are location in the 

footway or carriageway

Natural stone paving or 

high quality reconstituted 

stone paving – for key 

spaces, entrances to 

developments, junctions etc.

Granite Cobble 

drainage channel

Conservation Kerbs to 

Parking Bays with bay 

laid with setts

Natural Stone Setts

Lanes, Turning Heads and Courtyards

Granite Setts

Conservation edging 

or similar

Conservation kerb 

or similar 

Charcoal Tactile – for 

crossing points.  They 

provide a suitable contrast 

to light paving.  Not 

suitable for tarmac foot 

paths. 

Granite Cobbles

73

Timber Bollards – more 

durable than metal

Images from Google 

Images and marketing 

documentation

P
age 263



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide

Buff Asphalt or similar – carriageway material

Public Realm Materials Palette

Resin Bound Gravel – Private drives

Timber Bollards – more durable 

than metal

Edge Road

Conservation edging or 

similar

Conservation kerb or 

similar 

Block Paving Natural Stone or 

Reconstituted Stone – Private 

drives

Images from Google Images 

and marketing documentation 

and site monitoring

Unbound Quality Gravel – foot 

path/cycle paths through open space 

and open countryside

74

P
age 264



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 75

Boundary demarcation

There are a number of  options for front garden boundary demarcation.  These can be formal in 

nature – brick wall or railings – or informal – hedgerow or planting.  Of  the streets listed in the 

hierarchy, formal types would be best suited to the Link Road, Avenue and Internal Road street 

types.  These could be combined with some form of  hedging and landscaping to help soften the 

street scene.

Due to the more informal, intimate nature of  the Lanes these either have no boundary demarcation 

or have some form of  planting to keep pedestrians away from ground floor windows.

In all cases planting needs to be carefully considered and located so as to ensure that it is clear who 

owns it/is responsible for its maintenance, can be maintained relatively easily (pruning/clipping, 

low watering requirements) and is located so as to ensure that it is not going  to be trampled on –

on a corner, or a desire line for example.

Brick boundary walls need to be of  a style that ties in with the overall character of  the development 

– brick type, coping type etc.  Railings also need to reflect the character of  the scheme and 

consideration should be given to the fixing details so as to ensure that they are not overly obtrusive.

Materials such as concrete blocks and concrete post and wire fences will not be acceptable.  Timber 

should be avoided as it has a relatively limited lifespan and requires regular maintenance, and if  not 

properly maintained  it can quickly look unsightly and detract from the street scene.

Front boundary treatment is only there to demarcate the front of  a property and not there to create 

a privacy screen, therefore it should not exceed 1m in height.

In the case of  edge roads, as these have no form of  front boundary, careful consideration needs to 

be given to vehicle parking prevention and corner cutting deterrents.  In these cases robust 

informal landscaping can be used.

Rear boundary walls should be 1.8m in height and constructed in  brick where they will be visible in 

the public realm.  Should visibility splays need to be created consideration should be given to 

curved walls as opposed to angled walls as these are more aesthetically pleasing. 

Where rear boundaries are not in the public realm, good quality timber fencing will be considered 

appropriate.  This should be 1.8m in height and should be solid – i.e close boarded etc.  This 

includes fences that divide gardens.  Lower or open fences will not be acceptable. 

However, boundary treatments should include permeable features such as small gaps in walls and 

fences and gaps below gates. This will help support the movement of  wildlife and support their 

valuable habitats.

Railings to front boundary

Boundary walls designed in the style of the 

buildings they are attached to.

Masonry wall topped with railings.

Stone wall with stone coping.

Brick wall with brick and tile coping.

Structured landscaping to front of 

dwellings.

Open informal front boundary 

treatment.

Images from Google Street View and 

site monitoring

P
age 265



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 76

Lighting

Lighting will form an important part of  both the public realm, the street scene and the natural environment.

Lighting proposals will need to be agreed with the highways authority and should be designed in accordance with Coventry City Council’s Street Lighting Standard 

Development specification which is based on current British and European Standards.

Lighting within community areas and designated centres should contribute towards a high quality public realm and could incorp orate appropriate lighting of  buildings and 

public spaces.

Lighting within and adjacent open spaces and green/blue corridors will need to be carefully designed and have regard to the impact lighting can have on ecology and 

biodiversity. Excessive lighting in natural environments has been shown to reduce productivity and overwinter survival of  birds as well as impacts on invertebrates and 

bats. In this respect applicants should have regard to the most recent version of  the Bat Conservation Trust Guidance – Bats and Artificial Lighting in the UK, and other 

appropriate guidance and British Standards.

Images from Google images

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 76

P
age 266



Commercial and Community Centres

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 77

These centres have the potential to form the heart of the new 

developments.  Therefore they should be designed as local landmarks 

with an emphasis on high quality architecture and materials.  They 
should also integrate positively with the surrounding street network to 

ensure that they can be easily and safely reached on foot or by bike 
from all parts of their catchment area.  

Consideration should be given to creating centres that are mixed use 
at ground floor with residential accommodation above.  This will 

ensure that not only do the buildings have more ‘presence’ 
architecturally but they make more efficient use of the land rather 

than merely being single storey flat roof boxes. 

Where residential accommodation is included careful consideration 

will need to be given to the location of entrances, bin and bike 

stores. The location of service yards will also need careful 
consideration so as to ensure that they are screened from public view 

and their operation does not adversely affect any residents either 
above the premises' or nearby.

Car parking should be designed to act as multi-use spaces for activities 

such as community events or local markets etc. Therefore surfacing 
materials and elements such as tree planting and even kerb upstands 

will need careful consideration.

Heights of apartment buildings above commercial or community 

space will normally be limited to 4 or 5 storeys. This will need to be 

varefully considered alongisde the surrounding land uses.

With regard to larger format commercial units, there is a tendency to 

try and disguise these or blend them with the landscape. In practice 
this is generally difficult to achieve and so these buildings should be 

designed to be architecturally interesting through either form and/or 

materials (see examples on p.80 and 81) Building heights will need to 
be considered on a case by case basis having regard to their location 

and surrounding land uses.

P
age 267



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 78

Commercial and Community Centres

Good Example – Poundbury, Dorset

The Local centre in Poundbury, Dorset has been designed in the form 

of  a traditional market square.  This square has a real sense of  place and 

the residential accommodation above the retail units ensures that there is 

life and activity at all times of  the day.  Its is unfortunate however that 

the resin bonded gravel has worn away so quickly and this does detract 

slightly from the overall appearance of  the space.  This demonstrates 

that materials for heavily trafficked spaces such as these need very 

careful consideration. 

The height of  commercial buildings will be considered on a case by case 

basis and will have regard to their location within the development and 

prominence to the highway network, green infrastructure and other uses. 

Buildings within the community centres will, where appropriate be 

mixed use, and incorporate apartments above shops etc.  these will 

normally not exceed 4-5 storeys

Images from Google Earth and Google Street View

P
age 268



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 79

Commercial and Community Centres

Good Example –

Houlton, Rugby.

The community space in 

the urban extension  of   

Houtlon, Rugby, has 

been designed around an 

existing farm house and 

outbuilding.  The 

buildings are arranged to 

form a type of  ‘farm 

yard’ with the new build 

elements taking the farm 

shed vernacular and 

interpreting it in a very 

modern way.
Images from Google Street View, site monitoring and Planning records

P
age 269



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 80

Commercial Developments

Good Examples – Morrison Distribution 

Centre, Bridgewater (Left) and Audi, 

Leicester (Above & Right).

Where developments will include larger scale 

employment type uses these will be expected to 

be designed to a high standard, with high quality 

materials and careful thought given to making 

unusual and interesting designs.

Images from Google Images and site 

monitoring

P
age 270



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 81

Good Examples – National Battery 

Plant (Left) WMG at University of 

Warwick (bottom Left) and NAIC at 

University of Warwick (bottom 

Right).

Where developments will include larger 

scale employment type uses these will be 

expected to be designed to a high 

standard, with high quality materials and 

careful thought given to making unusual 

and interesting designs. Opportunities to 

maximise the integration of  natural 

features such as trees, landscaped lawns 

and water features are strongly 

encouraged.

Images from planning records

Commercial Developments

P
age 271



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 82

Where developments are located on sites with existing trees, 

hedgerows or other significant vegetation’ every effort 

should be made to integrate these elements into the 

development. They can help bed schemes more quickly 

into the surrounding area, provide instant character, help 

maintain ecological habitats and make developments more 

attractive to prospective buyers.

Where these elements are to be retained they should do so 

in a way that ensures that they will survive and remain 

healthy, will not become maintenance liabilities or adversely 

affect residents.

The location of mature trees will need careful consideration 

not only in terms of respecting their root protection area 

(RPA) but also in ensuring that maintenance of them does 

not fall onto residents. Therefore they should be located 

where ever possible in public areas that are maintained by a 

dedicated maintenance organisation or the city 

council. Mature trees that are located within the curtilage 

of a dwelling invariably come under pressure to be cut back 

or felled, due to real or perceived structural issues caused to 

properties or due to them impacting on light and out look.

Hedgerows by their very nature lend themselves to use as 

boundary demarcation either for public spaces or private 

property. This will be dependent on the species that 

comprise the hedge and their suitability for the intended 

use. Where used for private property consideration must be 

given to long term maintenance and protection of the 

hedge.

The landscape within the Arden area has a number of 

important water features. The benefits of these should be 

maximised in terms of blue infrastructure and where 

appropriate support multi-functional green/blue areas. This 

will include brook corridors, pools, swales and attenuation 

basins etc. Such features will not only provide public 

amenity and an attractive natural environment but will also 

provide sustainable management of drainage and flood risk.

In more general terms developments within the SUE areas 

should meet the requirements of Policy GE3 of the Local 

Plan and support an overall net gain in biodiversity across 

the SUE as a whole.

The Natural Landscape

P
age 272



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 83

Topography

There will be areas where the housing 

developments sit below view points and 

so it is especially important to ensure 

that the roof-scape and street layout add 

visual interest and appear more organic 

in layout – as would be the case in a long 

established hamlet/village. 

Housing layouts need to respond to the 

topography of the sites and dwellings 

should be designed to ‘step’ up hills.

Image from Google Street View

The Natural Landscape

P
age 273



1

3

2

4

5

7

6

1

The Natural Landscape

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 84

Trees, Hedgerows & Open-space

Use opportunities to incorporate existing hedgerows in a positive 

manner such as at (1.) where a hedgerow is used as a rear boundary to 

gardens and is also a green feature in the street. A grass verge can be 
used as a buffer between the carriageway and the hedge.  Hedgerows 

can also form front boundaries such as at (2.) where as in this case the 
hedge forms a green boundary to the open-space.  Where hedges are 

to be used like this it should be done in a way that ensures that they 

will survive and remain healthy, will not become maintenance liabilities 
or adversely affect residents.  Their use will be dependent on the 

species that comprise the hedge and their suitability for the intended 
use.

Hedgerows can also be useful elements to help define the edge of the 
development and the wider open-space. In situations like this there is 

the opportunity to use house types that have balconies and/or living 

space at first floor level such as at (4.) which maximises the aspect 

afforded by the edge location and ensures that there is a form of over-

looking/passive surveillance of the open-space as well as visual 
interest when viewing the development from the open-space (5.)

Where existing mature trees (6) are to be retained within the 

development, they should be done so in a positive manner and used as 

an opportunity to create small areas of informal open-space (7) that 
are well over looked by dwellings. These will ensure the root 

protection areas of the trees are not damaged and ensure that the trees 
are sufficiently far enough away from dwellings so as to cause issues 

in the future – overshadowing, subsidence etc.

When used like this existing features can create ‘instant landscape’ 

which would otherwise take decades to develop. In all cases though 

ongoing and long term maintenance strategies will be essential to 

ensure the hedgerows, trees and open spaces are retained and 

protected.

Upton, Northampton. 

Dwellings balconies to 

living accommodation 

or bedrooms at first 

and second floor. 

Image from site 

monitoring

P
age 274



The Natural Landscape

Positive use of existing trees to create ‘instant landscape’ at Poundbury, Dorset.  The 

trees also act as a strong focal point in the view down the street above.

Images from Google Street View and Google Earth

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 85

Mature oak tree makes for a strong focal point in the long view 

down this street.  The buildings with their horizontal emphasis 

lead the eye down to the street to the oak. 

This small copse of trees adds interest 

to and softens the roof-scape.

P
age 275



The Natural Landscape

Poor integration of existing hedgerow at Beaulieu, Chelmsford.  The hedgerow is fenced 

in and is too close to dwellings making it overbearing and a maintenance liability.

Images from Google Earth and Google Street View 

Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 86

P
age 276



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 87

The Natural Landscape

Drainage and Flood Risk

Water retention will form a crucial element of  any future development sites’ 

drainage and flood risk strategy . Where ever possible existing elements such as 

water features, natural depressions and surface water flow path should be considered 

as part of  this strategy. Where these are not suitable or additional measures are 

required these should be designed to create positive and attractive features that offer 

visual amenity, support improvements to water quality and contribute to the local 

habitat. Where appropriate areas for drainage and flood mitigation measures should 

be utilised as multi-functional green/blue infrastructure in accordance with Local 

Plan policy and to support efficient and effective use of  land. Further guidance on 

these elements can be found in the Local Plan and via supporting guidance from the 

Environment Agency and Lead Local Flood Authority.

Water retention features at Upton, Northampton have been  positively integrated into the design

Grey to Green, Sheffield (left) 

and reed beds, Upton (above). 

Swales are used to retain 

rainwater and  clean it of  its 

pollutants via the stone, 

underlying soils and planting.

Images from Google Street 

View and planning records

P
age 277



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 88

The Natural Landscape

On Plot drainage and attenuation options.

Where developers opt to incorporate on plot measures to support drainage mitigation requirements, the Council are 

supportive of  options such as green roofs and green walls, but only where they are well designed and well maintained. 

They can also help 'soften' the appearance of  a building within the natural landscape. Other low key options can include 

the provision of  on-plot water buts to collect rainwater and other garden features such as green sheds, rain gardens and 

rock pools.

Pictures from site promotional material. Top left Coventry University, bottom left, Deeley's scheme Stratford on 

Avon, top centre and top right local garden examples. From google Images.

P
age 278



Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 89

The Natural Landscape

Brook Corridors, pools and blue infrastructure.

Blue infrastructure will provide a key component of  incorporating high quality design as 

well as supporting the overall drainage and flood risk strategy . This can take the form of  

individual pools, or in the case of  Keresley and Eastern Green in particular existing and 

established brook corridors. These brook corridors should become focal points for the 

green and blue infrastructure strategy and provide a high quality useable route through the 

wider developments – connecting with the wider natural landscape both within the sites 

and beyond. They should incorporate high quality footpaths and cycle ways whilst also 

providing a magnet for ecology and biodiversity to thrive across the sites. Although 

highway crossings through these corridors will be required they should be kept to a 

minimum. Good Examples – David Wilson Homes at Brooklands, Milton Keynes.

Images from site promotional website and Google Images

P
age 279



END

NB: The following pages contain images lifted from a range of  publicly available internet sources, including Google 

images, street view and planning application files and masterplans. They are replicated within this document on a not for 

profit basis and are used solely to support the wider content of  the SPD. The Council is not making this document 

available for purchase and is only issuing it on its website for use by relevant stakeholders. Should you have any issues or 

concerns with this approach please contact us via localplan@coventry.gov.uk

Pages – 7-12, 14-19, 21-23, 28, 32-33, 37-38, 53, 57-59, 62, 64, 66-69, 72-76, 78-81, 83-89

P
age 280

mailto:localplan@coventry.gov.uk


Coventry Urban Extensions Design Guide 91

Recommended Trees 

ULTIMATE

SIZE *

SPECIES ORNAMENTAL FEATURES

APPROX SIZE 

AFTER 25 YRS 

(height x spread in 

m)

S Acer campestre 'Streetwise' Yellow autumn colour 7 x 3

L Acer platanoides 'Columnare' Yellow flowers,

yellow autumn colour

7 x 2.5

M/L Acer platanoides 'Crimson Sentry' Purple leaves 8 x 3

M/L Alnus cordata Yellow catkins 12 x 3

M/L Carpinius betulus 'Streetwise' Yellow autumn colour 9 x 3

M Carpinus betulus

'Frans Fontaine'

Tight columnar form 9 x 2.5

L Corylus colurna Yellow autumn colour 8 x 3

L Fagus sylvatica 'Dawyck' Golden foliage 8 x 2

L Fagus sylvatica

'Dawyck Gold'

Yellow foliage fading to green 8 x 2

L Fagus sylvatica

'Dawyck Purple'

Purple leaves 8 x 2

S/M Malus trilobata Red/purple autumn colour 6 x 2.5

S/M Malus tschonoskii Purple/red/yellow autumn colour 6 x 4

S Prunus 'Amanogawa' Pink flowers, double 7 x 1

S Prunus 'Ichiyo' Pink flowers, double 7 x 4

M Prunus padus 'Albertii' Racemes of white flowers 7 x 3.5

S Prunus sargentii 'Rancho' Pink single flowers

red autumn colour

7 x 2

M Prunus schmittii Small pink flowers.  

Attractive bark

10 x 4

S Prunus 'Snow Goose' White flowers.  

Bright green leaves

6 x 3

S Prunus 'Spire' Single pink flowers.  

Purple/red autumn colour

6 x 3

M Prunus 'Sunset Boulevard' Pink flowers, red autumn colour 10 x 3

M Pyrus calleryana 'Chanticleer' White flowers.  

Orange/yellow autumn colour

8 x 3

L Quercus robur 'Fastigiata' Columnar habit 15 x 4

S/M Sorbus aucuparia 'Streetwise' Brilliant autumn colour 7 x 3

S Sorbus aucuparia 'Cardinal Royal' Dark red fruits 9 x 4

L Tilia platyphyllos 'Streetwise' Red winter shoots 12 x 4

ULTIMATE 

SIZE *

SPECIES ORNAMENTAL FEATURES

APPROX SIZE 

AFTER 25 YRS 
(height x spread in 

m)

L Acer platanoides

'Emerald Queen'

Yellow flowers, yellow autumn colour 12 x 7

L Acer platanoides 

'Crimson King'

Black/purple leaves 10 x 6

L Acer platanoides 'Deborah' 

('Schwedlen')

Red/purple young leaves Red/orange/yellow 

autumn colour

12 x 7

L Acer rubrum 'Armstrong' Spectacular autumn colour 10 x 7

L Aesculus x carnea 'Briottii' Red "candles".  Produces conkers 7 x 3

L Aesculus hippocastanum White "candles".  Produces conkers 8 x 4

L Aesculus indica Large pink "candles".  Orange/yellow autumn 

colour

8 x 4

M Betula utilis jacquemontii Chalk white bark 10 X 4

M/L Carpinuus betulus Yellow autumn colour 8 x 4

L Castanea sativa White flower spikes 12 x 6

L Fagus sylvatica Yellow/brown autumn colour 8 x 4

L Fagus sylvatica 'Purpurea' Purple foliage 8 x 4

M/L Fraxinus angustifolia

"Raywood"

Fine texture.  Purple autumn colour 8 x 5

L Fraxinus excelsior

"Westholf's Glorie'

Young foliage bronze 8 x 5

M Fraxinus ornus Masses of white flowers 8 x 4

L Juglans nigra Furrowed bark, pinnate leaves 12 x 6

L Juglans regia Pinnate leaves, walnuts 10 x 5

L Liriodendron tulipfera Yellow autumn colour 12 x 6

L Platanus hispanica Bold foliage, flaking bark 12 x 7

M/L Prunus avium 'Plena' Double white flowers 10 x 6

M Prunus padus 'Watereri' White flower spikes 12 x 8

L Pterocarya fraxinifolia 

'Heerenplein'

Pinnate leaves, catkins 15 x 7

L Quercus cerris Glossy lobed leaves 12 x 8

L Quercus frainetto 

'Hungarian Crown'

Large dark green leaves 15 x 10

L Quercus ilex Evergreen 7 x 4

L Quercus palustris Red autumn colour 10 x 5

M Robinia pseudoacacia 'Bessoniana' Pinnate leaves, white flowers 10 x 8

M Sorbus thibetica 'John Mitchell' Large grey leaves 7 x 5

M/L Tilia cordata 'Greenspire' Fragrant ivory flowers 10 x 5

M Tilia x euchlora No aphid problems 10 x 6

L Tilia platyphyllos 'Aurea' Yellow twigs in winter.  Upright 8 x 4 

L Tilia platyphyllos 

'Princes Street'

Red twigs in winter.  Upright 12 x 5

L Tilia tomentosa 'Brabant' Grey foliage. No aphid problem 10 x 6

TREES FOR NARROW STREETS

Narrow heads or narrowly conical outline, good hardiness rating.

TREES FOR WIDE ROADS AND AVENUES

Generally large trees with a dense canopy, good hardiness rating

Note: All proposed tree types, tree pit details and locations to be agreed with the City Council

P
age 281



 

 

Appendix 1- Indicative Keresley Masterplan 

Introduction 

The attached indicative Masterplan is intended to provide a high-level basis from which to support 

the delivery of the Keresley Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE). The Indicative Masterplan primarily 

reflects the Masterplan Principles policy (DS4) and Housing Allocation policy (H2:1) within the new 

Local Plan and the overarching aim to ensure the SUE is delivered in a comprehensive  way having full 

regard to key infrastructure requirements and landscape characteristics.  

The indicative Masterplan itself is not intended to be rigid or fixed. It is intended to provide a clear 

steer as to the key developable areas and key areas of green infrastructure. Points of access and 

specific location of key services, facilities, routes and linkages are moveable and can be negotiated as 

certain phases of the development move through the planning process.  

As the SUE evolves through the planning process and development stages, this Indicative Masterplan 

will be updated to reflect approvals and delivery. 

 

Background 

The proposed development at Keresley has been promoted to the Council since 2007, when it was 

first considered as part of the Council’s then Core Strategy document. The area was considered in 

detail during the Core Strategies 2009 examination and the Inspectors conclusions included approving 

the allocation but indicating a need to ensure its delivery was considered comprehensively to ensure 

the appropriate delivery of infrastructure and retention of the most important landscape features.  

Due to changes in the planning system in 2010, the Coventry Core Strategy did not proceed to formal 

adoption. Subsequently work commenced on a new Local Plan in 2013, and the Keresley site was again 

promoted and considered through this process. 

The New Local Plan was subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State on April 1st 2016, examined 

between July 2016 and January 2017 and the Inspectors report received in October 2017. The Local 

Plan was formally adopted by the City Council on the 5th December 2017 and came into effect the 

following day. The new Local Plan includes an Allocation for a Sustainable Urban Extension at Keresley 

(Policy H2) and provides Masterplan Principles in Policy DS4. The allocation makes provision for: 

 Approximately 3,100 homes. 

 Approximately 2,500sq.m of new retail-based space split across 2 separate local centres 

(policy R1). This is to include a range of small-scale units providing a range of local community 

uses and top up provisions. Local Centres are to be located at separate ends (north and south) 

of the SUE. 

 A new distributor link road connecting Long Lane and Winding House Lane, which is to be fully 

operational prior to the full completion of the SUE.  

 Surrounding junction improvements as appropriate and identified through a robust TA but 

with specific focus on the existing highway and junctions at Bennetts Road, Tamworth Road, 

Page 282



 

 

Fivefield Road, Sandpits Lane, Thompsons Lane, Long Lane and Watery Lane to ensure they 

continue to operate in a safe and appropriate way. 

 Provision of 1 x 2FE primary school and contributions towards a 8FE secondary school.  

 Retention of medieval fishponds, ancient woodlands and important (ancient) hedgerows.  

 The creation of a publicly accessible green and blue corridor focused around the Ancient 

Woodlands, Hounds Hill and the Hall Brook. This corridor should run north-south between the 

Burrow Hill Fort to the north and the Jubilee Woodland to the south east. 

 Enhanced connectivity between the Ancient Woodlands and protection of the Jubilee 

Woodland. 

 Inclusion of appropriate screening to existing residential areas.  

Further to the development and adoption of the Local Plan, an outline planning application was 

submitted to the City Council in July 2014 for the first phase of the Keresley SUE area. This made 

provision for approximately 800 homes, the southern local centre, a new 2xFE primary school and 

contributions towards the highway requirements and green and blue infrastructure corridor. This 

application was subsequently referred to the Secretary of State who has now indicated he will not be 

giving the application any further consideration. Planning Permission was formally granted in February 

2018. 

 

Key Points of the Indicative Masterplan 

1. Development Plots. The indicative Masterplan identifies a range of developable areas across 

the SUE area. These have been informed through the Council’s SHLAA 1 work, the Local Plan 

examination process and public consultation. They have also had regard to the first phase of 

the SUE which now has  planning approval. The way the SUE is structured in terms of 

developable areas, land ownership and site promotion, suggests an opportunity to deliver a 

host of smaller ‘hamlet’ or ‘village’ style developments each potentially with a slightly 

different take on the Arden character, but each integrated into the overall fabric of the SUE. 

We would support the wider consideration of this concept through site specific 

Masterplanning at the planning application stage. Although not all developable areas highlight 

smaller scale opportunities for green infrastructure, it is expected that as each development 

plot is brought forward in greater detail that existing trees, hedgerows and landscape features 

will continue to be integrated into the scheme as well as small scale amenity green spaces in 

accordance with the Council’s Green Space Strategy and density policies (as appropriate). 

 

2. The Green and Blue Infrastructure Corridor. This corridor is clearly shown running through the 

centre of the site from the Burrow Hill Fort in the north along Hounds Hill (between the 

ancient woodlands) and then picking up the Hall Brook sweeping round to the south east of 

the site toward the Jubilee Woodland. The identification of this corridor reflects landscape 

character and sensitivity as well as heritage value and considerations relating to the Scheduled 

Ancient Monument (SAM) at the Burrow Hill Fort. The principle of the corridor has been 

developed in partnership with Historic England whilst the element around the Hall Brook has 

also been developed in partnership with the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood 

                                                                 
1 SHLAA – Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (2016)  

Page 283



 

 

Authority. This corridor will be the focal point for on-site green infrastructure within the SUE 

as a whole. It should provide a mixture of formal and informal green spaces, which, where 

appropriate, should be multi-functional to maximise land efficiency. Where appropriate and 

in accordance with wider Green Infrastructure requirements and landscape design of 

individual phases, developer contributions towards green infrastructure within this corridor 

will be accepted. This will have regard to land ownership and how the specific phase of 

development relates to the targeted corridor. 

 

3. The Keresley Link Road. The link road is considered important to helping manage traffic 

distribution through and around the site. The intention has always been to run the link road 

between Long Lane and Winding House Lane, although the exact route is not yet finalised. 

This Indicative Masterplan does not finalise the route, but does show an indicative example 

of how it may travel through the site between the two known points. The exact alignment of 

the road should be considered further through the panning application stages, having regard 

to Transport Assessments and Junction analysis. The exact point of connectivity at Winding 

House Lane will also need to be considered in greater detail having regard to its impact on 

Prologis Park and the wider operations of that site. The transport modelling which 

underpinned the Local Plan highlighted the importance of focusing the initial delivery of the 

road towards the western side of the site, with the full completion to the east necessary by 

the end of the SUE’s development programme (expected to be approximately 2031). This is 

also expected to link in with wider highway improvements to the A444 and M6 Junction 3.  

 

The road itself will be reflective of the environment through which it travels or expected 

to travel upon completion of the SUE. This is expected to include a predominantly residential 

area, although the eastern end of the road, where it heads towards Winding House Lane for 

example, is likely to include more of a natural environment to the south (as it passes by the 

Jubilee Woodland) or commercial to the north (as it passes and links to Prologis Park. As such, 

the carriageway should be designed to carry all types of vehicles. The environment through 

which it passes should then be reflected in terms of width, materials, junction access and 

speed restriction. This should be agreed with the Highways Authority as part of the application 

process. 

 

In terms of how the road is expected to move through the site, it should only cross the Hall 

Brook once, therefore minimising the need for ‘bridging’ and limiting the environmental 

impact on the brook. In terms of access junction points along the link road, these are expected 

to be limited to help maximise traffic flow along the route. Key junction upgrades are already 

planned at Long Lane/Tamworth Road. Further enhancements are expected at Bennetts Road 

South and Watery Lane. The exact provision of further junctions in and within the SUE itself 

will be considered on a phase specific basis having regard to the supporting transport 

assessment and site design. 

 

4. Woodlands. The Plan highlights the 4 Ancient Woodlands at The Alders, Pickhorne Wood, 

Bunson’s Wood and Hall Yard Wood. It also highlights the relatively newly planted area at 

Jubilee Woodland. All woodlands are identified within Policy H2 as needing to be protected 

and incorporated into the wider SUE. 

Page 284



 

 

 

5. Water Features (Blue Infrastructure). The Keresley area contains a number of water features, 

most notably the Hall Brook. These are shown on the indicative Masterplan and are expected 

to provide a focal point for blue infrastructure, biodiversity enhancements and drainage 

infrastructure. 

 

6. Protected Wildlife Sites. Within the wider Keresley SUE area, a number of specific wildlife sites 

have been identified. The 4 Ancient Woodlands are identified as Local Wildlife Sites as are the 

Houldsworth Crescent Corridor to the far east of the site, the Sandpits Lane Meadows and 

Pastures to the south and the Keresley Mere to the west. Given the area is previously 

undeveloped though, surveys of current ecology and biodiversity value should be undertaken 

at the planning stage to help support connectivity of species and the appropriate maintenance 

or mitigation of areas of biodiversity and ecology value. 

 

7. Trees and Hedgerows. In addition to the Ancient Woodlands and Jubilee Wood, the indicative 

Masterplan also highlights a number of other tree groupings and established hedgerows. 

Indeed, such features are symbolic of the wider historic landscape and should be retained and 

incorporated wherever possible into new developments. Site level assessments should be 

undertaken of all trees and hedgerows (as appropriate) at the application stage. Where these 

assets are retained they will need to be supported by a robust maintenance plan to ensure 

their long term retention. 

 

8. Key View Points. These are highlighted at Burrow Hill Fort and the top of Hounds Hill. These 

are considered of strategic importance l inked to the setting of the SAM. Other key view 

corridors should be considered as part of wider design considerations within respective 

phases of development. 

 

9. Primary Access Points. Primary access points are shown on the indicative Masterplan for 

information only. This shows potential for access points to be realised along Bennet’s Road, 

Tamworth Road, Watery Lane and Fivefield Road. There may also be opportunities to secure 

wider access from the Link Road to help support its integration into the wider development. 

The extent of any access and the number of dwellings it wi ll serve will be assessed through 

the Transport Assessment that accompanies a specific planning application. 

 

10. Key Connectivity Routes. The development of the site brings with the opportunity to extend 

pedestrian and cycle routes and integrate existing and new public rights of way. To help 

integrate the site into the landscape and the surrounding area it will be important to ensure 

pedestrians, vehicles, cyclists and public transport can move in and out of the site as well as 

through it in a clear and coherent manner. The indicative Masterplan highlights a small 

number of connecting through routes, alongside the potential access points to help show how 

key linkages should work through the site. The routes here should be considered a minimum 

with every opportunity taken to integrate key routes and linkages to support movement 

through and around the site, especially to the benefit of active travel. The indicative P lan also 

shows how the development parcels should interact with the green corridor to support good 

accessibility and connectivity between the built and natural environment.  

Page 285



 

 

 

11. ‘Urban’ Edges. The indicative Masterplan highlights key areas of interaction between the 

identified development plots and the green corridor and wider countryside. These areas will 

need to be carefully designed to ensure they provide a high quality interface with the natural 

environment. This will be particularly true where development sits adjacent to the Woodland 

areas, Hounds Hill and the Hall Brook corridor. The SUE Design Guidance provides a character 

definition of ‘edge road development’ which should provide the ini tial basis for how 

development is designed within these areas. The indicative Masterplan also highlights areas 

of primary street frontage where new development will be expected to integrate with the 

existing street scene. 

Moving Forward 

As already highlighted, this indicative Masterplan is intended to provide a platform from which to 

support the delivery of the wider Keresley SUE. It is fully expected that as individual development 

parcels come forward they will be supported by their own more extensive Masterplans, however 

when they do so they will need to ensure they reflect the wider considerations and requirements 

associated with the SUE as a whole. This is reflective of Policy DS4 in the Local Plan and will help ensure 

the sustainable delivery of the SUE as a whole. 

It is also important to clarify that the indicative Masterplan will be kept under review and updated as 

and when it is appropriate. This will most commonly reflect any relevant planning decision and will be 

communicated through the Annual Monitoring Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 286



 

 

The Indicative Masterplan 

 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 27th August 2019

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for City Services – Councillor P Hetherton  

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
All Wards

Title:
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Emissions

Is this a key decision?
No – Although the matter may affect all Wards in the City, it is not anticipated that the impact will be 
significant

Executive Summary:

On the 27th November 2018 a report detailing proposals to move away from an age-based vehicle 
licensing policy to a policy based on vehicle emissions was considered by Cabinet.  At the meeting 
authorisation was given to consult with stakeholders on the proposed changes prior to 
implementation. This report provides detail on the responses received through the consultation.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to consider the results of the consultation and: 

1) Approve the implementation of emission-based vehicle licensing requirements for private hire 
and hackney carriage vehicles licensed by the Council.

2) Approve the timescales for a phased introduction in emission standards. 

3) Delegate authority to the Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services to identify and 
authorise suitable alternative proposals for achieving emission levels in existing vehicles.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix A – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy – Consultation Results   
June 2019

Background papers:

None

Page 289

Agenda Item 9



Other useful documents:

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel
or other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 290



Report Title – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Emissions

1. Context (or background)

Proposal - Move away from age-based vehicle licensing restrictions to a requirement 
based on emission standards – consultation results

1.1. Under the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) system, local authorities are required to 
assess air quality in their area and designate Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA’s) if they 
find the limit values for certain pollutants are being exceeded or are likely to be exceeded in the 
future.  If an AQMA is declared, then the local authority must produce an action plan to improve 
air quality.  

1.2. In Coventry, the levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) were forecast to exceed the limit values within 
the stator timescale so a citywide AQMA was declared in 2009.  Nationally 700 AQMA’s have 
been declared, mostly because of high NO2 levels.  NO2 is produced by burning fuel in air, the 
major sources of which are road vehicles but also domestic and commercial heating, and air 
travel.  

1.3. In 2014, the European Union commenced legal action against the UK for failing to meet the 
limit values for NO2 in 16 of 43 air quality zones, one of which is the West Midlands.  The air 
quality directive required that each zone meets the limit value by the end of 2015, but most 
cities’ plans show that compliance will only be achievable by 2020, or in the case of London, 
2025.  

1.4. The current policy for licensing taxi’s is that no hackney carriage more than 10 years old (from 
date of registration) or private hire vehicle more than 6 years old (from date of registration) will 
be licensed.  Exceptions are made where the condition of the vehicle is considered to be 
“exceptional”, having regards to the condition of its bodywork and interior, mechanical condition 
and mileage.  

1.5. Recognizing the negative environmental impact that an ageing taxi fleet has and the need to 
improve air quality Coventry City Council consulted with various stakeholders on a proposal to 
replace the existing age policy with a policy that concentrates on vehicle emissions rather than 
age specifically.

1.6. The phased emission-based requirements and timescales that were consulted on are shown 
below-

Date from Currently Licensed Vehicles New Vehicle Applicants

1st January 2020 Only vehicles with an emission rating 
of Euro 4 or above to be renewed

Required to have zero emission 
capability

1st January 2022 Only vehicles with an emission rating 
of Euro 5 or above to be renewed

Required to have zero emission 
capability

1st January 2024 Only vehicles with zero emission 
capacity to be renewed

Required to have zero emission 
capability

1.7. In addition to the requirements detailed in 1.6 all licensed vehicles will be required to be no 
older than 15 years from the first date of registration.

2. Options Considered and Recommended Proposals

2.1 This proposal is aimed to address the environmental impact of private hire and hackney 
carriage vehicles in the City taking into consideration the actions and timescales highlighted in 
the Coventry Local Air Quality Action Plan.

2.2 The Council is obliged to improve local air quality and achieve the required reductions in NO2. 
The proposal to stop licensing older, less environmentally efficient private hire and hackney 
carriage vehicles is considered the best option to reduce NO2 levels and encourage a more 
sustainable taxi fleet for the future.

Page 291



2.3 Consultees were asked to provide alternative proposals to achieve the required changes. None 
were received.

2.4 It is proposed that authorisation be given to allowing approved modifications to existing vehicles 
to be identified and approved where appropriate.

3. Results of Consultation Undertaken

3.1. The 90-day consultation was circulated to all Coventry City Council licensed drivers, vehicle 
proprietors and operators alongside other key stakeholders, and was available via the council’s 
website for general participation. 

3.2. In total 575 responses were received. The responses to questions relating to the proposals can 
be found at Appendix A.

Key Questions:

Question 3. - Do you agree with the recommendation to limit vehicles licensed as hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles by their emission standards rather than their age to improve 
air quality in the City?

564 respondents answered this question. 285 (50.53%) agreed with the recommendation. 235 
(41.67%) did not agree and 44 (7.8%) did not have an opinion.

Question 4. – Do you have any concerns with the proposed implementation dates?

553 respondents answered this question. 290 (52.44%) confirmed that they were concerned 
with the proposed dates. Of these 264 thought that the dates were too early, with 26 
respondents feeling that the changes should be implemented earlier. 222 (40.14%) were not 
concerned with the proposed dates and 41 (7.41%) did not have an opinion.

4. Timetable for implementing these decisions

4.1. If approved as initially proposed the changes would come into effect on the 1st January 2020.  

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1. Financial implications

There are no financial implications arising as a direct result of this proposal.

5.2. Legal implications

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides that a local authority may 
attach such conditions to vehicle licences as are considered ‘reasonably necessary’. Officers 
consider that a condition dedicated to the improvement of air quality can be considered 
‘reasonably necessary’ for the purposes of this Act.

Page 292



6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

It will reduce the negative environmental impact of taxis and assist in the Councils targets to 
improve air quality standards in the City contributing towards the following objectives within the 
Council’s Plan:

 Improving the quality of life for Coventry’s people by improving health and wellbeing and 
reducing health inequality.

 Creating an attractive, cleaner and greener city.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

Through established reporting and governance arrangements.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

None

6.4. Equalities / EIA 

None

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

Reduce NO2 levels in line with the Councils Air Quality Action Plan improving air quality across 
the City.

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

None

Page 293



Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Sarah Elliott, Head of Fleet and Waste Management 
Andrew Walster, Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services

Directorate:
Place

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7683 3024
Email: sarah.elliott@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Andrew Walster Director of Streetscene and 

Regulatory Services
Place 7/8/19 7/8/19

Lara Knight Governance Services 
Co-ordinator

Place 7/8/19 7/8/19

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members)
Cath Crosby Lead Accountant Business 

Partner
Place 7/8/19 7/8/19

Amy Wright Criminal and Licensing 
Solicitor, Legal Services

Place 6/8/19 6/8/19

Councillor P Hetherton Cabinet Member for City 
Services

- 7/8/19 7/8/19

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 294

mailto:sarah.elliott@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


Appendix A

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy – Consultation 
Results June 2019
 

Question 1. 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Organisation

Individual

Are you responding as an individual or on behalf of an organisation?

Answer Choices Responses Percentage
Individual 561 97.57%
Organisation 14 2.43%
Total 575

Page 295



Question 2.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

Other

HC owner or driver licensed by CCC

HC owner or driver licensed by other

PH vehicle owner or driver licensed by CCC

PH vehicle owner or driver licensed by other

PH Operator licensed by CCC

PH Operator licensed by other

Member of the general public

Please decribe yourself by choosing one of the following. Are you:

Answer Choices Responses Percentage
Member of the general public 203 35.3%
Private Hire operator licensed by another authority 0 0
Private Hire operator licensed by CCC 3 0.52%
Private Hire vehicle owner or driver licensed by another authority 2 0.35%
Private Hire vehicle owner or driver licensed by CCC 36 6.26%
Hackney Carriage vehicle owner or driver licensed by another authority 3 0.52%
Hackney Carriage vehicle owner or driver licensed by CCC 321 55.83%
Other 7 1.22%
Total 575

Page 296



Question 3.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

No opinion

No

Yes

Do you agree with the recommendation to limit vehicles licensed as HC and PH vehicles by 
their emmision standards rather than their age to improve air quality in the City?

Answer Choices Responses Percentage
Yes 285 50.53%
No 235 41.67%
No opinion 44 7.80%
Total 564

Question 4.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

No opinion

No

Yes

Do you have any concerns with the proposed implementation dates?

Answer Choices Responses Percentage
Yes 290 52.44%
No 222 40.14%
No opinion 41 7.41%
Total 553

Page 297



Question 5.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

Yes

No

Would you like to receive information about incentived available to Coventry licensed taxi 
drivers interested in trialling or purchasing electric hackney carraige taxi's?

Answer Choices Responses Percentage
Yes 147 26.34%
No 411 73.66%
Total 558

Page 298



 Public Report
Cabinet Report

A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as 
it contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The grounds for privacy are that it 
contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) and information in respect of which a 
claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. The public 
interest in maintaining the exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

Cabinet 27th August 2019

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor J Mutton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Chief Executive

Ward(s) affected:
None

Title:
Coventry Street Lighting PFI Debt Re-Financing

Is this a key decision? 
No

Executive Summary:

This report seeks Cabinet approval for refinancing the Council’s Street Lighting PFI Contract to 
deliver lower costs than under the existing contract. Due to the need to achieve financial close 
before the end of September, Cabinet is being requested to approve delegation to the Director of 
Finance and Corporate Services following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic 
Finance and Resources to agree the final legal and financial details with an intention to achieve 
the most favourably beneficial outcome for the Council. The financial parameters within which 
agreement is anticipated to be made are set out in the private version of the report.

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is requested to:

(1) Approve in principle the proposals for re-financing the City Council’s Street Lighting Private 
Finance Initiative debt in line with the financial proposals set out in the private version of the 
report.

Page 299

Agenda Item 10



(2) Delegate authority to the Director of Finance and Corporate Services, following consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, to:  

a.  Agree the final proposal for re-financing on the basis that a financial benefit is provided 
to the Council over the term of the PFI contract and subject to the Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services seeking such legal and financial advice as he deems 
necessary.

b.  Negotiate, agree and enter into any and all documents; issue any notices or certificates; 
and/or take any decisions; that the Director of Finance and Corporate Services deems 
necessary to document and implement the agreed proposal for re-financing.

List of Appendices included:

None

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

Report to Cabinet 23rd February 2010: Coventry Street Lighting Private Finance Initiative – 
Preferred Bidder Appointment and Award of Contract

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 300



 Report title: Coventry Street Lighting PFI Debt Re-financing

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The City Council entered a PFI contract with Connect Roads Coventry (CRC) in 2010 to 
upgrade and maintain street lighting in the city over a 25-year period. The contract has 16 
years to run. The Council pays a unitary charge to CRC to cover all the costs of the PFI 
scheme, including the costs of servicing the debt, as well as ongoing services and 
maintenance of the Street Lighting in the city. This amounted to £7.9m in 2018/19. The 
contract is one that the Council considers works effectively and there are good working 
relationships between the Council and CRC.

1.2 Originally, Balfour Beatty Investments Ltd owned 100% of CRC, but has sold an 80% stake 
to Equitix Infrastructure 4 Ltd, one of the funds set by the specialist infrastructure investor, 
Equitix. Equitix have been active in both acquiring PFI schemes and looking to re-finance 
PFI debt in recent years. The shareholders invested around £6m in the project at Financial 
Close, predominantly through shareholder loans but also some ordinary share capital.

1.3 Around £50m of the c.£56m capital investment costs under the contract were funded by 
CRC borrowing from 2 lenders: Barclays and Nord LB. As things stand there is around 
£45m outstanding. Loans from the 2 lenders (Barclays and Nord LB) are charged at an 
interest rate of c6.9%. Those floating rate loans were hedged at the start of the contract 
through complimentary interest rate swap agreements with the same funders, to turn them 
into fixed rate loans for the full funding term which runs to 6 months from the contract expiry 
date. Since the original arrangement, the Barclay swap was subsequently novated to 
Aviva.

1.4 There is a contractual obligation for PFI agreements to be analysed on a regular basis to 
identify any potential benefits from debt re-financing. However, all parties need to be in 
agreement for a re-financing to occur. The opportunity to refinance the PFI at this point 
reflects current lower interest rates (this project reached financial close when the funding 
market was still being negatively impacted by the banking crash and as such affected 
funding terms), changes in the financial markets in recent years and the position of lenders 
and their preference for continuing to participate in the PFI market or redirect their attention 
into other financial instruments. These circumstances have coincided at this point, 
providing an opportunity to reduce the cost to the PFI scheme, thereby providing savings to 
both the PFI provider and the City Council under the contract. Several other local 
authorities have undertaken debt restructuring of this nature in recent years.

1.5 The PFI scheme is part funded by government grant. As a consequence, the Department 
for Transport (DfT) is a key stakeholder and must agree to any refinancing arrangement as 
must HM Treasury who provide pan Government oversight of all PFI projects.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 There are a number of potential options to reduce costs, ranging from the renegotiation of 
the existing terms to the replacement of existing lenders through a full debt re-financing. 

Option 1: Do Nothing

2.2 Under this option the existing arrangement could continue with an interest cost of 6.9% pa. 
Whilst this fixed cost would provide certainty it is be higher than could be achieved in the 
current climate. Although doing nothing would not necessarily prevent a restructure or 
negotiation in the future, there is no guarantee that this would be the case. Doing nothing 
would also delay any savings that could be achieved. 

Page 301



Option 2: Full Open Market Funding Competition

2.3 Under this option new funders would be sought within the banking market, with both the 
existing funding agreements being cancelled, and new agreements put in place. There 
would be significant one-off transaction and breakage costs to buy out the current funders, 
in particular the existing swap contracts, which are set out in the private report. These 
major one-off costs would in turn need to be met from new debt within the scheme, the 
funding costs of which would largely offset any savings through a lower interest rate, giving 
a small estimated one-off gain which is set out in the private report. 

2.4 However, as the scheme is currently highly geared, being initially 90% debt funded, any 
significant new debt taken out to meet the impact of swap breakage costs would apply 
pressure to existing debt limits within the contract.

2.5 A procurement of new funders would also carry increased risk, with no guarantee about 
either the willingness of funders to become involved or the interest rate that might be 
charged. In addition, a full replacement of funders would result in significant transaction 
costs. There would be a potential for abortive adviser costs of c£90k.

Option 3: Existing Funder Renegotiation

2.6 Under this option revised terms are negotiated with the existing funders to vary the 
arrangements with one approach being to agree the replacement of one funder with the 
other thus consolidating all the debt with one funder. In doing so a lower interest rate would 
be charged. In part this relies on the desire for one organisation to withdraw from PFI and 
the other to expand their involvement. 

2.7 As the extent of change is less than would be the case with the full open market 
replacement of funders, the transaction costs for the Council are lower with fewer 
contractual changes and no swap buy out costs. However, as there would still be some 
uncertainty, the potential for abortive adviser costs remains.

2.8 The level of savings would vary depending on a number of factors including the interest 
rate achieved through refinancing, the exact level of transaction costs and the amount of 
replacement debt required and could potentially be taken as either an ongoing sum over 
the remaining 16 years as set out in the private report. 

2.9 It has become clear during discussions with the relevant parties and the Council’s financial 
advisors that the only realistic option is through renegotiation with one or both existing 
funders. In this case one of the funders agreed to buy out the other funder’s share of the 
debt and refinance at significantly lower rates, and on other more preferable funding terms. 
In order to avoid swap breakage costs, the existing interest rate swap agreement would 
remain in place. On this basis, it is proposed that Option 3 be pursued as the method of re-
financing the Council’s Street Lighting PFI contract because this presents the best 
opportunity for the Council to maximise savings under the PFI Contract.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 There is no specific consultation on this issue.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

Page 302



4.1 It is intended that the re-financing is brought to financial close by the end of September. A 
delay beyond this date would reduce the level of saving bringing the possibility that the re-
financing deal is no longer felt to be financially viable by the parties. 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications

Any re-financing benefit can be calculated and taken as an ongoing annual sum over the 
remaining 16 years of the contract or as a one-off sum. In either case the financial benefit 
will be available to help balance the Council’s future medium-term budget position.

The Council has engaged specialist financial and legal advice under delegated authority 
and costs arising from these advisers are expected to cost no more than £90k. The PFI 
provider has similarly arranged its own advisers. The one-off transaction costs of the re-
financing for both the PFI provider and the City Council represent a first call on any re-
financing saving prior to the splitting of the benefit in line with the contract. The savings 
quoted in the private report are shown after these costs have been taken into account. In 
the event of the re-financing not progressing each party will meet their own transaction 
costs incurred. 

The range of potential financial benefits is set out in the private report.

As part of the re-financing, it is possible that some potential options would mean the 
Council accepting an initially higher cost of termination liabilities. These liabilities would 
only be incurred in the event of the Council seeking early termination of the contract. 
Termination can be seen as an option for significantly reducing the level of service 
provision and therefore cost, albeit within the potentially challenging wider context of the 
need to provide services through a different route and simultaneously financing the historic 
contract liabilities. The calculated cost of early termination under the existing contract is set 
out in the private report. The level of termination liabilities falls over time as contract debt is 
repaid. It is considered extremely unlikely that a termination event would be triggered by 
the Council either under the existing or an updated contract and therefore the risk of any 
additional costs being incurred is viewed to be extremely low. 

Any benefits from re-financing are split between the PFI provider and the Council based on 
a nationally prescribed contractual formula.

Total Capitalised Benefit (after costs) CCC Share
Up to £1m 50%
Over £1m to £3m 60%
Over £3m 70%

In addition, it is possible that the overall gain and the total value of Council’s gain could be 
maximised by considering other combinations of the potential deal including where debt is 
maximised up to the limits allowed within the contract. Under these arrangements the 
Council’s PFI partners could be disadvantaged and therefore reject options in which the 
overall gain is greater. Therefore, part of the delegated responsibility will involve seeking 
the most advantageous financial deal for the Council including consideration agreeing a 
commercial adjustment which would be acceptable to all parties to the deal. The Council 
will be informed by its financial and legal advisers in this matter and any final settlement 
would need to be approved by all parties to the agreement and the Department for 
Transport and HM Treasury. The figures quoted in the private report reflect an estimate of 
the likely commercial adjustment. The Council will ensure that the commercial adjustment 

Page 303



that is negotiated (and any other changes to the PFI Contract) can be authorised under 
public procurement law and will not involve the grant of unlawful State Aid.

One further variable factor is whether the Council and Equitix choose to take refinancing 
benefit up-front or over time. This assessment will need to take into account the net present 
value of gains (that it is taking into account the impact of factors such as inflation on any 
future flow of benefits) and the relative risk of receiving money up front or in the future.

The approximate range of financial benefit that may flow from these options is captured in 
the private report. These may available as one-off or on-going benefits or a mix of the two 
depending on the final agreed structure of any deal. It is important to reiterate that 
achievement of a benefit towards the top-end of the available range will require negotiation 
and agreement with the other parties involved and potentially movement away from the 
existing gain-share contractual position.

Successful completion of the deal will be subject to agreeing arrangements with the 
Council’s PFI partners and the Department of Transport (DFT). One potential outcome is 
that it will not be possible to complete a mutually agreeable deal although the strong focus 
will be on ensuring that agreement is reached.

5.2 Legal implications

The Council is empowered to participate in any re-financing of the PFI Contract pursuant 
to:

 Section 1, Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997;
 Section 111, Local Government Act 1972 together with Sections 1(2), 41, 64 and 

97, Highways Act 1980 and Section 65, Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; and
 The General Power of Competence under Section 1, Localism Act 2011.

The Council has engaged legal advisers alongside the in-house legal team to review the 
current documentation and advise on any risks arising from the proposed re-financing 
together with the process to follow.  The Council will need to ensure that the re-financing 
proposals and any gain-share comply with the terms of the PFI Contract.  Any change to 
the PFI Contract can only be agreed where it is permitted by public procurement law.  It is 
not anticipated that the proposals for re-financing will result in any alterations to the 
operational service delivery but some alterations may be required to the financing sections 
of the PFI Contract to reflect the final proposal. The Council will ensure that the commercial 
adjustment that is negotiated (and any other changes to the PFI Contract) can be 
authorised under public procurement law and will not involve the grant of unlawful State 
Aid.

In addition to complying with public procurement law, the Council must ensure that the final 
proposal does not involve the grant of unlawful State aid by the Council to any of the other 
parties.  It is anticipated that the final proposal will be on fully evidenced commercial terms 
and so not result in any unlawful State aid.  Ongoing legal advice will be obtained from 
external and in-house legal support prior to the final proposal being approved by the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services and prior to any documents being entered into 
to implement the proposal.

The Council has previously issued certificates under the Local Government (Contracts) Act 
1997 in respect of several of the agreements documenting the PFI.  To the extent that any 
further certificates are required, then the Director of Finance and Corporate Services will, 
pursuant to the delegations set out in this report, have authority to issue such certificates.

Page 304



The final proposal will need the approval of the Department for Transport and discussions 
are already underway.

6. Other implications

Any other specific implications

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

The key aim of the re-financing is to reduce the costs of the PFI scheme to the Council 
over the remaining life of the contract but leave the operation of the Street Lighting scheme 
unchanged. This is directly aligned to one of the key aims of the Council Plan to deliver the 
Council’s priorities with fewer resources.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

As the interest rate swap arrangements are not being broken and re-set this does not 
expose the refinancing to the risk of potential volatility of financial markets which is 
significant at the moment due to Brexit issues. Therefore, the fundamental risk is that the 
re-financing might not proceed, meaning that the Council incurs abortive legal and financial 
advice costs up to £90k. As a re-financing relies on the agreement of all parties there is a 
risk that it might not be possible to reach an approach that is acceptable to all, and that a 
re-financing therefore does not proceed. However, this risk is minimised due to: the track 
record of Equitix undertaking similar re-financings; the fact that initial discussions have 
been undertaken with the funders about the scope for re-financing; the fact that proposed 
approach entails a renegotiation with existing stakeholders rather than their replacement, 
and the Council’s engagement of Local Partnerships as advisor.

Achievement of benefits towards the top-end of the achievable range may involve an 
increase in the termination liabilities in the event of the Council ending the PFI voluntarily. 
This is viewed as a highly unlikely scenario. 

Legal and financial risk is being managed through the engagement of experienced advisers 
to negotiate the terms of the final proposal and advise on risk mitigation strategies.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The debt re-financing has no direct impact on the organisation, other than the potential 
financial saving. The re-financing should not impact the delivery of services under the PFI 
Contract.

6.4 Equality and Consultation Analysis (ECA)

There are no equalities implications.

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

There are no environmental implications.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

Agreement will need to be reached with other stakeholders including Equitix, as majority 
owner of the PFI provider, Coventry Roads Connect, and other current PFI lenders to the 
scheme. In addition, PFI is heavily regulated and has been part funded by government 

Page 305

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


grant. Significant changes in the structure or financing of the PFI will require the approval of 
government.

. 

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Michael Rennie
Lead Accountant (Corporate Finance)

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7697 2628
Email: michael.rennie@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services Officer
Place 7/8/19 7/8/19

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers 
and members)
Paul Jennings Finance manager 

(Corporate Finance)
Place 7/8/19 7/8/19

Gurbinder Singh Sangha Corporate and 
Commercial Lead 
Lawyer, legal 
Services

Place 6/8/19 7/8/19

Barry Hastie Director of Finance 
and Corporate 
Services

Place 2/8/19 2/8/19

Councillor J Mutton Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Finance 
and Resources

- 12/8/19 13/8/19

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 306

mailto:michael.rennie@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 Public report
Cabinet and Council

A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this 
item, as it contains details of financial information required to be kept private in 
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The grounds for 
privacy are that it contains information relating to the financial and business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). The 
public interest in maintaining the exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.

Cabinet: 27 August 2019
Council: 3 September 2019

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for City Services – Councillor P Hetherton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering 
Authorities

Is this a key decision?
Yes - The proposal in the report is a key decision because the value of the transaction is 

greater than £1 million

Executive Summary:

Background
Coventry City Council currently pays c.£1.6million per year to the private sector for the 
treatment of recyclable material collected in Coventry (including haulage to the treatment 
facility in London and any recyclate value benefit). This cost has increased substantially 
over the last five years. 

Evidence from recent procurement exercises in both Coventry and neighbouring 
authorities shows that this upward trend of cost in likely to continue with substantial rises 
as the private sector continue to move the risk of end market prices and legislation more 
and more to local authorities.

Page 307

Agenda Item 11



2

Therefore in 2017/18 a feasibility study was undertaken to consider the technical and 
economic viability of developing a Material Recycling Facility to serve Coventry City 
Council (CCC), neighbouring authorities, and commercial businesses across the region. 
This study indicated a positive business case, subject to more detailed information.

During the last 12 months a detailed Business Case has been developed to determine the 
viability of a Materials Recycling Facility. This Business case has concluded that a facility 
with a capacity of 120,000 – 175,000 tonnes would be commercially viable. CCC currently 
collects c.24,000 tonnes of recyclable waste per annum. 

Partnership Working
To make the construction of a Materials Recycling Facility financially viable and in order to 
share the risks and benefits of this project a formal agreement has been formed with five 
other local authorities, namely:

 Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council
 North Warwickshire Borough Council
 Rugby Borough Council
 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
 Walsall Council

The Business Case considered in this report has therefore been developed assuming the 
recyclable materials from each of these authorities will be committed to the Project, thereby 
making the facility cost effective, whilst leaving some tonnage head room for commercial 
growth and the future needs of the Partner Councils, or the addition of more Partner 
Councils.

To date the costs of producing the business case have been shared by the partners based 
on the ratio of their likely tonnage inputs. Along with an investment proposal, this report 
seeks authority to further strengthen these arrangements through a second Joint Working 
Agreement which will cover the work up to financial close, including but not limited to the 
costs of procurement, advisors, and the submission of a planning application for the 
construction of a new Material Recycling Facility.

At financial close, the Partner Councils would be required to establish jointly an arms-
length company (AssetCo) to enter into contracts and to deliver the recycling solution, 
funded through loans from the partners councils. 

Location of the Proposed Materials Recycling Facility

The existing Local Plan has made provision for future waste management facilities in 
Coventry by allocating the site adjacent to the current Energy from Waste plant on Bar 
Road. The project described within this report proposes to use c.50% of this site to develop 
the Material Recycling Facility.

Page 308



3

Commercial Considerations

The Business Case considers a number of development and recyclate throughput 
scenarios. The Basecase assumes;

 A 120,000 tonne per annum plant
 Only Partner Council recyclate input of c.90,000 tonnes per annum, rising to 

c.120,000 tonnes per annum in year 20 through household growth
 £34.45million total capital cost, including £2.85million development costs
 Capital loan of c.£31.6million (i.e. £34.45million less £2.85million)
 Non-capital loan of c.£3.369million representing rolled up interest and cash flow 

funding required by AssetCo
 £1million total share acquisition in AssetCo 
 Of this total £35million, a capital contribution ‘share’ from CCC of c.£9.7million 

resulting in a 27.72% ownership of the facility (based on tonnage proportions)

The Basecase provides a treatment cost of c.£44.31 per tonne which equates to 
c.£1.06million per year (including haulage to the treatment facility in Coventry and any 
recyclate value benefit), so a direct saving of c.£584,000 per year against Do-Nothing.

Further, the commercial loan provides a net income to treasury management of c.£156,000 
per year. In addition, the lease of the land will deliver a further income of c.£100,000 per 
year to CCC. In total, the Basecase delivers a financial saving of c.£840,000 per year to 
CCC. 

It is prudent to allow some headroom to account for project changes, so the 
recommendations in the report allow for a capital contingency of £1m. Against the financial 
contribution of £10.7million (i.e. £9.7m plus £1m contingency), this still equates to an 
annual return on investment of 7.8% pa.

Sensitivities have been run through the financial modelling to measure the economic and 
commercial considerations of additional Partner Councils and 3rd party commercial dry 
mixed recyclate, and the benefit to each Partner Council.

Recommendations:

Subject to the consideration of the private report on this matter, the Cabinet is 
requested to:

1. Authorise the entering into the Joint Working Agreement (2) between the Council 
and the Partner Councils in order to facilitate the delivery of the Materials 
Recycling Facility.

2. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) following consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for City Services to finalise the terms and make such 
variations as is deemed necessary to the terms of the Joint Working Agreement 
(2) with the Partner Councils.

3. Approve the Council entering into a lease to AssetCo and to grant delegated 
authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) in consultation with the City 

Page 309



4

Solicitor to negotiate and finalise the terms of the lease in order to facilitate the 
building and the operation of the Materials Recycling Facility Building.   

4. (Following the completion of the Business Case and Joint Working Agreement (2) 
by all the Partner Councils) approve the commencement of a competitive 
procurement process on behalf of the Partner Councils as Lead Authority). 

5. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) following consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for City services and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services to award the contract once the tender process is complete.

6. Approve the use of its powers under Section 12 of Local Government Act 2003 
and Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to establish AssetCo between the Council 
and the Partner Councils and to acquire shares in the AssetCo, funded from 
corporate capital resources

7. Delegate authority to Approve the Council representation on the AssetCo board 
be agreed by the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Member for City 
services, once the format of the board is established as part of the final terms of 
the agreement.

8. Delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) the submission a planning 
application for the development of the Materials Recycling Facility to the Local 
Planning Authority, subject to the conclusion of the necessary surveys. 

9. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) to begin public 
engagement associated with the proposed submission of the planning application 
and to undertake all necessary work to prepare the site ready for the clearance 
and full site investigation.

Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council:

1. Approve a loan facility to AssetCo on commercial market terms to facilitate the 
construction and operation of the Materials Recycling Facility.

2. Approve expenditure under Joint Working Arrangement (2) in respect of the Council’s 
share of development costs up to the point of financial close, to be funded from 
earmarked reserves.

3. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive Place and the Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services in consultation with the City Solicitor, and the Cabinet 
Member for City Services to finalise and agree the detailed terms of the transaction 
with AssetCo. The authority under this delegation shall also include: 

 the power to enter into the relevant legal agreements and associated 
documents necessary to complete the transaction with AssetCo;

 (in relation to the management of the loan facility) the power to negotiate and 
agree variations to the terms of the loan facility;

Page 310



5

 the power for the Council to provide such services as is deemed necessary 
(e.g. HR and/or Payroll) to AssetCo;

 The power to enter into the Service Level Agreement with AssetCo 
committing the Councils waste tonnage for 20 years.

4. Approve the addition to the Councils approved capital programme for the purposes 
of delivering the Materials Recycling Facility.

Council is recommended to:

1. Approve the use of its powers under Section 12 of Local Government Act 2003 and 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to establish AssetCo between the Council and 
the Partner Councils and to acquire shares in the AssetCo. 

2. Approve a loan facility to AssetCo on commercial market terms to facilitate the 
construction and operation of the Materials Recycling Facility.

3. Approve expenditure in respect of the City Council’s share of development costs up 
to the point of financial close, to be funded from earmarked reserves

4. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive Place and the Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services in consultation with the City Solicitor, and the Cabinet 
Member for City services to finalise and agree the detailed terms of the transaction 
with AssetCo. The authority under this delegation shall also include: 

 the power to enter into the relevant legal agreements and associated 
documents necessary to complete the transaction with AssetCo;

 (in relation to the management of the loan facility) the power to negotiate and 
agree variations to the terms of the loan facility; and

 The power to enter into the Service Level Agreement with AssetCo 
committing the Councils waste tonnage for 20 years.

5. Approves the addition to the Councils approved capital programme for the purposes 
of delivering the Materials Recycling Facility.

List of Appendices included:

(1) MRF Site Location Plan

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

(1) DEFRA: Our Waste, Our Resource: A Strategy for England (published December 
2018)

(2) WRAP: Gate Fees 2017/18 Final Report (published July 2018)

Has it been, or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

Page 311



6

No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory 
Panel or other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

Yes - 16 July 2019

Page 312



7

Report title: Proposed development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with 
Partnering Authorities

1. Context (or background)

1.1Legislative drivers:

1.2Local authorities have a duty under the Waste Regulations 2011 to separately collect 
four types of recyclable material (glass, metal, paper and plastic) and to ensure that 
collection methods pass the national legislative requirements that they are Technically, 
Environmental and Economically Practical (TEEP).

The Waste Regulations transpose the European Union Waste Framework Directive 
into UK law and are enforced in England by the Environment Agency. The core 
direction and emphasis of the Directive is the movement of waste management 
practices up the waste hierarchy (Figure 1 below), and its implementation in line with 
life cycle thinking.

Figure 1 – The Waste Management Hierarchy:

1.3Current disposal arrangements:

1.4CCC currently contracts the treatment of recyclate collected at the kerbside to Tom 
Whites Waste (bulking and haulage) and Biffa (Materials Recycling Facility). The 
volatility of global markets for processed recyclate has led the private sector to pass 
the risk of price fluctuations onto the local authorities. As a result, CCC has seen a 
significant rise in the cost of treatment during the life of the current contract (see Table 
1).

Table 1 Bulking, haulage and MRF costs 2014 – 2019

Page 313



8

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
20,162 19,989 19,793 20,955 21,910

Bulking and Haulage 457,400£        463,735£        469,260£        520,022£           597,641£           
MRF (Nett rebate) -£                266,502£        412,701£        483,033£           1,054,973£        
Total 457,400£        730,237£        881,961£        1,003,055£       1,652,614£       

Total Spend

Year

Tonnage

Figure 2 Bulking, haulage and MRF costs 2014 – 2019

 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
£-

£5.00

£10.00

£15.00

£20.00

£25.00

£30.00

£35.00

£40.00

£45.00

£50.00

£-

£200,000

£400,000

£600,000

£800,000

£1,000,000

£1,200,000

£1,400,000

£1,600,000

£1,800,000

Bulking and Haulage MRF (Nett rebate)

Recyclate Rebate Revenue Total expenditure

Recyclate Bulking, Haulage and MRF costs 
2014/15 - 2018/19

£/
to

nn
e

To
ta

l E
xp

en
di

tu
re

1.5According to the Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) the median 
processing gate fee paid by local authorities sent to Material Recycling Facilities 
increased by 47% in 2017/2018, with processing gate fees in the West Midlands 
ranging between £57 and £86 per tonne. In 2018/19 the average processing cost per 
tonne paid by CCC was £62.37.

1.6The current contractual arrangements expire in September 2019. Members have 
previously approved that officers enter into a tender process which is currently 
underway, to secure a new supplier(s) on a 2-year fixed term, with a further 4 x 12-
month extension periods. Pre-tender research indicated that an anticipated increased 
processing gate fee return in the region of £65-£70 per tonne should be expected. 
Further engagement with the market has indicated that the processing gate fee for any 
short-term arrangement would be potentially even higher in the region of £90 per tonne.

1.7In addition, waste is currently bulked at a facility operated by Tom White Waste, before 
onward transportation to the Materials Recycling Facility at a cost of £24.79 per tonne. 
This will continue to rise by inflation and other market factors.

Page 314



9

1.8The total cost to Coventry in 2018/19 for the bulking, haulage and treatment of kerbside 
collected dry mixed recyclate (dry mixed recyclate) was in excess of £1.6million. 

1.9Project Aspirations:

1.10 Current Materials Recycling Facility arrangements (including processing gate fees 
and rebate share mechanisms) are reflective of the private sector’s reluctance to 
absorb the risk of current market price fluctuations.

1.11 Escalating costs associated with the processing of dry mixed recyclate are a direct 
reflection of the volatility of global market prices, and the unavailability of traditional 
material outlets in China and South East Asia. In addition, the costs associated with 
the development of new technologies in the UK and an emerging market in Europe are 
currently being passed directly to local authorities through pricing of existing contracts.

1.12 The development of an ‘in-house’ Materials Recycling Facility will allow the Partner 
Councils to take control of processing dry mixed recyclate collected through kerbside 
collections and via Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRC). This will allow 
each Partner Council to benefit more fully from any 'upside' of the price of processed 
recyclate in the commodity market in consideration for the risks they are required to 
assume in any event. 

1.13 The Business Case sets out the Projects aspirations, namely, to allow Partner 
Councils to;  

 Take control of regional recyclate management;
 Benefit from any upside of the price of processed recyclate and off-set costs 

and risks against income generated from the Materials Recycling Facility; 
 Avoid paying risk premiums to the private sector to offset market fluctuations;
 Future proof the Materials Recycling Facility so that it is flexible and adaptable; 
 Enhance recyclate quality; 
 Benefit from economies of scale;
 Benefit from any future expansion and commercialisation of the plant to satisfy 

any private sector demand; and 
 To have greater control on the end uses of the recyclate produced

1.14 Waste Tonnage, Composition and Characteristics:

1.15 The Business Case assumes Partner Councils to be the primary feedstock supplier 
and considers anticipated waste growth associated with increases in housing. 

1.16 In addition, Government are currently considering the national strategy for waste 
management. Members will be aware from media coverage that this includes the 
potential for greater producer responsibility and the introduction of deposit schemes for 
certain materials, e.g. plastic bottles. The business case Business Case deals 
sufficiently with these levels of future uncertainty around the exact composition of the 
recyclate collected by the Partner Councils.

Page 315



10

1.17 The Basecase for the Project is set at 87,000 tonnes per annum in year 1, rising to 
116,000 tonnes per annum over the long-term operation of the Materials Recycling 
Facility as outlined in Table 2. The Business Case is based on 2018/19 waste arisings 
and composition data provided by the Partner Councils, including waste 
characterisation sampling undertaken during Spring 2019.

Table 2 Partner Council feedstock tonnages

Table 2: Partner Council feedstock tonnage

Partner Council
Baseline 
arisings 
(2018/19) 
tonnes

Projected Y1 
tonnage 
(2022/23)

Projected Y20 
tonnage 
(2042/43)

Coventry City Council 
(household) 22,304 23,600 29,800
Coventry City Council 
(commercial) 1,804 3,000 3,000
North Warwickshire 
District Council 5,235 5,650 7,800
Nuneaton &Bedworth 
Borough Council 8,581 9,450 11,150
Rugby Borough 
Council 10,742 11,300 14,200
Solihull Metropolitan 
Borough Council 16,411 17,150 19,750
Walsall Council 22,049 24,200 30,500

Total 87,126 94,350 116,200

1.18 Existing arrangements by Partner Councils who currently undertake the separate 
collection of paper and/or glass have been considered and cost implications included 
with the Business Case.

1.19 Facility Technology Design:

1.20 The composition and characteristics of Partner Council feedstock has been used to 
inform the technology solution required for the Materials Recycling Facility to deliver 
high quality material outputs. The composition of the recyclate, and degree to which is 
it contaminated by non-recyclable material, has a direct effect on the economic 
performance of the Project and any associated revenues and subsequent disposal or 
treatment costs.

1.21 The Business Case sets out the outline design and technology configuration which 
would enable the facility to extract high quality r materials for future use. The proposed 
solution broadly includes;

 Bag splitter / opener – to break plastic sacks where necessary
 Removal of cardboard
 Removal of glass and glass classification by colour and size

Page 316



11

 Separation of different paper fraction (e.g. newspaper, card etc).
 Separation and sorting by polymer of plastic materials.
 Over band magnet for ferrous metal separation and eddy current separation for non-

ferrous (aluminium) metals
 Quality control – negative picking stations to remove non-target materials

1.22 The outline design takes into consideration layout and ease for maintenance and 
future enhancements. It offers a robust solution to produce high quality marketable 
commodities with the flexibility to adapt to changes in feedstock and legislation. 

1.23 The Materials Recycling Facility will be designed to manage a throughput of 120,000 
tonnes per annum based on two operating shifts per day, with the flexibility to increase 
processing up to 175,000 tonnes per annum through additional shift patterns. Any 
additional costs for an increase in throughput would largely be associated with labour 
and utilities.

1.24 Proposed site:

1.25 It is intended that the Materials Recycling Facility will be situated on the former 
allotment land to the rear of the Energy from Waste facility operated by the Coventry 
and Solihull Waste Disposal Company in the centre of Coventry. The site is roughly 8 
acres in size, of which roughly half is required for the facility and is accessible via 
Whitley Depot. The site has been designated as suitable for use associated with the 
treatment of waste in the Local Plan and is currently owned by CCC. 

1.26 An independent evaluation of the rental value of the land of the purpose of the use 
for a waste processing facility was undertaken in the Summer of 2018. The lease 
agreement will be subject to a formal evaluation and be agreed in accordance with 
Section 123 (1) of the Local Government Act.

1.27 Project Commercials and Development Costs:

1.28 The Business Case has been developed with the Materials Recycling Facility 
operating as a ‘standalone’ Project to support the Partner Councils in the treatment of 
dry mixed recyclate. The Basecase costs assume full operational cost recovery of the 
Materials Recycling Facility (including financing costs) through a processing gate fee 
charged to each Partner Council that would be lower than is currently paid in the 
market. The benefits of the sale of recyclate will be passed to the Partner Councils 
through this lower gate fee, and third-party feedstock suppliers (commercial waste or 
other local authorities) may be sourced to fill any headroom and form an additional 
income stream to Partner Councils. The modelling and financial benefits in this report 
assume no third-party benefits at this stage.

1.29 The share of the capital contribution has been structured to align with the 2018/19 
recyclate tonnages for each Partner Council. This means that the level of interest in the 
Project, the capital input, and therefore the loan benefit, is commensurate to the relative 
input to the facility. The section ‘Project Structure’ Section 1.35 below provides further 
information on this structure.

Page 317



12

1.30 The addition of any further Partnership Councils would be subject to an analysis and 
would only be able to join the Joint Working Agreement 2 if each Partner Council 
position is not negatively impacted. Additional Partner Councils would further de-risk 
the Project, reduce the processing cost and therefore further improve savings to 
disposal costs.

1.31 Coventry Financial Position – Waste Management Budget:

1.32 The cost to Coventry in 2018/19 for the disposal of dry mixed recyclate collected was 
£1.6million, inclusive of the costs of bulking, haulage and processing, and any rebate 
revenue share achieved. 

1.33 It should be noted that the current Coventry Materials Recycling Facility contract 
expires in September 2019. It is anticipated that the future processing gate fee at a 
Materials Recycling Facility and any bulking and haulage costs are anticipated to 
increase. Based on market research this would see an additional pressure on existing 
disposal budgets in the region of c.£200,000 per year. 

1.34 The volatility of market values and risk being passed by the private sector has seen 
the cost of processing dry mixed recyclate move by c.£1.2million per year during the 
last 5 years (see Table 1). The Project would offer greater security to the Council with 
a secure Materials Recycling Facility outlet and budgetary management over the 20-
year period.

1.35 Coventry Financial Position – Sensitivities:

1.36 Sensitivities have been run in relation to the following:

 variants in Commercial and Industrial (C&I) (third party) feedstock supply achieved
 the volatility of market values of recyclate
 increases in capital and operational costs
 the addition of other Partnership Councils 

1.37 These sensitivities modelled are described and presented further in the financial 
implications section of this report. 

1.38 Project Structure:

1.39 The proposed Project structure has been guided by external legal advisors, Pinsent 
Mason, and would seek to establish a parent Asset Company (AssetCo), to which each 
Partner Council will be a shareholder. The shareholding arrangement will be aligned to 
tonnage throughput, based on 2018/19 dry mixed recyclate collected by each Partner 
Council. 

1.40 Prior to the establishment of the AssetCo, each Partner Council will be bound by a 
Joint Working Agreement (2) which sets out the principals for joint working and funding 
contributions towards the development of the Project.

Page 318



13

1.41 The Joint Working Agreement (2) commits the Partner Councils to work together to 
undertake the procurement of any contract(s) in relation to the development of the 
facility. Through the Joint Working Agreement (2) Partner Councils agree not to 
undertake or commission any procurement and/or be involved in any other project that 
would prevent delivery of all or any part of the Project, and they are committed to 
funding the Project and entering into the Shareholders Agreement for AssetCo 
provided that the Business Case remains viable.

1.42 The Project will be delivered by the Project Team (predominantly CCC, recharged to 
the Project) as appointed by the Project Board, supported by the professional advisors 
on the technical, financial and legal aspects of the Project. Namely;

 Wardell Armstrong LLP to act as its technical consultant and assistant Project 
Manager

 KPMG to act as its financial consultant; and
 Pinsent Mason LLP to act as its legal consultant

1.43 Partner Councils will make available representation to the Project Board and 
contribute to key decisions to regulate their respective rights and obligations in relation 
to the procurement phase of the Project. CCC will act as the Lead Authority during the 
procurement stage of the Project.

1.44 Following the satisfactory conclusion (i.e. the Business Case remains viable after 
tendered costs have been received) of the procurement phase, each Partner Council 
will agree to enter into the Shareholder’s Agreement to establish AssetCo to act as the 
principal contracting entity/delivery vehicle for the Project and enter into Principal 
Contracts(s).

1.45 The Joint Working Agreement (2) acknowledges and agrees the overall Project 
budget, and commitment to the procurement phase budget. Each Partner Council 
contribution value is equal to its respective tonnage input.

1.46 Withdrawal from the Joint Working Agreement (2) for any Partner Council is subject 
to them meeting their financial commitments up to financial close, and it is evidenced 
that the overall project is no longer viable for that Partner Council. The initial drafting of 
Joint Working Agreement (2) allows for additional local authorities to join the Project as 
Partner Councils prior to the completion of Joint Working Agreement (2). This would 
only be allowed if the savings to each of the Partner Councils was greater than those 
achieved in the Basecase. 

1.47 Procurement Approach:

1.48 The procurement is proposed to be undertaken in accordance with the Competitive 
Dialogue Procedure pursuant to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as updated 
and modified from time to time), and in accordance with the Councils Contract for 
Procedural Rules, using the Competitive Dialogue Procedure. 

1.49 Engagement through soft market testing with the market and technology suppliers 
has shown there is considerable interest in the Project and has informed the 
procurement approach..

Page 319



14

1.50 Project Failure:

1.51 Should the Project fail during the procurement phase each Partner Council will agree 
to reimburse the procuring authority the balance of its proportion of the procurement 
phase budget. For the avoidance of doubt, this means that Coventry would only be 
liable for its own abortive costs.

1.52 The current tender arrangements for the processing and treatment of dry mixed 
recyclate collected from households within Coventry has been designed to give the 
flexibility to conclude in line with the projected commissioning of the Materials 
Recycling Facility or extend beyond should the Project close during the procurement 
phase.

1.53 If through the Procurement Phase the Project no longer benefits any one Partner 
Council then the Project would need to be reviewed for viability for all remaining Partner 
Councils and any implications to a robust Business Case mitigated where possible. If 
the Project remains unviable then it will be aborted. This would be a decision of Project 
Board and Members at each Partner Council.

2 Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1Option 1. Do Nothing 

2.2The Council will continue to source treatment of dry mixed recyclate through traditional 
contractual arrangements with the private sector.

2.3Evidence in the region, including direct experience by CCC, has shown that the private 
sector is demanding higher prices (gate fees) and operating financial margins to protect 
themselves against market risks, however when change does occur, the public sector 
takes the financial pressure through further price implications. Based on market 
research it is anticipated that the costs will increase c.£200,000 a year for the treatment 
of dry mixed recyclate as result on a new contract being awarded in September 2019.

2.4Option 2 Development of a Materials Recycling Facility with Partner Councils.

2.5Approval of the Business Case for the development of a Materials Recycling Facility 
with Partner Councils which will require significant capital investment by Coventry City 
Council. In return greater levels of control for the sorting, marketing and sale of dry 
mixed recyclate and the management of risks associated with market fluctuations could 
be achieved.

2.6Should the Business Case be approved, the next steps for the Project would be;

 For each Partner Council to confirm the Project viability, and obtain Council 
approval to engage in the Joint Working Agreement (2), commence procurement, 
and establish the Shareholder Agreement and AssetCo;

 Further develop the detailed procurement documentation and obtain delegation 
of authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) to engage into the procurement 
phase and OJEU notification in September following approval of the Business 
Case by all Partner Councils;

Page 320



15

 Conclude time sensitive and seasonal of ecology, ground conditions, traffic 
studies etc allowing for work to begin on site in Spring/Summer 2020;

2.7Option 2 is therefore the recommended option. 

3 Results of consultation undertaken

3.1No consultation undertaken. 

4 Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1The procurement will be undertaken in accordance with the Competitive Dialogue 
Procedure pursuant to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as updated and 
modified from time to time), and in accordance with the Council’s Contract for Rules, 
using the Competitive Dialogue Procedure. 

4.2Below is an indicative timetable for procurement subject to Business Case approval by 
all Partner Council by September 2019.

Indicative Key Dates – Regional MRF Project
Key Activity Task Date

Procurement Contract OJEU Notice 
Published Sept 2019

SSQ Stage  Sept - Dec 2019

 Bidder SSQ 
Development Sept – Nov 2019

 SSQ Submission Nov 2019
 SSQ Evaluation Nov – Dec 2019
 Project Board Approval Dec 2019  

ISDS Stage  Dec 2019 – Feb 2020

 Bidder ISDS 
Development Dec 2019 – Feb 2020

 ISDS Submission Feb 2020
 ISDS Evaluation Feb – April 2020
 Project Board Approval April 2020

CFT Stage  April – June 2020

 Bidder CFT 
Development April – May 2020

 CFT   Submission May 2020
 CFT   Evaluation May – June 2020
 Project Board Approval June 2020

Preferred Bidder 
Appointment  June 2020

Financial Close  Sept 2020

Page 321



16

Planning Pre-Application 
Engagement July – Sept 2019

 Submission of 
Planning Application Oct 2019

 Determination of 
Planning Application Jan 2020

Construction and 
Installation  Oct 2020 – Dec 2022

Commissioning and 
Testing  Jan – May 2023

Service 
Commencement  May 2023

5 Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1Financial Implications

5.1.1 Project Commercials and Development Costs:

5.1.2 The Business Case has been developed with the Materials Recycling Facility 
operating as a ‘standalone’ Project to support the Partner Councils in the treatment 
of dry mixed recyclate. The Basecase costs assume full operational cost recovery 
of the Materials Recycling Facility (including financing costs) through a processing 
gate fee charged to each Partner Council that would be lower than is currently paid 
in the market. The benefits of the sale of recyclate will be passed to the Partner 
Councils through this lower gate fee, and third-party feedstock suppliers 
(commercial waste or other local authorities) may be sourced to fill any headroom 
and form an additional income stream to Partner Councils. The modelling and 
financial benefits in this report assume no third-party benefits at this stage.

5.1.3 The share of the capital contribution has been structured to align with the 2018/19 
recyclate tonnages for each Partner Council. This means that the level of interest 
in the Project, the capital input, and therefore the loan benefit, is commensurate to 
the relative input to the facility. The section ‘Project Structure’ Section 1.38 above 
provides further information on this structure.
 

5.1.4 Coventry Financial Position – Waste Management Budget:

5.1.5 The cost to Coventry in 2018/19 for the disposal of dry mixed recyclate collected was 
£1.6million, inclusive of the costs of bulking, haulage and processing, and any 
rebate revenue share achieved. 

5.1.6 It should be noted that the current Coventry Materials Recycling Facility contract 
expires in September 2019. It is anticipated that the future processing gate fee at a 
Materials Recycling Facility and any bulking and haulage costs are anticipated to 
increase. Based on market research this is expected to be an additional pressure 
on disposal budgets of c.£200,000.

Page 322



17

5.1.7 The volatility of market values and risk being passed by the private sector has seen 
the cost of processing dry mixed recyclate move by c.£1.2million per year during 
the last 5 years (see Table 1). The Project would offer greater security to the Council 
with a secure Materials Recycling Facility outlet and budgetary management over 
the 20-year period.

5.1.8 Coventry Financial Position – Sensitivities:

5.1.9 Assumptions within the models have been robustly tested throughout the 
development of the business case and market tested, where appropriate. 
Sensitivities have been run against the base case financial implications in relation 
to the following project changes:

 variants in Commercial and Industrial (C&I) (third party) feedstock supply achieved
 the volatility of market values of recyclate
 increases in capital and operational costs
 the addition of other Partnership Councils

5.2Legal implications 

5.2.1 Procurement 

5.2.2 A Full OJEU procurement process will be undertaken in accordance with the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 due to the value using the Competitive Dialogue 
process.

5.2.3 The Appendix 4 provided has been produced by Pinsent Masons who has advised 
the Partner Councils on the structure proposed for AssetCo. The advice sets out 
how Partner Councils can send its waste using a Service Level Agreement to 
AssetCo in a procurement compliant manner. 

5.2.4 The Partner Councils have a duty as part of the Waste Regulations 2011 to 
separately collect four types of recyclable material (glass, metal, paper and plastic) 
and to ensure that collection methods pass Necessity and Practicability (TEEP) 
tests as well as following requirements regarding the waste hierarchy.  The Waste 
Regulations transpose the Waste Framework Directive into UK law and are 
enforced in England by the Environment Agency. 

5.2.5 Under Section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a specific power 
to invest. The power states "a local authority may invest for any purpose relevant to 
its functions under any enactment or for the purposes of the prudent management 
of its financial affairs". This provides the Council with a power to invest in AssetCo, 
for any purpose relevant to its functions (this function would have to be identified) 
or if the Council can show it is for the prudent management of its financial affairs. 
Under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council also has a power “to do 
anything that individuals generally may do” (the “General Power of Competence”).  
“Individual” means an individual with full capacity.  The General Power of 
Competence gives the Council: 

Page 323



18

i. power to do a thing anywhere in the United Kingdom or elsewhere,
ii. power to do it for a commercial purpose or otherwise for a charge, or without 

charge, and
iii. power to do it for, or otherwise than for, the benefit of the authority, its area or 

persons resident or present in its area.

5.2.6 Where the Council uses the General Power of Competence to do something for a 
commercial purpose, section 4 of the Localism Act 2011 requires that the Council 
must do so through a company (which has a wider definition than for the purposes 
of section 95 Local Government Act 2003).

5.2.7 The requirement under section 4 of the Localism Act 2011 is very similar to the 
requirements of section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the “trading power”).  
The Council will be compliant with the requirements of both the General Power of 
Competence and the trading power as any commercial purpose activity or trading 
will be done through AssetCo. This report serves as a business case for the 
proposed investment in the company and the proposed trading through that 
company following the share purchase.  

5.2.8 The General Power of Competence is limited by any restrictions on any pre-existing 
powers of the Council.  The General Power of Competence can be used in 
conjunction with existing powers, for example the section 95 trading power. 

5.2.9 If the Council is considering providing any services directly to AssetCo, for example 
a contract to provide back office support such as payroll, it can use the “incidental 
power” under section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, which enables it to 
“to do anything (whether or not involving the expenditure, borrowing or lending of 
money or the acquisition or disposal of any property or rights) which is calculated 
to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions” 
(its function in this case being the General Power of Competence).  

5.3State Aid 

5.3.1  Article 107 (1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union ("Treaty") 
states"…any aid granted by a Member State or through State resources in any form 
whatsoever which distorts or threatens to distort competition by favouring certain 
undertakings or the production of certain goods shall, in so far as it affects trade 
between Member States, be incompatible with the internal market."

5.3.2 The Treaty does not define in any more detail what constitutes state aid.  However, 
the term has been interpreted to include the provision of grants, loans on favourable 
terms, the transfer of assets at less than the market rate, and tax advantages. Not 
all state aid is unlawful, and it is possible to justify some types of financial assistance 
under pre - approved mechanisms.

5.3.3 It is possible that a third party (and/or European Commission) who has not received 
state aid could bring legal proceedings in the UK courts for damages. Such a claim 
could, for example, be brought by a competitor who feels it has suffered loss 
because it has not been given aid.

Page 324



19

5.3.4 A recipient can be ordered to repay all aid received over a ten-year period if the 
European Commission finds it has been provided unlawfully. It is no defence that 
repayment may force the recipient into insolvency.

5.3.5 Market Economy Investor Principle ("MEIP") can provide an appropriate mechanism 
to potentially justify aid to any third party following the Council's loan. A Loan does 
not automatically constitute state aid if the Council carries out prior due diligence 
that demonstrates that investments are likely to generate sufficiently high returns 
and that a private prudent investor would have made the same investment. i.e. the 
Council can invest in the proposal in return for an appropriate commercial return 
which would satisfy the expectations of a private prudent investor. 

5.3.6 The risk of state aid is not dependent upon whether the financial return is actually 
ever achieved by the Council, as whether state aid exists or not is assessed at the 
time of the funding advanced, but there must be a realistic prospect of the financial 
return being achieved by the Council. 

5.3.7 The Partner Councils is currently seeking advice from Financial Advisors (KPMG) to 
ascertain whether the MEIP analysis would satisfy the expectations of a private 
prudent investor. If the MEIP test is satisfied on the basis of the commercial return 
agreed, then the potential for any state aid argument will be mitigated. In practice 
the Council would need to rely on the MEIP analysis as a justification for any state 
aid in the event of a complaint, challenge or investigation.  The initial advice has 
been to make the Loan at a minimum of 6.1%. However, this will be subject to an 
independent report which will verify that that the 6.1% is in compliance with the 
MEIP test. Any significant changes to the 6.1% will be reported to the Cabinet 
Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment, the Executive Director of Place 
and Executive Director of Resources. 

5.4Best Consideration 

5.4.1 The Council has the general power under section 123(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to dispose of land and property in any manner it wishes. The Secretary of 
State’s consent is not required provided the disposal is for the best consideration 
that can reasonably be obtained. The lease entered into will discharge this 
obligation.

 
6 Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan 
(www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

6.2 In accordance with the Environmental Protection Act 1990 the Council has a legal 
obligation to undertake collections of household waste, including the separate 
collection of waste paper, metal, plastic and glass (The Waste (England and Wales) 
(Amended) Regulations 2012).

6.3 The Councils Municipal Waste Strategy 2008-2020 outlines the Councils approach to 
meeting legal obligations and recycling targets set out in the Waste Strategy for 
England 2007. Namely, 45% of household waste arising to be recycled by 2020.

Page 325

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


20

6.4 How is risk being managed?

6.5 The premise of the Project is to better manage the risks as of costs associated with the 
treatment of dry mixed recyclate arising in the region and particularly in Coventry.

6.6 This notwithstanding, as with any construction project there are risks that are required 
to be managed effectively for the project to remain deliverable.

 A competent, professional and well-resourced project team has been established 
to deliver the project, which includes external advisors, and a Project Manager 
and Project Director committed to the Project

 A comprehensive risk register is maintained and reported on to Project Board to 
ensure risks are continually being monitored and managed

 The greatest risk to project viability, tonnage input risk, has been effectively 
mitigated through the engagement of Partner Councils committing their recyclate 
for the duration of the Project

 A Competitive Dialogue procurement procedure is being adopted to ensure that 
robust, deliverable proposals are received from bidders, which offer value for 
money and provide the quality outcomes necessary

 Sensitivities on the potential costs and income have been considered, so that the 
affordability of the Project is fully understood, and with exit clauses from the Joint 
Working Agreement (2) agreement if the Project is subsequently deemed 
unaffordable

 Planning risk is being managed, with early planning being sought to prevent cost 
impacts post-Financial Close

6.7 The scheme involves giving a loan to the delivery company.  As with all loans, there is 
a risk of default however, the shares of the company will be exclusively owned by 
Coventry City Council and its Local Authority partners, and its customers will be the 
same authorities (in the base case) plus potentially others committing its recyclate 
feedstock to the plant on a long-term basis which reverses this risk. In the unlikely 
event that there was a reduction in demand with a resultant potential impairment of the 
loan, this would be a cost to the local authority partners. Feedstock/demand is however 
as described in the report, expected to increase over time rather than reduce which 
reduces this risk. 

6.8 The loan/investment has been considered within the context of the Council’s 
commercial investment strategy which takes account of both the risk of each 
investment made and the limits set for loans of this nature in totality. The loan proposed 
in this report is within the headroom currently afforded in the strategy.  

6.9 What is the impact on the organisation?

6.10 None, there will be no direct impact as the facility will be operated by AssetCo. 

Page 326



21

6.11 Equalities / EIA 

6.11.1 No formal equalities impact assessment has been carried out. However, it is not 
expected that there will not be any disadvantage to any group if the 
recommendation is approved.  

6.12 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

6.13 The Waste Strategy for England 2007 outlines the Governments ambition to work 
towards a zero-waste economy, in which material resources are reused, recycled or 
recovered wherever possible and only disposed of as the option of last resort. This 
means reducing the amount of waste produced and ensuring all material are pushed 
up the waste hierarchy. The benefits will be realised in a healthier natural environment 
and reduce the impacts on climate change.

6.14 The proposed location will eliminate the current need to bulk and haul dry mixed 
recyclate collected in Coventry. A reduction in CO2 emissions will be achieved through 
reducing vehicle movements by collection crews, and articulated lorry movements 
(c.25 per week, c.1,300 per year) associated with transporting materials to the current 
Material Recycling Facility, in London. 

6.15 Implications for partner organisations?

6.16 Benefits to all Partner Council will achieved through greater levels of control over the 
sorting, marketing and sale of dry mixed recyclate collected at the kerbside, increase 
flexibility and management of risks associated with market fluctuations directly.

Page 327



22

Report author(s): 

Name and job title:
Layla Shannon
Project Manager

Directorate:
Place

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 02476 972007
Email: layla.shannon@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services Officer
Place 17/06/19 17/16/19

Grant McKelvie Commercial Director Place 31/05/19 10/06/19
Cath Crosby Lead Accountant 

Business Partner
Place 03/06/19 19/06/19

Julie Fairbrother Communications 
Manager (Place)

People 03/06/19 19/06/19

Phil Helm Finance Manager 
(Place)

Place 10/06/19 19/06/19

Gurbinder Singh 
Sangha

Corporate and 
Commercial Lead 
Lawyer, Legal 
Services

Place 10/06/19 19/16/19

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers 
and members)
Barry Hastie Director, Finance & 

Corp Resources
Place 19/06/19 19/06/19

Julie Newman Head of Legal 
Services

Place 19/06/19 19/06/19

Andrew Walster Director, 
Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services

Place 17/06/19 19/06/19

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Place 19/06/19 19/06/19

Councillor P Hetherton Cabinet Member for 
City Services

- 17/06/19 18/06/19

This report is published on the council's website: https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk

Page 328

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/


Copyright Reservedc

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE

APPROVED BY

APP'DCHK'DREVISION DETAILS DATE DR'N

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING

DRG No.

DRG SIZE

REV

A3

WWW.WARDELL-ARMSTRONG.COM

BIRMINGHAM

STOKE ON TRENT | TEL 01782 276700

BOLTON

MANCHESTERCARDIFF

CARLISLE

EDINBURGH

GLASGOW

LONDON

NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE

SHEFFIELD

Coventry City Council

Coventry MRF

Site Location Plan

CA11485-021

1:2500 26/03/19

SJB

NOTE:
BACKGROUND OS DATA PROVIDED BY
COVENTRY COUNTY COUNCIL.

P
age 329



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet

Paragraph 3
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972

A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as it 
contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The grounds for privacy are that it contains 
information relating to the financial and business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). The public interest in maintaining the exemption under 
Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Cabinet 27th August 2019
Council 3rd September 2019 

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration - Councillor J O’Boyle

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Chief Executive

Ward(s) affected:
St Michael’s

Title:
Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District 

Is this a key decision?
Yes – the expenditure to be approved pursuant to this report will be in excess of £1 million pounds

Executive Summary:

The City Council has a long-held ambition to realise the delivery of high-quality new hotels within the 
city and currently has the option to acquire a site for this purpose within the Friargate business district. 
There is now an opportunity to secure the delivery of a four star ‘Hotel Indigo’ for the city, to be open 
and operational in the early part of 2021.
 
However, given the unproven market for higher end hotels within Coventry city centre (there has been 
no hotel of a four-star equivalent for approximately 50 years) and the cost of delivering such a hotel 
within such an early phase of Friargate, a development of this quality requires the support of the 
Council through: 

 a contribution to the delivery of public realm and the provision of utilities infrastructure in the 
surrounding area to the site 

 a disposal of the land at a value that may be less than the prevailing market value of that site 

 the making available of up to 50 car parking spaces (which will be the subject of a separate 
lease).

Page 331

Agenda Item 12



Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to:

1) Approve capital expenditure (subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent (contractual 
protection) contained within the option agreement dated 15th January 2019 between the Council 
and Friargate JV Project Limited, as outlined in para 1.2), to fund the acquisition of the site shown 
edged red in appendix 1 by way of the entering into of a 250 year lease the sum of which is 
identified in the private element of this report.

2) Delegate authority to the City Solicitor, following consultation with the Finance Manager (Corporate 
Finance) and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to finalise the terms of the 
leasehold acquisition between the Council and Friargate JV Project Limited to ensure that this 
transaction will be entered into in the most efficient manner. 

3) Authorise the grant of a new lease for the unexpired term of the headlease to be acquired under 
recommendation 1 above (less seven days) to a special purpose vehicle to be formed by Wylam 
Investments Limited for the site shown edged in red in appendix 1 for the development of a hotel in 
accordance with the terms of this report. 

4) Approve the draft Heads of Terms for the grant of the underlease as set out in the private element 
of this report. 

 
5) Delegate authority to the City Solicitor, following consultation with the Finance Manager (Corporate 

Finance) and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to undertake the necessary due 
diligence, make any subsequent variation to the Heads of Terms and to complete the necessary 
legal documentation required to enter into the new lease arrangements.

6) Approve capital expenditure of up to £1m from existing resources within the Public Realm 
programme associated with City of Culture readiness, to be used for the purposes of delivering a 
public realm scheme in and around the hotel site.

7) Delegate authority to the City Solicitor, following consultation with the Finance Manager (Corporate 
Finance) and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to agree the final public realm cost, 
specification and necessary legal documentation required for delivery.  

8) Approve capital expenditure of up to £0.685m from existing resources within the capital 
programme to be used for the purposes of providing the necessary utilities and servicing 
infrastructure in the surrounding area to the site as well as up to the boundary of the site in order 
to enable the delivery of the hotel.

  
9) Delegate authority to the City Solicitor, following consultation with the Finance Manager 

(Corporate Finance) and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to agree the final 
services and utilities cost, specification and necessary legal documentation required for delivery. 

10) Approve (following practical completion of the infrastructure) the proposed grant of a lease for up 
to 50 car parking spaces at the rail station multi-story car park, the details of which are set out in 
the private report. 

11) Delegate authority to the City Solicitor, following consultation with the Finance Manager 
(Corporate Finance) and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to undertake the 
necessary due diligence and to complete the necessary legal documentation required to enter into 
the new car park lease arrangements.

Page 332



Cabinet is requested to recommend that Council:

1) Approve the necessary adjustment to the Capital programme to reflect the capital expenditure 
incurred in the acquisition of the leasehold interests within the Friargate Business District.

Council is requested:

1) To approve the necessary adjustment to the Capital programme to reflect the capital expenditure 
incurred in the acquisition of the leasehold interests within the Friargate Business District.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 - Site Plan
Appendix 2 – Masterplan General Arrangement 

Background papers:
 
None

Other useful documents:

Report to Cabinet 9 January 2018 and Council 16 January 2018; Friargate Joint Venture
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s36714/Friargate%20Joint%20Venture.pdf  

Report to Cabinet and Council 24th January 2017; Coventry Station Masterplan Update 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s32667/Coventry%20Station%20Masterplan%20Updat
e%20incl%20Appendix%201.pdf

Report to Cabinet 27th November 2018; Coventry Tourism Strategy
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42029/Coventry%20Tourism%20Strategy.pdf 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

Yes – 3rd September 2019

Page 333

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s36714/Friargate%20Joint%20Venture.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s32667/Coventry%20Station%20Masterplan%20Update%20incl%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s32667/Coventry%20Station%20Masterplan%20Update%20incl%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42029/Coventry%20Tourism%20Strategy.pdf


Title: Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District

1. Context (or background)

1.1. In January 2018, Cabinet and Council approved the creation of a joint venture (JV) company 
between the City Council and Friargate LLP to accelerate the delivery of buildings within the 
Friargate business district masterplan area. The JV was legally established in February 2019 
as “Friargate JV Project Limited” and the Council is now the joint freeholder of the majority of 
the land within the masterplan area.  

1.2. The legal documentation agreed when establishing Friargate JV Project Limited includes an 
Option Agreement which (subject to the satisfaction of the condition precedent) enables the 
Council to call for the grant of a long leasehold interest by the JV of the site identified in 
appendix 1. The condition precedent referred to above which needs to be satisfied is the 
approval of the JV’s masterplan architect of the proposed hotel scheme, for use as a hotel. 
Upon exercise of the option, a premium payment will be payable by the Council to Friargate 
JV Project Limited, the sum of which is highlighted in the private element of this report. 

1.3. There is now the opportunity to secure the delivery of a high quality new four star hotel in the 
first phase of the Friargate scheme, which will trade under the highly regarded “Indigo” brand, 
through the granting of a lease by the Council to a special purpose vehicle (SPV) formed by 
Wylam Investments Limited (the parent company of Castlebridge) with Castlebridge being 
responsible for developing and operating the hotel on the site.

1.4. Castlebridge is a private development company who have delivered over 20 hotels within the 
UK and Europe. Examples include Hotel Indigos in Stratford-Upon-Avon and Chester, the 
Hilton Garden Inn at Birmingham Airport and Holiday Inns in Winchester, Gibraltar and Bilbao 
Airport. They are currently delivering a further seven hotels on behalf of the InterContinental 
Hotels Group.  Hotel Indigo itself is a chain of boutique hotels and will form part of 
InterContinental Hotels Group. As of April 2019, there are 102 Hotel Indigo hotels worldwide. 
Each hotel has a strong focus on creating an identity that is specific to its local context and 
that approach will be replicated in Coventry.

1.5. The hotel will be located on the site identified in appendix 1 (referred to as “Plot C06” within 
the wider Friargate Masterplan – please see appendix 2 for the general masterplan layout) 
which benefits from the outline planning consent approved under planning reference 
OUT/2011/0036 dated 27th July 2011. The site is adjacent to the Council’s offices at Friargate 
One, 100 metres from Coventry rail station (which is currently in the process of a £82m 
upgrade) and five minute walk from Coventry city centre. 

1.6. The proposed scheme, which is due to be submitted for Planning consideration in the Autumn 
of 2019, will deliver a c.100 bed Hotel Indigo with a 100 cover ground floor restaurant and a 
40 cover public bar with external roof terrace area both of which will be accessible to the 
general public. Subject to the grant of Planning Permission, work on the hotel is expected to 
commence during the first quarter of 2020 with practical completion expected, and the hotel 
being fully operational, during 2021. 

 
1.7. The delivery of high quality hotel developments in the city has been a long held ambition for 

the Council and is an immediate priority for the Council due to the expected influx of visitors 
during City of Culture 2021 and Commonwealth Games 2022, the role they play in boosting 
the city’s image and inward investment potential, the need to provide suitable accommodation 
to service the city’s growing economy and the lack of ‘upmarket’ hotels currently operating 
within the city centre. However, the market for high quality hotels in Coventry is still relatively 
unproven so a partnership approach is required to deliver this opportunity. As part of the 
delivery of the first phase of the Friargate business district masterplan, the Council will be 

Page 334



investing in high quality public space and associated landscaping improvements (for the 
benefit of local residents, visitors and existing and future occupiers of the business district), as 
well as ensuring that the necessary utilities infrastructure is in place to enable the hotel to 
operate. This investment will help secure the delivery of the hotel whilst also enabling the 
delivery of the future commercial and residential development within the masterplan area. 

2. Options and recommended proposal

2.1. Option 1. To not agree to the granting of the lease on the terms set out in the Heads of Terms 

2.1.1. If the Council were to not proceed with the proposal that is the subject of this report then there 
will not be a four-star hotel delivered within Friargate in the immediate future. The site will 
continue to be marketed as a location for a hotel but there is no guarantee that a hotel of the 
quality proposed through this deal will come forward nor that more advantageous lease 
arrangements will be entered into. 

2.1.2. Given the Council’s ambitions for Friargate, its economic development ambitions for the city 
and its residents together with the importance of boosting the visitor economy during, and 
after, the UK City of Culture 2021 programme, not delivering a hotel of this quality would run 
contrary to the Council’s objectives for the city centre. For these reasons, this option is not 
recommended.  

2.2. Option 2. Agree to the granting of the lease on the terms set out in the Heads of Terms

2.2.1. To facilitate the delivery of the Friargate business district and meet our ambitions regarding 
economic development and the visitor economy it is recommended that the Council agrees to 
the granting of the lease in line with the terms set out in the private element of this report. As 
well as the delivery of a high-quality four-star hotel for the city, it will also deliver a number of 
wider benefits to the city (these are outlined in paras 2.2.4. – 2.2.4.8 below). 

2.2.2. To protect the Council’s position and ensure the delivery of the hotel, the Council will ensure 
that the legal documentation contains a legally binding obligation which will ensure that the 
Council is able to reacquire the site (and buildings if relevant) if key delivery milestones are 
not met. Section 6.2 below provides more information regarding managing risk in relation to 
delivery and timescales.  

2.2.3. As the hotel is developed and becomes operational, the Council will also explore whether 
there is the potential for a future acquisition of the hotel if it were to meet the Council’s wider 
income generation policies and criteria. Clearly, should this be the case, any approval to 
proceed with such a transaction would be a matter for future Cabinet and Council decisions. 

2.2.4. Key benefits for the city

2.2.4.1. Enhancing the city’s reputation: Hotel Indigo is recognised within the hospitality industry as 
a premium brand that offers a unique hotel experience. This, alongside the proposals for the 
restaurant and bar (open to the general public) on the ground floor of the development and 
the close proximity to the train station and areas of high footfall, provides a fantastic 
opportunity to deliver a new reputation for the Friargate area of the city.  In short, it will create 
a premium hotel of choice for tourists and investors (enhanced by a “destination” restaurant 
offer) and help deliver a significant perception change for the city.

2.2.4.2. Visitor economy: The Coventry Tourism Strategy 2019-2023 (agreed by Cabinet in 
November 2018) sets out the steps the Council and partners will take to help develop and 
sustain a thriving visitor economy in Coventry. The strategy makes clear that the city’s ability 
to capitalise on the visitor economy is hampered through the quality of its accommodation 

Page 335



offer and that improving this is key to being able to position Coventry as a destination and a 
place for city breaks.

2.2.4.3. This situation is exacerbated when put in the context of the city’s host status for UK City of 
Culture 2021 and as a location for Commonwealth Games 2022 events (as well as the 
connectivity between Coventry and other games venues across the region creating a great 
opportunity to capture visitors from across the world to the city). Currently, it is estimated that 
approximately 2.5 million visitors will visit Coventry during City of Culture and providing high 
quality accommodation options is a fundamental building block for a successful year when the 
city will be in the spotlight like never before. 

 
2.2.4.4. The proposals set out within this report will help deliver the vision within the Tourism Strategy 

that “By 2023 perceptions and awareness of Coventry as a leisure and business tourism 
destination will have improved and grown and residents will be even more proud active 
ambassadors of their city. The city will be recognised as host for major events and the city will 
be attracting more than 10 million visitors a year.” 

2.2.4.5. Job creation and financial benefits: it is anticipated that approximately 40 permanent jobs 
will be created by the opening of the Hotel Indigo. These include a Hotel General Manager, a 
Restaurant General Manager, Chefs and kitchen staff, restaurant and bar staff, housekeeping 
teams and maintenance staff. Castlebridge will aim to recruit locally wherever possible and 
are committing to work with the Council’s Job Shop to help ensure local people are given 
training opportunities (where required) in advance of the hotel opening to give them the best 
chance of securing a role. 

2.2.4.6. Furthermore, it is anticipated that business rates of at least £150k per annum will be created 
by the hotel and restaurant. The developer’s investment itself in the scheme will also mean 
that an estimated further 30 jobs will be created during the construction of the hotel as well as 
wider spend in the economy generated. Castlebridge and their contractors will also engage 
with local schools and colleges to ensure that work experience and apprenticeship 
opportunities are maximised. 

2.2.4.7. Unlocking the delivery of the Friargate business district: alongside the current works to 
transform the rail station, the construction of a Hotel Indigo will help to provide market 
confidence that Friargate should be a destination of choice for business investment. This is 
particularly important for the Council as we near the commencement of the next commercial 
office building within Friargate where it will be vital to secure high-quality tenants for what will 
be a prestigious office scheme. 

2.2.4.8. Alongside this, the hotel will have an active ground floor with the introduction of the new 
restaurant and bar. This will not only serve hotel guests but will also be open to the public and 
would trade independently. Given the success of Cathedral Lanes and what that has done for 
the food and beverage offer and evening and weekend economy within the city, there is 
confidence that a high-quality restaurant offer will thrive, intensify footfall to the area and pave 
the way for future leisure, retail and food and beverage businesses exploring Friargate as a 
destination to locate. 

2.2.5. Public realm 

2.2.5.1. Given the importance the Council places on the Friargate business district to help fulfil its 
economic development objectives, it is essential that a high quality, and safe, public realm 
environment is created in and around the hotel site. It is proposed that the Council invests up 
to £1m of capital expenditure to deliver this scheme.

Page 336



2.2.5.2. These works will be undertaken by the hotel developer at the same time as the hotel is being 
built to ensure they are done in a co-ordinated way and that value for money is being 
achieved. The final specification for the public realm works will be finalised through the 
Planning process and a reimbursement process will be agreed between the Council and the 
developer in order to ensure that costs and specifications are worked through to both parties 
satisfaction (with Cabinet noting that the Council’s contribution is capped with the funding 
being made available from a combination of existing resources, including grant monies if 
appropriate).

2.2.6. Servicing

2.2.7. One of the key conditions of the lease, as set out in the Heads of Terms, will be the hotel 
having access to a fully serviced site suitable for the operation of a hotel of this quality. This 
includes power, heat and cooling (through connection to the Heatline decentralised energy 
network), water, drainage and broadband. 

2.2.8. Friargate JV Project Limited through its role as the freeholder of the site is currently producing 
a utilities strategy for the first phase of the Friargate business district (of which the hotel site is 
part of) and once this strategy, and negotiations with utility providers, is complete (anticipated 
to be during Autumn 2019), Friargate JV Project Limited will be implementing the delivery of 
this utilities strategy. This, therefore, presents an opportunity whereby the Council could agree 
to reimburse (subject to a final cost being provided) Friargate JV Project Limited for the cost 
incurred towards the delivery of the necessary site servicing to facilitate the delivery of the 
hotel site (Cabinet are also asked to note that the Council’s contribution is capped with the 
funding being made available from the budget agreed by Cabinet and Council in the January 
2018 Friargate Joint Venture report which is able to fund relevant development costs within 
the Friargate scheme).

2.2.9. Car parking

2.2.9.1. Another key requirement of the hotel operator is the ability to provide car parking spaces for 
its guests within the vicinity of the hotel. The Council will facilitate the entering into of the 
necessary lease or licence arrangements to provide up to 50 car parking spaces at the new 
multi-story car park being built at Coventry rail station (or other such location agreed by the 
parties, if necessary). 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. Formal public consultation on the development proposals will be undertaken as part of the 
formal planning application process during the Autumn of 2019.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. Subject to Cabinet and Council approval, officers will work with the Castlebridge group of 
companies and their advisors to complete the necessary agreements as soon as possible to 
enable the delivery of the hotel during the early part of 2021. 

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1. Financial implications

Details of the financial implications of this transaction are contained within the private element 
of this report.

 

Page 337



5.2. Legal implications 

Property Implications - disposal at less than market value

5.2.1. The Council has powers under Sections 123 and 127 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
dispose of land in any manner they wish, including sale of their freehold interest, granting a 
lease or assigning any unexpired term on a lease and granting of easements.  The only 
restriction is that a disposal must be for the best consideration reasonably obtained otherwise 
consent is required from the Secretary of State.

5.2.2. On 4 August 2003, the Government launched the General Disposal Consent 2003 (“the 
Consent Order”).  This allows the Council to sell land, in certain circumstances, for less than 
its market value without having to obtain consent from the Secretary of State for any disposal 
of land where the difference between the unrestricted value of the interest to be disposed and 
the consideration accepted is £2m or less.  This is known as “an undervalue”.

5.2.3. The Council has obtained an independent valuation of the site from Savills (based on the 
terms of the deal set out within the Heads of Terms which is contained in the private element 
of this report, including the site being fully serviced and integrated into the wider public realm). 
Under the General Disposal Consent Order 2003, local authorities may dispose of land at 
“under value” (of up to £2m) if the disposal is likely to contribute to the promotion or 
improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of its area.

5.2.4. In view of the benefits described in section two (preferred option) of this report, legal services 
are satisfied that the criteria in para 5.2.3 above has been satisfied.

 
State Aid Implications

5.2.5. Whenever the Council grants a benefit in any form to an undertaking, it is possible the grant 
may constitute State Aid. It is, however, unlikely that the cost to be incurred by the Council 
under this report will constitute illegal State Aid because:

Servicing of the Site

5.2.6. The European Commission has concluded in what is commonly referred to as (“the German 
land scheme decision”) that the provision of direct grants for the development and 
revitalisation of land does not constitute state aid. This was determined on the basis that the 
development of land by local authorities (which includes making land ready to build and 
ensuring that the land is connected to utilities) is part of their public tasks and therefore 
outside the realm of EU State aid rules.

Public Realm

5.2.7. The public realm funding will be state aid compliant due to the fact that the monies are being 
used to provide public infrastructure to which the public will have general access. The 
agreement between the Council and hotel developer will have obligations contained within it 
so that tight controls and records of how the monies are spent and of the use of the funded 
infrastructure as public infrastructure which will enable the Council to demonstrate that it is 
being used in a state aid compliant manner.  

Disposal at less than market value

5.2.8. EU State Aid rules on regional aid (Article 14 General Block Exemption Regulation) set the 
framework for financial assistance to companies to create or protect jobs in Britain’s less 
prosperous areas. These rules determine how much financial support the UK government and 

Page 338



the devolved administrations are allowed to give to companies, and where. The UK Assisted 
Area map is an integral part of the rules. The hotel site sits within St. Michael’s Ward which is 
identified as a UK assisted area within the 2014-2020 UK Regional Aid map.

5.2.9. Regional investment aid, in essence, provides for aid of up to 10% of investment costs for 
investment projects in designated assisted areas up to a maximum amount of 7.5 million 
euros (“Aid Intensity Threshold”). This exemption covers all costs related to investment in 
tangible and intangible assets. The land value amount referred to in the private element of this 
report sits within the aid intensity threshold referred to above.

6. Other implications 

6.1. How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan? 

6.1.1. The delivery of the scheme outlined in this report will deliver a range of economic 
development (including 40 new permanent jobs) and inward investment objectives that will 
help to realise the Council’s ambitions for a more vibrant and economically prosperous and 
city. It will also support the delivery of the Council’s Tourism Strategy 2019-2023 through 
helping to improve the quality of accommodation in the city and improving the perception of 
Coventry as a destination for visitors and tourists. 

6.2. How is risk being managed?

6.2.1. The Council’s key requirements for this project are to ensure that the hotel is delivered within 
a timely manner, the site is utilised as a high-quality hotel for a period of at least twenty five 
years and that any financial risk to the Council relating to project delivery is minimised. These 
risks will be managed through the legal obligations within the agreement for lease and will be 
maintained through the restrictions imposed in terms of the lease. 

Delivery and use

6.2.2. If the delivery of the hotel does not proceed in accordance with key milestones then the 
Council retains the ability of being able to reacquire the site from the Castlebridge group if this 
situation is not remedied. As part of this requirement, the Council will undertake regular 
monitoring inspections of the hotel to ensure progress against programme is satisfactory. 
However, it is important to note that whilst all parties will use reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that the hotel is delivered for 2021, the realities of a development scheme such as this 
means that this date cannot be guaranteed. 

6.2.3. The Heads of Terms (as set out in the private report) contain an explicit requirement that the 
site is utilised for the purposes of a hotel and restaurant for a period of at least twenty-five 
years.

Construction and financial risk

6.2.4. In terms of the construction of the hotel, all construction and financial risk sits entirely with the 
hotel operator and developer, there is no financial risk to the Council from the delivery of the 
hotel going over budget. 

6.2.5. Members are asked to note that in relation to public realm provision, the Council’s position is 
protected through agreeing to a capped sum for this work (with any cost overruns falling to the 
developer). The recommendations within this report provide the authority to agree a process 
with Castlebridge where costs are shared transparently to ensure that the reimbursements 
are based on the actual costs incurred in the delivery of a high-quality public realm scheme. 

Page 339



6.2.6. Members’ attention is drawn to the provision within the Heads of Terms set out in the private 
report to provide a fully serviced site (including the Council ensuring that temporary heat and 
power sources are available to the hotel in the event that the permanent connections are not 
in place at the practical completion of the hotel). The final cost of providing services will be 
known before we enter into the lease with the hotel operator and we will ensure that this is a 
capped sum. 

6.2.7. The final key financial risk relates to the income target for the new station multi-storey car 
park if the hotel is not able to reimburse the Council for its use of spaces. The commercially 
sensitive financial implications of this transaction are contained within the private report.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

6.3.1. The impact to the organisation will be minimal as it doesn’t affect any service which the 
Council provides. It will generate work for officers within the Place Directorate in concluding 
the negotiations and processing the lease documentation.

6.4. Equalities and Consultation Analysis (ECA)

6.4.1. An Equalities and Consultation Analysis has not been undertaken as the proposal concerns 
the disposal of land for redevelopment and no Council service or group will be impacted.

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

6.5.1. The overall development will be in accordance with the Council’s planning policies for 
sustainable development.

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

6.6.1. There are no implications for any partner organisations.

Page 340



Report author(s): 
Adam Hunt
Senior Development Executive

Directorate:
Place 

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 02476 831812
Email: Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk  

Enquiries should be directed to the above person(s).

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Aimee Proctor  Programme 

Manager - Finance
Place 11/06/19 22/07/19

Oluremi Aremu Major Projects Lead 
Lawyer 

Place 11/06/19 31/07/19

Jo Shore Head of Public 
Realm

Place 19/07/19 23/07/19

Rhian Palmer Head of 
Infrastructure 
Delivery

Place 19/07/19 22/07/19

Lara Knight Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator

Place 05/08/19 06/08/19

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members)
Phil Helm Finance Manager Place 31/07/19 08/08/19
Julie Newman City Solicitor and 

Monitoring Officer 
Place 31/07/19 12/08/19

Martin Reeves Chief Executive - 05/08/19 13/08/19
Councillor J O’Boyle Cabinet Member for 

Jobs and 
Regeneration  

- 05/08/19 15/08/19

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 341

mailto:Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 343



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 345



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 347

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 357

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 391

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 433

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 463

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 475

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 477

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 489

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 491

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 497

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 2019/2020 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2019)
	6 UK City of Culture 2021 Capital Programme - Approval to receive and be accountable body for additional capital funding for the Cultural Capital Investment Fund
	7 One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-2019
	One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19 - APPENDIX I
	Infographic
	Overview
	One Coventry
	One Coventry Plan (Council Plan)
	Globally connected
	Locally committed
	Delivering our priorities with fewer resources

	About the performance report
	Indicators
	Open data
	Abbreviations & symbols used


	Executive summary
	Overall summary
	Globally connected: promoting the growth of a sustainable Coventry economy
	Locally committed: improving the quality of life for Coventry people
	Delivering our priorities with fewer resources

	Globally connected
	Supporting businesses to grow
	Coventry has successful business clusters
	Business rates remain constant
	A growing local economy
	But population growth outstrips economic growth
	Recovering productivity levels

	High levels of exports
	Decrease in active enterprises
	Supporting local businesses
	Supporting businesses to create jobs
	Helping businesses access investment
	Upskilling local people


	Creating the infrastructure
	Funding secured for transformational schemes
	Transportation
	Improving capacity and accessibility of Coventry station
	Better connectivity to Warwickshire

	Broadband
	Full fibre broadband roll-out


	Developing the city centre
	A changing city centre skyline
	Public realm improvements
	Transformation of Upper Precinct
	Regeneration of the Burges
	Active design to promote physical activity

	Free Wi-Fi
	City centre footfall
	Overall footfall is broadly unchanged
	Increasing evening footfall

	Empty shop units remain constant

	Raising the profile of Coventry and arts, sports & cultural opportunities
	Encouraging investment
	Hosting major events
	UK European City of Sport 2019
	European Corporate Games 2019
	Vélo Birmingham and Midlands cycling race
	Tale of Two Streets: a showcase of local identities

	Building sports facilities
	The Wave destination waterpark and a new 50m pool
	Coombe Abbey tree-top adventure

	Go CV residents’ loyalty card

	Helping local people into jobs
	Some residents are benefitting from growth
	Strong levels of employment
	Unemployment in line with national averages
	Claimant count rate comparable to national average

	Increasing qualification levels but still some challenges and skill shortages
	Over one in three working aged residents are qualified to degree level or above
	One in ten working aged residents have no qualifications
	Local businesses report skill shortages

	Supporting young people into work
	Fewer young people not in education, employment, or training (NEET)
	Half of all apprenticeships are at level 3 and not enough are at level 4
	79 new Council apprenticeships and 99 qualifications

	Skill sharing and Time Union

	Reducing the impact of poverty
	There are significant pockets of multiple deprivation in the city
	Helping families in need access fresh, nutritious food

	Growth in median annual pay is below inflation so real incomes for some residents are falling
	Gender pay gap

	Gross disposable household income (GDHI)
	Tackling low pay, poverty and inequality
	Coventry Poverty Summit 2018
	Working in partnership as One Coventry


	Supply, choice & quality of housing
	A new housing and homelessness strategy
	House prices and rental prices
	While house prices tend to be lower than the regional level, rental prices appear to be slightly higher
	House sales are down slightly – but average selling prices have increased

	Building new homes and neighbourhoods
	The city’s local plan is encouraging the growth of the city in specific localities and new neighbourhoods
	Over 230 new affordable homes being delivered in partnership with Whitefriars
	£12.7m secured from the Housing Infrastructure Fund to unlock developments at Eastern Green
	5,899 homes to be built with Growth Deal support
	25 homes to be delivered through a community-led housing scheme

	Council tax
	Over 95% of Council tax is collected in year
	There is an increase in the number of properties – but there has not been an overall shift to properties attracting a higher Council tax rate band


	Indicators
	Locally committed
	Create an attractive, cleaner and greener city
	Addressing climate change
	Climathon 2018
	Green Week 2019

	Improving air quality
	Certain parts of the city have poorer air quality than EU and international standards
	A local air quality action plan for Coventry

	Roads and footways
	Road network are in a good/acceptable condition
	9% more priority potholes reported and fixed

	Fly-tipping
	47% increase in fly-tipping…
	…and a 50% increase in enforcement action taken

	Household waste recycled and composted
	A moderate increase in recycling

	Streetpride and cleanliness
	96% of inspected sites meet standards
	New ways of working

	A greener city
	Community-led tree planting scheme


	Make communities safer
	Addressing crime and violence
	An increase in recorded crime in line with regional and national trends
	Knife Angel sculpture
	A public health approach to tackling violent crime
	Fewer Coventry residents feel safe

	Youth offending
	Low and declining levels of youth offending…
	…but nearly a third of young people feel unsafe
	Partnership working is crucial for dealing with challenging behaviour in young people

	Hate crime
	Hate incidents recorded
	Challenging hate crime and supporting victims
	Supporting local groups to challenge extremism

	Domestic abuse
	Increase in domestic abuse crimes reported
	Domestic abuse is everybody’s business: 16 days of action against domestic abuse


	Improving educational outcomes
	School performance
	Most pupils attend a good/outstanding school

	School attainment
	At year 6, Coventry pupils perform better than the average for similar areas
	At year 11, pupils narrowed the gap with the national average
	Fewer permanent exclusions
	At key stage 5, progress was made in tech levels – but decreased in A-level and general applied courses
	800% increase care leavers attending university


	Improving health & wellbeing
	Childhood obesity
	Almost a quarter of the city’s 10-11 year olds are obese

	HIV
	Slight increase in late HIV diagnoses
	Smoking has reduced but challenges remain

	Diabetes
	Diabetes prevalence remain stable

	Physically active adults
	6 in 10 adults are physically active

	Childhood injuries
	Increase in admissions to hospital due to injuries

	Conceptions to under 18s
	Fewer conceptions to under 18s

	Year of Wellbeing 2019
	Mental Health Awareness Week
	Comedy Festival
	Festival of Creativity and Wellbeing

	Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2019

	Protecting our most vulnerable people
	Breastfeeding
	Breastfeeding rates remain stable

	Early years
	More five-year-olds achieve a good level of development
	Early help across all neighbourhoods

	Children’s services
	Superkids breaking away from care documentary
	Local offer for care leavers
	Tackling substance misuse/risk-taking behaviours
	Protecting young people from gangs

	Adult social care
	Avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions
	Mental health support & promoting independence

	Housing and homelessness
	A streamlined approach to supporting families and individuals to maintain their accommodation
	40% reduction in households assessed as being owed a statutory homelessness duty

	Tackling severe and multiple disadvantage and people facing multiple and complex needs
	Brighter Futures: supporting rough sleepers through Housing First
	Steps for Change: Coventry’s making every adult matter (MEAM) approach


	Reducing health inequalities
	Life expectancy
	Healthy life expectancy
	Inequalities across Coventry neighbourhoods

	Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

	Indicators
	Delivering our priorities with fewer resources
	Making the most of our assets
	Corporate peer challenge
	Council workforce
	Slight increase in full-time equivalent employees
	Reduction in sickness absence
	Workplace wellbeing

	Making savings to support frontline services & addressing our environmental footprint
	Improved capture rate
	36% of transactions now completed online or by self-service
	Further reductions in carbon emissions

	Regenerating the economy
	£55.9m of external funding was applied to the Council’s capital funding programme in 2018/19
	Let’s Talk Coventry


	Active communities & empowered citizens
	Engaging local communities
	Feeding Coventry and social supermarket
	Working with experts by experience
	Peer support

	Indicators
	Further information
	Change log
	New indicators
	Revised indicators
	Deleted indicators
	Data unavailable


	Feedback

	One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19 - APPENDIX II
	One Coventry Performance Management Framework 2019/20
	1  Introduction
	2  The Council’s approach
	3  Balanced scorecard approach
	4  Key documents
	4.1 Council Plan (One Coventry Plan)
	4.2 Key strategies
	4.3 Action plans
	4.4 Appraisals

	5  Our behaviours
	5.1 Putting customers first
	5.2 Being adaptable
	5.3 Always improving
	5.4 Working together
	5.5 Leading by example
	5.6 Having a strategic perspective

	6  Performance measures
	7 Reporting arrangements
	7.1 Reports
	7.2 Performance Hub

	8 Symbols and vocabulary
	9 Find out more
	Version control
	Document Owner
	Document Location
	Reviewing arrangements



	One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2018-19 - APPENDIX III

	8 Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
	Executive Summary:
	This SPD is intended to provide technical guidance and support to Policy EM7 (Air Quality) of the Local Plan. This SPD has been developed in partnership with the Council’s Planning, Environmental Protection and Public Health functions and is intended ...
	This SPD is intended to provide technical guidance and support to Policy R6 (Restaurants, Bars and Hot Food Takeaways) of the Local Plan. This SPD has been developed in partnership with the Council’s Public Health team and is intended to support ongoi...
	This SPD is intended to provide technical guidance and support to the relevant policies of the Local Plan that relate directly to the allocated urban extensions at Keresley and Eastern Green. For the avoidance of doubt, this primarily relates to Polic...

	Recommendations:
	1) Approve the content of the Air Quality SPD, Hot Food Takeaways SPD and the Sustainable Urban Extension Residential Design Guide SPD and agree their adoption with effect from the 6 September 2019.
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	The Hot Food Takeaway SPD went to scrutiny Board 4 in February 2019 as part of the final round of publication. https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=652&MId=11711&Ver=4
	Will this report go to Council?
	(ii) Housing Design:
	(iv) Commercial Centres:
	Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - Appendix 1 Air Quality SPD
	Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - Appendix 2 - Hot Food Takeaway SPD
	Hot Food Takeaway SPD
	Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document (HFT SPD)
	2. Classification of Hot Food Takeaways
	3. Local Planning Policy
	3.2 The Coventry City Centre Area Action Plan
	4. Requirements for Hot Food Takeaway Applications
	4.1 Concentration of Hot Food Takeaways
	4.2 Proximity to schools
	4.3 Litter and Waste Disposal
	4.4 Odour Extraction
	4.5 Highway Safety
	4.6 Opening Times and Crime & Safety
	4.7 Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings
	5 Other Considerations and Legislation affecting Hot Food Takeaways
	a. Licensing
	b. Food Safety
	c. Building Control
	d. Litter and Waste Disposal

	Hot Food Takeaway SPD Draft Appendix1

	Adoption of Air Quality, Hot Food Takeaways and Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - Appendix 3 - SUE Residential Design Guidance August 2019
	Coventry City Council Residential Design Guidance August 2019
	Coventry City Council  Urban Extension Design Guide
	Contents
	Slide 3 
	Slide 4 
	Slide 5 
	Slide 6 
	Slide 7 
	Slide 8 
	Slide 9 
	Slide 10 
	Slide 11 
	Slide 12 
	Slide 13 
	Slide 14 
	Examples of local vernacular interpreted in a modern style
	Slide 16 
	Slide 17 
	Slide 18 
	Slide 19 
	Slide 20 
	Slide 21 
	Slide 22 
	Slide 23 
	Slide 24 
	Slide 25 
	Slide 26 
	Slide 27 
	Slide 28 
	Slide 29 
	Slide 30 
	Slide 31 
	Slide 32 
	Slide 33 
	Estate wide routes and linkages 
	Estate wide routes and linkages 
	Slide 36 
	Slide 37 
	Slide 38 
	Slide 39 
	Slide 40 
	Slide 41 
	Slide 42 
	Slide 43 
	Slide 44 
	Slide 45 
	Slide 46 
	Slide 47 
	Slide 48 
	Slide 49 
	Slide 50 
	Slide 51 
	Slide 52 
	Slide 53 
	Slide 54 
	Slide 55 
	Slide 56 
	Slide 57 
	Slide 58 
	Slide 59 
	Slide 60 
	Slide 61 
	Slide 62 
	Slide 63 
	Slide 64 
	Slide 65 
	Slide 66 
	Slide 67 
	Slide 68 
	Slide 69 
	Slide 70 
	Slide 71 
	Slide 72 
	Slide 73 
	Slide 74 
	Slide 75 
	Slide 76 
	Slide 77 
	Slide 78 
	Slide 79 
	Slide 80 
	Slide 81 
	Slide 82 
	Slide 83 
	Slide 84 
	Slide 85 
	Slide 86 
	Slide 87 
	Slide 88 
	Slide 89 
	END  NB: The following pages contain images lifted from a range of publicly available internet sources, including Google images, street view and planning application files and masterplans. They are replicated within this document on a not for profit basis and are used solely to support the wider content of the SPD. The Council is not making this document available for purchase and is only issuing it on its website for use by relevant stakeholders. Should you have any issues or concerns with this approach please contact us via localplan@coventry.gov.uk  Pages – 7-12, 14-19, 21-23, 28, 32-33, 37-38, 53, 57-59, 62, 64, 66-69, 72-76, 78-81, 83-89
	Slide 91 

	Keresley MP supporting text for appendix 1 of SPD


	9 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Emissions
	10 Coventry Street Lighting PFI Debt Re-Financing
	11 Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities
	Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities - Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan

	12 Grant of Lease on Land in Friargate Business District
	Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District - Appendix 1 - Plot C06 Redline Plan
	Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District - Appendix 2 - Friargate Masterplan General Arrangement

	15 Coventry Street Lighting PFI Debt Re-Financing
	16 Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities
	Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities - Appendix 1 - Financial Model & Commercial Assumptions - Executive Summary
	Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities - Appendix 2 - Feasibility & revised Business Case Exec Summary
	Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities - Appendix 3 - Pinsent Mason Proposed Project Delivery Structure May 2019
	Proposed Development of a Regional Materials Recycling Facility with Partnering Authorities - Appendix 4 - Site Location Plan

	17 Grant of Lease on Land in Friargate Business District
	Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District - Appendix 1 - Plot C06 Redline Plan
	Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District - Appendix 2 - Proposed Heads of Terms
	Grant of lease on land in Friargate Business District - Appendix 3 - Friargate Masterplan General Arrangement




